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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q
(Mark One)

☒ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024

OR

☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from __________to__________

Commission File Number 001-36352

company logo.gif

AKEBIA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware   20-8756903

(State or other jurisdiction of


incorporation or organization)  

(I.R.S. Employer


Identification No.)

     

 245 First Street, Cambridge, MA   02142

(Address of principal executive offices)   (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (617) 871-2098

Not Applicable

(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Trading symbol(s) Name of each exchange on which registered

Common Stock, $0.00001 par value per share AKBA The Nasdaq Capital Market

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the

registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.    Yes  ý    No  ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months

(or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files).    Yes  ý    No  ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,”

“accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. 

Large accelerated filer ¨ Accelerated filer ý

       

Non-accelerated filer ¨ Smaller reporting company ý

       

    Emerging growth company ☐
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If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section

13(a) of the Exchange Act. ¨

Indicate by check mark whether registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).    Yes  ☐    No  ý

Indicate the The number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer’s classes of common stock as of August 5, 2024 November 4, 2024 was 210,288,210. 218,181,202.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements that are being made pursuant to the provisions of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995
with the intention of obtaining the benefits of the “safe harbor” provisions of that Act. All statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10‑Q other than statements of
historical fact are forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements may be accompanied by words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “build,” “can,” “contemplate,”
“continue,” “could,” “should,” “designed,” “estimate,” “project,” “expect,” “forecast,” “future,” “goal,” “intend,” “likely,” “may,” “plan,” “possible,” “potential,” “predict,” “strategy,” “seek,”
“target,” “will,” “would,” and other words and terms of similar meaning, but the absence of these words does not necessarily mean that a statement is not forward-looking. These
forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements about:

• our ability to execute a successful commercial launch of Vafseo® (vadadustat), and our plans with respect to commercializing Vafseo and label expansion opportunities
currently under evaluation for Vafseo;

• our ability to contract with dialysis organizations in a timely manner, or at all, for the sale of Auryxia®(ferric citrate) and Vafseo in the U.S.;

• the potential therapeutic benefits, safety profile, and effectiveness of Vafseo; 

• our pipeline and portfolio, including its potential, and our related research and development activities;

• the timing, investment and associated activities involved in continued commercialization of Auryxia, its growth opportunities and our ability to execute thereon;

• the potential indications, demand and market opportunity, potential and acceptance of Auryxia and Vafseo, including the size of eligible patient populations; 

• the potential therapeutic applications of the hypoxia inducible factor pathway;

• our competitive position, including estimates, developments and projections relating to our competitors and their products and product candidates, and our industry; 

• our expectations, projections and estimates regarding our capital requirements, need for additional capital, financing our future cash needs, costs, expenses, revenues,
capital resources, cash flows, financial performance, profitability, tax obligations, liquidity, growth, contractual obligations and the period of time our cash resources will fund
our current operating plan, estimates with respect to our ability to operate as a going concern, our internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and
procedures, and any future deficiencies or material weaknesses in our internal controls and procedures; 

• delivering value broadly to the kidney community, as well as others who may benefit from our medicines, will result in delivering value for stockholders;

• the direct or indirect impacts of the recent COVID-19 pandemic on our business, operations and the markets and communities in which we and our partners, collaborators,
vendors, and customers operate;

• our manufacturing, supply and quality matters and any recalls, write-downs, impairments or other related consequences or potential consequences;

• estimates, beliefs and judgments related to the valuation of intangible asset, goodwill, debt and other assets and liabilities, including classification of expenses, assets and
liabilities, our impairment analyses and our methodology and assumptions regarding fair value measurements;

• the timing of the availability and disclosure of clinical trial data and results;

• the designs of our studies, and the type of information and data expected from our studies and the expected benefits thereof;

• our and our collaborators’ strategy, plans and expectations with respect to the development, manufacturing, supply, commercialization, launch, marketing and sale of Auryxia
and Vafseo and the associated timing thereof;

• our ability to maintain any marketing authorizations we currently hold or will obtain, including our marketing authorizations for Auryxia and our ability to complete post-
marketing requirements with respect thereto;

• our ability to negotiate, secure and maintain adequate pricing, coverage and reimbursement terms and processes on a timely basis, or at all, with third-party payors for
Auryxia and Vafseo;

• the timing of initiation of our clinical trials and plans to conduct preclinical studies and clinical trials in the future; 
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• the timing and amounts of payments from or to our collaborators and licensees, and the anticipated arrangements and benefits under our collaboration and license
agreements, including with respect to milestones and royalties; 

• our intellectual property position, including obtaining and maintaining patents, and the timing, outcome and impact of administrative, regulatory, legal and other proceedings
relating to our patents and other proprietary and intellectual property rights, patent infringement suits that we have filed or may file, or other actions that we may take against
companies, and the timing and resolution thereof;

• expected ongoing reliance on third parties, including with respect to the development, manufacturing, supply and commercialization of Auryxia and Vafseo;

• accounting standards and estimates, their impact, and their expected timing of completion;

• estimated periods of performance of key contracts;

• our facilities, lease commitments, and future availability of facilities;

• cybersecurity;

• insurance coverage;

• management of personnel, including our management team, and our employees, including employee compensation, employee relations, and our ability to attract, train and
retain high quality employees;

• the implementation of our business model, current operating plan, and strategic plans for our business, product candidates and technology, and business development
opportunities including potential collaborations, alliances, mergers, acquisitions or licensing of assets;

• additional costs we may incur due to events associated with or resulting from our prior workforce reductions or other operating expenses, including additional costs related to
vadadustat and selling, general and administrative expenses; and

• the timing, outcome and impact of current and any future legal proceedings.

Any or all of these forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q may turn out to be inaccurate. These forward-looking statements involve risks and
uncertainties, including those that are discussed below under the heading "Risk Factors Summary", and the risk factors identified further in Part II, Item 1A. "Risk Factors" included
in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in our Securities and Exchange Commission reports filed after this report, that
could cause our actual results, financial condition, performance or achievements to be materially different from those indicated in these forward-looking statements. Given these
risks and uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q. Except as required by law, we assume no obligation to publicly update or revise these forward-looking statements for any reason. Unless otherwise stated, our forward-
looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures or investments we may make.

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q also contains estimates and other information concerning our industry and the markets for certain diseases, including data regarding the
estimated size of those markets, and the incidence and prevalence of certain medical conditions. Unless otherwise expressly stated, we obtained this industry, market and other
data from reports, research surveys, studies and similar data prepared by market research firms and other third parties, industry, medical and general publications, government data
and similar sources.

RISK FACTORS SUMMARY

Investing in our common stock involves numerous risks, including the risks summarized below and described in further detail in “Part II, Item 1A. Risk Factors” of this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, any one of which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. These risks include, but are not
limited to, the following:

• We have incurred significant losses since our inception, and anticipate that we will continue to incur losses and cannot guarantee when, if ever, we will become profitable or attain
positive cash flows.

• We may require substantial additional financing to fund our business. A failure to obtain this necessary capital when needed, or on acceptable terms, could force us to delay, limit,
reduce or terminate our product development or commercialization efforts.

• Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our existing stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to our products and product candidates on
unfavorable terms to us.

• If we fail to comply with the continued listing requirements of Nasdaq, our common stock may be delisted and the price of our common stock and our ability to access the capital
markets could be negatively impacted.

• We may not be successful in our efforts to identify, acquire, in-license, discover, develop and commercialize additional products or product candidates or our decisions to prioritize
the development of certain product candidates over others may not be successful, which could impair our ability to grow.

• We may engage in strategic transactions to acquire assets, businesses, or rights to products, product candidates or technologies or form collaborations or make investments in
other companies or technologies that could harm our operating results, dilute our stockholders’ ownership, increase our debt, or cause us to incur significant expense.

• Our obligations in connection with the Agreement for the Provision of a Loan Facility, as amended, or the BlackRock Credit Agreement, with Kreos Capital VII (UK) Limited, or
Kreos, which are funds and accounts managed by BlackRock Inc., collectively BlackRock, and requirements and restrictions in the BlackRock Credit Agreement could adversely
affect our financial condition and restrict our operations.
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• Our Royalty Interest Acquisition Agreement with HealthCare Royalty Partners IV, L.P. contains various covenants and other provisions, which, if violated, could materially
adversely affect our financial condition.

• Our business is substantially dependent on the commercial success of Auryxia and Vafseo. If we are unable to continue to successfully commercialize Auryxia and commercially
launch Vafseo, our results of operations and financial condition will be materially harmed.

• If we are unable to maintain or expand, or, with respect to Vafseo, initiate, sales and marketing capabilities or enter into additional agreements with third parties, we may not be
successful in commercializing Auryxia, Vafseo or any other product candidates that may be approved.

• Our, or our partners', failure to obtain or maintain adequate coverage, pricing and reimbursement for Auryxia, Vafseo or any other future approved products, could have a material
adverse effect on our or our collaboration partners’ ability to sell such approved products profitably and otherwise have a material adverse impact on our business.

• We face substantial competition, which may result in others discovering, developing or commercializing products before, or more successfully than, we do.
• The commercialization of ferric citrate, branded as Riona in Japan, Vafseo in Europe, Japan and other territories where it is approved, and our current and potential future efforts

with respect to the development and commercialization of our products and product candidates outside of the United States, or U.S., subject us to a variety of risks associated
with international operations, which could materially adversely affect our business.

• Clinical drug development involves a lengthy and expensive process with an uncertain outcome, and we will incur additional costs in connection with, and may experience delays
in completing, or ultimately be unable to complete, the development of any of our product candidates.

• Conducting clinical trials outside of the U.S., as we have done historically and as we may decide to do in the future, presents additional risks and complexities and, if we decide to
conduct a clinical trial outside of the U.S. in the future, we may not complete such trials successfully, in a timely manner, or at all, which could affect our ability to obtain regulatory
approvals.

• Auryxia, Vafseo or any other product or product candidate, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired, may cause undesirable side effects or have other properties that
may delay or prevent marketing approval or limit their commercial potential.

• We may not be able to obtain marketing approval for any label expansion for Vafseo or any current or future product candidate, or we may experience significant delays in doing

so, any of which would materially harm our business.
• Products approved for marketing are subject to extensive post-marketing regulatory requirements, including post-approval pediatric studies for Auryxia and Vafseo, and could be

subject to post-marketing restrictions or withdrawal from the market, and we may be subject to penalties, including withdrawal of marketing approval, if we fail to comply with
regulatory requirements or if we experience unanticipated problems with our products, or product candidates, when and if approved.

• We are subject to complex regulatory schemes that require significant resources to ensure compliance and our failure to comply with applicable laws could subject us to
government scrutiny or enforcement, potentially resulting in costly

investigations, fines, penalties or sanctions, contractual damages, reputational harm, administrative burdens and diminished profits and future earnings.
• We will incur significant liability if it is determined that we are promoting any “off-label” use of Auryxia, Vafseo or any other product we may develop, in-license or acquire or if it is

determined that any of our activities violates the federal Anti-Kickback Statute.
• Disruptions at the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, regulatory authorities outside the U.S. and other government agencies caused by global health concerns or funding

shortages could prevent new products and services from being developed or commercialized in a timely manner, which could negatively impact our business.
• Compliance with privacy and data security requirements could result in additional costs and liabilities to us or inhibit our ability to collect and process data globally, and the failure

to comply with such requirements could subject us to significant fines and penalties, which may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of
operations.

• Legislative and regulatory healthcare reform may increase the difficulty and cost for us to obtain marketing approval of and commercialize our product candidates and affect the
prices we may obtain for any products that are approved in the U.S. or foreign jurisdictions.

• We depend on collaborations with third parties for the development and commercialization of Auryxia, Riona and Vafseo and if these collaborations are not successful or if our
collaborators terminate their agreements with us, we may not be able to capitalize on the market potential of Auryxia, Riona and Vafseo, and our business could be materially
harmed.

• We may seek to establish additional collaborations and, if we are not able to establish them on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, we may have to alter our development
and commercialization plans.

• We rely upon third parties to conduct all aspects of our product manufacturing and commercial distribution, and in many instances only have a single supplier or distributor, and the
loss of these manufacturers or distributors, their failure to supply us on a timely basis, or at all, or their failure to successfully carry out their contractual duties or comply with
regulatory requirements, cGMP requirements or guidance could cause delays in or disruptions to our supply chain and substantially harm our business.

• We rely upon third parties to conduct our clinical trials and certain of our preclinical studies. If they do not successfully carry out their contractual duties, comply with regulatory
requirements or meet expected deadlines, we may not be able to obtain or maintain marketing approval for Auryxia, Vafseo or any of our product candidates, and our business
could be substantially harmed.

• If the licensor of certain intellectual property relating to Auryxia terminates, modifies or threatens to terminate existing contracts or relationships with us, our business may be
materially harmed.

• We currently rely on third parties in China for the manufacture of raw materials, drug substance and drug product for the commercial supply of Vafseo and for early-stage research
services. Our commercialization of Vafseo, or our development of our product candidates could be delayed, prevented or impaired if there are disruptions or delays in obtaining
these products or services.

• If we are unable to adequately protect our intellectual property, third parties may be able to use our intellectual property, which could adversely affect our ability to compete in the
market.

• We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world.
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• The intellectual property that we own or have licensed and related non-patent exclusivity relating to our current and future products is, and may be, limited, which could adversely
affect our ability to compete in the market and adversely affect the value of Auryxia, Vafseo or other future products.

• The market entry of one or more generic competitors or any third party’s attempt to challenge our intellectual property rights will likely limit Auryxia and Vafseo sales and have an
adverse impact on our business and results of operation.

• Litigation and administrative proceedings, including third party claims of intellectual property infringement and opposition/invalidation proceedings against third party patents, may
be costly and time consuming and may delay or harm our drug discovery, development and commercialization efforts.

• We may be subject to claims that our employees, consultants or independent contractors have wrongfully used or disclosed confidential information of third parties.
• If we fail to attract, retain and motivate senior management and qualified personnel, we may be unable to successfully develop and commercialize Auryxia or Vafseo.
• We may encounter difficulties in managing our growth, including with respect to our employee base, and managing our partnerships and operations successfully.
• We have identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 relating to our accounting for inventory and inventory related

transactions. If we are not able to remediate this material weakness, or if we experience additional material weaknesses or other deficiencies in our internal control over financial
reporting in the future or otherwise fail to maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting, we may not be able to accurately or timely report our financial
results or prevent fraud, and we may conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is not effective, which may adversely affect our business.

• Our stock price has been and may continue to be volatile, which could result in substantial losses for holders or future purchasers of our common stock and lawsuits against us
and our officers and directors. directors and could result in substantial costs.

Akebia Therapeutics, Inc.
Form 10-Q

For the Quarter Ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024
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In this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, unless otherwise stated or the context otherwise requires, references to “Akebia,” “we,” “us,” “our,” “the Company,” "our Company" and
similar references refer to Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. and, where appropriate, its consolidated subsidiaries. On December 12, 2018, in connection with the consummation of the
merger, or Merger, with Keryx Biopharmaceuticals, Inc., or Keryx, Keryx became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
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the fullest extent under applicable law, its rights to these trademarks and trade names. We do not intend our use or display of other companies’ trade names, trademarks, or service
marks to imply a relationship with, or endorsement or sponsorship of us by, any other company.

Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. | Form 10-Q | Page 1

PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1.  Financial Statements.

Akebia Therapeutics, Inc.

UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

(dollars in thousands,

except per share

amounts)

June

30,


2024

December 31,


2023

(dollars in

thousands, except

per share amounts)

September

30,


2024

December

31,


2023

Assets

Current assets:

Current assets:

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents

Inventories

Accounts receivable, net

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Property and equipment, net

Operating right-of-use assets

Intangible asset, net

Goodwill

Other long-term assets

Total assets

Liabilities and stockholders' deficit

Current liabilities:

Current liabilities:

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable

Accounts payable

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

Current portion of deferred revenue

Current portion of long-term debt

Current portion of long-term debt

Current portion of long-term debt

Total current liabilities

Deferred revenue, net of current portion

Long-term deferred revenue

Long-term operating lease liabilities

Long-term debt, net

Long-term debt, net

Long-term debt, net
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Liability related to settlement royalties

Liability related to sale of future royalties, net of current portion

Refund liability to customer

Working Capital Fund liability

Warrant liability

Other long-term liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Note 10) Commitments and

contingencies (Note

10)

Commitments and

contingencies

(Note 10)

Stockholders' deficit:

Preferred stock $0.00001 par value, 25,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and
outstanding at June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023

Preferred stock $0.00001 par value, 25,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and
outstanding at June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023

Preferred stock $0.00001 par value, 25,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and
outstanding at June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023

Common stock $0.00001 par value; 350,000,000 shares authorized at June 30, 2024 and December
31, 2023; 209,929,145 and 194,582,539 shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2024 and
December 31, 2023, respectively

Preferred stock $0.00001 par value, 25,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and
outstanding at September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023

Preferred stock $0.00001 par value, 25,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and
outstanding at September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023

Preferred stock $0.00001 par value, 25,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and
outstanding at September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023

Common stock $0.00001 par value; 350,000,000 shares authorized at September 30, 2024 and
December 31, 2023; 211,542,122 and 194,582,539 shares issued and outstanding at September 30,
2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Accumulated deficit

Total stockholders' deficit

Total liabilities and stockholders' deficit

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. | Form 10-Q | Page 2

Akebia Therapeutics, Inc.

UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Three Months Ended

June 30,

Six Months Ended

June 30,

Three Months Ended

September 30,

Nine Months Ended

September 30,

(dollars in thousands, except per

share amounts)

(dollars in thousands, except

per share amounts)
2024 2023 2024 2023

(dollars in thousands, except

per share amounts)
2024 2023 2024 2023

Revenues

Product revenue, net

Product revenue, net

Product revenue, net
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License, collaboration and

other revenue

Total revenues

Cost of goods sold

Cost of product and other revenue

Cost of product and other revenue

Cost of product and other revenue

Amortization of intangible

asset

Total cost of goods sold

Operating expenses:

Research and development

Research and development

Research and development

Selling, general and

administrative

License

Restructuring

Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

Other income (expense)

Interest expense

Interest expense

Interest expense

Other (expense) income

Change in fair value of

warrant liability

Loss on extinguishment of

debt

Loss on termination of lease

Net loss before income taxes

Net loss

Comprehensive loss

Net loss per share:

Net loss per share:

Net loss per share:

Basic and diluted

Basic and diluted

Basic and diluted $(0.04) $(0.06) $(0.13) $(0.20) $(0.10) $(0.08) $(0.22) $(0.28)

Weighted average common shares outstanding:

Weighted average common shares outstanding:

Weighted average common shares outstanding:

Basic and diluted

Basic and diluted

Basic and diluted

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Akebia Therapeutics, Inc.

UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Common

Stock

Common

Stock Additional

Paid-In

Capital

Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive

Income (Loss)

Accumulated


Deficit

Total

Stockholders'


Equity

(Deficit)

Common

Stock Additional

Paid-In

Capital

Acc
O

Comp
In

(dollars in

thousands)

Balance at

December

31, 2022

Balance at

December

31, 2022

Balance at

December

31, 2022

Proceeds

from sale of

stock under


employee

stock

purchase plan

Proceeds

from sale of

stock under


employee

stock

purchase plan

Proceeds

from sale of

stock under


employee

stock

purchase plan

Stock-based

compensation

expense

Restricted

stock unit

vesting

Net loss

Balance at

March 31,

2023

Stock-based

compensation

expense

Restricted

stock unit

vesting

Restricted

stock unit

vesting

Restricted

stock unit

vesting

Net income
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Balance at

June 30,

2023

Proceeds

from sale of

stock under


employee

stock

purchase

plan

Stock-based
compensation
expense

Restricted

stock unit

vesting

Net loss

Balance at

September

30, 2023

Common

Stock

Common

Stock

Common

Stock Additional

Paid-In

Capital

Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive

Income (Loss)
Accumulated


Deficit
Total Stockholders'

Deficit

Additional Paid-In


Capital

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive

Income
Accumulated


Deficit

Total
Stockholders'

Deficit
(dollars in

thousands)

Balance at

December

31, 2023

Balance at

December

31, 2023

Balance at

December

31, 2023

Issuance of

common

stock, net of


issuance

costs

Proceeds

from sale of

stock under


employee

stock

purchase

plan

Exercise of

options

Stock-based

compensation

expense

Restricted

stock unit

vesting

Net loss
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Balance at

March 31,

2024

Exercise of

options

Stock-based

compensation

expense

Restricted

stock unit

vesting

Net loss

Balance at

June 30,

2024

Issuance of

common

stock, net of


issuance

costs

Proceeds

from sale of

stock under


employee

stock

purchase

plan

Exercise of

options

Stock-based

compensation

expense

Restricted

stock unit

vesting

Net loss

Balance at

September

30, 2024

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

 

Six Months Ended June 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

(dollars in thousands) (dollars in thousands) 2024 2023 (dollars in thousands) 2024 2023

Operating Activities:

Net loss

Net loss

Net loss
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Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation

Depreciation

Depreciation

Amortization of intangible asset

Change in fair value of warrant liability

Non-cash royalty revenue related to sale of future royalties

Non-cash royalty revenue related to sale of future royalties

Non-cash royalty revenue related to sale of future royalties

Non-cash research and development expense

Non-cash research and development expense

Non-cash research and development expense

Non-cash interest expense

Non-cash operating lease expense

Non-cash write-off from termination of lease

Non-cash loss on extinguishment of debt

Write-down of inventory

Change in excess inventory purchase commitments

Stock-based compensation expense

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable

Inventory

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Other long-term assets

Accounts payable

Accrued expense and other current liabilities

Operating lease liabilities

Deferred revenue

Other long-term liabilities

Net cash used in operating activities

Investing Activities:

Purchases of equipment

Purchases of equipment

Purchases of equipment

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing Activities:

Proceeds from the issuance of debt

Proceeds from the issuance of debt

Proceeds from the issuance of debt

Payments of issuance costs related to BlackRock Credit Agreement

Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs

Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs

Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs

Proceeds from issuance of stock under employee stock purchase plan

Proceeds from the exercise of stock options

Repayment of term debt

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
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Decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash — beginning of period

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash — end of period

Non-cash financing activities

Non-cash financing activities

Non-cash financing activities

Issuance of warrants in connection with BlackRock Credit Agreement

Issuance of warrants in connection with BlackRock Credit Agreement

Issuance of warrants in connection with BlackRock Credit Agreement

Unpaid issuance costs related to BlackRock Credit Agreement

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Akebia Therapeutics, Inc.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS

Organization

Akebia Therapeutics, Inc., referred to as Akebia or the Company, was incorporated in the State of Delaware in 2007 and became a public company in 2014. Akebia is a fully
integrated commercial-stage biopharmaceutical company committed to addressing patients' unmet needs. The Company's purpose is to better the life of each person impacted by
kidney disease.

The Company has two products approved by the Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, in the United States, or U.S., Vafseo® (vadadustat) is an oral hypoxia-inducible factor prolyl
hydroxylase, or HIF-PH, inhibitor. Vafseo (vadadustat) Tablets were approved in the U.S. on March 27, 2024 for the treatment of anemia due to chronic kidney disease, or CKD, in
adults who have been receiving dialysis for at least three months. The Company is launching Vafseo in the U.S. Auryxia® (ferric citrate) is marketed for two indications: (i) the control
of serum phosphorus levels in adult patients with dialysis dependent chronic kidney disease, or DD-CKD, and (ii) the treatment of iron deficiency anemia, or IDA, in adult patients
with non-dialysis dependent chronic kidney disease, or NDD-CKD. Auryxia will lose exclusivity in the U.S. in March 2025.

Vafseo is also approved for the treatment of symptomatic anemia associated with CKD in the European Economic Area, or EEA, the United Kingdom, or the UK, Switzerland,
Australia, South Korea and Taiwan in adult patients on chronic maintenance dialysis and in Japan for adult dialysis-dependent and non-dialysis patients. Vafseo is marketed and
sold by the Company's collaboration partners in certain countries.

Ferric citrate is also approved in Japan, and is marketed and sold by the Company's collaboration partner, as an oral treatment for the improvement of hyperphosphatemia in
patients with CKD, including DD-CKD and NDD-CKD, and for the treatment of adult patients with IDA under the trade name Riona (ferric citrate hydrate).

Since its inception, the Company has devoted most of its resources to research and development, or R&D, including its preclinical and clinical development activities,
commercializing Auryxia and providing general and administrative support for these operations. The Company began recording revenue from the U.S. sales of Auryxia and revenue
from sublicensing rights to Auryxia in Japan from the Company’s Japanese partners, Japan Tobacco, Inc. and its subsidiary Torii Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., collectively, JT and Torii,
in 2018. In addition, the Company continues to explore additional development opportunities to expand its pipeline and portfolio of novel therapeutics.

As of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $39.5 million $34.0 million. Based on its current operating plan, the
Company believes that its cash resources and the cash the Company expects to generate from product, royalty, supply and license revenues will be sufficient to fund its current
operating plan for at least twelve months from the filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, or Form 10-Q. However, if the Company’s operating performance deteriorates
significantly from the levels expected in the Company’s operating plan, it would affect the Company’s liquidity and its ability to continue as a going concern in the future. The
Company expects to finance future cash needs through product and license, collaboration and other revenue, including royalties and revenue from supply agreements. If In addition,
the Company believes its resources are insufficient to satisfy its liquidity requirements, it may seek to sell public or private equity, enter into new debt transactions, explore potential
strategic transactions, consider other cash-generating or saving measures or a combination of these approaches or other strategic alternatives. There can be no assurance that the
current operating plan will be achieved in the time frame anticipated by the Company or that its cash resources will fund its operating plan for the period of time anticipated by the
Company, or that additional funding will be available on terms acceptable to the Company, or at all.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Company's significant accounting policies are disclosed in the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023, and notes thereto, which are
included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K, that was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, on March 14, 2024, or the 2023 Form 10-K. Since
the date of those financial statements, there have been no material changes to the Company's significant accounting policies.

In the opinion of management, all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring accruals and revisions of estimates, considered necessary for a fair presentation of the unaudited
condensed consolidated financial statements have been included. Interim results for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 are not necessarily
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indicative of the results that may be expected for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2024 or any other future period.

The Company has experienced seasonality from quarter to quarter. In general, the first quarter usually has lower revenues than the preceding fourth quarter, the second and third
quarters have higher revenues than the first quarter, and the fourth quarter revenues are the highest in the year.

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation
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Akebia Therapeutics, Inc.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S., or GAAP.
Any reference in these notes to applicable guidance is meant to refer to the authoritative GAAP as found in the Accounting Standards Codification, or ASC, and Accounting
Standards Update, or ASU, of the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB.
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Akebia Therapeutics, Inc.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated in the condensed consolidated financial statements herein.

Certain monetary amounts, percentages, and other figures included elsewhere in these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been subject to rounding
adjustments. Accordingly, figures shown as totals in certain tables may not be the arithmetic aggregation of the figures that precede them, and figures expressed as percentages in
the text may not total 100% or, as applicable, when aggregated may not be the arithmetic aggregation of the percentages that precede them.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP, requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
revenue and expenses, classification of the expenses, assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of and during the reported period. On an
ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates. Management bases its estimates and assumptions on historical experience when available and on various factors, including
expected business and operational changes, sensitivity and volatility associated with the assumption that it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of the assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. In certain circumstances, management
must apply significant judgment in this process. The estimation process often may yield a range of potentially reasonable estimates of the ultimate future outcomes, and
management selects an amount that falls within that range of reasonable estimates. Although the Company regularly assesses these estimates, actual results could differ materially
from these estimates. Changes in estimates are recorded in the period they become known.

Significant estimates and judgments reflected in these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include, but are not limited to: accrued expenses, other long-term
liabilities, product a liability related to settlement royalties, revenues, including various rebates, returns and reserves related to product sales, inventories, classification of expenses
between cost of goods sold, R&D and selling, general and administrative, long-term assets, including the Company's right-of-use assets, intangible asset and goodwill.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

In determining its cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, the Company considers only those highly liquid investments, readily convertible to cash within 90 days from the date of
purchase to be cash equivalents. As of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, cash and cash equivalents primarily included cash on hand.

Restricted cash represents amounts required to secure the outstanding letter of credit in connection with the Company’s office and laboratory space in Cambridge, Massachusetts,
or the Cambridge Lease. Restricted cash is included in “other long-term assets” in the consolidated balance sheets.

The following table reconciles cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the Company's consolidated balance sheets to the total amounts showing in the
consolidated statements of cash flows:

(in thousands) (in thousands) June 30, 2024 December 31, 2023 (in thousands) September 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash included in other long-term assets

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

Concentration of Credit Risk

Cash, cash equivalents and accounts receivable are the only financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk. The Company maintains
cash accounts principally at two financial institutions in the U.S., which at times, may exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation's limits. The Company has not experienced
any losses from cash balances in excess of the insurance limit. The Company's management does not believe the Company is exposed to significant credit risk at this time due to
the financial condition of the financial institutions where its cash is held.

The Company makes judgments as to its ability to collect outstanding receivables and provides an allowance for receivables when collection becomes doubtful. Provisions are made
based upon a specific review of all significant outstanding receivables and the overall quality and age of those invoices not specifically reviewed as well as historical payment
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patterns and existing economic factors. The Company believes that credit risks associated with its customers and collaboration partners are not significant. The Company's
allowance for credit losses was $0.5 million and $1.0 million as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively.
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Akebia Therapeutics, Inc.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

economic factors. The Company believes that credit risks associated with its customers and collaboration partners are not significant. The following table summarizes the activity
related to the Company's allowance for credit losses was $0.2 million and $1.0 million as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. For the six months ended June 30,
2024, net recoveries were $0.2 million, inclusive of an incremental allowance for credit losses of $0.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024. Write-offs were $0.6 million
for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023. (in thousands):

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2024 2023

Beginning balance $ 1,029  $ 1,106 

Provision for bad debts 194  (562)

Recoveries/(write-offs) (695) — 

Ending balance $ 528  $ 544 

Manufacturing and Distribution Risk

The Company is dependent on third-party manufacturers, logistics companies and distributors to supply products for commercial activities associated with its product and product
candidates, as applicable. In particular, the Company relies and expects to continue to rely on a small number of manufacturers to supply it with its requirements for the active
pharmaceutical ingredients and formulated drugs related to the Company's product and product candidate activities. These activities, including the commercialization of Auryxia and
Vafseo, could be adversely affected by a significant interruption in the supply of active pharmaceutical ingredients and formulated drugs or distribution of finished product to the
market.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures. ASU 2023-07 requires disclosure of significant segment expenses that are
regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker, or CODM, and included within the segment measure of profit or loss, an amount and description of its composition for other
segment items to reconcile to segment profit or loss, and the title and position of the entity’s CODM. ASU 2023-07 will be applied retrospectively and is effective for annual reporting
periods in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim reporting periods in fiscal years beginning after December 31, 2024. The Company is currently reviewing the
impact that the adoption of ASU 2023-07 may have on its consolidated financial statements and disclosure.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. ASU 2023-09 requires public companies to annually (i)
disclose specific categories in the rate reconciliation and (ii) provide additional information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold (if the effect of those reconciling
items is equal to or greater than 5 percent of the amount computed by multiplying pretax income or loss by the applicable statutory income tax rate). ASU 2023-09 will be effective
for the annual reporting periods in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. The Company is currently evaluating ASU 2023-09 and does not expect it to have a material
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

3. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The tables below present certain assets and liabilities measured at fair value categorized by the level of input used in the valuation of each asset and liability (in thousands):

  June 30, 2024

  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Fair Value

Long-term liability:

Warrant liability $ —  $ 2,644  $ —  $ 2,644 

  December 31, 2023

  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Fair Value

Cash equivalents:        

Money market funds $ 1,504  $ —  $ —  $ 1,504 

Cash equivalents — Money market funds included within cash and cash equivalents are classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy because they are valued using quoted
market prices in active markets. As of June 30, 2024, the Company did not have any money market funds included in cash equivalents.

  September 30, 2024

  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Fair Value

Long-term liability:

Warrant liability $ —  $ 3,501  $ —  $ 3,501 
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  December 31, 2023

  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Fair Value

Cash equivalents:        

Money market funds $ 1,504  $ —  $ —  $ 1,504 

Warrant liability – The warrant liability is classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy because it is valued using inputs which are observable either directly or indirectly. The fair
value was calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model using the following key inputs: volatility, risk-free rate, dividend yield and expected term.

Cash equivalents — Money market funds included within cash and cash equivalents are classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy because they are valued using quoted
market prices in active markets. As of September 30, 2024, the Company did not have any money market funds included in cash equivalents.
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4. INVENTORIES AND PREPAID MANUFACTURING

Inventories consists of the following (in thousands):

  June 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

Inventories, current:

Work-in-process $ 9,547  $ 4,297 

Finished goods 14,325  11,394 

Inventories, current $ 23,872  $ 15,691 

Long-term inventories included in other long-term assets:

Raw materials 403  1,143 

Work-in-process 14,795  8,260 

Inventories, long-term 15,198  9,403 

Total inventories $ 39,070  $ 25,094 

As of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, inventory consisted primarily of inventory related to the Company's commercial product, Auryxia. As of June 30, 2024 and December
31, 2023, the Company had no prepaid manufacturing costs and $0.5 million of prepaid manufacturing costs for Auryxia drug substance, respectively.

  September 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

Inventories, current:

Work-in-process $ 11,861  $ 4,297 

Finished goods 8,632  11,394 

Inventories, current $ 20,493  $ 15,691 

Long-term inventories included in other long-term assets:

Raw materials 635  1,143 

Work-in-process 23,476  8,260 

Finished goods 607  — 

Inventories, long-term 24,718  9,403 

Total inventories $ 45,211  $ 25,094 

Inventory written down for Auryxia as a result of excess, obsolescence, scrap or other reasons charged to cost of product and other revenue in the unaudited condensed
consolidated statement statements of operations and comprehensive loss totaled approximately $0.5 million $1.3 million and $1.1 million $2.4 million during the three and six nine
months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, respectively, and $0.3 million $0.7 million and $0.6 million $1.3 million during the three and six nine months ended June 30,
2023 September 30, 2023, respectively. For the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, the Company realized lower cost of product and other revenue
of $4.9 million $3.7 million and $8.6 million $12.3 million, respectively, due to the Company's ability to commercially sell inventory previously written down to zero, its then net
realizable value.

Pre-Launch Inventory
The Company records advance payments for Prior to the FDA’s approval of Vafseo active pharmaceutical ingredient, or APIon March 27, 2024, or drug substance (raw materials) it
expects to use all costs for the U.S. manufacture of product to support clinical development and commercial launch, and the EEA, the UK, Switzerland and Australia, or the Medice
Territory, including pre-launch inventory, were expensed as prepaid manufacturing costs. Upon the quality release of the Vafseo batches and transfer of title incurred. Pre-launch
inventory manufactured prior to the Company from the contract manufacturing organization, or CMO, the cost FDA approval of the pre-launch inventory prior to regulatory approval,
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including the manufacturing costs, was expensed to R&D. Vafseo will be used in commercial production until it is depleted. As of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 and December
31, 2023, the Company had $11.6 cumulatively expensed $28.4 million and $14.0 million, respectively, of prepaid manufacturing in pre-launch inventory costs for Vafseo drug
substance expected to be used in intended for the U.S. launch of Vafseo included in prepaid expenses and other current assets on the unaudited condensed consolidated balance
sheets. See Note 6, Additional Balance Sheet Detail, for further information.launch.

5. INTANGIBLE ASSET AND GOODWILL

Intangible Asset

Intangible asset, net of accumulated amortization, prior impairments and adjustments as of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 consisted of the following (in
thousands):  

Intangible asset:

Intangible asset:

Intangible asset:

Gross

Carrying


Value

Accumulated

Amortization

Net

Book

Value

Net

Book

Value

Estimated

Useful

Life

Gross

Carrying


Value

Accumulated

Amortization

Net

Book

Value

Net

Book

Value

Developed

product

rights for

Auryxia

Developed

product

rights for

Auryxia

$214,705  $ $ (196,684) $ $ 18,021  $ $ 36,042 
6

years
6 years

Developed

product

rights for

Auryxia

$214,705  $ $ (205,694) $ $9,011  $ $ 36,042 

The Company recorded $9.0 million in amortization expense for each of the three months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 and 2023, and $18.0 million $27.0 million for
each of the six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 and 2023 related to the developed product rights for Auryxia.

Goodwill

As of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company had goodwill of $59.0 million in connection with the December 2018 merger with Keryx. The
Company has not identified any goodwill impairment to date.

6. ADDITIONAL BALANCE SHEET DETAIL

Prepaid expenses and other current assets are as follows (in thousands):
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6. ADDITIONAL BALANCE SHEET DETAIL

Prepaid expenses and other current assets are as follows (in thousands):

Description Description June 30, 2024 December 31, 2023 Description September 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

Prepaid manufacturing

Other

Total prepaid expenses and other current assets

Prepaid manufacturing expenses include advance payments to contract manufacturing organizations, or CMOs, for active pharmaceutical ingredient, or API, or drug substance.
Such amounts are reclassified to work-in-process inventory upon the quality release of the batches and transfer of title to the Company from the CMO. Prior to receiving regulatory
approval for Vafseo, such amounts were expensed to R&D upon the quality release of the batches and transfer of title to the Company from the CMO. See Note 4, Inventories and
Prepaid Manufacturing, for further information on prepaid manufacturing expenses. inventories, including pre-launch inventory.

Other long-term assets are as follows (in thousands):

Description Description June 30, 2024 December 31, 2023 Description September 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

Long-term inventories

Restricted cash

Other

Total other long-term assets

See Note 4, Inventories and Prepaid Manufacturing, for further information on long-term inventories.

Cloud Computing Implementation Costs

The Company incurs costs to implement cloud computing arrangements that are hosted by a third-party vendor. In accordance with ASC 350-40, Goodwill and Other, Internal-Use
Software, for cloud computing arrangements that meet the definition of a service contract, the Company capitalizes qualifying implementation costs incurred during the application
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development stage as a component of other assets. Capitalization of these costs concludes once the project is substantially complete and the software is ready for the Company's
intended use. Once available for its intended use, the capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the associated hosting arrangement including periods
covered by an option to extend, and are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Costs
related to data conversion, overhead, general and administrative activities, and training are expensed as incurred. Post-configuration training and maintenance costs will be
expensed as incurred.

Other Prepaid expenses and other current assets and other long-term assets as of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 included approximately $0.9 million $0.2 million and $0.7
million of capitalized implementation costs. costs, respectively. There were no implementation costs capitalized as of December 31, 2023. Amortization expense for the capitalized
implementation costs was immaterial $0.1 million for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024. There was no amortization expense for the three and
six nine months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023.

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consists of the following (in thousands): 

Description Description June 30, 2024 December 31, 2023 Description September 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

Product revenue allowances

Product return reserves, current portion

Clinical trial costs

Compensation and related benefits

Operating lease liabilities, current portion

Royalties due to Panion & BF Biotech, Inc.

Professional fees

Accrued manufacturing costs

Restructuring costs, current portion

BioVectra, Inc. termination fees, current portion

Liability related to sale of future royalties, current portion

Other

Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities

Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. | Form 10-Q | Page 10

Akebia Therapeutics, Inc.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7. INDEBTEDNESS

Entry into BlackRock Loan Facility

On January 29, 2024, or the Closing Date, the Company entered into the Agreement for the Provision of a Loan Facility, or the BlackRock Credit Agreement, with Kreos Capital VII
(UK) Limited, or Kreos, which are funds and accounts managed by BlackRock Inc., collectively, BlackRock, and provides for a senior secured term loan facility in the aggregate
principal amount of up to $55.0 million, or the Term Loan Facility. The Term Loan Facility is available in three tranches (i) Tranche A — $37.0 million was funded on the Closing Date
and used to repay the Pharmakon Term Loans; (ii) Tranche B — $8.0 million was funded on April 19, 2024, or the Tranche B Closing Date, and (iii) Tranche C — $10.0 million is
available in a single draw through December 31, 2024, collectively the Term Loans. Tranche C is available subject to receipt of a certain amount of cumulative gross cash proceeds
after the Closing Date in the form of equity or equity linked securities in one or more series of transactions.

On the Closing Date, the Company drew $34.5 million on Tranche A, after deducting debt issuance costs, fees and expenses. On the Tranche B Closing Date, the Company drew
$7.5 million, after deducting debt issuance costs, fees and expenses.

The BlackRock Term Loan Facility had an initial maturity date of March 31, 2025, which was automatically extended to January 29, 2028, after the Company received FDA approval
for Vafseo, or the BlackRock Maturity Date. The Company is required to make interest-only payments until December 31, 2026, or the BlackRock Interest Only Period, after which
the Company will begin paying equal monthly principal on the first calendar day of each month. In the event of certain prespecified events, the repayment schedule will be
accelerated.

The Term Loan Facility will accrue interest at a floating annual rate equal to the sum of (i) term Secured Overnight Financing Rate, or SOFR, for a tenor of one month (subject to a
floor of 4.25% per annum) plus (ii) a margin of 6.75% per annum (subject to an overall cap of 15.00% per annum on the all-in interest rate). As of June 30, 2024 September 30,
2024, the Company's interest rate was 12.09% 11.59%. The Company recognized interest expense related to the BlackRock Credit Agreement of $1.6 $1.7  million and $3.8
million $5.5 million during the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, respectively.

During the continuance of any payment event of default under the BlackRock Credit Agreement, the interest rate on such overdue sum will automatically increase by an additional
3.0% per annum, and may be subject to an additional late fee of 2.0% of such overdue sum. The Term Loan Facility also includes transaction fees ranging from 1.00% to 1.25% of
the draw down amount as well exit fees of 0.75% of the amount funded to the relevant tranche.

If the Company prepays the outstanding loan prior to maturity, it will be required to pay a prepayment fee ranging from 1.0% to 4.0% of the amount prepaid. If prepayment is made
during the first year, the Company also is required to pay the amount of otherwise due interest payments for the twelve-month period following prepayment.
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As of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, future principal payments under the BlackRock Credit Agreement are as follows (in thousands):

Principal Payments Principal Payments

2024

2025

2026

2027

2028

Total before unamortized discount and issuance costs

Less: unamortized discount and issuance costs

Total term loans

The BlackRock Term Loan Facility is secured by substantially all of the existing and after-acquired assets of the Company, including intellectual property. The BlackRock Credit
Agreement requires the Company to (i) maintain a minimum aggregate cash balance of $15.0 million in one or more controlled accounts or (ii) trailing twelve-month revenue of
$150.0 million, both of which are measured monthly. The BlackRock Credit Agreement contains certain representations and warranties, affirmative and negative covenants that limit
the Company's ability to engage in specified types of transactions and other provisions typical within a credit agreement. If an event of default occurs and is continuing under the
BlackRock Credit Agreement, BlackRock is entitled to take enforcement action, including acceleration of amounts due and it could limit the Company's ability to make certain
payments under the Vifor Termination Agreement (as defined below).
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On July 10, 2024, in connection with the Vifor Termination and Settlement Agreement, or the Vifor Termination Agreement, the Company and Kreos entered into a First Amendment
to the BlackRock Credit Agreement, or the BlackRock Credit Amendment, which amends amended certain provisions of the BlackRock Credit Agreement. See Note 16, Subsequent
Events, for further information on the BlackRock Credit Amendment.

Warrant

On the Closing Date, Kreos Capital VII Aggregator SCSp, an affiliate of Kreos, or the Warrant Holder, received a warrant to purchase 3,076,923 shares of the Company’s common
stock, at an exercise price per share of $1.30, or the Initial Warrant, and upon borrowing of Tranche C, the Company would become obligated to issue to the Warrant Holder
additional warrants to purchase 1,153,846 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price per share of $1.30. Each warrant shall be exercisable for eight years from
the date of issuance.

The Initial Warrant is liability classified under ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, as it could potentially require net cash settlement outside of the Company’s control. The Initial
Warrant is measured at fair value each period with changes in fair value presented within the unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations. operations and
comprehensive loss. The fair value of the warrant liability was $2.6 million $3.5 million as of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024. See Note 3, Fair Value of Financial Instruments, for
information on the fair value determination.

Other Agreements Accounted for as Debt

The Company has a liability related to the sale of future settlement royalties which is accounted for as and a debt arrangement. See Note 8, Deferred Revenue, Refund Liability and
Liability Related to Sale of Future Royalties, for further information.

The Company has a refund Working Capital Fund liability with Vifor (International) Ltd. (now a part of CSL Limited), or CSL Vifor, and a liability related to the sale of future royalties,
which is also are each accounted for as a debt arrangement. arrangements. See Note 8, Deferred Revenue, Refund Liability Related to Settlement Royalties, Working Capital Fund
Liability and Liability Related to Sale of Future Royalties, for further information.

Pharmakon Term Loans (Extinguished January 29, 2024)

On November 11, 2019, the Company, with Keryx as guarantor, entered into a loan agreement, or Pharmakon Loan Agreement, with BioPharma Credit PLC as collateral agent and
a lender, or Collateral Agent, and BioPharma Credit Investments V (Master) LP as a lender, and a Guaranty and Security Agreement with the Collateral Agent. BioPharma Credit
PLC subsequently transferred its interest in the loans, solely in its capacity as a lender, to its affiliate, BPCR Limited Partnership. The Collateral Agent and the lenders are
collectively referred to as Pharmakon. The Pharmakon Loan Agreement, as amended, consisted of a secured term loan facility in an aggregate amount of up to $100.0 million, or
Pharmakon Term Loans, which was made available under two tranches: (i) Pharmakon Tranche A - $80.0 million and (ii) Pharmakon Tranche B - $20.0 million. On November 25,
2019, the Company drew $77.3 million on Pharmakon Tranche A, net of fees and expenses of $2.7 million. On December 10, 2020, the Company drew $20.0 million on Pharmakon
Tranche B, net of immaterial lender expenses and issuance costs.

On the Closing Date, using the proceeds from the BlackRock Credit Agreement, the Company paid the then outstanding principal balance on the Pharmakon Term Loans of
$35.0 million, plus the outstanding interest and a prepayment fee of $0.2 million. During the six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, the Company recorded a
debt extinguishment loss of $0.5 million.

The Pharmakon Term Loans, as amended, bore interest through maturity at a variable rate based on the three month SOFR plus a SOFR adjustment of 0.30% plus 7.50%. The
SOFR interest rate was capped at 3.35% through October 31, 2023, the date of the Fourth Amendment to the Pharmakon Loan Agreement, or Fourth Amendment. Interest expense
related to the Pharmakon Loan Agreement was immaterial for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024. The Company recognized $1.6 million $1.4
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million and $3.3 million $4.7 million of interest expense related to the Pharmakon Loan Agreement during the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023,
respectively.

See Note 7, Indebtedness, of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2023 Form 10-K for further details.

8. DEFERRED REVENUE, REFUND LIABILITY RELATED TO SETTLEMENT ROYALTIES, WORKING CAPITAL FUND LIABILITY AND LIABILITY RELATED TO SALE OF
FUTURE ROYALTIES

The Company had the following deferred revenue balances as of June 30, 2024 (in thousands):

  June 30, 2024

Deferred Revenue: Short-Term Long-Term Total

CSL Vifor License Agreement $ 43,296  —  $ 43,296 

Total $ 43,296  $ —  $ 43,296 

CSL Vifor License Agreement
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Summary of Agreement

On February 18, 2022, the Company entered into a Second Amended and Restated License Agreement, or the Vifor License Agreement, with CSL Vifor, which amended and
restated the License Agreement dated May 12, 2017, or the Original License Agreement. The Vifor License Agreement granted CSL Vifor an exclusive license to sell Vafseo to
Fresenius Medical Care North America, or FMCNA, and its affiliates, including Fresenius Kidney Care Group LLC, to certain third-party dialysis organizations
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approved by the Company, to independent dialysis organizations that are members of certain group purchasing organizations and certain non-retail specialty pharmacies,
collectively, the Supply Group, in the U.S.

The Vifor License Agreement was structured as a profit share arrangement between the Company and CSL Vifor in which the Company would receive approximately 66% of the
profits, net of certain pre-specified costs. In addition, CSL Vifor made an upfront payment to the Company of $25.0 million in February 2022 in connection with the amendment and
restatement of the Vifor License Agreement, which was previously recorded as long-term deferred revenue in the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheets.

On July 10, 2024, the Company See Note 8, Deferred Revenue, Refund Liability and CSL Vifor entered into a Termination and Settlement Agreement, or the Vifor Termination
Agreement Liability Related to Sale of Future Royalties, pursuant of the Notes to which the Company and CSL Vifor agreed, among other things, to terminate, effective
immediately, Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2023 Form 10-K for a more detailed description of the Vifor License Agreement. See Note 16, Subsequent Events, for further
information on the Vifor Termination Agreement.

Investment Agreements

In connection with the Original License Agreement, in May 2017, the Company sold an aggregate of 3,571,429 shares of the Company’s common stock, or 2017 Shares, to CSL
Vifor at a price per share of $14.00 for a total of $50.0 million.

In February 2022, in connection with the Vifor License Agreement, the Company sold an aggregate of 4,000,000 shares of its common stock, or 2022 Shares, to CSL Vifor at a price
per share of $5.00 for a total of $20.0 million.

The $18.3 million representing the premium over the closing stock price, or $4.7 million for the 2017 Shares and $13.6 million for the 2022 Shares, represents was previously
recorded as long-term deferred revenue in the consolidated balance sheets as it represented consideration related to the Vifor License Agreement.  

The 2017 Shares and 2022 Shares are subject to standstill agreement and are subject to voting agreements. The 2017 Shares and 2022 Shares have not been registered pursuant
to the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and were issued and sold in reliance upon the exemption from registration contained in Section 4(a)(2) of the
Securities Act and Rule 506 promulgated thereunder as the transaction did not involve any public offering within the meaning of Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act. See Note 8,
Deferred Revenue, Refund Liability

Vifor Termination Agreement

On July 10, 2024, the Company and Liability Related CSL Vifor entered into the Vifor Termination Agreement, pursuant to which the Company and CSL Vifor agreed, among other
things, to terminate, effective immediately, the Vifor License Agreement.

Pursuant to the Sale of Future Royalties, of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2023 Form 10-K for a more detailed description terms of the Vifor License
Agreement.

Deferred Revenue Recognition
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The Termination Agreement, the Company evaluated the elements will pay CSL Vifor decreasing quarterly tiered royalty payments ranging from a high single-digit percentage of the
Vifor License Agreement in accordance with the provisions Company’s net sales of ASC 606 and concluded that the contract counterparty, CSL Vifor, was a customer. The
Company identified one performance obligation under the Vifor License Agreement at inception which was the non-sublicensable, non-transferrable license under certain Vafseo up
to $450.0 million to mid-single digit percentage of the Company's intellectual property Company’s net sales of Vafseo above $450.0  million, in each case, in the U.S. during a
calendar year, or the Settlement Royalty Payments. The Settlement Royalty Payments will commence upon the first sale of Vafseo by the Company, its affiliates or third-party
licensees to (i) sell Vafseo solely to a third party for use in the Supply Group, (ii) sell Vafseo to Designated Wholesalers solely for resale to members U.S., and will continue until the
later of the Supply Group, (iii) conduct medical affairs with respect to (i) expiration of the last-to-expire valid claim listed in the FDA Orange Book that would be infringed by the
making, using, selling or importing of Vafseo in the U.S. or (ii) the expiration of marketing or regulatory exclusivity for Vafseo in the field U.S., or the Settlement Royalty Term.
Beginning on July 1, 2027 and throughout the Settlement Royalty Term, the Company has the option to make a one-time payment to CSL Vifor, or the Royalty Buy-Down Option,
upon which the Settlement Royalty Payments will be adjusted as of the date of exercise of the Royalty Buy-Down Option such that the Company will then only pay CSL Vifor
quarterly royalty payments based on a mid-single digit percentage of the Company’s net sales of Vafseo up to $450.0 million in the U.S. during a calendar year in lieu of the
term above Settlement Royalty Payments. If the Company exercises the Royalty Buy-Down Option, the WCF Royalty Payments, as described below, will continue as described
above.

The WCF Royalty Payments, as described below, the Settlement Royalty Payments and the Royalty Buy-Down Option are in consideration for the termination of the Vifor License
Agreement and (iv) use all obligations thereunder, and the Akebia trademark solely covenants and agreements set forth in connection the Vifor Termination Agreement, including the
settlement and release of all disputes and claims arising from the Vifor License Agreement.

As a result of the Vifor Termination Agreement, the Company reassessed whether the Vifor License Agreement still met the criteria to be considered a contract within the scope of
ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, and concluded that CSL Vifor no longer met the sale definition of Vafseo.

a customer and, therefore, the arrangement should not be considered a revenue contract with a customer under ASC 606. The transaction price Company therefore determined that
the consideration received from CSL Vifor of $43.3 million was , comprised of the up-front payment of $25.0 million and the premiums paid by CSL Vifor for the 2017 Shares and
2022 Shares of $4.7 million and $13.6 million, respectively. Under the Vifor License Agreement, these payments from CSL Vifor were non-refundable and non-creditable against any
other amount due to the Company. In addition, if the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, or CMS, determined that Vafseo was excluded from the Transitional Drug Add-on
Payment Adjustment, or TDAPA, respectively, should be classified as debt. Accordingly, the Company had recorded the right $43.3 million as a liability and is amortizing such amount
using the effective interest method over the Settlement Royalty Term. The liability related to terminate the Vifor License Agreement and would then be required to repay the up-front
payment settlement royalties and the premiums paid by CSL Vifor amortization are based on the 2017 Shares and Company’s current estimates of future royalties expected to be
paid over the 2022 Shares. Given life of the arrangement. To the extent the Company’s estimates of future
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royalty payments are greater or less than previous uncertainty associated with a potential future approval estimates or the estimated timing of Vafseo by the FDA, and whether
Vafseo would be included in certain reimbursement bundles by CMS, such payments is materially different than previous estimates, the Company constrained will adjust the entire
transaction price at inception.

As effective interest rate and recognize related non-cash interest expense on a result prospective basis. On a quarterly basis, the Company reassesses the expected royalty
payments. The annual effective interest rate as of the Vifor Termination Agreement, there are no remaining performance obligations under the Vifor License Agreement. Accordingly,
the transaction price of $43.3 million September 30, 2024 was classified 41.0% which is reflected as short-term deferred revenue interest expense in the accompanying unaudited
condensed consolidated balance sheets statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company recognized interest expense of $4.4 million for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2024. As of September 30, 2024, the $47.7 million liability related to settlement royalties is classified as a long-term liability based on the timing of June 30,
2024. payments.

Working Capital Fund Liability (Previously Referred to as Refund Liability to Customer/Working Capital Fund Customer)

Pursuant to the Vifor License Agreement, CSL Vifor contributed $40.0 million to a working capital fund, or Working Capital Fund, established to partially fund the Company’s costs of
purchasing Vafseo from its contract manufacturers.
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The Company determined the Working Capital Fund did not represent an obligation to transfer goods or services to CSL Vifor in the future and thus under ASC 606 was recorded as
a refund liability. The refund liability was considered a debt arrangement with zero coupon interest and the Company imputed interest on the refund Working Capital Fund liability at
a rate of 15.0% per annum, which was determined based on certain factors, including the Company's credit rating, comparable securities yield and the expected repayment period.
On March 18, 2022, when the $40.0 million was received from CSL Vifor, the Company recorded an initial discount on the refund Working Capital Fund liability and a corresponding
deferred gain on the condensed consolidated balance sheet. The discount on the refund liability was amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method over the
expected term of the Vifor License Agreement. The deferred gain was amortized to interest income on a straight-line basis over the expected term of the Vifor License Agreement.
The amortization of the discount was $0.9 million and $1.6 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively, and $0.9 million and $1.7 million for the three and
six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively. The amortization of the deferred gain was $0.8 million and $1.7  million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024,
respectively, and $1.0 million and $2.0 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively.
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On May 3, 2024, the Company and CSL Vifor entered into Amendment #1 to the Vifor License Agreement, or the Amendment. Pursuant to the Amendment, and as modified by the
Vifor Termination Agreement, the Company and CSL Vifor agreed to modify the method of repayment of the Working Capital Fund such that the Working Capital Fund will be repaid
through quarterly tiered royalty payments ranging from 8% to 14% of the Company's net sales of Vafseo in the U.S., or the WCF Royalty Payments. The WCF Royalty Payments will
commence on July 1, 2025, and will continue until the earlier of (i) the cumulative total of the WCF Royalty Payments equals $40.0 million, or (ii) May 31, 2028, or the WCF Royalty
Term. The WCF Royalty Payments are subject to minimum true-up milestones of $10.0 million, $20.0 million and $40.0 million, or the WCF Royalty True-Up Payments, on each of
May 31, 2026, May 31, 2027 and May 31, 2028, respectively, or the WCF Royalty True-Up Dates. If the cumulative total of the WCF Royalty Payments paid to CSL Vifor on any
given WCF Royalty True-Up Date is less than the respective WCF Royalty True-Up Payment, the Company will pay CSL Vifor a one-time payment equal to the difference between
the WCF Royalty True-Up Payment and the cumulative total of the WCF Royalty Payments paid by the Company through such WCF Royalty True-Up Date. The Company
determined that the terms of the Amendment are not substantially different than the terms of the Vifor License Agreement, and therefore the Amendment was accounted for as a
modification. The Company concluded that the 15% discount rate remains appropriate. The On a quarterly basis, the Company will reassess reassesses the effective rate at each
reporting period. and will adjust the rate prospectively, if needed.

The discount on the Working Capital Fund liability is amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method over the WCF Royalty Term. The deferred gain is amortized to
interest income on a straight-line basis over the WCF Royalty Term. The amortization of the discount was $1.1 million and $2.7  million for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2024, respectively, and $0.7 million and $2.4 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, respectively. The amortization of the deferred gain
was $0.9 million and $2.6 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, respectively, and $1.0 million and $3.0 million for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2023, respectively.

As of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, the $40.0 million refund $40.2 million Working Capital Fund liability is classified as a long-term liability based on management's estimated
timing of the repayment of the refund Working Capital Fund liability to CSL Vifor exceeding one-year.

Liability Related to Sale of Future Royalties

On February 25, 2021, the Company entered into a royalty interest acquisition agreement, or the Royalty Agreement, with HealthCare Royalty Partners IV, L.P., or HCR, pursuant to
which the Company sold to HCR its right to receive royalties and sales milestones for Vafseo in Japan and certain other Asian countries, such countries collectively, the MTPC
Territory, and such payments collectively the Royalty Interest Payments, in each case, payable to the Company under the MTPC Agreement. The Royalty Interest Payments are
subject to an annual maximum “cap” of $13.0 million, after which the Company will receive 85% of the Royalty Interest Payments for the remainder of that year. The Royalty Interest
Payments are also subject to an aggregate maximum “cap” of $150.0 million, after which the Royalty Interest Payments will revert back to the Company. The Company retains the
right to receive all potential future regulatory milestones for Vafseo under the MTPC Agreement.

At the transaction date, the Company recorded the proceeds received from HCR of $44.8 million (net of certain transaction expenses) as a liability and is amortizing it using the
effective interest method over the life of the arrangement. The liability related to sale of future royalties and the debt amortization are based on the Company’s current estimates of
future royalties expected to be paid over the life of the arrangement. To the extent the Company’s estimates of future royalty payments are greater or less than previous estimates or
the estimated timing of such payments is materially different than previous estimates, the Company will adjust the effective interest rate and recognize related non-cash interest
expense on a
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prospective basis. In the event the Company's estimates of future royalties are less than the proceeds from the sale of future royalties, the Company will not recognize related non-
cash interest expense. On a quarterly basis, the Company reassesses the effective interest rate and adjusts the rate prospectively as needed. The annual effective interest rate as
of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 was 0% and, therefore the Company did not recognize any non-cash interest expense in the unaudited condensed consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive loss. As a result of its ongoing involvement in the cash flows related to the royalties and sales milestones in the MTPC Territory, the Company will
continue to account for these royalties as non-cash royalty revenue which is reflected in license, collaboration and other revenue in the unaudited condensed consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive loss. See Note 8, Deferred Revenue,Refund Liability and Liability Related to Sale of Future Royalties, of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements in the 2023 Form 10-K for a more detailed description of the Royalty Agreement.
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The Company paid $0.4 million $0.5 million and $0.9 $1.4 million of royalties to HCR during the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, respectively,
and $0.4 million $0.5 million and $1.0 million $1.5 million during the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023, respectively. As of June 30,
2024 September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 the balances were as follows (in thousands):                        

Liability related to sale of future royalties

Liability related to sale of future

royalties

June 30,

2024

December 31,

2023

Liability related to sale of future

royalties

September 30,

2024

December 31,

2023

Current portion (included in accrued expenses and other

current liabilities)

Long-term portion

Total liability related to sale of future royalties
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9. LEASES

Cambridge Lease

Under the Cambridge Lease, the Company leases approximately 65,167 square feet of office, storage and lab space in Cambridge, Massachusetts. The term of the Cambridge
Lease with respect to the 59,216 square feet of office and storage space expires on September 11, 2026, with one five-year extension option available. The term of the Cambridge
Lease with respect to the 5,951 square feet of lab space expires on September 11, 2026, with one two-year extension option available.

The Cambridge Lease is non-cancelable and is classified as an operating lease. The renewal options with respect to the office, storage and the lab space of the Cambridge Lease
were not included in the calculation of the right-of-use asset and operating lease liability as the renewals are not reasonably certain. The Cambridge Lease does not contain residual
value guarantees. In arriving at the operating lease liabilities, the Company applied incremental borrowing rates ranging from 6.65% to 6.94%, which were based on the remaining
lease term at either the date of adoption of ASC 842 or the effective date of any subsequent lease term extensions. As of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, the remaining lease
term for the Cambridge Lease was 2.20 1.95 years.

Operating lease costs were $1.2 million and $2.5 million $3.7 million for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, respectively, and $1.4 million $1.2
million and $3.2 million $4.4 million for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023, respectively. Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of
operating lease liabilities was $1.4 million and $2.9 million $4.3 million for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, respectively, and $1.4 million and
$3.1 million $4.5 million for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023, respectively. The security deposit in connection with the Cambridge Lease is
$1.7 million in the form of a letter of credit, which is included as restricted cash in other long-term assets in the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheets as
of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

Sublease and Former Boston Lease

Previously, the Company leased 27,924 square feet of office space in Boston, Massachusetts, or Boston Lease, under a non-cancelable operating lease that was set to expire in
July 2031. The Company subleased the entire Boston Lease, effective October 2019 through February 2023. The Company did not record any rental income for the three and
six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 and recorded no rental income and $0.3 million in rental income as other income in the unaudited condensed
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss during the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023, respectively.

In May 2023, pursuant to an Assignment and Assumption of Lease Agreement, or Lease Assignment Agreement, the Company assigned all of its rights, title and interest in, to, and
under the Boston Lease to LG Chem Life Sciences Innovation Center, Inc., or LG Chem, and made a payment to LG Chem of $1.3 million. As of May 2023, LG Chem assumed all
of the rights and obligations of the Company under the Boston Lease and the Company has no further obligations for rent or other payments under the Boston Lease. In accordance
with ASC 842, Leases, the Company wrote off the right-of-use asset and lease liability associated with the Boston Lease, and recognized the difference between the right-of-use
asset and the lease liability offset by the $1.3 million payment as a loss on lease termination in the unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive
loss of $0.5 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2023.

Future Lease Commitments

Future commitments under the Cambridge Lease are as follows (in thousands):
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Operating

Lease Commitments

Remainder of 2024 $ 2,876 

2025 5,819 

2026 3,613 

Total lease commitments $ 12,308 

Less: present value adjustment (830)

Current and long-term operating lease liabilities $ 11,478 

by the $1.3 million payment as a loss on lease termination in the unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss of $0.5 million during the
nine months ended September 30, 2023.

Future Lease Commitments

Future commitments under the Cambridge Lease are as follows (in thousands):

Operating


Lease Commitments

Remainder of 2024 $ 1,440 

2025 5,819 

2026 3,613 

Total lease commitments $ 10,872 

Less: present value adjustment (646)
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Current and long-term operating lease liabilities $ 10,226 

10. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Manufacturing and Unconditional Purchase Commitment Agreements

Siegfried Manufacturing

The Company's contractual obligations include a commercial supply agreement with Siegfried Evionnaz SA, or Siegfried, to supply commercial drug substance for Auryxia. The
Company and Siegfried entered into a Master Manufacturing Services and Supply Agreement, most recently amended in February 2023, or the Siegfried Agreement, under which
the Company has agreed to purchase a minimum quantity of drug substance of Auryxia at a predetermined price. As of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, the Company is
required to purchase a minimum quantity of drug substance for Auryxia annually at a total cost of approximately $21.4 million $22.3 million through the end of 2026.

The term of the Siegfried Agreement expires on December 31, 2026. The Siegfried Agreement provides the Company and Siegfried with certain early termination rights.

The excess firm commitment liability recorded in other long-term liabilities related to the Company's contractual purchase commitments with Siegfried was $3.6 million and $1.5
million as of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively.

Patheon Manufacturing

On March 11, 2020, the Company entered into a Supply Agreement with Patheon Inc., or Patheon, or the Patheon Agreement, under which Patheon will manufacture Vafseo drug
product for commercial use under a volume-based pricing structure through June 30, 2025, renewing annually unless either party gives the other party eighteen months' prior written
notice. Under the Patheon Agreement, the Company agreed to purchase from Patheon a certain percentage of the estimated global demand for Vafseo drug product based on
certain quarterly and annual forecasts provided by the Company. As of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, the Company had no minimum commitments with Patheon, however, as
estimated global demand fluctuates, the Company may have future obligations under the Patheon Agreement.

WuXi STA Manufacturing

In April 2020, the Company entered into a Supply Agreement with STA Pharmaceutical Hong Kong Limited, a subsidiary of WuXi AppTec, or WuXi STA, or, as amended, the WuXi
STA DS Agreement. Under the WuXi STA DS Agreement, WuXi STA will manufacture Vafseo drug substance for commercial use under a volume-based pricing structure through
April 2, 2029. Pursuant to the WuXi STA DS Agreement, the Company has agreed to purchase a certain percentage of the global demand for Vafseo drug substance from WuXi
STA. As of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, the Company has committed to purchase $11.1 million $6.9 million of Vafseo drug substance from WuXi STA through the end first
half of 2024. 2025.

On February 10, 2021, the Company entered into a Supply Agreement with WuXi STA, which was amended on October 15, 2024, or the WuXi STA DP Agreement, under which
WuXi STA will manufacture and supply Vafseo drug product for commercial purposes under a volume-based pricing structure through February 10, 2025 January 1, 2032. The
Vafseo drug product price is reviewed annually by the Company and WuXi STA. The Company will also reimburse WuXi STA for certain reasonable expenses. Pursuant to the WuXi
STA DP Agreement, the Company has agreed to purchase a certain percentage of global demand for Vafseo drug product from WuXi STA. The WuXi STA DP Agreement may be
renewed or extended by mutual agreement of the Company and WuXi STA with at least eighteen months’ prior written notice. The WuXi STA DP Agreement allows the Company to
terminate the relationship on 180 calendar days’ prior written notice to WuXi STA for any reason. In addition, each party has the ability to terminate the WuXi STA DP Agreement
upon the occurrence of certain conditions. As of
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September 30, 2024, the Company has committed to purchase $1.2 million of Vafseo drug product from WuXi STA through the end of 2025.

BioVectra - Former Manufacturing and Unconditional Purchase Commitments

Under the Manufacture and Supply Agreement with BioVectra, Inc., or BioVectra, and the Amended and Restated Product Manufacture and Supply and Facility Construction
Agreement with BioVectra, the Company agreed to purchase minimum
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quantities of Auryxia drug substance annually at predetermined prices as well as reimburse BioVectra for certain costs in connection with construction of a new facility for the
manufacture and supply of Auryxia drug substance.

On December 22, 2022, the Company and BioVectra entered into a termination agreement, or BioVectra Termination Agreement, pursuant to which the parties agreed, among other
things, to terminate, effective immediately, any and all existing agreements entered into between the parties in connection with the manufacture and supply, by BioVectra to the
Company, of Auryxia drug substance. Under the terms of the BioVectra Termination Agreement, each of the Company and BioVectra have released one another from all existing
and future claims and liabilities and the return of certain materials and documents. In addition, the Company agreed to pay BioVectra a total of $32.5 million consisting of (i) an
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upfront payment of $17.5 million and (ii) six quarterly payments of $2.5 million which commenced in April 2024, totaling $15.0 million. The upfront payment of $17.5 million was
made during the quarter ended December 31, 2022 and was recognized to cost of product and other revenue. In accordance with ASC 420, Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations, the
Company recognized a liability and corresponding expense for the remaining termination fees based on estimated fair value as of December 22, 2022. The Company imputed
interest on the liability for the remaining termination fees at a rate of 17.0% per annum, which was determined based on certain factors, including the Company's credit rating,
comparable securities yield, and expected repayment period of the remaining termination fees. The Company recorded an initial discount on the remaining termination fees on the
consolidated balance sheet on the date of the termination. This resulted in the recording of a liability and corresponding charge to cost of goods sold of $11.2 million during the
quarter ended December 31, 2022. The discount on the liability balance is being amortized to interest expense using the effective interest rate method over the term of the liability.
The amortization of the discount was $0.4 million and $1.0 million $1.3 million for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, respectively, and $0.5
million and $0.9 million $1.4 million for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023, respectively.

In-Licensing - Panion License Agreement

On April 17, 2019,  the Company and Panion  & BF Biotech, Inc., or Panion,  entered into a second amended and restated license agreement, or Panion Amended License
Agreement, which amended and restated in full the license agreement between the Company and Panion. The Panion Amended License Agreement provides the Company with an
exclusive license under Panion-owned  know-how  and patents with the right to sublicense, develop, make, use, sell, offer for sale, import and export ferric citrate worldwide,
excluding certain Asian-Pacific countries, or the Licensor Territory. The Panion Amended License Agreement also provides Panion with an exclusive license under the Company-
owned patents, with the right to sublicense (with the Company’s written consent), develop, make, use, sell, offer for sale, import and export ferric citrate in certain countries in the
Licensor Territory. Under the Panion Amended License Agreement, Panion is eligible to receive from the Company or any sublicensee royalty payments based on a mid-single digit
percentage of sales of ferric citrate in the Company’s licensed territories. The Company is eligible to receive from Panion or any sublicensee royalty payments based on a mid-
single  digit percentage of net sales of ferric citrate in Panion’s licensed territories. See Note 10, Commitments and Contingencies, of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements in the 2023 Form 10-K for a more detailed description of this license agreement.

The Company incurred royalty payments due to Panion of approximately $2.5 million $2.1 million and $4.3 $6.4  million during the three and six nine months ended June 30,
2024 September 30, 2024, respectively, and $3.2 million $3.1 million and $6.0 $9.3  million during the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023,
respectively, relating to the Company’s sales of Auryxia in the U.S. and JT and Torii’s net sales of Riona in Japan.

Other Third-Party Contracts

The Company contracts with various organizations to conduct R&D activities with remaining contract costs to the Company of approximately $46.7 million $47.0 million at June 30,
2024 September 30, 2024. The scope of the services under these R&D contracts can be modified and the contracts cancelled by the Company upon written notice. In some
instances, the contracts may be cancelled by the third party upon written notice.

Litigation and Related Matters

The Company is involved from time to time in various legal proceedings arising in the normal course of business. The Company provides disclosure when a loss in excess of any
reserve is reasonably possible, and if estimable, the Company discloses the potential loss or range of possible loss. Significant judgment is required to assess the likelihood of
various
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potential outcomes and the quantification of loss in those scenarios. Changes in the Company’s estimates could have a material impact and are recorded as litigation progresses
and new information comes to light. Although the outcomes of potential legal proceedings are inherently difficult to predict, the Company does not expect the resolution of current
legal proceedings to have a material adverse effect on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows of the Company.
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Guarantees and Indemnifications

As permitted under Delaware law, the Company may indemnify its officers, directors and employees for certain events or occurrences that happen by reason of their relationship
with, or position held at, the Company. The Company may also be subject to indemnification obligations by law with respect to the actions of its employees under certain
circumstances and in certain jurisdictions. The Company maintains director and officer liability insurance coverage that is intended to cover a portion of amounts that may be due
with respect to indemnification after a deductible is met. Further, the Company is a party to a variety of agreements in the ordinary course of business under which it may be
obligated to indemnify third parties with respect to certain matters. For the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company did not
experience any losses related to these indemnification obligations, and no claims were outstanding as of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024. The Company does not have any
claims related to these indemnification obligations and consequently concluded that the fair value of these obligations is negligible and no related accruals were recorded.

11. PRODUCT REVENUE AND RESERVES FOR VARIABLE CONSIDERATION
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To date, the Company’s only source of product revenue has been from the U.S. sales of Auryxia. Total net product revenue was $41.2 million $35.6 million and $72.2 million $107.8
million for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, respectively, and $42.2 million $40.1 million and $77.0 million $117.1 million for the three and
six nine months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023, respectively. Product revenue allowance and reserve categories were as follows: 

(in thousands)

(in

thousands)

Chargebacks


and

Discounts

Rebates,

Fees


and other


Deductions

Product

Returns Total

(in

thousands)

Chargebacks


and Discounts

Rebates, Fees


and other


Deductions Product Returns Total

Balance at December 31, 2023

Current provisions related to sales in

current year

Adjustments related to prior year sales

Credits/payments made

Balance at June 30, 2024

Balance at September 30, 2024

(in thousands)

(in thousands)

(in thousands)

Chargebacks


and

Discounts

Rebates,

Fees


and other


Deductions

Product

Returns Total

Chargebacks


and

Discounts

Rebates,

Fees


and other


Deductions

Product

Returns Total

Balance at December 31, 2022

Current provisions related to sales in

current year

Adjustments related to prior year sales

Credits/payments made

Balance at June 30, 2023

Balance at September 30, 2023

Chargebacks, discounts and estimated product returns are recorded as a reduction of revenue in the period the related product revenue is recognized in the unaudited condensed
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Chargebacks are recorded as a reduction to accounts receivable while discounts, rebates, fees and other
deductions are recorded with a corresponding increase to accrued expenses and other current liabilities or accounts payable on the condensed consolidated balance sheets.
Estimated product returns on product sales that are not expected to be returned within one year are recorded as other long-term liabilities in the unaudited condensed consolidated
balance sheets.

Accounts receivable, net related to product sales, was approximately $27.9 million $30.3 million and $35.9 million as of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023,
respectively.

12. LICENSE, COLLABORATION AND OTHER REVENUE
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The Company recognized the following revenue from its license, collaboration and other revenue agreements (in thousands):

Three Months Ended

June 30,

Six Months Ended

June 30,

Three Months Ended

September 30,

Nine Months Ended

September 30,

Entity Entity Description 2024 2023 2024 2023 Entity Description 2024 2023 2024 2023

Medice

MTPC

JT and Torii

Otsuka

Total license and other

revenue

The following tables present changes in the Company’s contract assets and liabilities related to license and other revenue (in thousands):
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2024

Nine Months Ended September

30, 2024

Balance at

Beginning of


Period

Balance at


Beginning of


Period Additions Deductions

Balance


at End


of Period

Balance at


Beginning of


Period Additions Deductions

Balance


at End


of

Period

Contract asset: Contract

asset:  

Contract

asset:  

Accounts receivable(1)

Contract liability:

Contract liability:

Contract liability:

Deferred revenue (2)

Deferred revenue (2)

Deferred revenue (2)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2023

Six Months Ended June 30, 2023

Six Months Ended June 30, 2023

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2023

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2023

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2023

Balance at

Beginning of


Period

Balance at


Beginning of


Period Additions Deductions

Balance


at End


of Period

Balance at


Beginning of


Period Additions Deductions

Balance


at End


of

Period

Contract assets:

Accounts receivable(1)

Accounts receivable(1)

Accounts receivable(1)

Prepaid expenses and other current

assets

Contract liabilities:

Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue
(1) Excludes accounts receivable related to amounts due to the Company from product sales of Auryxia which are included in the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheets

as of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 and 2023.

(2) See Note 8, Liability Related to Settlement Royalties, Working Capital Fund Liability and Liability Related to Sale of Future Royalties, for further information.

The Company recognized the following revenues as a result of changes in the contract asset and contract liability balances in the respective periods (in thousands): 

Three Months Ended June

30, Six Months Ended June 30,

Three Months Ended

September 30,

Nine Months Ended

September 30,

Revenue Recognized in the

Period:

Revenue Recognized in the

Period: 2024 2023 2024 2023

Revenue Recognized in the

Period: 2024 2023 2024 2023

Deferred revenue — beginning of

the period

During each of the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company recognized no revenue from performance obligations satisfied in
previous periods.

Medice License Agreement
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On May 24, 2023, or Medice Effective Date, the Company and MEDICE Arzneimittel Pütter GmbH & Co. KG, or Medice, entered into a License Agreement, or the Medice License
Agreement, pursuant to which the Company granted to Medice an exclusive license to market and sell Vafseo for the treatment of anemia in adult patients with CKD in the Medice
Territory.

Under the Medice License Agreement, the Company received an up-front payment of $10.0 million and is eligible to receive the following payments:

(i)     commercial milestone payments up to an aggregate of $100.0 million, and
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(i)     commercial milestone payments up to an aggregate of $100.0 million, and

(ii)     tiered royalties ranging from 10% to 30% of Medice's annual net sales of Vafseo in the Medice Territory, subject to reduction in certain circumstances.

The royalties will expire on a country-by-country basis upon the latest to occur of (a) the date of expiration of the last-to-expire valid claim of any Company, Medice or joint patent
that covers Vafseo in such country in the Medice Territory, (b) the date of expiration of data or regulatory exclusivity for Vafseo in such country in the Medice Territory and (c) the
date that is twelve years from first commercial sale of Vafseo in such country in the Medice Territory.

Under the Medice License Agreement, the Company retains the right to develop Vafseo for non-dialysis patients with anemia due to CKD in the Medice Territory. If the Company
develops Vafseo for non-dialysis patients and Vafseo receives marketing approval in the Medice Territory, Medice will commercialize Vafseo for both indications in the Medice
Territory. In this instance, the Company would receive 70% of the net product margin of any sales of Vafseo in the non-dialysis patient population, unless Medice requests to share
the cost of the development necessary to gain approval to market Vafseo for non-dialysis patients in the Medice Territory and the parties agree on alternative financial terms. If the
Company develops Vafseo for non-dialysis patients, the Company has determined that the activities under the Medice License Agreement represent joint operating activities in
which both parties are active participants and of which both parties are exposed to significant risks and rewards that are dependent on the success of the activities. Accordingly, if
the Company develops Vafseo for non-dialysis patients, the Company will account for the joint activities in accordance with ASC No. 808, Collaborative Arrangements, or ASC 808.
Additionally, the Company has determined that in the context of the development of Vafseo for non-dialysis patients, Medice does not represent a customer as contemplated by ASC
606-10-15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers – Scope and Scope Exceptions. 606. As a result, the activities conducted pursuant to development activities for Vafseo for non-
dialysis patients will be accounted for as a component of the related expense in the period incurred.

The Medice License Agreement expires on the date of expiration of all payment obligations due thereunder with respect to Vafseo in the last country in the Medice Territory, unless
earlier terminated in accordance with the terms of the Medice License Agreement. Either party may, subject to a cure period, terminate the Medice License Agreement in the event
of the other party's uncured material breach. Medice has the right to terminate the Medice License Agreement in its entirety for convenience upon twelve months' prior written notice
delivered on or after the date that is twelve months after the Medice Effective Date.

The Medice License Agreement provides that the Company and Medice will enter into a supply agreement pursuant to which the Company will supply Vafseo to
Medice for commercial use in the Medice Territory. As of June 30, 2024, the Company and Medice have not yet entered into a supply agreement.

The Company evaluated the elements of the Medice License Agreement in accordance with the provisions of ASC 606 and concluded Medice is a customer. The Company
identified one performance obligation in connection with its obligations under the Medice License Agreement, which is the license, or License Performance Obligation. The
transaction price at inception was comprised of the up-front payment of $10.0 million, of which the Company received $8.6 million during the quarter ended June 30, 2023. The
remaining $1.4 million was withheld by the German Federal Tax Office and is included in prepaid expenses and other current assets as of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 and
other long-term assets as of December 31, 2023 on the unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheets.

Pursuant to the terms of the Medice License Agreement, the up-front payment of $10.0 million is non-refundable and non-creditable against any other amount due to the Company
and was allocated to the License Performance Obligation, which was satisfied as of the Medice Effective Date. As such, the Company recognized the $10.0 million up-front payment
as license, collaboration and other revenue in the unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss during the three and six nine months ended
June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023.

In accordance with ASC 606, the Company will recognize sales-based royalties and milestone payments at the later of when the performance obligation is satisfied or the related
sales occur. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company recognized immaterial revenue from Medice royalties. The Company did not recognize any
revenue from Medice royalties during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023. As of September 30, 2024, there were immaterial contract assets, and no accounts
receivable, payables or deferred revenue in connection with the Medice License Agreement.

Medice Letter Agreement

On December 6, 2023, the Company and Medice entered into a letter agreement, or the Medice Letter Agreement, pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell to Medice a partial
batch of Vafseo in order to achieve packaging validation for the Medice Territory. The Company recognizes previously recognized revenue under this arrangement when risk of loss
passes passed to Medice and delivery has occurred. As of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, there were immaterial no accounts receivable, and no contract assets, payables or
deferred revenue recorded in connection with the Medice Letter Agreement.

Supply of Drug Product to Medice
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On September 13, 2024, the Company and Medice entered into a supply agreement, or the Medice Supply Agreement, under which the Company will supply Vafseo drug product to
Medice for commercial and developmental use in the Medice Territory. The Company recognizes revenue under this arrangement when risk of loss passes to Medice, delivery has
occurred, and Medice has accepted the product. The Company did not recognize any revenue under the Medice Supply Agreement during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2024 or 2023.

MTPC Collaboration Agreement

On December 11, 2015, the Company and MTPC entered into a Collaboration Agreement, or the MTPC Agreement, providing MTPC with exclusive development and
commercialization rights to Vafseo in the MTPC Territory, which was amended
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effective as of December 2, 2022. In addition, the Company supplies Vafseo to MTPC for both clinical and commercial use in the MTPC Territory. In February 2021, the Company
entered into the Royalty Agreement with HCR, whereby the Company sold its right to receive royalties and sales milestones under the MTPC Agreement, subject to certain caps
and other terms and conditions. See Note 8,Deferred Revenue, Refund Liability and Liability Related to Sale of Future Royalties, for additional information and Note 12, License,
Collaboration and Other Revenue, of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2023 Form 10-K for a more detailed description of the MTPC Agreement.

The Company evaluated the elements of the MTPC Agreement in accordance with the provisions of ASC 606 and concluded that the contract counterparty, MTPC, is a customer.
The Company identified two performance obligations in connection with its material promises under the MTPC Agreement as follows: (i) License, Research and Clinical Supply
Performance Obligation and (ii) Rights to Future Know-How Performance Obligation.

The transaction price was comprised of: (i) the up-front payment of $20.0 million, (ii) the cost for the Phase 2 studies of $20.5 million, (iii) the cost of all clinical supply provided to
MTPC for the Phase 3 studies, (iv) $10.0 million in development milestones received, (v) $25.0 million in regulatory milestones received and (vi) $5.9 million $6.4 million in royalties
from net sales of Vafseo. The Company re-evaluates the transaction price in each reporting period and as uncertain events are resolved or other changes in circumstances occur.
As of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, all development milestones and $25.0 million in regulatory milestones have been achieved. No other regulatory milestones have been
assessed as probable of being achieved and as a result have been fully constrained.

The Company allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation based on the Company’s best estimate of the relative standalone selling price. The Company
developed a best estimate of the standalone selling price for the Rights to Future Know-How Performance Obligation primarily based on the likelihood that additional intellectual
property covered by the license conveyed will be developed during the term of the arrangement and determined it is immaterial. As such, the Company did not develop a best
estimate of standalone selling price for the License, Research and Clinical Supply Performance Obligation and allocated the entire transaction price to this performance obligation.

Revenue for the License, Research and Clinical Supply Performance Obligation for the MTPC Agreement is being recognized using a proportional performance method, for which
all deliverables have been completed. The Company recognizes any revenue from MTPC royalties in the period in which the sales occur. The Company recognized $0.5 million and
$0.9 million of revenue from MTPC royalties  of $0.5 million during each of the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 and 2023 respectively. and
$1.4 million during each of the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023. As noted above, in February 2021, the Company entered into the Royalty Agreement, whereby
the Company sold its right to receive these royalties and sales milestones under the MTPC Agreement, subject to certain caps and other terms and conditions. See Note 8,Deferred
Revenue, Refund  Liability Related to Settlement Royalties, Working Capital Fund Liability and Liability Related to Sale of Future Royalties, for additional information. The revenue is
classified as license and other revenue in the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. As of June 30, 2024 September
30, 2024, there were no accounts receivable, payables or deferred revenue and $0.5 million in contract assets recorded in connection with the MTPC Agreement.

Supply of Drug Product to MTPC

On July 15, 2020, the Company and MTPC entered into a supply agreement, or MTPC Supply Agreement, under which the Company supplies Vafseo drug product to MTPC for
commercial use in Japan and certain other Asian countries, as contemplated by the MTPC Agreement. See Note 12, License, Collaboration and Other Revenue, of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2023 Form 10-K for a more detailed description of this supply agreement.

On December 16, 2022, the Company, MTPC and Esteve Química, S.A., or Esteve, executed an Assignment of Supply Agreement, or Esteve Assignment Agreement, pursuant to
which the Supply Agreement between the Company and Esteve, or Esteve Agreement was assigned to MTPC. The Esteve Assignment Agreement transferred the rights and
obligations of the Company under the Esteve Agreement to MTPC. The Company has no further obligation to take delivery of, or pay for, product delivered by Esteve.
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The Company does not recognize revenue under this arrangement until risk of loss on the drug product passes to MTPC and delivery has occurred and MTPC has accepted the
product. The Company recognized no revenue and $0.7 million in revenue under the MTPC Supply Agreement during the three and six nine months ended June 30,
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2024 September 30, 2024, respectively, and no revenue and $3.7 million in revenue under the MTPC Supply Agreement during the three and six nine months ended June 30,
2023 September 30, 2023, respectively. As of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, there were no accounts receivable, deferred revenue or other current liabilities relating to the
MTPC Supply Agreement.

JT and Torii Sublicense Agreement
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The Company has an Amended and Restated Sublicense Agreement, which was amended in June 2013, with JT and Torii, or JT and Torii Sublicense Agreement, under which JT
and Torii obtained the exclusive sublicense rights for the development and commercialization of ferric citrate hydrate in Japan. JT and Torii are responsible for the future
development and commercialization costs in Japan. See Note 12, License, Collaboration and Other Revenue, of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2023
Form 10-K for a more detailed description of this sublicense agreement.

The Company evaluated the elements of the JT and Torii Sublicense Agreement in accordance with the provisions of ASC 606 and concluded that the contract counterparty, JT and
Torii, is a customer. The Company identified two performance obligations in connection with its obligations under the JT and Torii Sublicense Agreement: (i) License and Supply
Performance Obligation and (ii) Rights to Future Know-How Performance Obligation. The Company developed a best estimate of the standalone selling price for the Rights to
Future Know-How Performance Obligation primarily based on the likelihood that additional intellectual property covered by the license conveyed will be developed during the term of
the arrangement and determined it immaterial. As such, the Company allocated the entire transaction price to the License and Supply Performance Obligation.

The Company recognized license revenue of $1.3 million and $2.5 $3.7 million during the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, respectively, and
$1.4 million and $2.5 million $4.0 million during the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023, respectively, related to royalties earned on net sales of
ferric citrate hydrate in Japan under the trade name Riona. The Company records the associated mid-single digit percentage of net sales royalty expense due to Panion, the licensor
of Riona, in the same period as the royalty revenue from JT and Torii is recorded.

13. CAPITAL STOCK

Authorized and Outstanding Capital Stock

On June 5, 2020, the Company filed a Certificate of Amendment to its Ninth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, or its Charter, to increase the number of authorized
shares of common stock from 175,000,000 to 350,000,000. As of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, the authorized capital stock of the Company included 350,000,000 shares of
common stock, $0.00001 par value per share, of which 209,929,145 211,542,122 and 194,582,539 shares were issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024
and December 31, 2023, respectively; and 25,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock, $0.00001 par value per share, of which no shares were issued and outstanding as of
June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

At-the-Market Facility

On April 7, 2022, the Company entered into an at-the-market, or ATM, sales agreement, or the Original Sales Agreement, with Jefferies LLC, or Jefferies, as the Company's sales
agent, under which the Company could offer and sell from time to time up to $26.0 million of shares of its common stock at current market prices. During the year ended December
31, 2023, the Company sold 6,189,974 shares of common stock under this program with gross proceeds of $6.8 million ($6.7 million, net of offering expenses). During the six nine
months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, the Company sold 13,261,311 shares of its common stock under this program with gross proceeds of $19.2 million ($18.7 million,
net of offering expenses).

On September 3, 2024, in connection with the filing of a new shelf registration statement on Form S-3, the Company filed a prospectus related to the Company's amended and

restated sales agreement (which amended and restated the Original Sales Agreement), with Jefferies, as the Company’s sales agent, pursuant to which the Company is able to
offer and sell up to $75.0 million of its common stock at current market prices from time to time. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company sold
1,242,662 shares of its common stock under this program with gross proceeds of $1.7 million ($1.7 million, net of offering expenses).

14. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION AND BENEFIT PLAN

Stock-Based Compensation and Benefit Plans

The Company incurred stock-based compensation expenses of $2.1 million $1.6 million and $4.4 million $6.1 million for the three and six nine months ended June 30,
2024 September 30, 2024, respectively, and $3.5 million $1.8 million and $6.0 million $7.8 million for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023,
respectively.

Equity Incentive Plans

The following table contains information about the Company's equity plans:
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June 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

Title of Plan Group Eligible
Type of Award Granted (or to be

Granted) Awards Outstanding
Additional Awards

Authorized for Grant Awards Outstanding
Additional Awards

Authorized for Grant

Keryx Equity Plans(1)(2) Employees, directors
and consultants

Stock options and RSUs 208,986  —  232,203  — 

Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. 2014
Incentive Plan, as amended (2) (3)

(the 2014 Plan)

Employees, directors,
consultants and advisors

Stock options, RSUs, SARs and
performance awards

12,597,753  —  15,311,501  — 

Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. 2023
Stock Incentive Plan(3) (the 2023
Plan)
(replaced 2014 Plan)

Employees, officers,
directors, consultants
and advisors

Stock options, SARs, restricted
stock, unrestricted stock, RSUs,
performance awards, other share-
based awards and dividend
equivalents

10,435,850  —  1,712,400  17,382,722 

Equity Incentive Plans

The following table contains information about the Company's equity plans:

September 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

Title of Plan Group Eligible

Type of Award Granted (or to be

Granted) Awards Outstanding

Additional Awards

Authorized for Grant Awards Outstanding

Additional Awards

Authorized for Grant

Keryx Equity Plans(1)(2) Employees, directors

and consultants

Stock options and RSUs 199,629  —  232,203  — 

Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. 2014

Incentive Plan, as amended (2) (3)

(the 2014 Plan)

Employees, directors,

consultants and advisors

Stock options, RSUs, SARs and

performance awards

11,754,663  —  15,311,501  — 

Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. 2023

Stock Incentive Plan(3) (the 2023

Plan)
(replaced 2014 Plan)

Employees, officers,

directors, consultants

and advisors

Stock options, SARs, restricted

stock, unrestricted stock, RSUs,

performance awards, other share-

based awards and dividend

equivalents

10,418,117  —  1,712,400  17,382,722 

(1)         The Keryx Equity Plans consist of the Keryx Biopharmaceuticals, Inc. 1999 Share Option Plan, Keryx Biopharmaceuticals, Inc., as amended, the 2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended, the Keryx
Biopharmaceuticals, Inc. 2007 Incentive Plan, the Keryx Biopharmaceuticals Inc. Amended and Restated 2013 Incentive Plan and the Keryx Biopharmaceuticals, Inc. 2018 Equity Incentive Plan.

(2)     New awards are no longer being granted under these plans.

(3)        This table includes inducement awards that are subject to the terms and conditions of the applicable plan but were granted as inducement awards consistent with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5635(c)(4) and not under the
applicable plan: 1,496,428 1,195,250 options included as outstanding under the 2014 Plan in the table and 2,374,950 2,528,550 options included as outstanding under the 2023 Plan in the table as of June 30,
2024 September 30, 2024 and 1,616,019 options included as outstanding under the 2014 Plan and 794,000 options included as outstanding under the 2023 Plan in the table as of December 31, 2023.

Common Stock Options and Stock Appreciation Rights

During the six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, the Company issued 3,432,500 options to employees under the 2023 Plan. Options and SARs granted by the
Company generally vest over periods of between 12 and 48 months, subject, in each case, to the individual’s continued service through the applicable vesting date. Options and
SARs generally vest either 100% on the first anniversary of the grant date or in installments of (i) 25% at the one year anniversary and (ii) 12 equal quarterly installments beginning
after the one year anniversary of the grant date, subject to the individual’s continuous service with the Company. Options and SARs generally expire ten years after the date of
grant.

The Company also maintains an inducement award program with a share pool that is separate from the Company's equity plans under which inducement awards may be granted
consistent with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5635(c)(4). During the six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, the Company granted 1,604,950 1,767,550 options to
purchase shares of the Company’s common stock to new hires as inducements to such employees entering into employment with the Company, of which 1,604,950 1,763,550
options remained outstanding as of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024.

The Company grants annual service-based stock options to employees and directors and SARs to certain executives under the 2023 and 2014 Plans. In addition, the Company
issues stock options to directors, new hires and occasionally to other employees not in connection with the annual grant process.

Finally, the Company grants performance-based stock options which generally vest in connection with the achievement of specified commercial, regulatory and corporate
milestones. The performance-based stock options also generally feature a time-based vesting component. The expense recognized for these awards is based on the grant date fair
value of the Company’s common stock multiplied by the number of options granted and recognized over time based on the probability of meeting such commercial, regulatory and
corporate milestones.
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The combined stock option activity for the six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, is as follows:
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Stock


Options

Stock


Options

Weighted Average

Exercise Price

Weighted-Average

Contractual Life (years)

Aggregate Intrinsic

Value (in thousands)

Stock


Options

Weighted Average

Exercise Price

Weighted-Average

Contractual Life (years)

Aggregate Intrinsic

Value (in thousands)

Outstanding at

December 31, 2023

Granted

Exercised

Expired

Canceled and forfeited

Canceled and forfeited

Canceled and forfeited

Outstanding at June

30, 2024

Exercisable at June

30, 2024

Outstanding at

September 30, 2024

Exercisable at

September 30, 2024

As of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, there was approximately $9.3 $8.5  million of unrecognized compensation costs related to stock options, which is expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of 2.94 2.79 years.

Restricted Stock Units

Generally, restricted stock units, or RSUs, granted by the Company vest in one of the following ways: (i) 100% of each RSU grant vests on the first anniversary of the grant date, (ii)
one third of each RSU grant vests on the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant date, or (iii) one third of each RSU grant vests on the first anniversary of the grant date
and the remaining two thirds vests in eight substantially equal quarterly installments beginning after the one year anniversary, subject, in each case, to the individual’s continued
service through the applicable vesting date. The grant-date fair value of the RSUs is recognized as expense on a straight-line basis. The Company determines the fair value of the
RSUs based on the closing price of the common stock on the date of the grants.

The Company also periodically grants performance-based restricted stock units, or PSUs, to employees under the 2023 Plan and previously granted PSUs under the 2014 Plan.
The PSUs granted by the Company generally vest in connection with the achievement of specified commercial, regulatory and corporate milestones. The PSUs also generally
feature a time-based vesting component. The expense recognized for these awards is based on the grant date fair value of the Company’s common stock multiplied by the number
of units granted and recognized over time based on the probability of meeting such commercial, regulatory and corporate milestones.

RSU and PSU activity is as follows:

2014 Plan 2014 Plan 2023 Plan 2014 Plan 2023 Plan

Number of

Shares

Number of

Shares

Weighted Average

Fair Value

Number of

Shares

Weighted Average

Fair Value

Number of

Shares

Weighted Average

Fair Value

Number of

Shares

Weighted Average

Fair Value

Outstanding as of

December 31, 2023

Granted

Vested

Forfeited and canceled

Outstanding as of June 30,

2024

Outstanding as of

September 30, 2024

As of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, there was $7.3 million $6.2 million of unrecognized compensation costs related to time-based RSUs and PSUs, which is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.25 2.07 years.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

On June 6, 2019, the Company's stockholders approved the Amended and Restated 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or ESPP. Under the ESPP substantially all employees
may voluntarily enroll to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock through payroll deductions at a price equal to 85% of the lower of the fair market values of the stock as of
the beginning or the end of the six-month offering period. An employee's payroll deductions under the ESPP are limited to 15% of the employee's compensation, and an employee
may not purchase more than $25,000 worth of stock during any calendar year. In addition, an employee may not purchase more than 1,500 shares in any offering period. As of June
30, 2024 September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, a total of 4,545,480 4,448,069 and 4,637,801 shares of the Company’s common stock were available for future issuance
under the ESPP, respectively. The Company issued 92,321 189,732 shares under the ESPP during the six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024.
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Stock-Based Compensation Expense

The Black-Scholes option pricing model is used to estimate the fair value of the stock options. The weighted-average assumptions used in calculating the fair values of the rights to
acquire stock under the 2023 Plan, the 2014 Plan and inducement awards were as follows:                                         

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30, Three Months Ended September 30,

Stock

Options

Stock

Options
2024 2023 2024 2023

Stock

Options
2024 2023

Risk-free

interest

rate

Risk-free

interest

rate

4.24 % -

4.66%

3.67 % -

3.99%

3.90% - 4.66%  

3.54%

-

3.99%

Risk-

free

interest

rate

3.60 % -

3.95%

4.08 % -

4.55%

Expected

volatility

Expected

volatility
109.98 % -

118.61%
102.31 % -

111.71%
109.98% - 118.61%

100.97%
-

111.71%

Expected

volatility
111.37 % -

117.40%
102.41 % -

107

Expected

term

(years)

Expected

term

(years)

5.51

years

- 6.25

years

5.51

years

- 6.25

years

5.51

years

- 6.25

years

5.51

years

- 6.25

years

Expected

term

(years)

6.25

years

- 6.25

years

6.25

years

- 6

y

Expected

dividend

yield

Expected

dividend

yield —%

Expected

dividend

yield —%

Weighted
average
grant
date fair
value

Weighted
average
grant
date fair
value $0.91 $0.97 $1.35 $0.56

Weighted
average
grant
date fair
value $1.17 $1.38

The Company has classified stock-based compensation in its unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss as follows (in
thousands):                                    

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30, Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Cost of goods sold

Research and development

Selling, general and administrative

Restructuring

Total stock-based compensation

15. NET LOSS PER SHARE

Potentially dilutive securities, warrants, common stock options, RSUs and SARs have been excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share as their effects would be anti-
dilutive. For periods in which the Company reports a net loss, the weighted average number of shares outstanding used to calculate both basic and diluted net loss per share were
the same. The shares in the table below were excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share, prior to the use of the treasury stock method, due to their anti-dilutive
effect:

Three Months Ended

June 30,

Six Months

Ended June 30,

Three Months Ended

September 30,

Nine Months

Ended September

30,

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024

Warrants(1)

Outstanding

common

stock

options

Outstanding

common

stock

options 16,643,507  13,118,185  13,118,185  16,643,507  16,643,507  13,118,185 13,118,185

Outstanding

common

stock

options 16,120,512  13,578,800  13,578,800  16,120,512  16,120,512  13

Unvested

RSUs

Unvested

RSUs 5,963,769  4,596,551  4,596,551  5,963,769  5,963,769  4,596,551 4,596,551

Unvested

RSUs 5,616,584  4,662,596  4,662,596  5,616,584  5,616,584  4

Stock

appreciation

rights

Stock

appreciation

rights 635,313  635,313  635,313  635,313  635,313  635,313 635,313

Stock

appreciation

rights 635,313  635,313  635,313  635,313  635,313 
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Total Total 26,319,512  18,350,049  18,350,049  26,319,512  26,319,512  18,350,049 18,350,049 Total 25,449,332  18,876,709  18,876,709  25,449,332  25,449,332  18

(1)    In the event of a drawdown of Tranche C, the Company would become obligated to issue to the Warrant Holder additional warrants to purchase 1,153,846 shares of the common stock which are excluded from this table.

16. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Company has evaluated events and transactions occurring after the balance sheet date through the filing date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q with the SEC, Securities
and Exchange Commission, to ensure that the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include appropriate disclose of events both recognized in the accompanying
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, and events which occurred subsequently but were not recognized in the
consolidated financial statements. The Company has concluded that no subsequent events have occurred that require disclosure other than the following:

CSL Vifor Termination and Settlement Amendment to WuXi STA DP Agreement

On July 10, 2024 October 15, 2024, the Company and CSL Vifor WuXi STA entered into Amendment #1 to the Vifor Termination WuXi STA DP Agreement pursuant to which the
Company parties agreed to extend the term of the WuXi STA DP Agreement until January 1, 2032. In addition, the volume-based pricing structure under the WuXi STA DP
Agreement was amended. See Note 10, Commitments and CSL Vifor agreed, among other things, to terminate, effective immediately, Contingencies, for further information on the
Vifor License Agreement, pursuant to which the Company granted to CSL Vifor an exclusive license to sell Vafseo to the Supply Group in the U.S. WuXi STA DP Agreement.
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Under the Vifor License Agreement, CSL Vifor contributed $40.0 million to the Working Capital Fund, established to partially fund the Company’s costs of purchasing Vafseo from its
contract manufacturers. Pursuant to the terms of the Vifor Termination Agreement, and generally consistent with the terms of the Vifor License Agreement, as amended, the
Company has agreed to repay the Working Capital Fund to CSL Vifor through the WCF Royalty Payments. The WCF Royalty Payments will commence on July 1, 2025, and will
continue until the earlier of (i) the cumulative total of the WCF Royalty Payments equals $40.0 million, or (ii) May 31, 2028. See Note 8, Deferred Revenue, Refund Liability and
Liability Related to Sale of Future Royalties, for further information on the repayment of the Working Capital Fund.

In addition, the Company will pay CSL Vifor decreasing quarterly tiered royalty payments ranging from a high single-digit percentage of the Company’s net sales of Vafseo up to
$450.0 million to mid-single digit percentage of the Company’s net sales of Vafseo above $450.0 million, in each case, in the U.S. during a calendar year, or the Settlement Royalty
Payments. The Settlement Royalty Payments will commence upon the first sale of Vafseo by the Company, its affiliates or third-party licensees to a third party for use in the U.S.,
and will continue until the later of the (i) expiration of the last-to-expire valid claim listed in the FDA Orange Book that would be infringed by the making, using, selling or importing of
Vafseo in the U.S. or (ii) the expiration of marketing or regulatory exclusivity for Vafseo in the U.S., or the Settlement Royalty Term. Beginning on July 1, 2027 and throughout the
Settlement Royalty Term, the Company has the option to make a one-time payment to CSL Vifor, or the Royalty Buy-Down Option, upon which the Settlement Royalty Payments will
be adjusted as of the date of exercise of the Royalty Buy-Down Option such that the Company will then only pay CSL Vifor quarterly royalty payments based on a mid-single digit
percentage of the Company’s net sales of Vafseo up to $450.0 million in the U.S. during a calendar year in lieu of the above Settlement Royalty Payments. If the Company exercises
the Royalty Buy-Down Option, the WCF Royalty Payments will continue as described above.

The WCF Royalty Payments, the Settlement Royalty Payments and the Royalty Buy-Down Option are in consideration for the termination of the Vifor License Agreement and all
obligations thereunder, and the covenants and agreements set forth in the Vifor Termination Agreement, including the settlement and release of all disputes and claims arising from
the Vifor License Agreement.

Amendment to BlackRock Credit Agreement

On July 10, 2024, in connection with the Vifor Termination Agreement, the Company and Kreos entered into the BlackRock Credit Amendment. The BlackRock Credit Amendment
includes certain covenants of the Company related to the Vifor Termination Agreement.

See Note 7, Indebtedness, for further information about the BlackRock Credit Agreement.
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Akebia Therapeutics, Inc.

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our unaudited condensed consolidated financial
statements and related notes included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 filed with the United
States, or U.S., Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, on March 14, 2024, or the 2023 Form 10-K. In addition to historical information, the following discussion and
analysis contains forward-looking statements that reflect our plans, estimates, beliefs and explanations that involve significant risks and uncertainties. As a result of many factors,
such as those set forth under “Risk Factors” in Part II, Item 1A. of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these
forward-looking statements.

Business Overview
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We are a fully integrated commercial-stage biopharmaceutical company committed to addressing patients’ unmet needs. We have built a business focused on developing and
commercializing innovative therapeutics that we believe serves as a foundation for future growth. Our purpose is to better the life of each person impacted by kidney disease, and
we have established ourselves as a leader in the kidney community. We believe our demonstrated ability to deliver value broadly to the kidney community has enabled us to build a
sustainable company. Upon this solid foundation and our continued commitment to patients, we believe focusing on all patients who can realize a meaningful benefit from our
medicines, will result in delivering value for our stockholders.

Our current portfolio includes:

• Vafseo™Vafseo® (vadadustat) is an oral hypoxia-inducible factor prolyl hydroxylase inhibitor, approved in 37 countries as a treatment for anemia due to chronic kidney
disease, or CKD. On March 27, 2024, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, approved Vafseo (vadadustat) Tablets for the treatment of anemia due to CKD in
adults who have been receiving dialysis for at least three months. We are launching Vafseo in the U.S. and expect product availability in January 2025. In October 2024,
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, or CMS, determined that Vafseo will be eligible for reimbursement under the Transitional Drug Add-on Payment Adjustment, or
TDAPA, starting on January 1, 2025. We also have several lifecycle management and label expansion opportunities currently under evaluation for Vafseo, including the
potential for alternative dosing and label expansion for the treatment of adult patients not on dialysis. In May 2023, we entered into a license agreement granting MEDICE
Arzneimittel Pütter GmbH & Co. KG, or Medice, the rights to market and sell Vafseo in the European Economic Area, or EEA, the United Kingdom, or UK, Switzerland and
Australia, or the Medice Territory, where Vafseo is approved for the treatment of symptomatic anemia associated with CKD in adults on chronic maintenance dialysis. Vafseo
is currently marketed and sold by Medice in certain countries in the Medice Territory. We retain the rights to develop and commercialize Vafseo in Europe for other
indications. In Japan, Vafseo is approved as a treatment for anemia due to CKD in both dialysis dependent and non-dialysis dependent patients and is marketed and sold by
our collaborator Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation, or MTPC. In Taiwan and South Korea, Vafseo is approved for the treatment of symptomatic anemia due to CKD in
adult patients on chronic maintenance dialysis. MTPC plans to commercialize Vafseo in Taiwan.

• Auryxia® (ferric citrate) is an orally administered medicine approved and marketed in the U.S. for two indications: (1) the control of serum phosphorus levels in adult
patients with dialysis dependent chronic kidney disease, or DD-CKD, and (2) the treatment of iron deficiency anemia, or IDA, in adult patients with non-dialysis-dependent
chronic kidney disease, or NDD-CKD. Today, we market Auryxia in the U.S. with our well-established, nephrology-focused commercial organization. Our Japanese
sublicensee, Japan Tobacco, Inc., and its subsidiary, Torii Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., collectively, JT and Torii, commercialize ferric citrate hydrate as Riona in Japan. Averoa
SAS, or Averoa, has an exclusive license to develop and commercialize ferric citrate in the EEA, Turkey, Switzerland, UK, Turkey, Balkans and certain countries in eastern
Europe and the UK. Middle East. In April 2024, Averoa submitted its marketing authorization application, or MAA, for ferric citrate in Europe.

• Our HIF-based pipeline assets are molecules being evaluated to target areas of unmet needs in acute care settings. The discovery of hypoxia-inducible factor, or HIF, laid
the foundation to explore the central role of oxygen sensing in many diseases. As we have seen through the development of vadadustat as a treatment for anemia due to
CKD, when stabilized, HIF triggers wide-ranging adaptive, protective responses during hypoxic or ischemic conditions. We have selected two additional HIF molecules for
preclinical development: AKB-9090, for use in an acute care setting, potentially for acute kidney disease, or AKI, or acute respiratory distress syndrome, or ARDS, and AKB-
10108 for retinopathy of prematurity, or ROP, in neonates.

We continue to explore additional commercial and development opportunities to expand our pipeline and portfolio of novel therapeutics through both internal research and external
innovation to leverage our fully integrated team.
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Financial Highlights

Product revenue was $41.2 million $35.6 million and $72.2 million $107.8 million for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, respectively, and $42.2
million $40.1 million and $77.0 million $117.1 million for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023, respectively.

We have incurred net losses in each year since inception. Our net losses were $8.6 million $20.0 million and $26.6 million $46.6 million for the three and six nine months ended June
30, 2024 September 30, 2024, respectively, and $11.2 million $14.5 million and $38.1 million $52.5 million for the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023 September 30,
2023, respectively. Substantially all of our net losses resulted from costs incurred in connection with the continued commercialization of Auryxia and development and
commercialization efforts relating to Vafseo, including conducting clinical trials of, and seeking regulatory approval for, Vafseo, and providing general and administrative support for
these operations and protecting our intellectual property.

Financial Components

Product Revenue
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We generate product revenue from commercial sales of Auryxia to a limited number of wholesale distributors as well as certain specialty pharmacy providers. Our net product
revenue includes many variables, including judgments and estimates of discounts, rebates and product returns, which can fluctuate from quarter-to-quarter and year-over-year. We
evaluate, at least annually and more frequently, if needed, the price of Auryxia, which will lose exclusivity, or LoE, in March 2025. We expect our product revenue to continue to be
generated primarily from our commercial sales of Auryxia until Vafseo's U.S. market entry which is expected in January 2025.

Due to the buying patterns of our customers, we tend to have seasonality from quarter to quarter. In general, our first quarter usually has lower revenues than the preceding fourth
quarter, the second and third quarters have higher revenues than the first quarter, and the fourth quarter revenues are the highest in the year. While seasonality may affect quarterly
comparisons within a fiscal year, it generally is not material to our annual consolidated financial results. However, absent further legislation or regulation, Auryxia will be included in
the end-stage renal disease, or ESRD, bundle starting in January 2025, which we believe will impact the buying patterns of some of our existing customers in the fourth quarter of
2024 and lead to lower inventory levels at certain customers in the fourth quarter of 2024. In addition, based on these changes, and coupled with Auryxia's LoE in March 2025, may
impact the buying patterns pattern of our existing certain customers during 2024 and future years, and therefore their buying pattern in 2024 and future years may be different than
their historical practices.

We believe the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services', or CMS, CMS's decision to include phosphate binders in the dialysis bundle could potentially lead to higher sales of
Auryxia after the LoE date than in other LoE scenarios, and plan to work with payors and providers to seek to continue the use of Auryxia beyond LoE. However, our ability to
continue to generate revenue from sales of Auryxia following LoE will depend on many factors, including our ability to successfully contract with dialysis organizations, the timing
and number of generics that enter the market and other products on the market that compete with Auryxia.

License, Collaboration and Other Revenue

License, collaboration and other revenue includes revenue earned under our agreements with our partners, including license fees, royalty payments and revenue from product we
supply.

We expect to continue to generate revenue from our collaboration, license and supply agreements with Medice, MTPC, JT and Torii and any other collaborations into which we have
entered or may enter.

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold, or COGS - Cost of product and other revenue includes costs closely correlated or directly related to the costs to manufacture commercial drug substance and
drug product for Auryxia, including at our contract manufacturing organizations, or CMOs, as well as indirect costs. Direct and indirect costs include fees for packaging, shipping,
insurance and quality assurance, idle capacity charges, changes in reserves for excess inventory, write-offs for inventory that fails to meet specifications or is otherwise no longer
suitable for commercial sale, including scrap, changes in our firm purchase commitment liability and royalties due to the licensor of Auryxia related to U.S. and Japan product sales
recognized during the period.

COGS also includes costs to manufacture drug product provided to MTPC and Medice for commercial sales of Vafseo in Japan and the Medice Territory, respectively, as well as
personnel-related costs, including salaries and bonuses, employee benefits and stock-based compensation attributable to employees in particular functions and associated directly
with the manufacturing of our commercial products.
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Cost of product and other revenue for a newly launched product does not include the full cost of manufacturing until the initial pre-launch inventory is depleted and additional
inventory is manufactured and sold. Until we received regulatory approval for Vafseo in the U.S., we recorded costs incurred to manufacture the U.S. pre-launch inventory, such as
raw materials, drug substance and drug product conversion costs as research and development, or R&D, expense.

Cost of goods sold - Amortization of intangible asset - In addition, COGS includes the amortization of development product rights for Auryxia through the end of 2024.
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Research and Development Expenses

Research and development, or R&D, expenses consist primarily of costs incurred for the development of Vafseo and costs associated with our pipeline which includes:

• personnel-related expenses, including salaries, bonuses, employee benefits, stock-based compensation and travel expenses for employees engaged in R&D functions;

• costs associated with feasibility and potential new manufacturing processes and methods for our commercial products;

• regulatory registration and related fees for non-commercial products;

• expenses incurred under agreements with contract research organizations, or CROs, and investigative sites that conduct our clinical trials;

• the cost of acquiring, developing and manufacturing clinical trial materials through contract manufacturing organizations, or CMOs; CMOs;

• facilities, depreciation and other expenses, which include direct and allocated expenses for rent and maintenance of facilities, insurance and other supplies associated with
our laboratory space as well as our R&D team;

• costs associated with discovery and development for preclinical, clinical and regulatory activities; and
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• costs associated with the pre-launch inventory build for Vafseo in the U.S. prior to the FDA approval in March 2024 and in Europe prior to the European Commission, or
EC, approval in April 2023.

R&D costs are expensed as incurred. Advance payments made for goods or services to be received in the future for use in R&D activities are recorded as prepaid expenses and
other current assets. The prepaid amounts are expensed as the benefits are consumed. Costs for certain development activities are recognized based on an evaluation of the
progress to completion of specific tasks using information and data provided to us by our vendors and our clinical sites.

We cannot determine with certainty the duration and completion costs of our R&D projects, the costs of related clinical development, or if, when, or to what extent we will generate
revenue from the commercialization or sale of any of our product candidates.

From inception through June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, we have incurred $1.7 billion in R&D expenses. We expect to incur significant R&D expenditures for the foreseeable
future as we continue the development of Auryxia, Vafseo and any other product or product candidate, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired.

A significant portion of our R&D costs have been external costs, which we track on a program-by-program basis as well as costs related to possible new manufacturing processes
and methods associated with our commercial product. These external costs include fees paid to investigators, consultants, central laboratories and CROs in connection with our
clinical trials and costs related to acquiring and manufacturing clinical trial materials, including costs paid to CMOs to manufacture clinical trial materials.

We do not track our internal personnel and facilities costs on a program-by-program basis as our personnel are deployed across multiple R&D projects.

Each of our products and product candidates has technical, clinical, regulatory, and commercial risk, including those discussed more fully under the heading “Risk Factors” in Part II,
Item 1A of this Form 10-Q. A change in the outcome of any of the variables with respect to the development of Auryxia, Vafseo or any other product or product candidate could
result in a significant change in the costs and timing associated with that development.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative, or SG&A, expenses consist primarily of compensation for personnel, including stock-based compensation related to commercial, marketing,
executive, finance and accounting, information technology, corporate and business development and human resource functions. Other SG&A expenses include costs for marketing
initiatives for our commercial products, market research and analysis on our commercial product and potential product candidates, conferences and trade shows, travel expenses,
professional services fees (including legal, patent, accounting, audit, tax, and

Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. | Form 10-Q | Page 28

consulting fees), insurance costs, general corporate expenses and allocated facilities-related expenses, including rent and maintenance of facilities.

License Expenses

License expenses relates to royalties due to Panion & BF Biotech, Inc., or Panion, for sales of Auryxia in the U.S. and Riona in Japan.
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Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net consists primarily of interest income on our interest-bearing accounts, interest expense related to our term loans, accretion of the debt discount on our
term loans as well as amortization of the discount on the liability related to the termination fees associated with the termination agreement with BioVectra Inc., or BioVectra, entered
into in December 2022, or the BioVectra Termination Agreement, and the amortization of the discount and deferred gain related to our refund liability to Vifor (International) Ltd. (now
a part of CSL Limited), or CSL Vifor. See Note 10, Commitments and Contingencies, in the accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
included in Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-Q for further information on the BioVectra Termination Agreement. Other income (expense) also includes non-cash interest on our liability
related to settlement royalties and the amortization of the discount and deferred gain related to our Working Capital Fund (as defined below) liability to Vifor (International) Ltd. (now
a part of CSL Limited), or CSL Vifor. See Note 8, Liability Related to Settlement Royalties, Working Capital Fund Liability and Liability Related to Sale of Future Royalties, in the
accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-Q for further information on the Company's
arrangements with CSL Vifor.

Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liability

Change in fair value of warrant liability relates to the change in fair value of our warrant liability related to a warrant agreement with Kreos Capital VII Aggregator SCSp, an affiliate of
Kreos Capital VII (UK) Limited, or Kreos. See Note 3, Fair Value of Financial Instruments, and Note 7, Indebtedness, in the accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-Q for further information on the warrant liability.

Recent Events

U.S. Approval and Reimbursement of Vafseo (vadadustat)

In March 2024, we received approval from the FDA for Vafseo (vadadustat) Tablets for the treatment of anemia due to CKD in adults who have been receiving dialysis for at least
three months. In June 2024, we applied to designate Vafseo for TDAPA reimbursement from CMS. In October 2024, CMS determined that Vafseo met the criteria for TDAPA in the
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anemia management ESRD prospective payment system functional category and, as a result, we will be eligible for reimbursement beginning on January 1, 2025. The TDAPA
program provides at least two years of reimbursement for Vafseo in addition to the ESRD bundled rate to dialysis organizations. Additionally, we received a Level II Healthcare
Common Procedure Coding System code for Vafseo which will be used by dialysis organizations for billing the product for Medicare enrollees.

At-the-Market (ATM) Offering

On September 3, 2024, in connection with the filing of a new shelf registration statement on Form S-3, we filed a prospectus related to our amended and restated sales agreement
with Jefferies LLC (which amended and restated the prior sales agreement), pursuant to which we are able to offer and sell up to $75.0 million of our common stock at current
market prices from time to time. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, we sold 1,242,662 shares of our common stock under this program with gross
proceeds of $1.7 million ($1.7 million, net of offering expenses). Including the amount sold during the nine months ended September 30, 2024 through the date of the filing of this
form 10-Q, we sold 7,741,616 shares of our common stock under the sales agreement with gross proceeds of $11.6 million ($11.3 million, net of offering expenses).

CSL Vifor Termination and Settlement Agreement

On July 10, 2024, we and CSL Vifor entered into a Termination and Settlement Agreement, or the Vifor Termination Agreement. Pursuant to the Vifor Termination Agreement, we
and CSL Vifor agreed, among other things, to terminate, effective immediately, the Second Amended and Restated License Agreement, dated February 18, 2022 and as amended
May 3, 2024, or the Vifor License Agreement, pursuant to which we granted to CSL Vifor an exclusive license to sell Vafseo to Fresenius Medical Care North America and its
affiliates, including Fresenius Kidney Care Group LLC, to certain third-party dialysis organizations approved by us, to independent dialysis organizations that are members of certain
group purchasing organizations, and to certain non-retail specialty pharmacies in the U.S. We and CSL Vifor agreed to terminate the Vifor License Agreement for business reasons.
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See Note 16, 8, Subsequent Events Liability Related to Settlement Royalties, Working Capital Fund Liability and Liability Related to Sale of Future Royalties, in the accompanying
notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-Q for further information on the Vifor Termination Agreement.

U.S. Approval and Commercialization of Vafseo (vadadustat) Tablets

In March 2024, we received approval from the FDA for Vafseo (vadadustat) Tablets for the treatment of anemia due to CKD in adults who have been receiving dialysis for at least
three months. We are now actively engaged in launch initiatives to prepare for Vafseo’s U.S. market entry which is expected in January 2025. We believe that we have the right
team and the organizational experience and relationships within dialysis organizations to be successful. In June 2024, we applied to designate Vafseo for Transitional Drug Add-on
Payment Adjustment reimbursement from the CMS, which we expect to begin in January 2025. Our goal is for Vafseo to be an oral standard of care for dialysis patients. We believe
this is achievable and represents an attractive market.

Borrowing Under BlackRock Term Loans and Repayment of Pharmakon Term Loans

On January 29, 2024, we entered into a secured term loan facility with Kreos, which are funds and accounts managed by BlackRock Inc., collectively BlackRock, or the BlackRock
Credit Agreement, that provides for an aggregate principal amount of up to $55.0 million made available under the following three tranches:

(i) Tranche A — $37.0 million, drawn down on the closing date of the BlackRock Credit Agreement, of which we received $34.5 million, net of debt issuance costs, fees and
expenses and was used to repay our senior secured term loans, or the Pharmakon Term Loans, with Pharmakon Advisors LP, or Pharmakon, of $35.0 million,

(ii) Tranche B — $8.0 million, drawn down on April 19, 2024, of which we received $7.5 million, net of debt issuance costs, fees and expenses, and

(iii) Tranche C — $10.0 million available in a single draw through December 31, 2024.

Tranche C is only available subject to receipt of a certain amount of cumulative gross cash proceeds from the sale of common stock.

On January 29, 2024, we also entered into a warrant agreement with Kreos Capital VII Aggregator SCSp, an affiliate of Kreos, pursuant to which we (i) issued a warrant to purchase
3,076,923 shares of our common stock, at an exercise price per share of $1.30 (subject to standard adjustments for stock splits, stock dividends, rights offerings and pro rata
distributions), or the Exercise Price, and (ii) will issue at the time of drawdown of the Tranche C Loan, if applicable, a warrant to purchase 1,153,846 shares of our common stock, at
the Exercise Price. Each warrant shall be exercisable for eight years from the date of issuance.
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On July 10, 2024, in connection with the Vifor Termination Agreement, we and Kreos entered into a First Amendment to the Agreement for the Provision of a Loan Facility, which
amends certain provisions of the BlackRock Credit Agreement.

See Note 7, Indebtedness, and Note 16, Subsequent Events, in the accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of
this Form 10-Q for further information.

Impact of Inflation

We are experiencing rising costs for certain inflation-sensitive operating expenses such as labor and certain service providers that are heavily dependent on labor. We do not
believe these impacts were material to our net loss during the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 or will be going forward. However, significant
sustained inflation driven by the macroeconomic environment or other factors could negatively impact our margins, profitability and results of operations in future periods.
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Results of Operations

Comparison of the Three Months Ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 and 2023

Three Months

Ended June 30, Change Three Months Ended September 30,

(dollars in

thousands)

(dollars in

thousands) 2024 2023 $ %

(dollars in

thousands) 2024

Revenues

Product revenue, net

Product revenue, net

Product revenue, net $ 41,209  $ $ 42,244  $ $ (1,035) (2) (2) % $ 35,592  $ $

License,

collaboration

and other

revenue

License,

collaboration

and other

revenue

2,439  14,132  14,132  (11,693) (11,693)

(83) (83)%

License,

collaboration

and other

revenue

1,836  1,928

Total

revenues

Total

revenues
43,648  56,376  56,376  (12,728) (12,728)

(23) (23)%

Total

revenues
37,428  42,046

Cost of goods

sold

Cost of product and other

revenue

Cost of product and other

revenue

Cost of product and other

revenue
8,036  8,273  8,273  (237) (237)

(3) (3)%
5,150  8,998 

Amortization

of intangible

asset

Amortization

of intangible

asset

9,011  9,011  9,011  —  — 

* *

Amortization of

intangible asset
9,011 

Total cost of

goods sold

Total cost of

goods sold
17,047  17,284  17,284  (237) (237)

(1) (1)%

Total cost

of goods

sold

14,161  18,009

Operating

expenses

Research and development

Research and development

Research and development 7,647  20,197  20,197  (12,550) (12,550) (62) (62)% 8,487  13,330 

Selling,

general and

administrative

Selling,

general and

administrative

26,917  27,036  27,036  (119) (119)

* *

Selling, general and

administrative
26,516 

License License 762  949  949  (187) (187) (20) (20)% License 769  864

Restructuring Restructuring —  (94) (94) 94  94  * * Restructuring — 

Total

operating

expenses

Total

operating

expenses

35,326  48,088  48,088  (12,762) (12,762)

(27) (27)%

Total

operating

expenses

35,772  37,073

Loss from

operations

Loss from

operations
(8,725) (8,996) (8,996) 271  271 

(3) (3)%

Loss from

operations
(12,505) (13,036

Other expense,

net

Other expense,

net
(2,188) (1,652) (1,652) (536) (536)

32  32 %

Other expense,

net
(6,678) (1,453
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Change in fair

value of warrant

liability

Change in fair

value of warrant

liability

2,331  —  —  2,331  2,331 

* *

Change in fair value of

warrant liability
(856)

Loss on termination of lease

Loss on termination of lease

Loss on termination of lease —  (524) 524  (100) %

Net loss Net loss $ (8,582) $ $(11,172) $ $ 2,590  (23) (23) %

Net loss

Net loss $(20,039) $(14,489) $ (5,550) 38  %

*Percentage change not meaningful.

Product Revenue, Net—Net product revenue is derived only from sales of Auryxia in the U.S. until Vafseo's U.S. market entry, which is expected in January 2025. We distribute
Auryxia principally through a limited number of wholesale distributors as well as certain specialty pharmacy providers.

Net product revenue was $41.2 million $35.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, compared to $42.2 million $40.1 million for the three months
ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023. The decrease was primarily due to a reduction in volume partially offset by price increases and execution of our contracting strategy with
third-party payors.

Auryxia will lose exclusivity in the U.S. in March 2025, which may have a negative impact on revenue. We believe CMS's decision to include phosphate binders in the dialysis
bundle could potentially lead to higher sales of Auryxia after the LoE date than in other LoE scenarios, and plan to work with third-party payors and providers to seek to continue the
use of Auryxia beyond LoE. However, our ability to continue to generate revenue from sales of Auryxia following LoE will depend on many factors, including our ability to
successfully contract with dialysis organizations, the timing and number of generics that enter the market and other products on the market that compete with Auryxia.

License, Collaboration and Other Revenue—License, collaboration and other revenue was $2.4 million $1.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024,
compared to $14.1 million $1.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023. The decrease was primarily due to a one-time $10.0 million upfront payment
recognized in connection lower license revenue under our agreement with the Medice License Agreement during the three
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months ended June 30, 2023. We also recognized $2.2  million in revenue in connection with the Packaging Validation Transfer Agreement we entered into with Otsuka
Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd., or Otsuka, during the three months ended June 30, 2023. JT and Torii.

Cost of Goods Sold—Cost of Product and Other Revenue—Cost of product and other revenue was $8.0 million $5.2 million for the three months ended June September 30, 2024
compared to $8.3 million $9.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023. The decrease was primarily due to a $4.9 million gain $3.7 million benefit that
we recorded during the three months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 due to our ability to commercially sell inventory previously written-down as excess inventory which
was partially offset by a charge of $2.1 million related to our firm purchase commitment liability. During the second half of 2024, we anticipate realizing and lower costs of up to $3.7
million related to our ability to commercially sell inventory previously written-down as excess inventory.

See Note 10, Commitments and Contingencies, for further information on our firm purchase commitment liability. year-over-year sales volume.

Cost of Goods Sold—Amortization of Intangible Asset—Amortization of intangible asset relates to the acquired developed product rights for Auryxia, which is being amortized using
a straight-line method over its estimated useful life of approximately six years. Amortization of intangible asset during each of the three months ended June 30, 2024 September 30,
2024 and 2023 was $9.0 million and will continue through the end of 2024.
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R&D Expenses—R&D expenses were $7.6 million $8.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, compared to $20.2 million $13.3 million for the three
months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023. The decrease was largely due to the completion of activities related to certain clinical trials, a reduction in consulting expenses
associated with pursuing Vafseo regulatory approval in the Medice Territory and lower headcount related costs. costs and decreased professional service and consulting expenses.
Additionally, during the three months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023, prior to receiving regulatory approval for Vafseo in the U.S., we recorded costs incurred to
manufacture the U.S. pre-launch inventory as R&D expenses. The decrease in R&D expense was partially offset by increased costs related to the start-up of an outcomes study for
Vafseo.

The following table summarizes our external research and development expenses by program, as well as costs not allocated to programs, for the three months ended June 30,
2024 September 30, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands): 
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Three Months Ended June

30,

Three Months Ended September

30,

2024 2024 2023 2024 2023

Vafseo clinical trial and other external costs

Vafseo pre-launch inventory

External costs for other programs, including feasibility and new processes and methods associated with commercial

product

Total external R&D expenses

Internal personnel, consulting, facilities and other

Internal personnel, consulting, facilities and other

Internal personnel, consulting, facilities and other

Total R&D expenses

We expect to incur significant R&D expenses in future periods in support of ongoing or planned studies with respect to the development of our product candidates as well as Vafseo.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses—Selling, general and administrative expenses were $26.9 million $26.5 million for the three months ended June September 30, 2024,
compared to $27.0 million $22.7 million for the three months ended June September 30, 2023. The increase was primarily due to higher headcount related costs and marketing
costs in connection with the Vafseo launch expected in January 2025, as well as increased promotional expenses and registration and filing fees.

License Expenses—License expenses related to royalties due to Panion relating to sales of Riona in Japan were $0.8 million and $0.9 million for the three months ended June 30,
2024 September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Restructuring Expenses—There was were no restructuring expenses and a $0.1 million benefit to $0.2 million of restructuring expense expenses for the three months ended June
30, 2024 September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Other Expense, Net—Other expense, net, was $2.2 million $6.7 million for the three months ended June September 30, 2024, compared to $1.7 million $1.5 million for the three
months ended June September 30, 2023. The increase of $0.5 million was primarily due to lower non-cash interest income on our interest-bearing accounts. expense related to the
settlement royalty liability in connection with the Vifor Termination Agreement. See Note 8, Liability Related to Settlement Royalties, Working Capital Fund Liability and Liability
Related to Sale of Future Royalties, in the accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-Q for further
information.

Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liability—Change in fair value of warrant liability was $2.3 million $0.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024. There
was no change in fair value of warrant liability for the three months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023 since the warrant agreement was entered into in January 2024.

Loss on Lease Termination—On May 26, 2023 we incurred a loss on lease termination of $0.5 million in connection with the assignment of our lease for 27,924 square feet of office
space in Boston, Massachusetts, or the Boston Lease. In accordance with ASC 842, Leases, we wrote off the right-of-use asset and lease liability associated with the Boston Lease,
and recognized the difference between the right-of-use asset and the lease liability offset by the payment we made to LG Chem Life Sciences Innovation Center, Inc. in connection
with the assignment of $1.3 million.
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Comparison of the Six Nine Months Ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 and 2023    

Six Months Ended

June 30, Change Nine Months Ended September 30,

(dollars in

thousands)

(dollars in

thousands) 2024 2023 $ %

(dollars in

thousands) 2024

Revenues

Product revenue, net

Product revenue, net

Product revenue, net $ 72,218  $ $ 76,950  $ $ (4,732) (6) (6) % $107,810  $ $

License,

collaboration

and other

revenue

License,

collaboration

and other

revenue

4,037  19,431  19,431  (15,394) (15,394)

(79) (79) %

License,

collaboration

and other

revenue

5,873  21,359

Total

revenues

Total

revenues
76,255  96,381  96,381  (20,126) (20,126)

(21) (21) %

Total

revenues
113,683  138,427
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Cost of goods

sold

Cost of product and other

revenue

Cost of product and other

revenue

Cost of product and other

revenue
10,630  19,452  19,452  (8,822) (8,822)

(45) (45) %
15,780  28,452 

Amortization

of intangible

asset

Amortization

of intangible

asset

18,021  18,021  18,021  —  — 

—  —  %

Amortization

of intangible

asset

27,032  27,032

Total cost of

goods sold

Total cost of

goods sold
28,651  37,473  37,473  (8,822) (8,822)

(24) (24) %

Total cost of

goods sold
42,812  55,484

Operating

expenses

Research and development

Research and development

Research and development 17,379  39,883  39,883  (22,504) (22,504) (56) (56) % 25,866  53,214 

Selling,

general and

administrative

Selling,

general and

administrative

52,354  52,090  52,090  264  264 

1  1  %

Selling,

general and

administrative

78,870  74,797

License License 1,473  1,517  1,517  (44) (44) (3) (3) % License 2,242  2,381

Restructuring Restructuring 58  12  12  46  46  383  383  % Restructuring 58  181

Total

operating

expenses

Total

operating

expenses

71,264  93,502  93,502  (22,238) (22,238)

(24) (24) %

Total

operating

expenses

107,036  130,573

Operating loss Operating loss (23,660) (34,594) (34,594) 10,934  10,934  (32) (32) % Operating loss (36,165) (47,630

Other expense,

net

Other expense,

net
(4,591) (2,932) (2,932) (1,659) (1,659)

57  57  %

Other expense,

net
(11,269) (4,385

Change in fair

value of warrant

liability

Change in fair

value of warrant

liability

2,201  —  —  2,201  2,201 

100  100  %

Change in fair

value of warrant

liability

1,345  —

Loss on

extinguishment of

debt

Loss on

extinguishment of

debt

(517) —  —  (517) (517)

* *

Loss on extinguishment of

debt
(517)

Loss on

termination of

lease

Loss on

termination of

lease

—  (524) (524) 524  524 

* *

Loss on termination of

lease
— 

Net loss Net loss $(26,567) $ $(38,050) $ $ 11,483 
(30) (30) %

Net

loss
$(46,606) $

*Percentage change not meaningful.

Product Revenue, Net—Net product revenue is derived only from sales of Auryxia in the U.S. until Vafseo's U.S. market entry, which is expected in January 2025. We distribute
Auryxia principally through a limited number of wholesale distributors as well as certain specialty pharmacy providers.

Net product revenue was $72.2 million $107.8 million for the six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, compared to $77.0 million $117.1 million for the six nine
months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023. The decrease was primarily due to a reduction in volume partially offset by price increases and execution of our contracting
strategy with third-party payors.

Auryxia will lose exclusivity in the U.S. in March 2025, which may have a negative impact on revenue. We believe CMS's decision to include phosphate binders in the dialysis
bundle could potentially lead to higher sales of Auryxia after the LoE date than in other LoE scenarios, and plan to work with third-party payors and providers to seek to continue the
use of Auryxia beyond LoE. However, our ability to continue to generate revenue from sales of Auryxia following LoE will depend on many factors, including our ability to
successfully contract with dialysis organizations, the timing and number of generics that enter the market and other products on the market that compete with Auryxia.

License, Collaboration and Other Revenue—License, collaboration and other revenue was $4.0 million $5.9 million for the six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30,
2024, compared to $19.4 million $21.4 million for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023. The decrease was primarily due to a one-time $10.0 million upfront
payment recognized in connection with the Medice License Agreement during the six nine months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023 as well as a reduction in revenue under
our supply agreement with MTPC as a result of the assignment of our supply agreement with Esteve Química, S.A. to MTPC in December 2022. We also recognized $2.2 million in
revenue in connection with the Packaging Validation Transfer Agreement we entered into with Otsuka during the six nine months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023.
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Cost of Goods Sold—Cost of Product and Other Revenue—Cost of product and other revenue was $10.6 million $15.8 million for the six nine months ended June September 30,
2024 compared to $19.5 million $28.5 million for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023. The decrease of $8.8 million was primarily due to lower year-over-
year sales volume, and the realization of lower cost of product and other revenue of $8.6 million a $12.3 million benefit that we recorded during the six nine months ended June 30,
2024 September 30, 2024 due to our
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ability to commercially sell inventory previously written-down as excess inventory and lower year-over-year sales volume, which was partially offset by a $2.1 million charge related
to our firm purchase commitment liability.

See Note 10, Commitments and Contingencies, for further information on our firm purchase commitment liability.
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Cost of Goods Sold—Amortization of Intangible Asset—Amortization of intangible asset relates to the acquired developed product rights for Auryxia, which is being amortized using
a straight-line method over its estimated useful life of approximately six years. Amortization of intangible asset during each of the six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September
30, 2024 and 2023 was $18.0 million $27.0 million and will continue through the end of 2024.

R&D Expenses—R&D expenses were $17.4 million $25.9 million for the six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, compared to $39.9 million $53.2 million for the
three months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023. The decrease was largely due to the completion of activities related to certain clinical trials, a reduction in consulting
expenses associated with pursuing Vafseo regulatory approval in the Medice Territory in 2023, and lower headcount related costs. costs, including stock-based compensation, and
decreased professional service expenses. Additionally, during the six nine months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023, prior to receiving regulatory approval for Vafseo in the
U.S., we recorded costs incurred to manufacture the U.S. pre-launch inventory as R&D expenses.

The following table summarizes our external research and development expenses by program, as well as costs not allocated to programs, for the three months ended June 30,
2024 September 30, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands): 

Six Months Ended June

30,

Nine Months Ended September

30,

2024 2024 2023 2024 2023

Vafseo clinical trial and other external costs

Vafseo pre-launch inventory

External costs for other programs, including feasibility and new processes and methods associated with commercial

product

Total external R&D expenses

Internal personnel, consulting, facilities and other

Internal personnel, consulting, facilities and other

Internal personnel, consulting, facilities and other

Total R&D expenses

We expect to incur significant R&D expenses in future periods in support of ongoing or planned studies with respect to the development of our product candidates as well as Vafseo.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses—Selling, general and administrative expenses were $52.4 million $78.9 million for the six nine months ended June September 30,
2024, compared to $52.1 million $74.8 million for the six nine months ended June September 30, 2023. The increase was primarily due to higher headcount related costs and
marketing costs in connection with the Vafseo launch expected in January 2025, as well as increased promotional expenses and registration and filing fees.

License Expenses—License expenses related to royalties due to Panion relating to sales of Riona in Japan were $1.5 million $2.2 million and $2.4 million for each of the six nine
months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 and 2023. 2023, respectively.

Restructuring Expenses—Restructuring expenses were $0.1 million and immaterial $0.2 million for the six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 and 2023,
respectively.

Other Expense, Net—Other expense, net, was $4.6 million $11.3 million for the six nine months ended June September 30, 2024, compared to $2.9 million $4.4 million for the
six nine months ended June September 30, 2023. The increase of $1.7 million was primarily due to lower non-cash interest income on our interest-bearing accounts expense related
to the settlement royalty liability in connection with the Vifor Termination Agreement and a decrease in sublease income due to the assignment of our lease for office space in
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Boston, Massachusetts. Massachusetts, or the Boston Lease. See Note 8, Liability Related to Settlement Royalties, Working Capital Fund Liability and Liability Related to Sale of
Future Royalties, in the accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-Q for further information.

Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liability—Change in fair value of warrant liability was $2.2 million $1.3 million for the six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024.
There was no change in fair value of warrant liability for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023 since the warrant agreement was entered into in January
2024.

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt—During the six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, we recorded $0.5 million loss on the extinguishment of debt in connection
with the repayment of the Pharmakon Term Loans.

Loss on Lease Termination—On May 26, 2023 we incurred a loss on lease termination of $0.5 million in connection with the assignment of our Boston Lease. In accordance with
ASC 842, Leases, we wrote off the right-of-use asset and lease liability
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associated with the Boston Lease, and recognized the difference between the right-of-use asset and the lease liability offset by the $1.3 million payment we made to LG Chem Life
Sciences Innovation Center, Inc. in connection with the assignment.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, we had cash and cash equivalents of $39.5 million $34.0 million and restricted cash of $1.7 million.

To date, we have funded our operations principally through sales of our common stock, including through our employee stock purchase plan, product sales, payments received from
our collaboration and licensing partners, borrowings under term loans, a working capital payment from CSL Vifor also referred to as a refund Working Capital Fund liability and a
royalty transaction. From inception through June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, we raised approximately $838.9 $840.6 million of net proceeds from the sale of equity, including
$519.8 million from various underwritten public offerings, $249.1 $250.8 million from at-the-market offerings pursuant to our current sales
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agreement with Jefferies LLC and prior sales agreements with Jefferies LLC and Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., and $70.0 million from the sale of 7,571,429 shares of common stock to
CSL Vifor.

We have incurred recurring losses and negative cash flow from operations in each year since inception and anticipate net losses and negative operating cash flows for the near
future. We incurred net operating losses of $8.6 million $20.0 million and $26.6 million $46.6 million during the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024,
respectively, and $11.2 million $14.5 million and $38.1 million $52.5 million during the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023, respectively. As of June
30, 2024 September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, we had an accumulated deficit of $1.7 billion and $1.6 billion. , respectively.

We currently have exclusive rights under a series of patents and patent applications to commercialize Auryxia in the U.S. that protect us from generic drug competition until March
2025. Following LoE in the U.S.,  in March 2025, we may not be able to realize enough product revenue from sales of Auryxia to realize net profits from product sales. While we
believe CMS's decision to include phosphate binders in the dialysis bundle could potentially lead to higher sales of Auryxia after the LoE date than in other LoE scenarios, and plan
to work with payors and providers to seek to continue the use of Auryxia beyond LoE, Auryxia product sales have not generated, and may not generate, now or following LoE in the
U.S., sufficient product revenue to realize net profits from product sales to cover our current or long-term operating costs. Our ability to continue to generate revenue from sales of
Auryxia following LoE will depend on many factors, including our ability to successfully contract with dialysis organizations, the timing and number of generics that enter the market
and other products on the market that compete with Auryxia.

We believe our existing cash resources and the cash we expect to generate from product, royalty, supply and license revenues are sufficient to fund our current operating plan for at
least twenty-four months. However, if our operating performance deteriorates significantly from the levels expected in our operating plan, it would have an adverse effect on our
liquidity and capital resources and could affect our ability to continue as a going concern in the future. In addition, we may also seek to sell additional private or public equity, enter
into new debt transactions, explore potential strategic transactions or a combination of these approaches or other strategic alternatives. If we raise additional funds by issuing equity
securities, our shareholders would experience dilution. Debt financing, if available, may involve covenants restricting our operations or our ability to incur additional debt. Any debt
financing or additional equity that we raise may contain terms that are not favorable to us or our stockholders. Additional financing may not be available to us in amounts or on terms
acceptable to us, if at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital in sufficient amounts when needed or on attractive terms, we may not be able to pursue development and
commercial activities related to Auryxia and Vafseo, or any additional products and product candidates, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired. Any of these events
could significantly harm our business, financial condition and prospects.

There can be no assurance that the current operating plan will be achieved in the time frame anticipated by us, or that our cash resources will fund our operating plan for the period
of time anticipated by us, or that additional funding will be available on terms acceptable to us, or at all. Our forecast of the period of time through which our financial resources will
be adequate to support our operations is a forward-looking statement and involves numerous risks and uncertainties, and actual results could vary as a result of a number of factors,
many of which are outside our control. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may be substantially different than actual results, and we could utilize our available capital
resources sooner than we currently expect. Our future funding requirements, both near- and long-term, will depend on many factors including, but not limited to, those described
under Part II, Item 1A. Risk Factors under the heading "Risks Related to our Financial Position, Need for Additional Capital and Growth Strategy."
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments

Debt Agreements and Other Funding Arrangements

BlackRock Term Loans

On January 29, 2024, or the Closing Date, we entered into the BlackRock Credit Agreement, which provides for a senior secured term loan facility, in the aggregate principal amount
of up to $55.0 million, or the Term Loan Facility. The Term Loan Facility is available in three tranches (i) Tranche A — $37.0 million was funded on the Closing Date and used to
repay the
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Pharmakon Term Loans; (ii) Tranche B — $8.0 million was funded on April 19, 2024, and (iii) Tranche C — $10.0 million is available in a single draw through December 31, 2024,
collectively, the Term Loans. Tranche C is available subject to receipt of a certain amount of cumulative gross cash proceeds after the Closing Date in the form of equity or equity
linked securities in one or more series of transactions. The Term Loan Facility matures on January 29, 2028, or the BlackRock Maturity Date.

We are required to make interest-only payments until December 31, 2026 after which, we will begin making equal monthly principal payments. In the event of certain prespecified
events, the repayment schedule will be accelerated.

The Term Loan Facility will accrue interest at a floating annual rate equal to the sum of (i) term Secured Overnight Financing Rate, or SOFR, for a tenor of one month (subject to a
floor of 4.25% per annum) plus (ii) a margin of 6.75% per annum (subject to an overall cap of 15.00% per annum on the all-in interest rate). During the continuance of any payment
event of default the interest rate on such overdue sum will automatically increase by an additional 3.0% per annum, and may be subject to an additional late fee of 2.0% of such
overdue sum.
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All obligations under the Term Loan Facility are secured by substantially all of our existing and after-acquired assets. The BlackRock Credit Agreement requires us to either (i)
maintain cash and cash equivalents, measured as of the last day of each fiscal month, greater than or equal to $15.0 million or (ii) earn consolidated revenue, measured as of the
last day of each fiscal month for the trailing twelve-month period, of $150.0 million. The BlackRock Credit Agreement contains certain representations and warranties, affirmative
and negative covenants that limit our ability to engage in specified types of transactions and other provisions typical within a credit agreement. If an event of default occurs and is
continuing under the BlackRock Credit Agreement, BlackRock is entitled to take enforcement action, including acceleration of amounts due which could limit our ability to make
certain payments under the Vifor Termination Agreement. If we prepay the Term Loans prior to the BlackRock Maturity Date, we will be required to pay a prepayment fee ranging
from 1.0% to 4.0% of the amount prepaid.

On the Closing Date, Kreos Capital VII Aggregator SCSp, an affiliate of Kreos, or the Warrant Holder, received a warrant to purchase 3,076,923 shares of our common stock, at an
exercise price per share of $1.30, and upon borrowing of Tranche C, we will become obligated to issue additional warrants to purchase 1,153,846 shares of our common stock at an
exercise price per share of $1.30. Each warrant shall be exercisable for eight years from the date of issuance.

In connection with the entry into the BlackRock Credit Agreement, on the Closing Date, we terminated the Pharmakon Loan Agreement, all obligations thereunder were paid in full
and discharged and Pharmakon’s security interests in our assets and property were released. See Note 7, Indebtedness, in the accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-Q for further information.

On July 10, 2024, in connection with the Vifor Termination Agreement, we and Kreos entered into a First Amendment to the Agreement for the Provision of a Loan Facility, which
amends certain provisions of the BlackRock Credit Agreement. See Note 16, 8,Subsequent Events  Liability Related to Settlement Royalties, Working Capital Fund Liability and
Liability Related to Sale of Future Royalties, in the accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-Q for
further information.

Working Capital Fund/Refund Liability

In February 2022, we amended our agreement with CSL Vifor and they contributed $40.0 million to a working capital fund, or the Working Capital Fund, established to partially fund
our costs of purchasing Vafseo from our contract manufacturers.

We have recorded the Working Capital Fund as a refund liability under ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The refund liability is considered a debt arrangement
with zero coupon interest and we impute interest on the refund liability at a rate of 15.0% per annum. As of June 30, 2024, the $40.0 million refund liability is classified as a long-
term liability based on management’s estimated timing of the repayment of the refund liability to CSL Vifor exceeding one-year.

Pursuant to the terms of the Vifor Termination Agreement, and generally consistent with the terms of the Vifor License Agreement, we agreed to repay the Working Capital Fund to
CSL Vifor through quarterly tiered royalty payments ranging from 8% to 14% of our net sales of Vafseo in the U.S., or the WCF Royalty Payments. The WCF Royalty Payments will
commence on July 1, 2025, and will continue until the earlier of (i) the cumulative total of the WCF Royalty Payments equals $40.0 million, or (ii) May 31, 2028, or the WCF Royalty
Term. The WCF Royalty Payments are subject to certain minimum true-up milestones.
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See Note 8, Deferred Revenue, Refund Liability and Liability Related to Sale of Future Settlement Royalties, in the accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements in Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-Q for further information.

CSL Vifor Settlement Royalty Payments

Pursuant to the terms of the Vifor Termination Agreement, we will pay CSL Vifor decreasing quarterly tiered royalty payments ranging from a high single-digit percentage of our net
sales of Vafseo up to $450.0 million to mid-single digit percentage of our net sales of Vafseo above $450.0 million, in each case, in the U.S. during a calendar year, or the Settlement
Royalty Payments. The Settlement Royalty Payments will commence upon the first sale of Vafseo by us, its affiliates or third-party licensees to a third party for use in the U.S., and
will continue until the later of the (i) expiration of the last-to-expire valid claim listed in the FDA Orange Book that would be infringed by the making, using, selling or importing of
Vafseo in the U.S. or (ii) the expiration of marketing or regulatory exclusivity for Vafseo in the U.S., or the Settlement Royalty Term. Beginning on July 1, 2027 and throughout the
Settlement Royalty Term, we have the option to make a one-time payment to CSL Vifor, or the Royalty Buy-Down Option, upon which the Settlement Royalty Payments will be
adjusted as of the date of exercise of the Royalty Buy-Down Option such that we will then only pay CSL Vifor quarterly royalty payments based on a mid-single digit percentage of
our net sales of Vafseo up to $450.0 million in the U.S. during a calendar year in lieu of the above Settlement Royalty Payments. If we exercise the Royalty Buy-Down Option, the
WCF Royalty Payments will continue as described above.

The WCF Royalty Payments, as described below, the Settlement Royalty Payments and the Royalty Buy-Down Option are in consideration for the termination of the Vifor License
Agreement and all obligations thereunder, and the covenants and agreements set forth in the Vifor Termination Agreement, including the settlement and release of all disputes and
claims arising from the Vifor License Agreement.

As a result of the Vifor Termination Agreement, we concluded that CSL Vifor no longer met the definition of a customer and, therefore, the arrangement should not be considered a
revenue contract with a customer under ASC 606, Revenue from

Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. | Form 10-Q | Page 36

Contracts with Customers. We therefore determined that the $43.3 million received from Vifor in connection with the Vifor License Agreement and related investment agreement
should be classified as debt and we are amortizing such amount using the effective interest method over the Settlement Royalty Term. The liability related to settlement royalties and
the amortization are based on our current estimates of future royalties expected to be paid over the life of the arrangement. The annual effective interest rate as of September 30,
2024 was 41.0% which is reflected as interest expense in the unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company recognized
interest expense of $4.4 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024. As of September 30, 2024, the $47.7 million liability related to settlement royalties is
classified as a long-term liability based on the timing of payments.

See Note 16, 8, Subsequent Events Liability Related to Settlement Royalties, Working Capital Fund Liability and Liability Related to Sale of Future Royalties, in the accompanying
notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements in Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-Q for further information.

Working Capital Fund Liability (Previously Referred to as Refund Liability to Customer)

In February 2022, we amended our agreement with CSL Vifor and they contributed $40.0 million to a working capital fund, or the Working Capital Fund, established to partially fund
our costs of purchasing Vafseo from our contract manufacturers.

Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. | The Working Capital Fund is considered a debt arrangement with zero coupon interest and we impute interest on the Working Capital Fund liability at a
rate of 15.0% per annum. As of September 30, 2024, the $40.2 million Working Capital Fund liability is classified as a long-term liability based on management’s estimated timing of
the repayment of the Working Capital Fund liability to CSL Vifor exceeding one-year.

Pursuant to the terms of the Vifor Termination Agreement, and generally consistent with the terms of the Vifor License Agreement, we agreed to repay the Working Capital Fund to
CSL Vifor through quarterly tiered royalty payments ranging from 8% to 14% of our net sales of Vafseo in the U.S., or the WCF Royalty Payments. The WCF Royalty Payments will
commence on July 1, 2025, and will continue until the earlier of (i) the cumulative total of the WCF Royalty Payments equals $40.0 million, or (ii) May 31, 2028, or the WCF Royalty
Term. The WCF Royalty Payments are subject to certain minimum true-up milestones.

See Note 8, Liability Related to Settlement Royalties, Working Capital Fund Liability and Liability Related to Sale of Future Royalties, in the accompanying notes to the unaudited
condensed consolidated financial statements in Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-Q | Page 36
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Liability Related to Sale of Future Royalties

In February 2021, we sold to HealthCare Royalty Partners IV L.P., or HCR, our right to receive royalties and sales milestones for Vafseo in Japan and certain other Asian countries,
such countries collectively, the MTPC Territory, such payments collectively the Royalty Interest Payments, in each case, payable to us under the MTPC Agreement. The Royalty
Interest Payments are subject to an annual maximum “cap” of $13.0 million, after which we will receive 85% of the Royalty Interest Payments for the remainder of that year. The
Royalty Interest Payments are also subject to an aggregate maximum “cap” of $150.0 million, after which the Royalty Interest Payments will revert back to us.

We received $44.8 million from HCR, net of certain transaction expenses, which we recorded as a liability at the transaction date. We amortize the liability related to the sale of
future royalties using the effective interest method over the life of the arrangement. The annual effective interest rate as of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 was 0%. We retain
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the right to receive all potential future regulatory milestones for Vafseo under the MTPC Agreement. We recorded $0.5 million and $0.9 $1.4 million of non-cash royalty revenue
during each of the three and six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

See Note 8, Deferred Revenue, Refund Liability Related to Settlement Royalties, Working Capital Fund Liability and Liability Related to Sale of Future Royalties, in the
accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements in Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-Q for further information.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Letter of Credit

As of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, in connection with the Cambridge Lease (as defined below), we had $1.7 million in a letter of credit outstanding.

Director and Officer Indemnification

We have entered into indemnification agreements with our directors and certain officers that will require us, among other things, to indemnify them against certain liabilities that may
arise by reason of their status or service as directors or officers. No demands have been made upon us to provide indemnification under such agreements and there are no claims
that we are aware of that could have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments Other Than Debt Agreements

We are party to contractual obligations involving commitments to make payments to third parties in the future. Certain contractual obligations are reflected on our condensed
consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, while others are considered future obligations. Our material cash requirements as of June 30, 2024 September
30, 2024, include contractual obligations and commitments arising in the normal course of business, including leases, license agreements, manufacturing agreements and
unconditional purchase commitments which are described in more detail below.

Cambridge Lease

We lease approximately 65,167 square feet of office, storage and laboratory space in Cambridge, Massachusetts under non-cancelable operating leases, collectively the Cambridge
Lease. The office, storage and lab lease expires on September 11, 2026.

See Note 9, Leases, in the accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-Q for further information.

License Agreements

We have a license agreement with Panion, under which we are required to pay royalties related to the sale of Auryxia. The royalty payment obligations are contingent upon
generating product revenue, and the amount and timing of such payments are not known. See Note 10, Commitments and Contingencies, in the accompanying notes to the
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-Q for further information.

In June 2021, we entered into a license agreement, or Cyclerion Agreement, with Cyclerion Therapeutics Inc. under which we obtained an exclusive global license under certain
intellectual property rights to research, develop and commercialize praliciguat, an investigational oral soluble guanylate cyclase stimulator. We may be obligated to pay up to an
aggregate of $222.0 million in specified development and regulatory milestone payments, certain specified commercial milestones and tiered royalties ranging from a low-single-digit
to mid-double-digit percentage of net sales, on a product-by-product basis, and subject to reduction upon expiration of patent rights or the launch of a generic product in the territory.

Unless earlier terminated, the Cyclerion Agreement will expire on a product-by-product and country-by-country basis upon the expiration of the last royalty term, which ends upon
the longest of (i) the expiration of the patents licensed under the Cyclerion Agreement, (ii) the expiration of regulatory exclusivity for such product and (iii) ten years from first
commercial sale of such product. We may terminate the Cyclerion Agreement in its entirety or only with respect to a particular licensed
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compound or product upon 180 days’ prior written notice to Cyclerion. The parties also have customary termination rights, subject to a cure period, in the event of the other party’s
material breach of the Cyclerion Agreement or in the event of certain additional circumstances.

Manufacturing Agreements

We have various supply arrangements to which we are a party, and we are obligated to pay for drug substance and drug product for commercial use. Under one of our agreements,
we are required to purchase a minimum quantity of Auryxia drug substance at a predetermined price. We are also obligated to purchase a certain percentage of the global demand
for Vafseo drug substance and drug product based on certain quarterly and annual forecasts we provide to certain suppliers. Our supply agreements for Vafseo drug substance and
drug product provide for a volume-based pricing structure. We may also be required to reimburse certain suppliers for reasonable expenses.

See Note 10, Commitments and Contingencies, in the accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-
Q for further information.

Amounts Due Under Former Manufacturing and Unconditional Purchase Commitments
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On December 22, 2022, we and BioVectra terminated any and all existing agreements for BioVectra to supply us Auryxia drug substance. Under the BioVectra Termination
Agreement, we agreed to pay BioVectra a total of $32.5 million consisting of (i) an upfront payment of $17.5 million that was paid in December 2022 and (ii) six quarterly payments
of $2.5 million which commenced in April 2024. In addition, we and BioVectra have released one another from all existing and future claims and liabilities and agreed to return
certain materials and documents.

Other Third Party Contracts

Unconditional Purchase Commitments

We enter into agreements in the normal course of business with various vendors, which are generally cancellable upon notice. Payments due upon cancellation consist only of
payments for services provided or expenses incurred, including non-cancellable non-

Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. | Form 10-Q | Page 38

cancellable obligations of service providers, up to the date of cancellation. In addition, we contract with various organizations to conduct R&D activities with remaining contract costs
to us of approximately $46.7 million $47.0 million as of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024. The scope of the services under these R&D contracts can be modified and the contracts
cancelled by us upon written notice. In some instances, the contracts may be cancelled by the third party upon written notice.

Cash Flows

The following table provides a summary of cash flow data for each applicable period:                    

Six Months Ended

June 30,

Nine Months Ended

September 30,

NET CASH PROVIDED BY/(USED IN) (in

thousands):

NET CASH PROVIDED BY/(USED IN) (in

thousands): 2024 2023

NET CASH PROVIDED BY/(USED IN) (in

thousands): 2024 2023

Operating activities

Investing activities

Financing activities

Decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted

cash

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash —

beginning of period

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash —

end of period

Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities was $29.5 million $36.2 million for the six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024. Net cash used in operating activities for the
six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 consisted of a net loss of $26.6 million $46.6 million reduced by net non-cash adjustments of $25.9 million $46.9 million,
including amortization of our intangible asset of $18.0 million $27.0 million, a change in excess inventory purchase commitments of $2.1 million and a change in fair value of the
warrant liability of $2.2 million $1.3 million, offset by a reduction of $28.8 million $36.4 million in working capital.

Net cash used in operating activities was $13.9 million $21.1 million for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023. Net cash used in operating activities
consisted of a net loss of $38.1 million $52.5 million reduced by net non-cash adjustments of $24.5 million $36.0 million, including amortization of our intangible asset of $18.0
million, $27.0 million and a noncash write-off of $0.8 million related to the termination of our Boston Lease, offset by a reduction of $0.3 million $4.5 million in working capital.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities for the six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 was immaterial. No net cash was used in investing activities for the six nine
months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023.

Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. | Form 10-Q | Page 38

Table of Contents

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $26.1 million $27.3 million for the six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, which primarily consisted of proceeds of
$45.0 million from the issuance of debt under the BlackRock Credit Agreement and net proceeds of $18.7 million $20.4 million from the sale of common stock under our ATM
Facility facility partially offset by principal payments of debt of $37.1 million primarily related to the Pharmakon Term Loans which were repaid in January 2024.
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Net cash used in financing activities was $24.0 million $23.9 million for the six nine months ended June 30, 2023 September 30, 2023, which primarily consisted of principal
payments of debt related to the Pharmakon Term Loans.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements, see Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, of the Notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial
statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Significant Judgments

Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements requires us to
make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in our
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including those related to accrued expenses, other long-
term liabilities, product revenues, including various rebates, returns and reserves related to product sales, inventories, classification of expenses between cost of goods sold, R&D
and selling, general and administrative, long-term assets, including our right-of-use assets, intangible asset and goodwill. We base our estimates on historical experience, known
trends and events, and various
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other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. In making estimates and judgments,
management employs critical accounting policies.

During the six nine months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, there were no material changes to our methodologies used for our critical accounting estimates as reported in
our 2023 Form 10-K.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.

We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and are not required to provide information under this item.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

Management’s Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or
submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, is (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the
SEC rules and forms and (ii) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Based on an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our management, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, were not effective as of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 due to the
material weakness in internal control over financial reporting described below.

As previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, that was filed with the SEC on March 14, 2014 March 14, 2024, or 2023 Form 10-K, as of December 31, 2023, our
management identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting. Specifically, we did not maintain effective controls related to (i) the review of inventory
reconciliations, (ii) the validation of the inventory costing, (iii) the classification of inventory within the balance sheet and cost of product and other revenue related costs in the
statement of operations, (iv) the calculation of estimated excess firm purchase commitment liability and (v) the verification that the existence of all inventories subject to physical
inventory counts were accurately counted.

Remediation Efforts of the Material Weakness — Inventories
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Our management has taken and plans to continue to take actions to remediate the deficiency in our internal control over financial reporting and has implemented new processes,
procedures and controls designed to address the underlying causes associated with the material weakness.

For example, we are in the process of: (i) implementing and documenting new processes and controls to help ensure the completeness and accuracy of our inventory
reconciliations, (ii) engaging additional third-party subject matter experts and accounting personnel with U.S. GAAP experience specific to inventory accounting, (iii) enhancing the
accuracy of key reports used to calculate the firm purchase commitment liability; and (iv) establishing effective monitoring and oversight controls to help to ensure the completeness
and accuracy of inventory included in our financial statements and related disclosures.
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As our management continues to evaluate and work to improve our internal control over financial reporting, our management may determine it is necessary to take additional
measures to address the material weakness. Until the controls have been operating for a sufficient period of time and our management has concluded, through testing, that these
controls are operating effectively, the material weakness described above will continue to exist.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We implemented a new enterprise resource planning, or ERP, system and a gross-to-net, or GTN, system during the three months ended June 30, 2024. The implementation of the
ERP and GTN systems are expected to, among other things, further automate a number of accounting and reporting processes and activities, thereby decreasing the number of
manual processes previously required. Except for the implementation of ongoing efforts to remediate the ERP and GTN systems, material weakness as noted in the preceding
paragraphs, there have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined by Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the period
covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

From time to time, we may be involved in legal proceedings arising from the normal course of business activities. Defending such proceedings is costly and can impose a significant
burden on management and employees. The results of any current or future litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, and regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an
adverse impact on
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us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors. We are not presently a party to any litigation the outcome of which, if
determined adversely to us, would in our estimation, have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, cash flows or financial condition.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

We face a variety of risks and uncertainties in our business. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently believe to be immaterial may also
become important factors that affect our business, reputation, results of operations, financial condition and stock price which can be materially and adversely affected. If any of the
following risks occurs, our business, financial condition, financial statements, results of operations and future growth prospects could be materially and adversely affected.

Risks Related to our Financial Position, Need for Additional Capital and Growth Strategy

We have incurred significant losses since our inception, and anticipate that we will continue to incur losses and cannot guarantee when, if ever, we will become
profitable or attain positive cash flows.

Investment in pharmaceutical product development and commercialization is highly speculative because it requires upfront capital expenditures and significant research and
development, or R&D, expenses. Despite the investment in assets and R&D, there is significant risk that a product candidate will fail to gain marketing approval or that an approved
product will not be commercially viable. Since our inception, we have devoted most of our resources to R&D, including our preclinical and clinical development activities,
commercializing Auryxia and providing general and administrative support for these operations. We have funded our operations principally through product sales, payments
received from our collaboration and licensing partners, borrowings under term loans, sales of our common stock, including through our employee stock purchase plan, a working
capital payment from Vifor (International) Ltd. (now a part of CSL Limited), or CSL Vifor, and a royalty transaction. Prior to our 2018 merger, or the Merger, with Keryx
Biopharmaceuticals, Inc., or Keryx, whereby Keryx became our wholly owned subsidiary, we had no products approved for commercial sale and had not generated any revenue
from the sale of products. We are not currently profitable, and we have incurred net losses each year since our inception, including a net loss of $8.6 $20.0 million for the three
months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024. As of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, we had an accumulated deficit of $1.6 billion $1.7 billion. We cannot guarantee when, if
ever, we will become profitable.

In March 2022, we received a complete response letter, or CRL, from the United States, or U.S., Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, regarding our new drug application, or NDA,
for vadadustat for the treatment of anemia associated
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with chronic kidney disease, or CKD. Following a Formal Dispute Resolution Request, or FDRR, to the FDA in 2022 for vadadustat, we filed a resubmission to our NDA in 2023. On
March 27, 2024, the FDA approved our NDA for vadadustat under the trade name Vafseo for the treatment of anemia due to CKD in adults who have been receiving dialysis for at
least three months. However, we expended significant additional resources to obtain the approval of Vafseo and the commercialization of Vafseo was delayed, which had and could
continue to have an adverse effect on our business.

Our ability to generate product revenue and achieve profitability depends on our ability to manage expenses and the overall success of Auryxia, Vafseo and any current or future
product candidates, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired, which depends on several factors, including:
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• obtaining adequate or favorable pricing and reimbursement from private and governmental payors for Auryxia, Vafseo and any other product or product candidate, including
those that may be in-licensed or acquired;

• obtaining and maintaining market acceptance of Auryxia, Vafseo and any other product candidate, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired;
• the size of any market in which Auryxia, Vafseo and any other product or product candidate, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired, receives approval and

obtaining adequate market share in those markets;
• the timing and scope of marketing approvals for Vafseo and any other product candidate, if approved, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired;
• maintaining marketing approvals for Auryxia, Vafseo and any other product, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired;
• our ability to successfully contract with dialysis organizations for the sale of Auryxia and Vafseo in the U.S.;
• actual or perceived advantages or disadvantages of our products or product candidates as compared to alternative treatments, including their respective safety, tolerability

and efficacy profiles, the potential convenience and ease of administration and cost;
• maintaining an acceptable safety and tolerability profile of our approved products, including the frequency and severity of any side effects;
• the willingness of the target patient population to try new therapies and of physicians to prescribe these therapies, based, in part, on their perception of our clinical trial data

and/or the actual or perceived safety, tolerability and efficacy profile;
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• establishing and maintaining supply and manufacturing relationships with third parties that can provide adequate supplies of products that are compliant with good
manufacturing practices, or GMPs, to support the clinical development and the market demand for Auryxia, Vafseo and any other product and product candidate, including
those that may be in-licensed or acquired;

• the potential impact of geopolitical pressures or the BIOSECURE Act on our ability to conduct our business as currently conducted;
• current and future restrictions or limitations on our approved or future indications and patient populations or other adverse regulatory actions or in the event that the FDA

requires Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategies, or REMS, or risk management plans that use restrictive risk minimization strategies;
• the effectiveness of our collaborators’ and our sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution strategies and operations;
• competing effectively with any products for the same or similar indications as our products;
• maintaining, protecting and expanding our portfolio of intellectual property rights, including patents and trade secrets; and
• the adverse impact of the recent COVID-19 pandemic on CKD patients and the phosphate binder market in which we compete.

Our collaboration, license and other revenue also depends on our partners’ ability to successfully market and sell Vafseo and Auryxia in the territories in which they have licensed
our products. For example, in May 2023, we entered into a license agreement with MEDICE Arzneimittel Pütter GmbH & Co. KG, or Medice, pursuant to which we granted Medice
an exclusive license to market and sell Vafseo for the treatment of anemia in patients with CKD in the European Economic Area, or the EEA, the United Kingdom, or UK,
Switzerland and Australia, or Medice Territory. Vafseo is currently marketed and sold by Medice in certain countries in the Medice Territory. If Medice’s launch of Vafseo in the
Medice Territory is delayed or their sales are lower than anticipated, we may not receive the revenue that we expect from Medice on the timing anticipated, or at all.

In July 2024, we entered into a Termination and Settlement Agreement with CSL Vifor, or the Vifor Termination Agreement. Pursuant to the Vifor Termination Agreement, we agreed,
among other things, to terminate, effective immediately, the Second Amended and Restated License Agreement that we entered into with CSL Vifor in February 2022, as amended
in May 2024, or the Vifor License Agreement, pursuant to which we granted CSL Vifor an exclusive license to sell Vafseo to Fresenius Medical Care North America and its affiliates,
including Fresenius Kidney Care Group LLC, to certain third-party dialysis organizations approved by us, to independent dialysis organizations that are members of certain group
purchasing organizations, or
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organizations,, and to certain non-retail specialty pharmacies in the U.S., which represents a significant portion of the potential market for Vafseo. As a result, we have regained our
rights to sell Vafseo to Fresenius Kidney Care North America and its affiliates and certain other third-party dialysis organizations in the U.S. If we are not successful in contracting
with dialysis organizations and commercializing Vafseo in a timely manner, or at all, our expected revenue related to Vafseo would be adversely impacted.

Pursuant to the Vifor License Agreement, CSL Vifor contributed $40.0  million to a working capital facility, or Working Capital Fund, established to partially fund our costs of
purchasing Vafseo from our contract manufacturers. Pursuant to the terms of the Vifor Termination Agreement, we have agreed to repay the Working Capital Fund to CSL Vifor
through quarterly tiered royalty payments ranging from 8% to 14% of our net sales of Vafseo in the U.S., or the WCF Royalty Payments. The WCF Royalty Payments will commence
on July 1, 2025, and will continue until the earlier of (i) the cumulative total of the WCF Royalty Payments equals $40 million $40.0 million, or (ii) May 31, 2028. The WCF Royalty
Payments are subject to minimum true-up milestones of $10 million $10.0 million, $20 million $20.0 million and $40 million $40.0 million, or the WCF Royalty True-Up Payments, on
each of May 31, 2026, May 31, 2027 and May 31, 2028, respectively, or the WCF Royalty True-Up Dates. If the cumulative total of the WCF Royalty Payments paid to CSL Vifor on
any given WCF Royalty True-Up Date is less than the respective WCF Royalty True-Up Payment, we will pay CSL Vifor a one-time payment equal to the difference between the
WCF Royalty True-Up Payment and the cumulative total of the WCF Royalty Payments paid by us through such WCF Royalty True-Up Date. If we are not successful in contracting
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with dialysis organizations and commercializing Vafseo in a timely manner, we may be unable to repay all or part of the WCF Royalty Payments, which could have a material
adverse impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Our ability to achieve profitability also depends on our ability to manage our expenses. We expect to continue to incur substantial additional operating expenses, including additional
R&D expenses related to our pipeline, additional R&D and selling, general and administrative expenses for ongoing development and commercialization of Auryxia and Vafseo,
which could lead to operating losses for the foreseeable future. We will continue to incur substantial expenditures relating to continued commercialization and post-marketing

requirements for Auryxia, Vafseo and any other products, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired, as well as costs relating to the R&D of Vafseo and any other product

candidate, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired. Our prior losses have had, and expected future losses will continue to have, an adverse effect on our stockholders’
deficit and working capital.
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In addition to any further costs not currently contemplated in our operating plan, our ability to achieve profitability and our financial position will depend, in part, on the rate of our
future expenditures, the timing of our product, collaboration, license and other revenue, the timing and amount of any repayment of the WCF Royalty Payments, our continued
compliance with the terms of the Agreement for the Provision of a Loan Facility, as amended, or the BlackRock Credit Agreement, with Kreos Capital VII (UK) Limited, which are
funds and accounts managed by BlackRock Inc., collectively, BlackRock, and our ability to obtain additional funding, should it be needed. In addition, we expect to continue to incur
significant expenses if and as we:

• continue our commercialization activities for Auryxia, Vafseo and any other product or product candidate for which we obtain approval, including those that may be in-

licensed or acquired;

• conduct and enroll patients in any clinical trials, including post-marketing studies or any other clinical trials for Auryxia, Vafseo or any other product or product candidate,

including those that may be in-licensed or acquired;

• seek marketing approval for any product candidate, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired;

• maintain marketing approvals for Auryxia, Vafseo and any other product, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired;

• manufacture Auryxia, Vafseo and any other product or product candidate, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired, for commercial sale and clinical trials;

• conduct discovery and development activities for additional product candidates or platforms that may lead to the discovery of additional product candidates;

• engage in transactions, including strategic, merger, collaboration, acquisition and licensing transactions, pursuant to which we would market and develop commercial

products, or develop and commercialize other product candidates and technologies;

• repay, and pay any associated pre-payment penalties, if applicable, the term loans in an aggregate principal amount of up to $55.0 million, or the Term Loans, that were

made available to us pursuant to the BlackRock Credit Agreement;

• make royalty, milestone or other payments under our current and any future in-licensing agreements;

• maintain, protect and expand our intellectual property portfolio;
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• make decisions with respect to our personnel, including the retention of key employees;

• make decisions with respect to our infrastructure, including to support our operations as a fully integrated, publicly traded biopharmaceutical company; and

• experience any additional delays or encounter issues with any of the above.

We have expended and will continue to may in the future expend significant resources on our legal proceedings, as described above under Part II, Item 1. Legal Proceedings,
or including any other legal proceedings  that may be brought by or against us in the future.

Our expenses could increase beyond expectations if we are required by the FDA, the European Medicines Agency, or the EMA, or other regulatory authorities, or if we otherwise
believe it is necessary, to change our manufacturing processes or assays, to amend or replace our study protocols, to perform studies different from or larger than those currently
planned, to conduct any additional clinical trials, whether in order to obtain approval or as a post-approval study, including the post-approval studies required for Vafseo and any
other additional clinical trial that we decide to conduct for Vafseo, or if there are any delays in completing any of these activities.

Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with pharmaceutical product development and commercialization, we are unable to accurately predict the timing or
amount of increased expenses or the associated revenue. The net losses we incur may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year, such that a period-to-period
comparison of our results of operations may not be a good indication of our future performance. In any particular quarter, our product revenue, the progress of our clinical
development and our operating results could be below the expectations of securities analysts or investors, which could cause our stock price to decline.

In addition, our ability to generate revenue would be negatively affected if dialysis organizations are unwilling to include Auryxia or Vafseo in their formulary or the size of our
addressable patient population is not as significant as we estimate, the indication approved by regulatory authorities is narrower than we sought or the patient population for
treatment is narrowed by competition, physician choice, coverage or reimbursement, or payor or treatment guidelines. Even though we generate product revenue from Auryxia and
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royalties from Riona and Vafseo in Japan, may generate royalties from Vafseo in Europe and other territories where it is approved, may generate product and collaboration revenue
from Vafseo in the U.S., and may generate revenue and royalties from the sale of any products that may be approved in the future, including those that may be
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in-licensed or acquired, we may never generate revenue and royalties that are significant enough for us to become and remain profitable, and we may need to obtain additional
financing to continue to fund our operating plan.

We may require substantial additional financing to fund our business. A failure to obtain this necessary capital when needed, or on acceptable terms, could force us to
delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development or commercialization efforts.

As of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, our cash and cash equivalents were $39.5 million $34.0 million. We expect to continue to expend substantial amounts of cash for the
foreseeable future as we continue to commercialize Auryxia; develop and commercialize Vafseo in the U.S.; and develop and commercialize any other product or product candidate,
including those that may be in-licensed or acquired. These expenditures will include costs associated with R&D, manufacturing, potentially obtaining marketing approvals and
marketing products approved for sale. In addition, other unanticipated costs may arise. Because the outcomes of our current and anticipated clinical trials are highly uncertain, we
cannot reasonably estimate the actual amount of funding necessary to successfully complete clinical development for any current or future product candidates or to complete post-
marketing studies for Auryxia and Vafseo. Our future capital requirements depend on many factors, including:

• the scope, progress, results and costs of conducting clinical trials or any post-marketing requirements or any other clinical trials for Auryxia, Vafseo and any other product or

product candidate, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired;

• the cost and timing of commercialization activities, including product manufacturing, marketing, sales and distribution costs, for Auryxia, Vafseo and any other product or

product candidate, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired;

• the results of our meetings with the FDA, the EMA and other regulatory authorities and any consequential effects, including on timing of and ability to obtain and maintain

marketing approval, label expansion, study design, study size and resulting operating costs;

• any difficulties or delays in conducting our clinical trials, or enrolling patients in our clinical trials, for Auryxia, Vafseo or any other product candidates;
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• the outcome of our efforts to obtain marketing approval for any product candidates, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired, including any additional clinical trials

or post-approval commitments imposed by regulatory authorities;

• the timing of, and the costs involved in obtaining, marketing approvals for any product candidate, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired, including to fund the

preparation, filing and prosecution of regulatory submissions;

• the costs of maintaining marketing approvals for Auryxia, Vafseo or any other product, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired;

• the number of generic versions of Auryxia that enter the market following loss of exclusivity, or LoE, for Auryxia in March 2025, and the timing of, and the magnitude of, the

impact on the product revenue from Auryxia, including the impact on the price of Auryxia;

• the cost of securing and validating commercial manufacturing for any of our product candidates, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired, and maintaining our

manufacturing arrangements for Auryxia and Vafseo or any other product, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired, or securing and validating additional
arrangements;

• the costs involved in preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications and maintaining, defending and enforcing our intellectual property rights, including litigation costs
and the outcome of such litigation;

• the costs involved in any legal proceedings to which we are a party;

• our status as a publicly traded company on the Nasdaq Capital Market;

• our decisions with respect to personnel;

• our decisions with respect to infrastructure; and

• the extent to which we engage in transactions, including strategic, merger, collaboration, acquisition and licensing transactions, pursuant to which we could develop and
market commercial products, or develop other product candidates and technologies.
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We may need to obtain substantial additional financing to fund our business. If we are unable to raise capital when needed or on attractive terms, we could be forced to delay,
reduce or eliminate our R&D programs or any future commercialization efforts. We failed to timely file our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended June 30, 2023,
or the Second Quarter 10-Q. Because of that failure to file, we are not currently eligible to file or use a Registration Statement on Form S-3. This may make it more difficult for us to
conduct a public offering of our securities.

We believe our existing cash resources and the cash we expect to generate from product, royalty, supply and license revenues are sufficient to fund our current operating plan for at
least twenty-four months. However, if our operating performance deteriorates significantly from the levels expected in our operating plan, it would have an adverse effect on our
liquidity and capital resources and could affect our ability to continue as a going concern in the future. Our forecast of the period of time through which our financial resources will be
adequate to support our operations is a forward-looking statement and involves numerous risks and uncertainties, and actual results could vary as a result of a number of factors,
many of which are outside our control. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may be substantially different than actual results, and we could utilize our available capital
resources sooner than we currently expect. In addition, if we fail to satisfy any of the covenants under the BlackRock Credit Agreement, and the loan is accelerated, or if certain pre-
specified events occur and we are required to make principal payments to BlackRock sooner than we currently anticipate, such event could have a material adverse effect on our
business. There can be no assurance that the current operating plan will be achieved in the time frame anticipated by us, or that our cash resources and cash we expect to generate
will fund our operating plan for the period anticipated by us, or that additional funding will be available on terms acceptable to us, or at all.

Any additional fundraising efforts may divert our management’s attention away from their day-to-day activities, which may adversely affect our ability to develop and commercialize
Auryxia, Vafseo and any other products or product candidates, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired. Also, additional funds may not be available to us in sufficient
amounts or on acceptable terms or at all. In addition, raising funds in the current economic environment may present additional challenges. For example, any sustained disruption in
the capital markets from adverse macroeconomic conditions and an uncertain geopolitical environment, such as rising inflation, increasing interest rates, slower economic growth or
recession, global supply chain disruptions, the Russia-Ukraine war, Israel-Hamas war and the war in the Middle East and tensions between China and Taiwan, could negatively
impact our ability to raise capital, and we cannot predict the extent or duration of such macroeconomic disruptions. If we are unable to raise additional capital in sufficient amounts
when needed or on terms acceptable to us, we may have to significantly delay, scale back or discontinue the development and/or
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commercialization of Auryxia, Vafseo and any other products or product candidates, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired. Any of these events could significantly harm
our business, financial condition and prospects.

Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our existing stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to our products and product
candidates on unfavorable terms to us.

We expect to finance future cash needs through product revenue and royalty and license revenue, and we may seek to sell public or private equity, enter into new debt transactions,
explore potential strategic transactions or a combination of these approaches or other strategic alternatives. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity
or convertible debt securities, the ownership interests of our common stockholders will be diluted, our fixed payment obligations may increase, any such securities may have rights
senior to those of our common stock, and the terms may include liquidation or other preferences and anti-dilution protections that adversely affect the rights of our common
stockholders. Additional debt financing, if available, may involve agreements that would restrict our operations and potentially impair our competitiveness, such as limitations on our
ability to incur additional debt, make capital expenditures, declare dividends, acquire, sell or license intellectual property rights, and other operating restrictions that could adversely
impact our ability to conduct our business. If we raise additional funds through strategic transactions, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our portfolio and future revenue
streams, and enter into agreements that would restrict our operations and strategic flexibility. If we raise additional funds through strategic transactions with third parties, we may
have to do so at an earlier stage than otherwise would be desirable. In connection with any such strategic transactions, we may be required to relinquish valuable rights to our
product and product candidates, future revenue streams or research programs or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us. If we are unable to raise additional funds when
needed, we may not be able to pursue planned development and commercialization activities and we may need to grant rights to develop and market product candidates that we
would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves.

If we fail to comply with the continued listing requirements of Nasdaq, our common stock may be delisted and the price of our common stock and our ability to access
the capital markets could be negatively impacted.

We must satisfy Nasdaq’s continued listing requirements, including, among other things, a minimum closing bid price of $1.00 per share and timely filing of all periodic financial
reports, or risk delisting, which would have a material adverse effect on our business. If we fail to maintain compliance with Nasdaq’s continued listing requirements, it could affect
our ability to raise capital on acceptable terms, or at all. In the event we are delisted from Nasdaq, the only established trading market for our common stock would be eliminated,
and we would be forced to list our shares on the OTC Markets or another quotation medium, depending on our ability to meet the specific listing requirements of those quotation
systems. As a result, an investor would likely find it more difficult to trade or obtain accurate price quotations for our shares. Delisting would likely
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also reduce the visibility, liquidity, and value of our common stock, reduce institutional investor interest in our Company, and may increase the volatility of our common stock.
Delisting could also cause a loss of confidence of potential industry partners, lenders, and employees, which could further harm our business and our future prospects.
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On May 9, 2023, we received a letter from Nasdaq stating that we had not regained compliance with the minimum bid price rule during the compliance period and were subject to
delisting. On May 22, 2023, we received a letter from the Office of General Counsel of Nasdaq informing us that Nasdaq confirmed that we had regained compliance with the $1.00
per share minimum bid price requirement.

On August 11, 2023, we received a notification letter from Nasdaq informing us that since we had not yet filed our Second Quarter Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three
months ended June 30, 2023, we are were not in compliance with Nasdaq’s listing rule requiring timely filing of all required periodic financial reports with the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission, or the SEC. On August 30, 2023, we received a letter from the Office of General Counsel of Nasdaq informing us that Nasdaq confirmed that we had
regained compliance with Nasdaq’s listing rule requiring timely filing of all required periodic financial reports with the SEC.

Although the minimum bid price deficiency and Nasdaq periodic reporting requirement matters are now closed, there can be no assurance that we will be able to continue to comply
with the Nasdaq continued listing requirements.

We may not be successful in our efforts to identify, acquire, in-license, discover, develop and commercialize additional products or product candidates or our decisions
to prioritize the development of certain product candidates over others may not be successful, which could impair our ability to grow.

Although we continue to focus a substantial amount of our efforts to develop and commercialize Auryxia and Vafseo, a key element of our long-term growth strategy is to develop
additional product candidates and acquire, in-license, develop and/or market additional products and product candidates.

Research programs to identify product candidates require substantial technical, financial and human resources, regardless of whether product candidates are ultimately identified.
Our R&D programs may initially show promise, yet fail to yield product candidates for clinical development or commercialization for many reasons, including the following:
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• the research methodology used may not be successful in identifying potential indications and/or product candidates;

• we may not be able or willing to assemble sufficient resources to acquire or discover additional product candidates;

• a product candidate may be shown to have harmful side effects, a lack of efficacy or other characteristics that indicate that they are unlikely to be drugs that will receive
marketing approval and/or achieve market acceptance;

• a product candidate we develop and seek regulatory approval for may not be approved by the FDA on a timely basis, or at all;

• product candidates we develop may nevertheless be covered by third party patents or other exclusive rights;

• the market for a product candidate may change during our program so that the continued development of that product candidate is no longer commercially reasonable;

• a product candidate may not be capable of being produced in commercial quantities at an acceptable cost, or at all; or

• a product candidate may not be accepted as safe and effective by patients, the medical community, or third party payors, if applicable.

If any of these events occur, we may be forced to abandon our R&D efforts for one or more of our programs, or we may not be able to identify, discover, develop or commercialize
additional product candidates, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired, which may have a material adverse effect on our business.

Because we have limited financial and managerial resources, especially as a result of the CRL for Vafseo that we received in March 2022 and the reductions in workforce that we
implemented in 2022, we have focused on products, research programs and product candidates for specific indications. As a result, we have had to, and in the future may need to,
forgo or delay pursuit of opportunities with other product candidates or for other indications, or may out license rights to product candidates, that later prove to have greater
commercial potential. For example, as a result of receipt of the CRL and implementation of the reductions in workforce, we delayed certain research activities. Our resource
allocation decisions may cause us to fail to capitalize on viable commercial products or profitable market opportunities on a timely basis, or at all. Our spending on current and future
R&D programs and product candidates for specific indications may not yield any commercially viable products.

Because our internal research capabilities are limited, we may be dependent upon other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, academic scientists and institutions, and
other researchers to sell or license product candidates, products or technology to us. As a result, our rights to these product candidates may be limited or we may be required to
make future
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payments to such third parties if we are successful in developing such product candidates. The success of this strategy depends partly upon our ability to identify, select, and
acquire promising product candidates and products. The process of identifying, selecting, negotiating and implementing a license or acquisition of a product candidate or an
approved product is lengthy and complex. Other companies, including some with substantially greater financial, marketing and sales resources, may compete with us for the license
or acquisition of a product candidate or an approved product. We have limited resources to identify and execute the acquisition or in-licensing of third party products, businesses,
and technologies and integrate them into our current infrastructure.

Moreover, we may devote resources to potential acquisitions or in-licensing opportunities that are never completed, or we may fail to realize the anticipated benefits of such efforts.
Any product candidate that we acquire may require additional development efforts prior to commercial sale, including extensive clinical testing and approval by the FDA, the EMA,
the Japanese Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Agency, or PMDA, or other regulatory authorities, or post-approval testing or other requirements if approved. All product
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candidates are prone to risks of failure typical of pharmaceutical product development, including the possibility that a product candidate will not be shown to be sufficiently safe and
effective for approval by regulatory authorities. In addition, we cannot provide assurance that any of our products will be manufactured in a cost effective manner, achieve market
acceptance or not require substantial post-marketing clinical trials.

Accordingly, there can be no assurance that we will ever be able to identify, acquire, in-license or develop suitable additional products or product candidates, which could materially
adversely affect our future growth and prospects. We may focus our efforts and resources on potential products, product candidates or other programs that ultimately prove to be
unsuccessful.

We may engage in strategic transactions to acquire assets, businesses, or rights to products, product candidates or technologies or form collaborations or make
investments in other companies or technologies that could harm our operating results, dilute our stockholders’ ownership, increase our debt, or cause us to incur
significant expense.

As part of our business strategy, we may engage in additional strategic transactions to expand and diversify our portfolio, including through the merger, acquisition or in-license of
assets, businesses, or rights to products, product candidates or technologies or through strategic alliances or collaborations, similar to the Merger and our existing and prior
collaboration
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and license arrangements. We may not identify suitable strategic transactions, or complete such transactions in a timely manner, on favorable terms, on a cost-effective basis, or at
all. Moreover, we may devote resources to potential opportunities that are never completed or we may incorrectly judge the value or worth of such opportunities. Even if we
successfully execute a strategic transaction, we may not be able to realize the anticipated benefits of such transaction and may experience losses related to our investments in such
transactions. Integration of an acquired company or assets into our existing business may not be successful and may disrupt ongoing operations, require the hiring of additional
personnel and the implementation and integration of additional internal systems and infrastructure, and require management resources that would otherwise focus on developing
our existing business. Even if we are able to achieve the long-term benefits of a strategic transaction, our expenses and short-term costs may increase materially and adversely
affect our liquidity. Any of the foregoing could have a detrimental effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. For example, on June 4, 2021, we entered into
a license agreement, the Cyclerion Agreement, with Cyclerion Therapeutics Inc., or Cyclerion, pursuant to which Cyclerion granted us an exclusive global license under certain
intellectual property rights to research, develop and commercialize praliciguat, an investigational oral soluble guanylate cyclase stimulator. Although we have progressed preclinical
studies for praliciguat, we need to do additional work to manufacture product for clinical trials than originally anticipated before we can initiate the trials, and when the clinical trials
are started, we may be unsuccessful in developing praliciguat. If any of the assumptions that we made in valuing the transaction, including the costs or timing of development of
praliciguat as a result of the additional manufacturing work or otherwise, or the potential benefits of praliciguat, were incorrect, we may not recognize the anticipated benefits of the
transaction and our business could be harmed.

In addition, future transactions may entail numerous operational, financial and legal risks, including:

• incurring substantial debt, dilutive issuances of securities or depletion of cash to pay for acquisitions;

• exposure to known and unknown liabilities, including contingent liabilities, possible intellectual property infringement claims, violations of laws, tax liabilities and commercial
disputes;

• higher than expected acquisition and integration costs;

• difficulty in integrating operations, processes, systems and personnel of any acquired business;

• increased amortization expenses or, in the case of a write-down of the value of acquired assets, impairment losses, such as the Auryxia intangible asset impairment in the
second quarter of 2020 and corresponding adjustments to the estimated useful life of the developed product rights for Auryxia;

• impairment of relationships with key suppliers or customers of any acquired business due to changes in management and ownership;
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• inability to retain personnel, customers, distributors, vendors and other business partners integral to an in-licensed or acquired product, product candidate or technology;

• potential failure of the due diligence processes to identify significant problems, liabilities or other shortcomings or challenges;

• entry into indications or markets in which we have no or limited development or commercial experience and where competitors in such markets have stronger market
positions; and

• other challenges associated with managing an increasingly diversified business.

If we are unable to successfully manage any transaction in which we may engage, our ability to develop new products and continue to expand and diversify our portfolio may be
limited.

Risks Related to our Financial Arrangements
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Our obligations in connection with the BlackRock Credit Agreement and requirements and restrictions in the BlackRock Credit Agreement could adversely affect our
financial condition and restrict our operations.

We entered into the BlackRock Credit Agreement, which provides for a senior secured term loan facility, in the aggregate principal amount of up to $55.0 million, or the Term Loan
Facility. The initial tranche of $37.0 million, or the Tranche A Loan, closed on January 29, 2024, or the Closing Date, and an additional amount of $8.0 million, or the Tranche B
Loan, was drawn on April 19, 2024. An additional $10.0 million is available under the Term Loan Facility in a single draw through December 31, 2024, or the Tranche C Loan and,
together with the Tranche A Loan and the Tranche B Loan, the Term Loans. See Note 7, Indebtedness, to our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements in Part I, Item
1. Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q for additional information regarding our obligations under the BlackRock Credit Agreement.

The Tranche C Loan is subject to various conditions precedent, including (x) the absence of any defaults or events of default and our continued compliance with the terms and
provisions of the BlackRock Credit Agreement and (y) receipt of a certain amount of cumulative gross cash proceeds after the Closing Date in the form of equity or equity linked
securities in one or more series of transactions. The Term Loan Facility had an initial maturity date of March 31, 2025, which was automatically extended to January 29, 2028, or the
Maturity Date, since we received FDA approval for Vafseo prior to June 30, 2024.
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The BlackRock Credit Agreement contains certain representations and warranties, affirmative covenants, negative covenants, financial covenants, events of default and other
provisions and conditions that are customarily required for similar financings. The financial covenants under the BlackRock Credit Agreement require us to either (i) maintain cash
and cash equivalents, measured as of the last day of each fiscal month, greater than or equal to $15.0 million or (ii) earn consolidated revenue, measured as of the last day of each
fiscal month for the trailing twelve-month period, of $150.0 million. Failure to maintain compliance with these or other covenants would result in an event of default under the
BlackRock Credit Agreement, which could result in enforcement action, including acceleration of amounts due under the BlackRock Credit Agreement, or limit our ability to make
certain payments under the Vifor Termination Agreement.

The Term Loan Facility will accrue interest at a floating annual rate equal to the sum of (x) term Secured Overnight Financing Rate for a tenor of one month (subject to a floor of
4.25% per annum) plus (y) a margin of 6.75% per annum (subject to an overall cap of 15.00% per annum on the all-in interest rate). During the continuance of any payment event of
default under the BlackRock Credit Agreement, the interest rate on such overdue sum will automatically increase by an additional 3.0% per annum, and may be subject to an

additional late fee of 2.0% of such overdue sum. The Term Loan Facility does not amortize during the period commencing on the Closing Date and ending on December 31, 2025

(which was extended to December 31, 2026 at our option), or the Interest Only Period. We are required to pay interest and, after the Interest Only Period, principal on the first
calendar day of each month. In the event of certain prespecified events, the repayment schedule will be accelerated. If any of these events occur, and we are required to repay
principal sooner than we anticipate, it would have an adverse effect on our business.

In the event there is an acceleration of our and certain of our subsidiaries’ liabilities under the BlackRock Credit Agreement as a result of an event of default or otherwise, we may
not have sufficient funds or may be unable to arrange for additional financing to repay the liabilities or to make any accelerated payments, and BlackRock could seek to enforce
security interests in the collateral securing the BlackRock Credit Agreement, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

In addition, our obligations in connection with the BlackRock Credit Agreement could have additional significant adverse consequences, including, among other things:

• restricting our activities, including limitations on transferring certain of our assets, engaging in certain transactions, terminating certain agreements, incurring certain
additional indebtedness, creating certain liens, paying cash dividends or making certain other distributions and investments;
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• limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and our industry;

• placing us at a possible competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors who have a smaller amount of debt or competitors with comparable debt at more favorable
interest rates; and

• limiting our ability to borrow additional amounts for working capital, capital expenditures, R&D efforts, acquisitions, debt service requirements, execution of our business
strategy and other purposes.

Any of these factors could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our Royalty Interest Acquisition Agreement with HealthCare Royalty Partners IV, L.P. contains various covenants and other provisions, which, if violated, could
materially adversely affect our financial condition.

In February 2021, we entered into a royalty interest acquisition agreement, or the Royalty Agreement, with HealthCare Royalty Partners IV, L.P., or HCR, pursuant to which we sold
to HCR our right to receive royalties and sales milestones for Vafseo, collectively the Royalty Interest Payments, in each case, payable to us under our Collaboration Agreement
dated December 11, 2015, or the MTPC Agreement, with Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation, or MTPC, subject to an annual maximum “cap” of $13.0 million, or the Annual
Cap, and an aggregate maximum “cap” of $150.0  million, or the Aggregate Cap. Under the Royalty Agreement, we are required to comply with various covenants, including
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obligations to take certain actions, such as actions with respect to the Royalty Interest Payments, the MTPC Agreement, our agreement with MTPC for the commercial supply of
Vafseo drug product, and our intellectual property. In addition, the Royalty Agreement includes customary events of default upon the occurrence of enumerated events, including
failure to perform certain covenants and the occurrence of insolvency events. Upon the occurrence of an event of default, HCR would have the ability to exercise all available
remedies in law and equity, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition.

Risks Related to Commercialization
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Our business is substantially dependent on the commercial success of Auryxia and Vafseo. If we are unable to continue to successfully commercialize Auryxia and
commercially launch Vafseo, our results of operations and financial condition will be materially harmed.

Our business and our ability to generate product revenue largely depend on our, and our collaborators’, ability to successfully commercialize Auryxia and Vafseo. Our ability to
generate revenue depends on our ability to execute on our commercialization plans, and the size of the market for, and the level of market acceptance of, Auryxia, Vafseo and any
other product or product candidate, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired. If we are not able to execute and/or maintain contracts with dialysis organizations and other
customers for the sale of Auryxia and Vafseo on favorable terms, in a timely manner, or at all, our revenue and results of operations will be adversely affected. If the size of any
market for which a product or product candidate is approved decreases or is smaller than we anticipate, our revenue and results of operations could be materially adversely
affected. For example, the approval for Vafseo in the U.S. is limited to the treatment of anemia due to CKD in adults who have been receiving dialysis for at least three months
instead of all such adults. This limitation could affect the level of market acceptance of Vafseo.

Given the concentration of dialysis clinics in large networks, with DaVita, Inc., or DaVita, and Fresenius Kidney Care Group LLC, accounting for a vast majority of the dialysis
population in the U.S., treatment is usually driven by medical protocols that are implemented across the entire network of clinics. Dialysis organizations require large data sets to
adopt medical protocols. If dialysis organizations do not add Vafseo to their medical protocols in a timely manner, or at all, our operations could be materially adversely affected.

If oral oral-only phosphate binders, including Auryxia, are included in the end-stage renal disease, or ESRD, Prospective Payment System, or PPS, bundle payment, beginning in
January 2025 as we currently anticipate, it will take time for dialysis organizations to implement internal mechanisms to dispense phosphate binders which could divert their attention
from focusing on other therapeutic areas such as anemia management, which in turn could negatively impact the market for phosphate binders, including Auryxia. In addition,
dialysis organizations may choose lower cost binders over Auryxia, or binders that may have features or benefits more aligned with the dialysis organization’s operational activities,
which could negatively impact Auryxia revenue.

In addition, we currently have exclusive rights under a series of patents and patent applications to commercialize Auryxia in the U.S. that protect us from generic drug competition
until March 2025. Following LoE, in March 2025, the number of generic versions of Auryxia that enter the market will affect our revenue from Auryxia. We believe CMS’s the Centers
for Medicare & Medicaid Services', or CMS, decision to include phosphate binders in the dialysis bundle could potentially lead to higher sales of Auryxia after the LoE date than in
other LoE scenarios, and plan to work with dialysis organizations, other customers and providers to seek to continue the use of Auryxia beyond LoE. However, our ability to continue
to generate revenue from sales of Auryxia following LoE will depend on many factors, including our ability to successfully contract with dialysis organizations, the timing and number
of generics that enter the market and other products on the market that we compete with. with Auryxia. If we
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are unable to maintain sales of Auryxia following LoE, our results of operations and financial condition will be materially harmed.

We believe our revenue growth was has been negatively impacted by the recent COVID-19 pandemic since 2021 primarily as the CKD patient populations that we serve
experienced both high hospitalization and mortality rates due to COVID-19, and the pandemic had an adverse impact on the phosphate binder market in which Auryxia competes.
Labor shortages and costs have also adversely impacted dialysis providers. These impacts have refocused clinical efforts in addressing bone and mineral disorders like
hyperphosphatemia to more acute operational issues to ensure patients receive dialysis treatments and still some patients have been rescheduled or missed treatments due to labor
shortages. We believe, this and potentially other factors, led to the reduction in the phosphate binder market, which has not experienced growth since early 2020. While we are
unable to quantify the impact of the recent COVID-19 pandemic on future revenues and revenue growth, the recent COVID-19 pandemic and the ongoing impacts from the recent
COVID-19 pandemic continue to adversely and disproportionately impact CKD patients and the phosphate binder market. Therefore, we expect the impacts from the pandemic to
continue to have a negative impact on our revenue growth for the foreseeable future.

Market acceptance is also critical to our ability to generate significant product revenue. Any product may achieve only limited market acceptance or none at all. If Auryxia, Vafseo or
any of our future products is not accepted by the market to the extent that we expect or market acceptance decreases, we may not be able to generate significant product revenue
and our business would be materially harmed. Market acceptance of Auryxia, Vafseo or any other approved product depends on a number of factors, including:

• the availability of adequate coverage and reimbursement by, and the availability of discounts, rebates and price concessions to dialysis organizations, third party payors,
pharmacy benefit managers, or PBMs, and governmental authorities;

• the availability of discounts and rebates to dialysis organizations to facilitate access for patients;

• the safety and efficacy of the product, as demonstrated in clinical trials and in the post-marketing setting;
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• the prevalence and complications of the disease treated by the product;
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• the clinical indications for which the product is approved and the product label approved by regulatory authorities, including any warnings or limitations that may be required
on the label as a consequence of potential safety risks associated with the product;

• the countries in which marketing approvals are obtained;

• the claims we and our partners are able to make regarding the safety and efficacy of the product;

• the success of our physician and patient communications and education programs;

• acceptance by physicians and patients of the product as a safe and effective treatment and the willingness of the target patient population to try new therapies and of
physicians to prescribe new therapies;

• use at dialysis organizations and their willingness to include Auryxia or Vafseo in their formulary or protocols starting in 2025;

• the cost, safety and efficacy of the product in relation to alternative treatments;

• the timing of receipt of marketing approvals and product launch relative to competing products and potential generic entrants;

• the success of, or withdrawal from the market of, competing products;

• relative convenience and ease of administration;

• the frequency and severity of adverse side effects;

• favorable or adverse publicity about our products or favorable or adverse publicity about competing products;

• the effectiveness of our and our partners’ sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution strategies and operations; and

• the restrictions on the use of the product together with other medications, if any.

In addition, our ability to generate net product revenue depends on our ability to control the expenses associated with commercializing a product, including internal expenses,
manufacturing costs, rebates, product returns and other adjustments. We do not have control over many of the expenses required to commercialize our products, and if we
experience increased costs or expenses, we may not be able to afford the commercial activities required to successfully commercialize our products, which could have an adverse
effect on our business. In addition, our net product revenue requires judgement and includes estimates for rebates and product returns, which can fluctuate from quarter-to-quarter
and year-over-year. If our net product revenue is lower than anticipated, including as a result of higher expenses, our business could be harmed.
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Several healthcare facilities, including DaVita, have previously restricted access for non-patients as a result of the recent COVID-19 pandemic, resulting in restricted access for
certain members of our sales force. As a result, we continue to engage with some healthcare providers and other customers virtually where possible. The restrictions on our
customer-facing employees’ in-person interactions with healthcare providers have, and could continue to, negatively impact our access to healthcare providers and ultimately our
sales, including with respect to Vafseo. Such precautionary measures have since been relaxed at certain healthcare facilities and, as a result, members of our sales force have
resumed in person interactions with those customers. Nevertheless, some restrictions remain, and more restrictions may be put in place again due to a resurgence in COVID-19
cases, including those involving new variants of COVID-19, which may be more contagious and more severe than prior strains of the virus. Given this uncertain environment and the
disproportionate impact of the recent COVID-19 pandemic on CKD patients, we are actively monitoring the demand in the U.S. for Auryxia and Vafseo, including the potential for
further declines or changes in prescription trends and customer orders, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

If we are unable to maintain or expand, or, with respect to Vafseo, initiate, sales and marketing capabilities or enter into additional agreements with third parties, we
may not be successful in commercializing Auryxia, Vafseo or any other product candidates that may be approved.

In order to market Auryxia, Vafseo and any other approved product, we intend to continue to invest in sales and marketing, which will require substantial effort and significant
management and financial resources. We have built a commercial infrastructure and sales force in the U.S. for Auryxia, which we believe that we can leverage in the U.S. for Vafseo
as well, with incremental additional hires in our sales force and medical affairs department. force. If the sales and marketing team cannot successfully commercialize Auryxia or
Vafseo, it could have a material adverse effect on our product revenue and our financial condition. Additionally, training a sales force to successfully sell and market a new
commercial product is expensive and time-consuming and could delay any commercial launch of such product candidate or distract the current sales force from promoting Auryxia.
We may underestimate the size of the sales force required for a successful product launch, and we may need to expand our sales force to a greater extent or earlier than we
currently plan and at a higher cost than we anticipated.
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We devote significant effort to recruiting individuals with experience in the sales and marketing of pharmaceutical products. Competition for personnel with these skills is significant
and retaining qualified personnel with experience in our industry is difficult. If key sales and marketing employees decide to leave, we may not be able to hire and train new
employees quickly enough to meet our needs. At the same time, we may face high turnover, requiring us to expend time and resources to source, train and integrate new
employees.

There are risks involved with maintaining our own sales and marketing capabilities, including the following:

• potential inability to recruit, train and retain adequate numbers of effective sales and marketing personnel;

• potential lack of complementary products to be offered by sales personnel, which may put us at a competitive disadvantage relative to companies with more extensive

product lines, especially as a result of the delay in the approval of Vafseo following receipt of the CRL; and

• costs and expenses associated with maintaining our own sales and marketing organization.

If we are unable to maintain our own sales and marketing capabilities, we will not be successful in commercializing Auryxia, Vafseo and any other product candidate that may be
approved.
In addition, if we are not successful in contracting with dialysis organizations for the sale of Auryxia or Vafseo on favorable terms, in a timely matter or at all, we will not be
successful in commercializing Auryxia and Vafseo.

Furthermore,  Also, if we are unable to maintain our arrangements with third parties with respect to sales and marketing, if we are unsuccessful in entering into additional
arrangements with third parties to sell and market our products or we are unable to do so on terms that are favorable to us, or if such third parties are unable to carry out their
obligations under such arrangements, it will be difficult to successfully commercialize our product and product candidates, including Vafseo.

Our, or our partners’, failure to obtain or maintain adequate coverage, pricing and reimbursement for Auryxia, Vafseo or any other future approved products, could have
a material adverse effect on our or our collaboration partners’ ability to sell such approved products profitably and otherwise have a material adverse impact on our
business.

Market acceptance and sales of any approved products, including Auryxia and Vafseo, depends significantly on the availability of adequate coverage and reimbursement from third
party payors and may be affected by existing and future healthcare reform measures. Governmental authorities, dialysis organizations, third party payors, and PBMs decide which
drugs they will cover, as well as establish formularies or implement other mechanisms to manage utilization of products and determine reimbursement levels. We cannot be sure
that coverage or adequate reimbursement will be available for Auryxia, Vafseo or any of our potential future products. Even if we obtain coverage for an approved product, third
party payors may not establish adequate reimbursement amounts, which may reduce the demand for our product and prompt us to have to reduce pricing for the product. If
reimbursement is not available or is limited, we may not be able to successfully commercialize
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certain of our products. Coverage and reimbursement by a governmental authority, dialysis organization, third-party payor or PBMs may depend upon a number of factors, including
the determination that use of a product is:

• a covered benefit under the health plan;

• safe, effective and medically necessary;

• appropriate for the specific patient; and

• cost effective.

Obtaining coverage and reimbursement approval for a product from a governmental authority, dialysis organization, PBM or a third-party payor is a time consuming and costly
process that could require us to provide supporting scientific, clinical and cost-effectiveness data for the use of our products to the payor. In the U.S., there are multiple
governmental authorities, PBMs and third-party payors with varying coverage and reimbursement levels for pharmaceutical products, and the timing of commencement of
reimbursement by a governmental payor can be dependent on the assignment of codes via the Healthcare Common Procedural Coding System, which codes are assigned on a
quarterly basis. Within Medicare, for oral drugs dispensed by pharmacies and also administered in facilities, coverage and reimbursement may vary depending on the setting. CMS,
local Medicare administrative contractors, Medicare Part D plans and/or PBMs operating on behalf of Medicare Part D plans, may have some responsibility for determining the
medical necessity of such drugs, and therefore coverage, for different patients. Different reimbursement methodologies may apply, and CMS may have some discretion in
interpreting their application in certain settings.

As an oral drug, Auryxia is covered by Medicare under Part D for the treatment of patients with hyperphosphatemia. In January 2011, CMS implemented the ESRD PPS, a
prospective payment system for dialysis treatment. Under the ESRD PPS, CMS generally makes a single bundled payment to the dialysis facility for each dialysis treatment that
covers all items and services routinely required for dialysis treatments furnished to Medicare beneficiaries in Medicare-certified ESRD facilities or
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at their home. The inclusion of oral medications without injectable or intravenous equivalents such as Auryxia in the bundled payment was initially delayed by CMS until January 1,
2014, and through several subsequent legislative actions has been delayed until January 1, 2025.

Absent further legislation or regulation on this matter, beginning in January 2025, oral ESRD-related drugs without injectable or intravenous equivalents, including Auryxia and all
other phosphate lowering medications, will be included in the ESRD bundle and separate Medicare payment for these drugs will no longer be available, as is the case today under
Medicare Part D. ESRD facilities may nonetheless receive a Transitional Drug Add-on Payment Adjustment, or TDAPA, for new renal dialysis drugs and biological products that
meet certain criteria for a period of at least two years. The TDAPA will provide separate payment based on the drug’s Average Sales Price, or ASP, that will be in addition to the
base rate in order to facilitate the adoption of innovative therapies. There can be no assurances that CMS will not again In July 2023, the U.S. House of Representatives introduced
theKidney Patient Access to Technologically Innovative and Essential Nephrology Treatments (PATIENT) Act (H.R. 5074), or the Patient Act, and the Senate advanced a similar bill
(S. 4510), which legislation, if passed and enacted into law prior to January 1, 2025, would delay the inclusion of these oral ESRD-related phosphorus lowering drugs in the bundled
payment. In addition, in July 2024, Ardelyx, Inc., or Ardelyx, filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia against the U.S. Department of Health
and Human Services, or HHS, CMS and other parties, which alleged that CMS’s plan to include oral-only phosphate lowering therapies in the ESRD PPS violated its statutory and
regulatory authority under the Medicare Improvements for Patients and Providers Act, which established the ESRD PPS bundled payment system for dialysis services in 2008. In
October 2024, Ardelyx filed for a preliminary injunction to enjoin CMS from including oral-only phosphate lowering therapies in the ESRD PPS. CMS had earlier filed a motion to
dismiss the complaint. The court has not scheduled a date for oral argument on these motions and, instead, indicated that it may address these motions on the papers alone. If the
Patient Act is passed and enacted into law prior to January 1, 2025 or Ardelyx is successful in its claims, oral-only phosphate lowering therapies, including Auryxia, may not be
included in the ESRD bundle. bundle in 2025 or at all, which could reduce anticipated revenue for Auryxia. Even if Auryxia is deemed eligible by CMS and included in the ESRD
bundle,  the TDAPA reimbursement amount for Auryxia may be lower than anticipated or revenue for sales of Auryxia could be significantly less in the TDAPA period than
anticipated or than it would be if Auryxia is not bundled into the ESRD PPS. Moreover, in PPS, which would have an adverse impact on our revenue. In the post-TDAPA period,
CMS currently expects to increase the single bundled payment base rate paid to the dialysis facility for each dialysis treatment to reflect that oral only phosphate lowering drugs will
be reimbursed as part of the single bundled payment for Medicare patients. There However, there can be no assurances that any increase in the single bundled payment base rate
will be sufficient to adequately reimburse the dialysis facilities for Auryxia at a price that allows us to continue to sell Auryxia at a profit.

In addition, in September 2018, CMS decided that Auryxia would no longer be covered by Medicare for the treatment of iron deficiency anemia, or IDA, in adult patients not on
dialysis, or NDD-CKD.NDD-CKD. While this decision does not impact CMS coverage for the control of serum phosphorus levels in adult patients with anemia due to CKD in patients
on dialysis, or DD-CKD, or the Hyperphosphatemia Indication, it requires Part D Plan sponsors to impose prior authorization or other steps to ensure that
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Auryxia is reimbursed only for the Hyperphosphatemia Indication. We decided beginning in 2022 to terminate certain Part D contracts, as patients no longer had the access benefit
given the prior authorization requirement. Now patients must go through a medical exemption process, which is very similar to a prior authorization review. While we believe this
had, and may continue to have, a negative impact on our overall sales volume, we believe it had a significant positive impact on our net selling price. However, if we experience
additional negative impacts on our sales volume as a result of this change, it could have a negative impact on our product revenue.

Medicaid reimbursement of drugs varies by state. Private third-party payor reimbursement policies also vary and may or may not be consistent with Medicare reimbursement
methodologies. Manufacturers of outpatient prescription drugs may be required to provide discounts or rebates under government healthcare programs or to certain third-party
payors in order to obtain coverage of such products.

Additionally, we may will be required to enter into contracts with dialysis organizations, GPOs, third party payors and/or PBMs offering rebates or discounts on our products in order
to obtain favorable formulary status, and we may not be able to agree upon commercially reasonable terms with such dialysis organizations, GPOs, third party payors or PBMs, or
provide data sufficient to obtain favorable coverage and reimbursement for many reasons, including that we may be at a competitive disadvantage relative to companies with more
extensive product lines. In addition, dialysis organizations, GPOs, third party payors, PBMs and and/or other entities that purchase our products may impose restrictions on our
ability to raise prices for our products over time without incurring additional costs. Four distributors, Fresenius Medical Care Rx, McKesson Corporation, Cardinal Health, Inc. and
Cencora, Inc., formerly known as AmerisourceBergen Drug Corporation, in the aggregate, accounted for a significant percentage of our gross revenue during the three and six nine
months ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 and the year ended December 31, 2023. If we are not able to maintain our arrangements with these key distributors on favorable
terms, on a timely basis or at all, or if there is any adverse change in one or more of these distributors’ business practices or financial condition, it would adversely impact the market
opportunity for Auryxia, our product revenues and operating results.

We currently believe it is likely that Vafseo will be reimbursed using the TDAPA, followed by inclusion included in the bundled reimbursement model for Medicare beneficiaries but
reimbursement under TDAPA is subject to review and, approval by CMS. Additionally, obtaining reimbursement under the in October 2024, CMS determined that Vafseo will receive
a TDAPA for Vafseo is expected to take six months following filing acceptance, and we expect to receive reimbursement under TDAPA at least two years starting on January 1,
2025, which timing will affect adoption, uptake and product revenue for Vafseo. . However, if there are updates to the TDAPA rule that decrease the basis for reimbursement or
eligibility criteria during the transition period or if the TDAPA is eliminated, then our profitability may be adversely affected. For example, the Medicare Payment Advisory
Commission, an independent legislative branch advisory body to Congress on
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issues related to the Medicare program, has recommended that TDAPA not be provided to newly approved drug products considered to fall within “functional categories” for which
costs are already accounted for in the bundled reimbursement model, such as for anemia management drugs.

Further, we expect Vafseo to will be included in the fixed reimbursement model for a bundle of dialysis services, or the bundle, which will require us to enter into contracts to supply
Vafseo to specific dialysis providers, instead of through distributors, which we believe could be challenging. The dialysis market is unique and is dominated by two providers: DaVita
and Fresenius Medical Care, which account for a vast majority of the dialysis population in the U.S. Under the Vifor Termination Agreement, we have regained our rights to sell
Vafseo to Fresenius Medical Care North America and its affiliates, including Fresenius Kidney Care Group LLC, to certain third-party dialysis organizations approved by us, to
independent dialysis organizations that are members of group purchase purchasing organizations, and to certain non-retail specialty pharmacies in the U.S. See Note 8, Deferred
Revenue, Refund Liability Related to Settlement Royalties, Working Capital Fund Liability and Liability Related to Sale of Future Royalties, to our unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements in Part I, Item 1. Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q for additional information regarding the Vifor Termination Agreement. If we are not able to enter into a
supply agreement agreements with DaVita, Fresenius Medical Care or other dialysis organizations for the sale of Vafseo  on favorable terms, in a timely matter or at all, our business
may be materially harmed.

Similar to how payor coverage may affect the sales of a product, formulary status within dialysis organizations may affect what products are prescribed within that specific
organization. Therefore, if a product is not on a formulary, the prescribers within that organization may be less likely to prescribe that product or may have a difficult time prescribing
that product, resulting in less sales. Further, one dialysis organization’s determination to add a product to their formulary does not assure that other dialysis organizations will also
add the product to theirs. There is always a risk a dialysis organization will not contract with a drug manufacturer for a specific product, resulting in that product not being on that
organization’s formulary. If any dialysis organization does not add Vafseo to the formulary, our business may be materially harmed.

In addition, we may be unable to sell Auryxia or Vafseo to dialysis providers on a profitable basis if CMS significantly reduces the level of reimbursement for dialysis services and
providers choose to use alternative therapies or look to re-negotiate their contracts with us. Our profitability may also be affected if our costs of production increase faster than
increases in reimbursement levels. Adequate coverage and reimbursement of our products by government and private insurance plans are central to patient and provider
acceptance of any products for which we receive marketing approval. Existing competitive products may enter into sole source agreements with dialysis providers that impact the
ability for new product innovations and new competitors may face price pressure based on existing contracts with dialysis providers.
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Further, in many countries outside the U.S., a drug must be approved for reimbursement before it can be marketed or sold in that country. In some cases, the prices that we intend
to charge for our products are also subject to approval. Approval by the EMA or another regulatory authority does not ensure approval by reimbursement authorities in that
jurisdiction, and approval by one reimbursement authority outside the U.S. does not ensure approval by any other reimbursement authorities.

However, the failure to obtain reimbursement in one jurisdiction may negatively impact our ability to obtain reimbursement in another jurisdiction. In addition, we plan to rely on a
partner to obtain approval by reimbursement authorities outside the U.S. Our partners may not be able to obtain such reimbursement approvals on a timely basis, if at all, and
favorable pricing in certain countries depends on a number of factors, some of which are outside of our partners’ control. Vafseo was approved in Japan for the treatment of adult
patients with anemia due to CKD and is being marketed by MTPC in Japan under the trade name Vafseo. Pricing and reimbursement strategy is a key component of MTPC’s
commercialization plans for Vafseo in Japan. If coverage and reimbursement terms change, MTPC may not be able to, or may decide not to, continue commercialization of Vafseo
in Japan. Furthermore, Vafseo was approved in Europe and Australia for the treatment of anemia due to CKD in DD-CKD patients. In Europe, reimbursement is obtained on a
country-by-country basis and it is a time consuming process. In May 2023, we entered into the license agreement with Medice, pursuant to which we granted Medice an exclusive
license to develop and commercialize Vafseo for the treatment of anemia in patients with CKD in the Medice Territory. Medice launched Vafseo in certain countries in Europe and is
working on securing pricing and reimbursement for Vafseo in markets across Europe. There is no guarantee of the timing or extent of reimbursement that they will receive in each
country, if at all. If Medice is not able to obtain favorable pricing in the Medice Territory, or if such approvals are delayed, it will affect Medice’s sales of Vafseo in the Medice Territory,
which could have an adverse effect on our results of operations.

We face substantial competition, which may result in others discovering, developing or commercializing products before, or more successfully than, we do.

The development and commercialization of new drugs is highly competitive and subject to rapid and significant technological change. Our future success depends on our ability to
demonstrate and maintain a competitive advantage with respect to the development and commercialization of Auryxia, Vafseo and any other product or product candidate, including
those that may be in-licensed or acquired. Our objective is to successfully commercialize Auryxia and commercially launch Vafseo and develop and commercialize new products
with clinically proven efficacy, convenience, tolerability and/or safety. In many cases, any approved products that we commercialize will compete with existing, market-leading
products. If existing or new competitors of Auryxia or Vafseo take market share from us, it could have an adverse impact on our revenue and our business.
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Auryxia is competing in the hyperphosphatemia market in the U.S. with other FDA-approved phosphate binders such as Renagel® (sevelamer hydrochloride) and Renvela®
(sevelamer carbonate), both marketed by Sanofi, PhosLo® and Phoslyra® (calcium acetate), marketed by Fresenius Medical Care North America, Fosrenol® (lanthanum
carbonate), marketed by Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc, and Velphoro® (sucroferric oxyhydroxide), marketed by Fresenius Medical Care North America, as well as over-the-
counter calcium carbonate products such as TUMS® and metal-based options such as aluminum, lanthanum and magnesium. Most of the phosphate binders listed above are now
also available in generic forms. In addition, other agents are in development, including OPKO Health Inc.’s Alpharen™ Tablets (fermagate tablets) and Unicycive’s RENAZORB™
(lanthanum dioxycarbonate), or could otherwise enter the market that may impact the market for Auryxia. In October 2023, the FDA approved XPHOZAH® (tenapanor), a phosphate
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absorption inhibitor that is marketed by Ardelyx and indicated to reduce serum phosphorus in adults with CKD on dialysis as add-on therapy in patients who have an inadequate
response to phosphate binders or who are intolerant of any dose of phosphate binder therapy, which may adversely impact the market for Auryxia.

Auryxia is competing in the IDA market in the U.S. with over-the-counter oral iron, ferrous sulfate, other prescription oral iron formulations, including ferrous gluconate, ferrous
fumerate, and polysaccharide iron complex, and intravenous iron formulations, including Feraheme® (ferumoxytol injection), Venofer® (iron sucrose injection), Ferrlicit® (sodium
ferric gluconate complex in sucrose injection), Injectafer® (ferric carboxymaltose injection), and Triferic® (ferric pyrophosphate citrate). In addition, other new therapies for the
treatment of IDA may impact the market for Auryxia, such as Shield Therapeutics plc’s Feraccru® (ferric maltol), which is available in Europe for the treatment of IDA and Accrufer®
(ferric maltol), which was launched in the U.S. for the treatment of IDA in July 2021.

In Japan, our Japanese sublicensee, Japan Tobacco International, or JT, and its subsidiary, Torii Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., or Torii, commercialize Riona (ferric citrate hydrate). In
the hyperphosphatemia market, Riona competes with Fosrenol® (lanthanum carbonate hydrate) marketed by Bayer Yakuhin Ltd., generic lanthanum carbonate hydrate products,
and Phozevel® (tenapor hydrochloride) marketed by Kyowa Kirin Co., Ltd. In the IDA market in Japan, Riona competes with Ferromia® (sodium ferrous citrate) marketed by Alfresa
Pharma Corporation and Fero-Gradumet® (dried ferrous sulfate) marketed by Viatris Inc.

Furthermore, Auryxia’s commercial opportunities may be reduced or eliminated if our competitors develop and market products that are less expensive, more effective, safer or offer
greater patient convenience than Auryxia. Other companies
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have product candidates in various stages of preclinical or clinical development to treat diseases and complications of the diseases for which we are marketing Auryxia. In addition,
we and our licensors, Panion & BF Biotech, Inc., or Panion, and, as applicable, Dr. Hsu, entered into settlement agreements with all but one of the third parties who submitted
Paragraph IV certification notice letters regarding Abbreviated New Drug Applications, or ANDAs, submitted to the FDA, pursuant to which we granted licenses to market a generic
version of Auryxia in the U.S. beginning in March 2025 (subject to FDA approval), or earlier under certain circumstances customary for settlement agreements of this nature. While
we expect that the availability of generic versions of Auryxia will negatively impact our net product revenue for Auryxia and our results of operations, it is difficult to estimate the
impact of generics on Auryxia net product revenue, and if the impact is greater than we currently anticipate, it may materially adversely impact our business and results of
operations.

Drugs that may compete with Vafseo include Epogen® (epoetin alfa) and Aranesp® (darbepoetin alfa), both commercialized by Amgen, Procrit® (epoetin alfa) and Eprex® (epoetin
alfa), commercialized by Johnson & Johnson in the U.S. and Europe, respectively, and Mircera® (methoxy PEG-epoetin beta), commercialized by CSL Vifor in the U.S. and Roche
Holding Ltd. , or Roche, outside of the U.S. and , Evrenzo® (roxadustat) in Europe commercialized by Astellas Pharma Inc., Eporatio® (epoetin theta) in Europe commercialized by
Teva Pharmaceuticals Ltd., Silapo® (epoetin zeta) in Europe commercialized by Stada Arzneimittel AG, Epoetin Alfa Hexal® (epoetin alfa) in Europe commercialized by Hexal AG,
Binocrit® (epoetin alfa-biosimilar) in Europe commercialized by Sandoz, and NeoRecormon® (epoetin beta) in Europe commercialized by Roche.

We and our partners may also face competition from potential new anemia therapies. There are several other HIF-PH oral hypoxia-inducible factor prolyl hydroxylase inhibitor
product candidates in various stages of development for anemia indications that may be in direct competition with Vafseo if and when they are approved and launched commercially.
These candidates are being developed by companies such as Japan Tobacco International, or JT, and Bayer HealthCare AG, or Bayer. For example, FibroGen filed an NDA for its
product candidate, roxadustat, with the FDA, to which the FDA issued a complete response letter indicating the FDA will not approve the NDA in its present form and requested that
an additional clinical trial for roxadustat be conducted prior to resubmission of the NDA or additional response to the FDA’s complete response letter. In Europe however, roxadustat
is approved for the treatment of anemia in patients with CKD. If roxadustat is approved by the FDA, then roxadustat will compete with Vafseo.

Furthermore, certain companies are developing potential new therapies for renal-related diseases that could potentially reduce injectable erythropoiesis stimulating agent, or ESA,
utilization and thus limit the market potential for Vafseo if they are approved and launched commercially. Other new therapies are in development for the treatment of conditions
inclusive of renal anemia that may impact the market for anemia-targeted treatment.

In Japan, vadadustat is sold under the name Vafseo, which is approved for patients with CKD, including both DD-CKD and NDD-CKD, and competes with roxadustat, daprodustat
and enarodustat. Roxadustat is approved for the treatment of DD-CKD patients and NDD-CKD patients. In addition, daprodustat, GSK’s product candidate, and enarodustat, JT’s
product candidate, are approved in Japan for the treatment of anemia due to CKD, and molidustat, Bayer HealthCare AG’s product, is approved in Japan for the treatment of renal
anemia. In China, roxadustat is commercialized for the treatment of anemia due to CKD in DD-CKD patients and for the treatment of anemia due to CKD in NDD-CKD patients.

A biosimilar is a biologic product that is approved licensed for marketing based on demonstrating that it is highly similar to an existing, FDA-approved branded biologic
product. product (i.e., a reference biologic product). The patents for the existing, branded biologic product must expire in a given market before biosimilars may enter that market
without the risk of being sued for patent infringement. In addition, an application for a
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biosimilar product can only be approved by the FDA 12 years after the existing, branded product was approved licensed under a Biologics License Application, or BLA.BLA. The
patents for epoetin alfa, an injectable ESA, expired in 2004 in the EU, and the remaining patents expired between 2012 and 2016 in the U.S. The introduction of biosimilars into the
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injectable ESA market in the U.S. will constitute additional competition for Vafseo if we are able to commercially launch Vafseo. In the U.S., Pfizer’s biosimilar version of injectable
ESAs, Retacrit® (epoetin alfa-epbx), was approved by the FDA in May 2018 and launched in November 2018 and several biosimilar versions of injectable ESAs are available for
sale in the EU.

Many of our potential competitors have significantly greater financial, manufacturing, marketing, drug development, technical and human resources than we do. Large
pharmaceutical companies, in particular, have extensive experience in clinical testing, obtaining marketing approvals, recruiting patients and manufacturing pharmaceutical
products. Large and established companies such as Amgen, Roche and GSK, among others, compete in the market for drug products to treat kidney disease. In particular, these
companies have greater experience and expertise in conducting preclinical testing and clinical trials, obtaining marketing approvals, manufacturing such products on a broad scale
and marketing approved products. These companies also have significantly greater research and marketing capabilities than we do and may also have products that have been
approved or are in late stages of development and have collaborative arrangements in our target markets with leading companies and research institutions. Established
pharmaceutical companies may also invest heavily to accelerate discovery and development of novel compounds or to in-license novel compounds that could make the product
candidates that we are developing obsolete. Smaller and other early-stage companies may also prove to be significant competitors. As a
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result of all of these factors, our competitors may succeed in obtaining patent protection and/or marketing approval, or discovering, developing and commercializing competitive
products, before, or more effectively than, we do. If we are not able to compete effectively against potential competitors, our business will not grow and our financial condition and
operations will suffer.

The commercialization of ferric citrate, branded as Riona in Japan, Vafseo in Europe, Japan and other territories where it is approved, and our current and potential
future efforts with respect to the development and commercialization of our products and product candidates outside of the U.S. subject us to a variety of risks
associated with international operations, which could materially adversely affect our business.

Our Japanese sublicensee, JT, and its subsidiary, Torii, Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., or Torii, commercialize Riona, the trade name for ferric citrate hydrate in Japan, as an oral
treatment for the improvement of hyperphosphatemia in patients with CKD, including DD-CKD and NDD-CKD, and for the treatment of adult patients with IDA in Japan. In Japan
and certain other countries in Asia, we granted MTPC exclusive rights to commercialize Vafseo, which has been approved and is being marketed by MTPC in Japan under the trade
name Vafseo. We also granted Averoa SAS, or Averoa, an exclusive license to develop and commercialize ferric citrate in the EEA, Turkey, Switzerland, UK, Balkans, and certain
countries in Eastern Europe and the UK. Middle East, or the Averoa Territory.

In 2023, the marketing authorization for Vafseo was granted by the EMA, the United Kingdom Medicines and Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency, the Swiss Agency for
Therapeutic Products, or Swissmedic, and the Australian Therapeutic Goods Administration, or TGA. In May 2023, we entered into the license agreement with Medice, pursuant to
which we granted Medice an exclusive license to develop and commercialize Vafseo for the treatment of anemia in patients with CKD in the Medice Territory, and Territory. Pursuant
to the license agreement, we transferred the marketing authorization issued by the EMA, UK, and Swissmedic to Medice. We will also transfer the marketing authorization for and
Australia to Medice. In addition, we have conducted and in the future plan to may conduct clinical trials outside of the U.S. for Auryxia, Vafseo and any other product or product
candidate that may be in-licensed or acquired. As a result of these and other activities, we are or may become subject to additional risks in developing and commercializing Auryxia
and Vafseo outside the U.S., including, among others:

• political, regulatory, compliance and economic developments, weakness or instability that could restrict our ability to manufacture, market and sell our products;

• changes in international medical reimbursement policies and programs;

• changes in healthcare policies of foreign jurisdictions;

• trade protection measures, including import or export licensing requirements and tariffs and our compliance therewith;

• our ability to develop or manage relationships with qualified local distributors and trading companies;

• diminished protection of intellectual property in some countries outside of the U.S.;

• differing labor regulations and business practices;

• compliance with laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA, the UK Bribery Act or similar local regulation, the EU General Data Protection Regulation,
or GDPR, and similar data protection laws, and tax, employment, immigration and labor laws;
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• economic weakness, including inflation, increasing interest rates, or political instability in particular foreign economies and markets;

• foreign currency fluctuations, which could result in increased operating expenses and reduced revenues, and other obligations incident to doing business in another country;

• production shortages resulting from any events affecting raw material supply or manufacturing capabilities abroad; and

• business interruptions resulting from geopolitical actions, including war and terrorism, global pandemics, or natural disasters including earthquakes, typhoons, floods and
fires.
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In addition, we receive revenues from royalty payments converted to U.S. dollars based on net sales of Riona and Vafseo in Japanese yen. The exchange rates between the
Japanese yen on the one hand, and the U.S. dollar, on the other hand, have changed substantially in recent years and may fluctuate substantially in the future. Our results of
operations could be adversely affected over time by certain movements in exchange rates, particularly if the Japanese yen depreciates against the U.S. dollar.

Any of these factors may, individually or as a group, have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. As and if we continue to expand our commercialization
efforts, we may encounter new risks.
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Risks Related to Product Development

Clinical drug development involves a lengthy and expensive process with an uncertain outcome, and we will incur additional costs in connection with, and may
experience delays in completing, or ultimately be unable to complete, the development of any of our product candidates.

The risk of failure in drug development is high. Before obtaining marketing approval from regulatory authorities for the sale of any product candidate, we must complete preclinical
development and conduct extensive clinical trials to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our product candidates in humans. Preclinical studies and clinical trials are expensive,
difficult to design and implement, can take several years to complete, and their outcomes are inherently uncertain. Failure can occur at any time during the process.

We may be unable to successfully complete clinical trials of Auryxia, Vafseo and our product candidates or to successfully obtain approval of label expansion for Vafseo or of our
product candidates, if the results of those trials and studies are not positive or are only modestly positive, or if there are concerns with the product profile due to efficacy or safety.
Further, the results of preclinical studies and early clinical trials of our product candidates may not be predictive of the results of later-stage clinical trials, interim results of a clinical
trial do not necessarily predict final results, and results of Phase 3 clinical trials for one indication may not be predictive of results of Phase 3 clinical trials for another indication. For
example, we announced positive results from the INNO2VATE program; however, while Vafseo achieved the primary and key secondary efficacy endpoint in each of the two
PRO2TECT studies, the PRO2TECT program did not meet the primary major adverse cardiovascular event, or MACE, safety endpoint. Many companies in the biopharmaceutical
industry have suffered significant setbacks in late-stage clinical trials after achieving positive results in early-stage development, and we may face similar setbacks. Moreover,
preclinical and clinical data are often susceptible to varying interpretations and analyses, and many companies that have believed their product candidates performed satisfactorily
in preclinical studies and clinical trials have nonetheless failed to obtain marketing approval of their product candidates. For example, in March 2022, we received the CRL for
Vafseo indicating that the FDA had determined that it could not approve the NDA in its present form, thus delaying any potential approval of Vafseo. Following submission of the
FDRR to the FDA in 2022, we filed a resubmission to our NDA for vadadustat in 2023. On March 27, 2024, the FDA approved our NDA for vadadustat under the trade name of
Vafseo for the treatment of anemia due to CKD in adults who have been receiving dialysis for at least three months. However, we expended significant additional resources to obtain
the approval of Vafseo and the commercialization of Vafseo was delayed, which had and could continue to have an adverse effect on our business.

We have several lifecycle management and label expansion opportunities currently under evaluation for Vafseo, one of which is the potential for alternative dosing, and another of
which is label expansion for the treatment of adult patients with NDD-CKD. However, we may will be required to complete additional clinical trials before seeking approval for each
such opportunity, which label expansion for the treatment of adult patients with NDD-CKD and we may be required to generate additional clinical data before seeking approval for
alternative dosing. Clinical trials are time consuming and expensive, and even though Vafseo is approved as a treatment for anemia due to CKD for dialysis dependent patients, we
may not be successful in any of our life cycle lifecycle management or label expansion opportunities in the timeframe anticipated by us, or at all. In addition, it is impossible to predict
when or if any of our other product candidates will prove effective or safe in humans or will receive marketing approval or on what terms.

We may experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of, preclinical development or clinical trials that could delay, prevent or make more challenging our ability to
receive or maintain marketing approval or commercialize our product candidates. We may be required to complete additional clinical trials for Auryxia, Vafseo and any other product
or product candidate, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired, in order to obtain or maintain required regulatory approvals.
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Our preclinical studies and clinical trials may take longer to complete than currently anticipated, or may be delayed, suspended, required to be repeated, prematurely terminated or
may not successfully demonstrate safety and/or efficacy needed to obtain or maintain regulatory approval for a variety of other reasons, such as:

• the costs may be greater than we anticipate;

• the number of patients required for clinical trials may be larger than we anticipate;

• enrollment in our clinical trials may be slower than we anticipate, or participants may drop out of these clinical trials at a higher rate than we anticipate;

• our third party contractors, such as our CROs, may fail to comply with regulatory requirements, perform effectively, or meet their contractual obligations to us in a timely
manner, or at all, or we may fail to communicate effectively or provide the appropriate level of oversight of such third party contractors;

• the supply or quality of our starting materials, drug substance and drug product necessary to conduct clinical trials of our product candidates may be insufficient or
inadequate;

• regulators, independent data monitoring committees, institutional review boards, safety committees, or ethics committees, may require that we suspend or terminate our
clinical trials for various reasons, including
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noncompliance with regulatory requirements, unforeseen safety issues or adverse side effects, failure to demonstrate a benefit from using our product candidate, or a
finding that the participants are being exposed to unacceptable health risks;

• clinical trials of our product candidates may produce negative or inconclusive results or results that may be interpreted in a manner different than we interpret them, and we
may decide, or regulators may require us, to conduct additional clinical trials, repeat a clinical trial or abandon product development programs;

• lack of adequate funding to continue a clinical trial, including unforeseen costs due to enrollment delays, requirements to conduct additional clinical trials or repeat a clinical
trial and increased expenses associated with the services of our CROs and other third parties;

• we may fail to initiate, delay or fail to complete a clinical trial as a result of an Investigational New Drug application, or IND, being placed on clinical hold by the FDA, the
EMA, the PMDA, or other regulatory authorities, or for other reasons, such as failure to recruit or enroll suitable patients or patients’ failure to return for post-treatment follow
up;

• we may determine to change or expand a clinical trial, including after it has begun;

• clinical trial sites and investigators deviating from the clinical protocol, failing to conduct the trial in accordance with regulatory requirements, or dropping out of a trial, or
failure by us or our CROs to communicate effectively or provide the appropriate level of oversight of such clinical sites and investigators;

• there may be an inability, delay, or failure in identifying and maintaining a sufficient number of clinical trial sites, many of which may already be engaged in other clinical
programs;

• there may be a delay or failure in reaching agreement with the FDA, the EMA, the PMDA or other regulatory authorities on a clinical trial design upon which we are able to
execute;

• there may be a delay or failure in obtaining authorization to commence a clinical trial or inability to comply with conditions imposed by a regulatory authority regarding the
scope or design of a clinical trial;

• there may be delays in reaching, or failure to reach, agreement on acceptable terms with prospective clinical trial sites and prospective CROs, the terms of which can be
subject to extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different CROs and clinical trial sites;

• the FDA, the EMA, the PMDA or other regulatory authorities may require us to submit additional data or impose further requirements before permitting us to initiate a clinical
trial or during an ongoing clinical trial;

• the FDA, the EMA, the PMDA or other regulatory authorities may disagree with our clinical trial design and our interpretation of data from clinical trials, or may change the
requirements for approval even after it has reviewed and commented on the design for our clinical trials;

• third parties with which we work may fail to comply with good practice quality guidelines and regulations, or GxP, including good laboratory practice, good clinical practice, or
GCP, and current good manufacturing practice, or cGMP; or

• there may be changes in governmental regulations or administrative actions.

If any of the foregoing occurs, the following may result:
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• regulators may require that we conduct additional clinical trials, repeat clinical trials or conduct other studies beyond those that we currently contemplate;

• we may be delayed in obtaining marketing approval for our product candidates;

• we may not obtain marketing approval for our product candidates at all;

• we may obtain approval for indications or patient populations that are not as broad as intended or desired;

• we may obtain approval with labeling that includes significant use or distribution restrictions or safety warnings that would reduce the potential market for any approved
product or inhibit our ability to successfully commercialize any approved product;

• a REMS or FDA-imposed risk management plan that use risk minimization strategies to ensure that the benefits of certain prescription drugs outweigh their risks, may be
required;

• we may be subject to additional post-marketing restrictions and/or requirements; or

• the product may be removed from the market after obtaining marketing approval.

Our product development costs may also increase if we experience development delays or delays in receiving the requisite marketing approvals. Our preclinical studies or clinical
trials may need to be restructured or may not be completed on schedule, or at all. Significant preclinical or clinical trial delays also could shorten any periods during which we may
have the
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exclusive right to commercialize Vafseo for potential future indications or any product candidate that is approved, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired, or allow our
competitors to bring products to market before we do. This could impair our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates and may harm our business and results of
operations.

We may find it difficult to enroll patients in our clinical trials, which could delay or prevent clinical trials of Auryxia, Vafseo or any other product or product candidate,
including those that may be in-licensed or acquired.

Identifying and qualifying patients to participate in clinical trials is critical to the success of our success. clinical trials. The timing of our clinical trials depends, in part, on the speed at
which we can recruit patients to participate in our clinical trials. Patients may be unwilling to participate in our clinical trials because of concerns about investigational research
studies, the time and commitment needed to participate in a study, adverse events observed with the product candidate under study, the current standard of care, competitor
products and/or other investigational agents, in each case for the same indications and/or similar patient populations. In addition, in the case of clinical trials of any product
candidate, patients currently receiving treatment with the current standard of care or a competitor product may be reluctant to participate in a clinical trial with an investigational drug.
Additionally, it is often more difficult to enroll special or particular subpopulations of patients, such as pediatric or elderly patients, due to a number of factors including parental or
other caregiver considerations, concerns and burdens. For example, we began enrolling sites in a post-approval pediatric study for the Hyperphosphatemia Indication of Auryxia in
the second quarter of 2022, which began patient recruitment in the third quarter of 2022, but enrollment of eligible pediatric patients in study sites continues to be very slow despite
efforts to do so.

Finally, competition for clinical trial sites may limit our access to patients appropriate for our clinical trials. As a result, the timeline for recruiting patients and conducting studies may
be delayed. These delays could result in increased costs, delays in advancing our development of any product or product candidate, or termination of the clinical trial altogether.

We may not be able to identify, recruit and enroll a sufficient number of patients, or those with required or desired characteristics, to complete our clinical trials in a timely manner.
Patient enrollment is affected by many factors, including:

• severity of the disease under investigation;

• design of the study protocol;

• size and nature of the patient population;

• eligibility criteria for, and design of, the study in question, including study complexity;

• perceived risks and benefits of the product or product candidate under study, including as a result of adverse effects observed in similar or competing therapies;

• proximity and availability of clinical trial sites for prospective patients;

• availability of competing therapies and clinical trials and clinicians’ and patients’ perceptions as to the potential advantages of the product or product candidate being studied
in relation to available therapies or other product candidates in development;

• efforts to facilitate timely enrollment in clinical trials;

• participation length and demands on patients and caregivers;

• site staffing shortages and turnover;
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• clinical trial sites and investigators failing to perform effectively; and

• patient referral practices of physicians.

We may not be able to initiate or complete clinical trials in a timely manner, or at all, if we cannot enroll a sufficient number of eligible patients to participate in the clinical trials
required by regulatory agencies. If we have difficulty enrolling a sufficient number of patients to conduct our clinical trials as planned, we may need to delay, limit or terminate
ongoing or planned clinical trials, any of which may delay approval, or result in failure to maintain or obtain approval, of our products or product candidates, which would have a
material adverse effect on our business.

Further, if we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new requirements or policies governing clinical trials, our development plans may be
impacted. For example, in December 2022, with the passage of Food and Drug Omnibus Reform Act, or FDORA, Congress required sponsors to develop and submit a diversity
action plan, or DAP, for each phase 3 clinical trial or any other “pivotal study” of a new drug or biological product. These plans are meant to encourage the enrollment of more
diverse patient populations in late-stage clinical trials of FDA-regulated products. In June 2024, as mandated by FDORA, the FDA issued draft guidance outlining the general
requirements for DAPs. Unlike most guidance documents issued by the FDA, the DAP guidance when finalized will have the force of law because FDORA specifically dictates that
the form and manner for submission of DAPs are specified in FDA guidance.
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Conducting clinical trials outside of the U.S., as we have done historically and as we may decide to do in the future, presents additional risks and complexities and, if
we decide to conduct a clinical trial outside of the U.S. in the future, we may not complete such trials successfully, in a timely manner, or at all, which could affect our
ability to obtain regulatory approvals.

Our ability to successfully initiate, enroll and complete a clinical trial in any country outside of the U.S. is subject to numerous additional risks unique to conducting business in
jurisdictions outside the U.S., including:

• difficulty in establishing or managing relationships with qualified CROs, physicians and clinical trial sites;

• difficulty in complying with different local standards for the conduct of clinical trials;

• difficulty in complying with various and complex import laws and regulations when shipping drug to certain countries; and

• the potential burden of complying with a variety of laws, medical standards and regulatory requirements, including the regulation of pharmaceutical and biotechnology

products and treatments.

Data obtained from studies conducted in the U.S. may not be accepted by the EMA, the PMDA and other regulatory authorities outside of the U.S. Also, certain jurisdictions require
data from studies conducted in their country in order to obtain approval in that country. Further, when a foreign clinical trial is not conducted under an IND, the sponsor must ensure
that the study complies with certain regulatory requirements of the FDA in order to use the study as support for an IND or application for marketing approval. Specifically, the studies
must be conducted in accordance with GCP, including undergoing review and receiving approval by an independent ethics committee, and seeking and receiving informed consent
from subjects. Thus, to the extent that we rely on data from foreign clinical trials that are not the subject of an IND but are used to support of an NDA, there is a risk that FDA may
not review such data in connection with its review of the NDA.

If we or our collaboration partners have difficulty conducting future clinical trials in jurisdictions outside the U.S. as planned, we may need to delay, limit or terminate such clinical
trials, any of which could have an adverse effect on our business.

Auryxia, Vafseo or any other product or product candidate, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired, may cause undesirable side effects or have other
properties that may delay or prevent marketing approval or limit their commercial potential.

Undesirable effects caused by, or other undesirable properties of, Auryxia, Vafseo or any other product or product candidate, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired, or
competing commercial products or product candidates in development that utilize a common mechanism of action could cause us or regulatory authorities to interrupt, delay or halt
clinical trials, could result in a more restrictive label or the delay, denial or withdrawal of marketing approval by the FDA or other regulatory authorities, and could lead to potential
product liability claims. In addition, results of our clinical trials could reveal a high frequency of undesirable effects or unexpected characteristics. For example, in March 2022, we
received the CRL from the FDA for our NDA for Vafseo in which the FDA concluded that the data in the NDA did not support a favorable benefit-risk assessment of Vafseo for
dialysis and non-dialysis patients. The FDA expressed safety concerns noting failure to meet non-inferiority in MACE in the non-dialysis patient population, the increased risk of
thromboembolic events, driven by vascular access thrombosis in dialysis patients, and the risk of drug-induced liver injury. As a result, we filed the FDRR and, following the FDRR,
we filed a resubmission to our NDA, and the FDA approved Vafseo on March 27, 2024. However, the approved indication is limited to the treatment of anemia due to CKD in adults
who have been receiving dialysis for at least three months.
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If we or others identify undesirable effects caused by, or other undesirable properties of, Auryxia, Vafseo or any other product or product candidate, including those that may be in-
licensed or acquired, or if known undesirable effects are more frequent or severe than in the past, or if any of the foregoing are perceived to have occurred, either before or after
receipt of marketing approval, a number of potentially significant negative consequences could result, including:

• our product candidates may not be approved by regulatory authorities;

• our clinical trials may be put on hold;

• patient recruitment could be slowed, and enrolled patients may not want to complete the clinical trial;

• regulatory authorities may require warnings on the label, such as the warning on Auryxia’s label regarding iron overload or the boxed warning on Vafseo’s label regarding
increased risk of death, myocardial infarction, stroke, venous thromboembolism and thrombosis of vascular access;

• REMS or FDA-imposed risk management plans that use restrictive risk minimization strategies may be required;

• we may decide to, or be required to, send drug warnings or safety alerts to physicians, pharmacists and hospitals (or the FDA or other regulatory authorities may choose to
issue such alerts), or we may decide to conduct a product recall or be requested to do so by the FDA or other regulatory authority;
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• reformulation of the product, additional non-clinical or clinical trials, restrictive changes in labeling or changes to or re-approvals of manufacturing facilities may be required;

• we may be precluded from pursuing additional development opportunities to enhance the clinical profile of a product within its indicated populations, or studying the product
or product candidate in additional indications and populations or in new formulations; and
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• we could be investigated by the government or sued and held liable for harm caused to patients, including in class action lawsuits; and

• our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining, whether on a restricted basis or at all, marketing approval and, ultimately, market acceptance or penetration of
Auryxia, Vafseo or any other product or product candidate, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired. In addition, any of these events could substantially increase our
costs, and could significantly impact our ability to successfully commercialize Auryxia, Vafseo or any other product and product candidate, including those that may be in-licensed or
acquired, and generate product revenue.

The patient populations treated with Auryxia and the projected patient populations that will be treated with Vafseo have CKD, a serious disease that increases the risk of
cardiovascular disease including heart attacks and stroke and, in its most severe form, results in, kidney failure and the need for dialysis or kidney transplant. Many patients with
CKD are elderly with comorbidities making them susceptible to significant health risks. Therefore, the likelihood of these patients having adverse events, including serious adverse
events is high.

With respect to the global INNO2VATE Phase 3 program, the incidence of treatment emergent adverse events, or TEAEs, during the Correction and Conversion study in Vafseo-
treated patients was 83.8% and 85.5% in darbepoetin alfa treated patients. During the study, the most common TEAEs reported in Vafseo/darbepoetin alfa treated patients were
hypertension (16.2%/ 12.9%) and diarrhea (10.1%/ 9.7%). Serious TEAEs were lower in Vafseo-treated patients at 49.7% compared to 56.5% for darbepoetin alfa treated patients.
The incidence of TEAEs during the prevalent dialysis patient study (Conversion) in the Vafseo-treated patients was 88.3%, and 89.3% in darbepoetin alfa treated patients. During
the study, the most common TEAEs reported in Vafseo/darbepoetin alfa treated patients were diarrhea (13.0%/ 10.1%), pneumonia (11.0%/ 9.7%), hypertension (10.6%/ 13.8%),
and hyperkalemia (9.0%/ 10.8%). Serious TEAEs were slightly lower for Vafseo-treated patients at 55.0% and 58.3% for darbepoetin alfa-treated patients. Patients with DD-CKD
experienced an increased risk of thromboembolic events compared to darbepoetin alfa with a time to first event HR of 1.20 (95% CI 0.96 — 1.50) driven by thrombosis of vascular
access.

With respect to the global PRO2TECT Phase 3 program, the incidence of TEAEs during the erythropoiesis stimulating agent, or ESA, untreated patients study (Correction) in the
Vafseo-treated patients was 90.9%, and 91.6% in darbepoetin alfa-treated patients. During the study, the most common TEAEs reported in Vafseo/darbepoetin alfa-treated patients
were end-stage renal disease (34.7%/ 35.2%), hypertension (17.7%/ 22.1.%), hyperkalemia (12.3.%/ 15.6%), urinary tract infection (12.9%/ 12.0%), diarrhea (13.9%/ 10.0%),
peripheral oedema (12.5%/ 10.5%), fall (9.6%/ 10%) and nausea (10%/ 8.2%). Serious TEAEs were 65.3% for Vafseo-treated patients and 64.5% for darbepoetin alfa-treated
patients. The incidence of TEAEs during the ESA-treated patients study (Conversion) in Vafseo-treated patients was 89.1% and 87.7% in darbepoetin alfa-treated patients. During
the study, the most common TEAEs reported in Vafseo/darbepoetin alfa-treated patients were end-stage renal disease (27.5%/ 28.4%), hypertension (14.4%/ 14.8%), urinary tract
infection (12.2%/ 14.5%), diarrhea (13.8.%/ 8.8.%), peripheral
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oedema (9.9%/ 10.1%) and pneumonia (10.0%/ 9.7%). Serious TEAEs were 58.5% for Vafseo-treated patients and 56.6% for darbepoetin alfa-treated patients.

During the conduct of our Phase 3 program for Vafseo, our team and hepatic experts analyzed hepatic cases (unblinded to treatment) and, following the completion of our global
Phase 3 clinical program for Vafseo, there was a review of hepatic safety across the Vafseo clinical program, which included eight completed Phase 2 and 3 studies in NDD-CKD
patients, 10 completed Phase 1, 2, and 3 studies, and two then-ongoing Phase 3b studies in DD-CKD patients, and 18 completed studies in healthy subjects (17 Phase 1 and one
Phase 3). This review consisted of a blinded re-assessment of hepatic events conducted by a separate panel of hepatic experts. While hepatocellular injury attributed to Vafseo was
reported in less than 1% of patients, there was one case of severe hepatocellular injury with jaundice, and we cannot guarantee that similar events will not happen in the future.
Additionally, the FDA expressed safety concerns related to the risk of drug-induced liver injury in the CRL that it issued in March 2022, which and these safety concerns were
addressed following the FDRR and resubmission to our NDA.

Serious adverse events related to Vafseo, including those noted in the CRL and label, and any other product candidates could have material adverse consequences on the
development and potential label expansion of Vafseo or the approval of our other product candidates and our business as a whole. Our understanding of adverse events in prior
clinical trials of our product candidates may change as we gather more information, the FDA may not agree with our assessment of adverse events and additional unexpected
adverse events may be observed in future clinical trials or in the market.
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Any of the above safety data or other occurrences could delay or prevent us from achieving or maintaining marketing approval, harm or prevent sales of Auryxia, Vafseo or any
other product or product candidate, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired, increase our expenses and impair or prevent our ability to successfully commercialize
Auryxia, Vafseo or any other products or product candidates.

In addition, any post-marketing clinical trials conducted, if successful, may expand the patient populations treated with Auryxia, Vafseo or any other product we acquire or for which
we receive marketing approval, within or outside of their current indications or patient populations, which could result in the identification of previously unknown undesirable effects,
increased frequency or severity of known undesirable effects, or result in the identification of unexpected safety signals. In addition, as Vafseo and any other products are
commercialized, they will be used in significantly larger patient populations, in less rigorously controlled environments and, in some cases, by less experienced and less expert
treating practitioners, than in clinical trials, which could result in increased or more serious adverse effects being reported. As a result, regulatory authorities, healthcare
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practitioners, third party payors or patients may perceive or conclude that the use of Auryxia, Vafseo or any other products are associated with serious adverse effects, undermining
our commercialization efforts.

Risks Related to Regulatory Approval

We may not be able to obtain marketing approval for any label expansion for Vafseo or any current or future product candidate, or we may experience significant delays
in doing so, any of which would materially harm our business.

Clinical trials, manufacturing and marketing of any product or product candidate are subject to extensive and rigorous review and regulation by numerous governmental authorities
in the U.S. and other jurisdictions. Before obtaining marketing approval for the commercial sale of any product candidate, we must demonstrate through rigorous and extensive
preclinical development and clinical trials that the product candidate is safe and effective for use in each target indication. This process can take many years and marketing approval
may never be achieved. Of the large number of drugs in development in the U.S. and in other jurisdictions, only a small percentage successfully complete the FDA’s and other
regulatory jurisdictions’ marketing approval processes and are commercialized. Accordingly, even if we are able to obtain the requisite capital to continue to fund our development
efforts, we may be unable to successfully obtain regulatory approval for any label expansion for Vafseo or for any product candidate, including those that may be in-licensed or
acquired. Further, any product candidate may not receive marketing approval in the U.S. even if it is approved in other countries. Each regulatory authority makes their own
assessment as to the safety and efficacy of a drug, and the FDA’s concern about the safety or efficacy of any product candidate could impact the regulatory authority’s decision in
another country.

In March 2022, we received the CRL from the FDA regarding our NDA for vadadustat for the treatment of anemia due to CKD. Following a FDRR in 2022, we filed a resubmission to
our NDA in 2023. On March 27, 2024, the FDA approved our NDA for vadadustat under the trade name Vafseo for the treatment of anemia due to CKD in adults who have been
receiving dialysis for at least three months. However, we expended significant additional resources to obtain the approval of Vafseo and the commercialization of Vafseo was
delayed, which had and could continue to have an adverse effect on our business. Further, any product candidate may not receive marketing approval in the U.S. even if it is
approved in other countries. Each regulatory authority makes their own assessment as to the safety and efficacy of a drug, and the FDA’s concern about the safety or efficacy of any
product candidate could impact the regulatory authority’s decision in another country.

Vafseo is currently approved as a treatment for anemia due to CKD for dialysis dependent patients in the U.S., European Union, United Kingdom, Switzerland and Australia. In
Japan, Vafseo is approved as a treatment for anemia due to CKD in both dialysis dependent and non-dialysis dependent patients and is marketed and sold by our collaborator
MTPC. In Taiwan and South Korea, Vafseo is approved for the treatment of symptomatic anemia due to CKD in adult patients on chronic maintenance dialysis. We are not permitted
to market Vafseo in any additional jurisdictions until the requisite approval from regulatory authorities in such jurisdiction is received. As a condition to receiving marketing approval
for Vafseo in additional territories or for other indications, we may be required by regulatory authorities to conduct additional preclinical studies or clinical trials. For example, we
have several lifecycle management and label expansion opportunities currently under evaluation for Vafseo, one of which is the potential for alternative dosing, and another of which
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is label expansion for the treatment of adult patients with NDD-CKD. However, we may be required to complete additional clinical trials before seeking approval for additional
indications, which are time consuming and expensive, and even though Vafseo is approved as a treatment for anemia due to CKD for dialysis dependent patients, we may not be
successful in any of our life cycle lifecycle management or label expansion opportunities in the timeframe anticipated by us, or at all.

Obtaining marketing approval in the U.S. and other jurisdictions for any product candidate depends upon numerous factors, many of which are subject to the substantial discretion of
the regulatory authorities, including that regulatory agencies may not complete their review processes in a timely manner and/or, following completion of the review process, may not
grant marketing approval or such marketing approval may be limited. Furthermore, approval of a drug does not ensure successful commercialization. For example, on September
23, 2015, the European Commission, or EC, approved Fexeric (ferric citrate coordination complex) for the control of hyperphosphatemia in adult patients with CKD. Pursuant to the
sunset clause under EU law, the EC’s approval of Fexeric in the EU was contingent on, among other things, our commencing marketing of Fexeric within three years; although we
successfully negotiated an extension to December 23, 2019, we did not commence marketing
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Fexeric by such date and therefore the Fexeric approval in the EU has ceased to be valid. In April 2024, our partner Averoa submitted its marketing authorization application for
ferric citrate in Europe. Europe and the application is still under review.

Safety concerns with a given product may impact marketing approval. For example, safety concerns associated with the current standard of care for the indications for Vafseo may
affect the FDA’s or other regulatory authorities’ review of the safety results of Vafseo. In addition, these regulatory authorities may not agree with our assessment of adverse events.
Further, the policies or regulations, or the type and amount of clinical data necessary to gain approval, may change during the course of a product candidate’s clinical development
and may vary among jurisdictions. It is possible that our product candidates will never obtain marketing approval in the U.S. or certain other jurisdictions or for some or all of the
indications for which we seek approval.

Changes in or the enactment of additional statutes, promulgation of regulations or issuance of guidance during preclinical or clinical development, or comparable changes in the
regulatory review process for each submitted product application, may cause delays in the approval or rejection of an application. For example, in December 2022, with the passage
of Food and Drug Omnibus Reform Act, FDORA, Congress required sponsors to develop and submit a diversity action plan, or DAP, for each Phase 3 clinical trial or any other
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“pivotal study” of a new drug or biological product. These plans are meant to encourage the enrollment of more diverse patient populations in late-stage clinical trials of FDA-

regulated products. In June 2024, as mandated by FDORA, the FDA issued draft guidance outlining the general requirements for DAPs.Unlike most guidance documents issued by

the FDA, the DAP guidance when finalized will have the force of law because FDORA specifically dictates that the form and manner for submission of DAPs are specified in FDA
guidance.

Further, on January 31, 2022, the new Clinical Trials Regulation (EU) No 536/2014 became applicable in the EU and replaced the prior Clinical Trials Directive 2001/20/EC. The new
regulation aims at simplifying and streamlining the authorization, conduct and transparency of clinical trials in the EU. Under the new coordinated procedure for the approval of
clinical trials, the sponsor of a clinical trial to be conducted in more than one EU Member State will only be required to submit a single application for approval. The submission will
be made through the Clinical Trials Information System, a new clinical trials portal overseen by the EMA and available to clinical trial sponsors, competent authorities of the EU
Member States and the public. We have not previously secured authorization to conduct clinical studies in the EU pursuant to this new regulation and, accordingly, there is a risk
that we may be delayed in commencing such studies.

The FDA or other regulatory authorities may delay, limit or deny approval of any product candidate for many reasons including, among others:

• the results of our clinical trials may only be modestly positive, or there may be concerns with the profile due to efficacy or safety;

• the results of our clinical trials may not meet the level of statistical or clinical significance required by the relevant regulatory authority for review and/or marketing approval;

• the relevant regulatory authority may disagree with our interpretation of data from our preclinical studies and clinical trials;

• the relevant regulatory authority may disagree with the number, design, size, conduct or implementation of our clinical trials;

• the relevant regulatory authority may not approve the label expansion we request for Vafseo;

• the relevant regulatory authority may approve any product candidate for use only in a small patient population or for fewer or more limited indications than we request;

• the relevant regulatory authority may require that we conduct additional clinical trials or repeat one or more clinical trials;

• the FDA or other relevant regulatory authority may require development of a REMS as a condition of approval or post-approval;

• the relevant regulatory authority may grant approval contingent on the performance of costly post-marketing clinical trials;
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• the relevant regulatory authority’s onsite inspections may be delayed due to the recent COVID-19 pandemic or otherwise;

• we, or our CROs or other vendors, may fail to comply with GxP or fail to pass any regulatory inspections or audits;

• we or our third-party manufacturers may fail to perform in accordance with the FDA’s or other relevant regulatory authority’s cGMP requirements and guidance;

• the relevant regulatory authority could deem that our financial relationships with certain principal investigators constitute a conflict of interest, such that the data from those
principal investigators may not be used to support our applications;
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• as part of any future regulatory process, the FDA may ask an Advisory Committee to review portions of the NDA, the FDA may have difficulty scheduling an Advisory
Committee meeting in a timely manner or, if convened, an FDA Advisory Committee could recommend non-approval, conditions of approval or restrictions on approval, and
the FDA may ultimately agree with the recommendations;

• the relevant regulatory authority’s review process and decision-making regarding any product candidate may be impacted by the results of our and our competitors’ clinical
trials and safety concerns of marketed products used to treat the same indications as the indications for which Vafseo and any other product candidate are being developed;

• the relevant regulatory authority may not approve the manufacturing processes or facilities of third-party manufacturers with whom we contract; or

• the policies or regulations of the relevant regulatory authority may significantly change in a manner that renders our clinical data insufficient for approval or requires us to
amend or submit new clinical protocols.

Finally, our ability to develop and market new drug products may be impacted if by litigation challenging the FDA’s approval of another company’s drug continues. product. In April
2023, the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Texas invalidated the approval by the FDA of mifepristone, a drug product which was originally approved in 2000 and whose
distribution is governed by various measures adopted under a REMS. The Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit declined to order the removal of mifepristone from the market but did
hold that plaintiffs were likely to prevail in their claim that changes allowing for expanded access of mifepristone, which the FDA authorized in 2016 and 2021, were arbitrary and
capricious. In June 2024, the Supreme Court reversed and remanded that decision after unanimously finding that the plaintiffs did not have standing to bring this legal action against
the FDA. On October 11, 2024, the Attorneys General of three states (Missouri, Idaho and Kansas) filed an amended complaint in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of
Texas challenging the FDA’s actions. Depending on the outcome of this litigation, if it continues, our ability to develop new drug product candidates and to maintain approval of
existing drug products is at risk and could be delayed, undermined or subject to protracted litigation.

Products approved for marketing are subject to extensive post-marketing regulatory requirements, including post-approval pediatric studies for Auryxia and Vafseo,
and could be subject to post-marketing restrictions or withdrawal from the market, and we may be subject to penalties, including withdrawal of marketing approval, if
we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or if we experience unanticipated problems with our products, or product candidates, when and if approved.
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Marketing approvals may be subject to limitations on the approved indicated uses for which the product may be marketed, or other conditions of approval, or contain requirements or
commitments for potentially costly post-marketing studies and surveillance to monitor the safety and efficacy of the product, including REMS, or registries or observational studies.
For example, in connection with the FDA approvals of Auryxia and Vafseo, we committed to the FDA to conduct certain post-approval pediatric studies of Auryxia and Vafseo under
the Pediatric Research Equity Act of 2003, or PREA. Under PREA, an NDA or supplement to an NDA for certain drug products must contain data to assess the safety and
effectiveness of the drug product in all relevant pediatric subpopulations and to support dosing and administration for each pediatric subpopulation for which the product is safe and
effective, unless the sponsor receives a deferral or waiver from the FDA. A deferral may be granted for several reasons, including a finding that the product or therapeutic candidate
is ready for approval for use in adults before pediatric trials are complete or that additional safety or effectiveness data needs to be collected before the pediatric trials begin. With
regard to the Hyperphosphatemia Indication for Auryxia, we initially committed to completing the original post-approval pediatric study and submitting a final report to the FDA by
December 31, 2019. However, we did not complete the study according to the original schedule and therefore did not submit the required final report by December 31, 2019.
Consequently, we received a notification of noncompliance with PREA. We have since been released from the original post marketing requirement, or PMR, and a new PMR was
issued that provided that the final report was due in April 2024. In June 2023 we requested an extension of time for the submission of the final report and such request was denied
by the FDA in August 2023. The PMR trial is ongoing and actively recruiting patients, but the final report for the trial was due in April 2024, so the trial is considered delayed. With

regard to our Auryxia for the treatment of IDA in adult NDD-CKD patients, or IDA Indication, we initially committed to completing the post-approval pediatric study and submitting a
final report to the FDA by January 2023. We did not meet a required milestone relating to this post-approval pediatric study of Auryxia in a timely manner and received a notification
from the FDA. Subsequently, the FDA agreed to extend the pediatric clinical trial timelines for the IDA Indication and required that the final report be submitted in August 2024. We
subsequently communicated to the FDA that we would be delaying the start of the clinical trial in the IDA Indication while we work to produce smaller size tablets. In response, the
FDA issued a partial clinical hold until we
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manufacture the smaller tablets and provide the FDA with relevant information regarding the smaller sized tablets for review. The FDA lifted the partial clinical hold in June 2022,
and we continued to conduct feasibility, however, we have not commenced start-up of this study as we are continuing to evaluate the protocol for the study. In February 2024, we
requested an extension for the submission of the final report and such request was denied by the FDA in April 2024. In October 2024, we received a letter from the FDA regarding
our non-compliance with PREA due to our failure to complete the IDA post-approval pediatric study, and we submitted our response, including a proposal to waive the PMR with
regard to the IDA Indication, to the FDA on November 1, 2024. If the FDA denies our waiver of the PMR with regard to the IDA Indication, or we are unable to complete these
studies successfully by the applicable deadline, or have further delays in completing these studies, we will need to inform the FDA, have
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further discussions and, if the FDA finds that we failed to comply with pediatric study requirements, in violation of applicable law, it could institute enforcement proceedings to seize
or enjoin the sale of Auryxia, or seek civil penalties  or other adverse consequences, which would have a material adverse impact on our ability to commercialize Auryxia and our
ability to generate revenues from Auryxia.

In addition, the manufacturing processes, labeling, packaging, distribution, adverse event reporting, storage, advertising, promotion and recordkeeping for Auryxia, Vafseo and any
other product for which we receive regulatory approval will be subject to extensive and ongoing regulatory requirements and guidance. These requirements and guidance include
manufacturing processes and procedures (including record keeping), the implementation and operation of quality systems to control and assure the quality of the product,
submissions of safety and other post-marketing information and reports, as well as continued compliance with cGMPs and GCPs for any clinical trials that we conduct post-approval.
If we, our contract manufacturing organizations, or CMOs, or other third parties we engage fail to adhere to such regulatory requirements and guidance, we could suffer significant
consequences, including product seizures or recalls, loss of product approval, fines and sanctions, reputational damage, loss of customer confidence, shipment delays, inventory
shortages, inventory write-offs and other product-related charges and increased manufacturing costs, and our development or commercialization efforts may be materially harmed.

Post-approval discovery of previously unknown problems with an approved product, including adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency or relating to manufacturing
operations or processes, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may result in, among other things:

• restrictions on the marketing, distribution, use or manufacturing of the product;

• withdrawal of the product from the market, or product recalls;

• restrictions on the labeling or marketing of a product;

• fines, restitution or disgorgement of profits or revenues;

• warning or untitled letters or clinical holds;

• refusal by the FDA or other regulatory authorities to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications filed by us, or suspension or revocation of
product approvals;

• product seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export of products;

• REMS; and
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• injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

For example, we previously had three limited, voluntary recalls of Auryxia. These and any other recalls or any supply, quality or manufacturing issues in the future related to Auryxia
or Vafseo could result in significant negative consequences, including reputational harm, loss of customer confidence, and a negative impact on our financials, any of which could
have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations, and may impact our ability to supply Auryxia in the U.S. and Vafseo in the U.S., Japan, Europe or in other
countries, for commercial and clinical use.

Non-compliance with the FDA, the EMA, the PMDA and other regulatory authorities’ requirements regarding safety monitoring or pharmacovigilance can also result in significant
financial penalties.

The FDA’s policies and those of other regulatory authorities may change, and additional government regulations may be enacted. We cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent
of government regulations that may arise from future legislation or administrative action, either in the U.S. or in other jurisdictions. If we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in
existing requirements or the adoption of new requirements or policies, or are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may lose any marketing approval that we may have
obtained and we may not achieve or sustain profitability, which would materially adversely affect our business.

Risks Related to Governmental Regulation and Compliance

We are subject to complex regulatory schemes that require significant resources to ensure compliance and our failure to comply with applicable laws could subject us
to government scrutiny or enforcement, potentially resulting in costly investigations, fines, penalties or sanctions, contractual damages, reputational harm,
administrative burdens and diminished profits and future earnings.

In general, a variety of laws apply to us or may otherwise restrict our activities, including the following:
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• laws and regulations governing the conduct of preclinical studies and clinical trials in the U.S. and other countries in which we are conducting such studies;

• anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws, including the FCPA, the UK Bribery Act and various other anti-corruption laws in countries outside of the U.S.;
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• data privacy laws existing in the U.S., the EU, the UK and other countries in which we operate, including the U.S. Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996,
or HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, or HITECH, state privacy and data protection laws, such as the
California Consumer Privacy Act, or CCPA, as amended by the California Privacy Rights Act of 2020, or CPRA, as well as other state consumer protection laws, GDPR, any
additional applicable EU member state, or EU Member State, data protection laws in force from time to time, the retained EU law version of the General Data Protection
Regulation as saved into United Kingdom law by virtue of section 3 of the United Kingdom’s European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018;

• federal and state laws requiring the submission of accurate product prices and notifications of price increases;

• federal and state securities laws;

• environmental, health and safety laws and regulations; and

• international trade laws, which are laws that regulate the sale, purchase, import, export, re-export, transfer and shipment of goods, products, materials, services and
technology.

In addition, our relationships with healthcare providers, physicians and third party payors expose us to broadly applicable fraud and abuse laws that may constrain the business or
financial arrangements and relationships through which we market, sell and distribute Auryxia, Vafseo and any other products for which we may obtain marketing approval. As such,
these arrangements are subject to applicable anti-kickback, fraud and abuse, false claims, transparency, health information privacy and security, and other healthcare laws and
regulations at federal, state and international levels. These restrictions include, but are not limited to, the following:

• the Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act of 1938, as amended, or FDCA, which among other things, strictly regulates drug product marketing and promotion and prohibits
manufacturers from marketing such products for off-label use;

• federal laws that require pharmaceutical manufacturers to report certain calculated product prices to the government or provide certain discounts or rebates to government
authorities or private entities, often as a condition of reimbursement under government healthcare programs, and laws requiring notification of price increases;

• the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering, receiving or providing remuneration, directly or
indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward, or in return for, either the referral of an individual for, or the purchase, order or recommendation or arranging of, any good
or service, for which payment may be made under a federal healthcare program such as Medicare and Medicaid;

• the federal False Claims Act, which imposes criminal and civil penalties, including through civil whistleblower or qui tam actions, against individuals or entities for, among
other things, knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, false or fraudulent claims for payment by a federal healthcare program or making a false statement or record
material to payment of a false claim or avoiding, decreasing or concealing an obligation to pay money to the federal government, with potential liability including mandatory
treble damages and significant per-claim penalties, and violations of the FDCA, the federal government pricing laws, and the federal Anti-Kickback Statute trigger liability
under the federal False Claims Act;

• HIPAA, which imposes criminal and civil liability for executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or making false statements relating to healthcare matters;
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• HIPAA, as amended by the HITECH, and their respective implementing regulations, also imposes obligations, including mandatory contractual terms, with respect to
safeguarding the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information;

• the federal Open Payments Act (the former Physician Payments Sunshine Act) requires applicable manufacturers of covered drugs to report payments and other transfers of
value to physicians, other healthcare providers and teaching hospitals, as well as ownership and investment interests held by physicians and their immediate family
members;

• analogous state laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws and gift ban and transparency statutes, which may apply to sales or marketing
arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by state Medicaid or other programs, or non-governmental third party payors, including private
insurers,
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and which are not preempted by federal laws and often differ from state to state, thus complicating compliance efforts; and

• U.S. state laws restricting interactions with healthcare providers and other members of the healthcare community or requiring pharmaceutical manufacturers to implement
certain compliance standards, which vary from state to state.
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Because of the breadth of these U.S. laws, and their non-U.S. equivalents, and the narrowness of the statutory exceptions and safe harbors available, it is possible that some of our
business activities could be subject to challenge under one or more of such laws. In addition, recent healthcare reforms have strengthened these laws. For example, the Health
Care Reform Act, among other things, amended the intent requirement of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute. A person or entity no longer needs to have actual knowledge of the
statute or specific intent to violate the law. The Health Care Reform Act also amended the False Claims Act, such that violations of the Anti-Kickback Statute are now deemed
violations of the False Claims Act.

Some state laws require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines, such as the Pharmaceutical Research and
Manufacturers of America Code on Interactions with Health Care Professionals. Additionally, some state and local laws require the registration and specific training of
pharmaceutical sales representatives in the jurisdiction. State and foreign laws also govern the privacy and security of health information in some circumstances, many of which
differ from each other in significant ways and often are not preempted by HIPAA.

Efforts to ensure that our business complies with applicable healthcare laws and regulations involves substantial costs and requires us to expend significant resources. One of the
potential areas for governmental scrutiny involves federal and state requirements for pharmaceutical manufacturers to submit accurate price reports to the government. Because our
processes for calculating applicable government prices and the judgments involved in making these calculations involve subjective decisions and complex methodologies, these
calculations are subject to risk of errors and differing interpretations. In addition, they are subject to review and challenge by the applicable governmental agencies, or potential qui
tam complaints, and it is possible that such reviews could result in changes, recalculations, or defense costs that may have adverse legal or financial consequences. It is possible
that governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices may not comply with current or future statutes, regulations or case law involving applicable fraud and abuse
or other healthcare laws and regulations. If our operations are found to be in violation of any of these laws or any other governmental regulations that may apply to us, we may be
subject to significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines, imprisonment, exclusion of products from government funded healthcare programs, such as
Medicare and Medicaid, and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations, any of which could materially adversely affect our business and would result in increased costs and
diversion of management attention and could negatively impact the development, regulatory approval and commercialization of Auryxia or Vafseo, any of which could have a
material adverse effect on our business. Further, if any of the physicians or other healthcare providers or entities with whom we expect to do business is found to be not in
compliance with applicable laws, they may be subject to criminal, civil or administrative sanctions, including exclusions from participation in government funded healthcare
programs.

Several In addition, we could be adversely affected by several significant administrative law cases were decided by the U.S. Supreme Court in 2024, most notably 2024. In Loper
Bright Enterprises v. Raimondo, which for example, the court overruled Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc. Since 1984, Chevron had , which for 40
years required that federal courts to defer to reasonable permissible agency interpretations of statutes and agency action. In Loper Bright, the that are silent or ambiguous on a
particular topic. The Supreme Court stripped federal agencies of this presumptive deference and held that the U.S. Administrative Procedure Act requires courts to must exercise
their independent judgment when deciding whether an agency has such as FDA acted within its statutory authority and under the Administrative Procedure Act, or APA. Additionally,
in Corner Post, Inc. v. Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, the court held that courts may not defer actions to an challenge a federal regulation under the APA can be
initiated within six years of the date of injury to the plaintiff, rather than the date the rule is finalized. The decision appears to give prospective plaintiffs a personal statute of
limitations to challenge longstanding agency interpretation solely because a statute is ambiguous. regulations. These decisions could introduce additional uncertainty into the
regulatory process and may result in additional legal challenges to regulations and guidance issued actions taken by federal regulatory agencies, including the FDA and CMS, that
we have relied on and intend to rely on in the future. Any such challenges, if successful, could have an impact on our business, and any such impact could be material. on. In
addition to potential changes to regulations and agency guidance as a result of legal challenges, these decisions may result in increased regulatory uncertainty and delays in and
other impacts, to the agency rulemaking process, any of which could adversely impact our business and operations.
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We will incur significant liability if it is determined that we are promoting any “off-label” use of Auryxia, Vafseo or any other product we may develop, in-license or
acquire or if it is determined that any of our activities violates the federal Anti-Kickback Statute.

Physicians are permitted to prescribe drug products for uses that differ from those approved by the FDA or other applicable regulatory agencies. Although the FDA and other
regulatory agencies do not regulate a physician’s choice of treatments, the FDA and other regulatory agencies do restrict manufacturer communications regarding unapproved uses
of an approved drug. Companies are not permitted to promote drugs for unapproved uses or in a manner that is inconsistent with the FDA-approved labeling. There are also
restrictions about making comparative or superiority claims based on safety or efficacy that are not supported by substantial evidence. Accordingly, we may not promote Auryxia in
the U.S. for use in any indications other than the Hyperphosphatemia Indication and the IDA Indication, and Vafseo for the treatment of anemia due to CKD in
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adults who have been receiving dialysis for at least three months, and all promotional claims must be consistent with the FDA-approved labeling for Auryxia or Vafseo, as applicable.
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Promoting a drug off-label is a violation of the FDCA and can give rise to liability under the federal False Claims Act, as well as under additional federal and state laws and insurance
statutes. The FDA, the Department of Justice and other regulatory and enforcement authorities enforce laws and regulations prohibiting promotion of off-label uses and the
promotion of products for which marketing approval has not been obtained, as well as the false advertising or misleading promotion of drugs. In September 2021, the FDA published
final regulations which describe the types of evidence that the agency will consider in determining the intended use of a drug product. In addition, laws and regulations govern the
distribution and tracing of prescription drugs and prescription drug samples, including the Prescription Drug Marketing Act of 1976 and the Drug Supply Chain Security Act, which
regulate the distribution and tracing of prescription drugs and prescription drug samples at the federal level and set minimum standards for the regulation of drug distributors by the
states. A company that is found to have improperly promoted off-label uses or to have otherwise engaged in false or misleading promotion or improper distribution of drugs will be
subject to significant liability, potentially including civil and administrative remedies as well as criminal sanctions. It may also be subject to exclusion and debarment from federal
healthcare reimbursement programs.

Notwithstanding the regulatory restrictions on off-label promotion, the FDA and other regulatory authorities allow companies to engage in truthful, non-misleading, and non-
promotional scientific communications concerning their products in certain circumstances. For example, in October 2023, the FDA published draft guidance outlining the agency’s

non-binding policies governing the distribution of scientific information on unapproved uses to healthcare providers. This draft guidance calls for such communications to be truthful,

non-misleading, factual, and unbiased and include all information necessary for healthcare providers to interpret the strengths and weaknesses and validity and utility of the
information about the unapproved use. In addition, under some relatively recent guidance from the FDA and the Pre-Approval Information Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, or the Exchange Act, signed into law as part of the Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2023, or the Consolidated Appropriations Act, companies may also provide
information that is consistent with a product’s FDA-approved labeling and proactively speak to formulary committee members of payors regarding data for an unapproved drug or
unapproved uses of an approved drug. We intend to engage in these discussions and communicate with healthcare providers, payors and other constituencies in compliance with
all applicable laws, regulatory guidance and industry best practices. Although we believe we have put in place a robust compliance program and processes designed to ensure that
all such activities are performed in a legal and compliant manner, such program and processes may not be sufficient to deter or detect all violations, and we will need to carefully
navigate the FDA’s various regulations, guidance and policies, along with recently enacted legislation, to ensure compliance with restrictions governing promotion of our products.

In addition, if a company’s activities are determined to have violated the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, this can also give rise to liability under the federal False Claims Act and such
violations can result in significant fines, criminal and civil remedies, and exclusion from Medicare and Medicaid. There is increased government focus on relationships between the
pharmaceutical industry and physicians, pharmacies (especially specialty pharmacies), and other sources of referrals. Common industry activities, such as speaker programs,
insurance assistance and support, relationships with foundations providing copayment assistance, and relationships with patient organizations and patients are receiving increased
governmental attention. If any of our relationships or activities is determined to violate applicable federal and state anti-kickback laws, false claims laws, or other laws or regulations,
the company and/or company executives, employees, and other representatives could be subject to significant fines and criminal sanctions, imprisonment, and potential exclusion
from Medicare and Medicaid, and could harm our reputation or result in significant legal expenses and distraction of management.

Disruptions at the FDA, regulatory authorities outside the U.S. and other government agencies caused by global health concerns or funding shortages could prevent
new products and services from being developed or commercialized in a timely manner, which could negatively impact our business.

The ability of the FDA and regulatory authorities outside the U.S. to review and approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including global health concerns,
government budget and funding levels, staffing shortages, statutory, regulatory, and policy changes and other events that may otherwise affect the FDA’s or other regulatory
authorities’ ability to perform routine functions. Average review times at the FDA have fluctuated in recent years as a result of certain of these factors. In addition, government
funding of other government agencies that fund R&D activities is subject to the political process, which is inherently fluid and unpredictable. Disruptions at the FDA and other
agencies may increase the time necessary for new drugs to be reviewed or approved by necessary government agencies, which would adversely affect our business. If a prolonged
government shutdown occurs, it could significantly impact the ability of the FDA or other regulatory authorities to timely review and process our, or our collaboration partners’,
regulatory submissions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

If a prolonged government shutdown occurs, or if global health concerns prevent the FDA or other regulatory authorities from conducting their regular inspections, reviews, or other
regulatory activities, it could significantly impact the ability of the FDA
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or other regulatory authorities to timely review and process our regulatory submissions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.
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Compliance with privacy and data security requirements could result in additional costs and liabilities to us or inhibit our ability to collect and process data globally,
and the failure to comply with such requirements could subject us to significant fines and penalties, which may have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition or results of operations.

The regulatory framework for the collection, use, safeguarding, sharing, transfer and other processing of information worldwide is rapidly evolving and is likely to remain uncertain for
the foreseeable future. Globally, virtually every jurisdiction in which we operate has established its own data security and privacy frameworks with which we must comply. For
example, the collection, use, disclosure, transfer, or other processing of personal data regarding individuals in the EU, including personal health data, is subject to the GDPR, which
took effect across all member states of the EEA, in May 2018. Following the withdrawal of the UK from the EU, the UK Data Protection Act 2018 applies to the processing of
personal data that takes place in the UK and includes parallel obligations to those set forth by GDPR. The GDPR is wide-ranging in scope and imposes numerous requirements on
companies that process personal data when required, including requirements relating to processing health and other sensitive data, obtaining consent of the individuals to whom the
personal data relates, when required, providing information to individuals regarding data processing activities, implementing safeguards to protect the security and confidentiality of
personal data, providing notification of data breaches, and taking certain measures when engaging third party processors. The GDPR increases our obligations as a sponsor in
clinical trials in the EEA by expanding the definition of personal data to include coded data and requiring changes to informed consent practices and more detailed notices for clinical
trial patients and investigators. The GDPR also permits data protection authorities to require destruction of improperly gathered or used personal information and/or impose
substantial fines for violations of the GDPR, which can be up to four percent of the total worldwide annual turnover of a group of companies from the preceding financial year or 20
million Euros, whichever is greater, and it also confers a private right of action on data subjects and consumer associations to lodge complaints with supervisory authorities, seek
judicial remedies, and obtain compensation for damages resulting from violations of the GDPR. In addition, the GDPR provides that EU Member States may make their own further
laws and regulations limiting the processing of personal data, including genetic, biometric or health data and permits EU Member States to adopt further penalties for violations that
are not subject to the administrative fines outlined in the GDPR.

The GDPR also imposes strict rules on the transfer of personal data to countries outside the EU, including the U.S. and, as a result, increases the scrutiny that we should apply to
transfers of personal data from such sites to countries that are considered to lack an adequate level of data protection, such as the U.S. There is ongoing uncertainty about the
transfer mechanisms that companies rely upon to enable the legal transfer of personal data from the EU to other countries. For example, in July 2020, the Court of Justice of the
European Union or the CJEU, invalidated the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield, one of the mechanisms used to legitimize the transfer of personal data from the EEA to the U.S. Although a
new Data Privacy Framework has been adopted, as court decisions and regulatory guidance evolves, challenges remain with respect to GDPR compliance. Companies must
continue to monitor the regulatory landscape and implement necessary changes, all of which may be costly and may put the company out of compliance while any changes are
being implemented.

Following the withdrawal of the UK from the EU, the UK Data Protection Act 2018 applies to the processing of personal data that takes place in the UK and includes parallel
obligations to those set forth by GDPR. In relation to data transfers, both the UK and the EU have determined, through separate “adequacy” decisions, that data transfers between
the two jurisdictions are in compliance with the UK Data Protection Act and the GDPR, respectively. The UK and the U.S. have also agreed to a U.S.-UK “Data Bridge”, which
functions similarly to the EU-U.S. Data Privacy Framework and provides an additional legal mechanism for companies to transfer data from the UK to the U.S. In addition to the UK,
Switzerland has approved an adequacy decision in relation to the Swiss-U.S. Data Privacy Framework (which would function similarly to the EU-U.S. Data Privacy Framework and
the U.S.-UK Data Bridge in relation to data transfers from Switzerland to the U.S.). Any changes or updates to these developments have the potential to impact our business.

Additionally, in October 2022, President Biden signed an executive order to implement the EU-U.S. Data Privacy Framework, which serves as a replacement to the EU-U.S. Privacy
Shield. The EU initiated the process to adopt an adequacy decision for the EU-U.S. Data Privacy Framework in December 2022, and the EC adopted the adequacy decision on July
10, 2023. The adequacy decision permits U.S. companies who self-certify to the EU-U.S. Data Privacy Framework to rely on it as a valid data transfer mechanism for data transfers
from the EU to the U.S. However, some privacy advocacy groups have already challenged or suggested that they will be challenging the EU-U.S. Data Privacy Framework. If these
challenges are successful, they may not only impact the EU-U.S. Data Privacy Framework, but also further limit the viability of the standard contractual clauses and other data
transfer mechanisms. The uncertainty around this issue has the potential to impact our business internationally.
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Given the breadth and depth of changes in data protection obligations, complying with the GDPR’s requirements is rigorous and time intensive and requires significant resources
and a review of our technologies, systems and practices, as well as those of any third party collaborators, service providers, contractors or consultants that process or transfer
personal data collected in the EU. The GDPR and other changes in laws or regulations associated with the enhanced protection of certain types of
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sensitive data, such as healthcare data or other personal information from our clinical trials, could require us to change our business practices and put in place additional compliance
mechanisms, may interrupt or delay our development, regulatory and commercialization activities and increase our cost of doing business, and could lead to government
enforcement actions, private litigation and significant fines and penalties against us and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of
operations.

Similar privacy and data security requirements are either in place or underway in the U.S. There are a broad variety of data protection laws that may be applicable to our activities,
and a range of enforcement agencies at both the state and federal levels that can review companies for privacy and data security concerns. The Federal Trade Commission, or the
FTC, and state Attorneys General all are aggressive in reviewing privacy and data security protections for consumers. For example, the FTC has been particularly focused on the
unpermitted processing of health and genetic data through its recent enforcement actions and is expanding the types of privacy violations that it interprets to be “unfair” under
Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, as well as the types of activities it views to trigger the Health Breach Notification Rule (which the FTC also has the authority to
enforce). The agency is also in the process of developing rules related to commercial surveillance and data security that may impact our business. We will need to account for the
FTC’s evolving rules and guidance for proper privacy and data security practices in order to mitigate our risk for a potential enforcement action, which may be costly. If we are
subject to a potential FTC enforcement action, we may be subject to a settlement order that requires us to adhere to very specific privacy and data security practices, which may
impact our business. We may also be required to pay fines as part of a settlement (depending on the nature of the alleged violations). If we violate any consent order that we reach
with the FTC, we may be subject to additional fines and compliance requirements.

New laws also are being considered at both the state and federal levels. For example, the CCPA, which went into effect on January 1, 2020, and the CPRA, which amends CCPA by
expanding the scope and applicability, while also introducing new privacy protections, is creating similar risks and obligations as those created by GDPR. In November 2020,
California voters passed a ballot initiative for the CPRA, which went into effect on January 1, 2023 and significantly expanded the CCPA to incorporate additional GDPR-like
provisions including requiring that the use, retention and sharing of personal information of California residents be reasonably necessary and proportionate to the purposes of
collection or processing, granting additional protections for sensitive personal information, and requiring greater disclosures related to notice to residents regarding retention of
information. The CPRA also creates a new agency that is specifically responsible for enforcing the new law and other California privacy laws. Because of this, we may need to
engage in additional activities (e.g., data mapping) to identify the personal information we are collecting and the purposes for which such information is collected. In addition, we will
need to ensure that our policies recognize the rights granted to consumers (as that phrase is broadly defined in the CCPA and can include business contact information).

In addition to California, at least eighteen other states have passed comprehensive privacy laws similar to the CCPA and CPRA. These laws are either in effect or will go into effect
sometime before the end of 2026. Like the CCPA and CPRA, these laws create obligations related to the processing of personal information, as well as special obligations for the
processing of “sensitive” data (which includes health data in some cases). Some of the provisions of these laws may apply to our business activities. There are also states that are
strongly considering or have already passed comprehensive privacy laws during the 2023 legislative sessions that will go into effect in 2025 and beyond, including New Hampshire
and New Jersey. Other states will be considering these laws in the future, and Congress has also been debating passing a federal privacy law. There are also states that are
specifically regulating health information that may affect our business. For example, Washington state passed a health privacy law in 2023 that will regulate regulates the collection
and sharing of health information, and the law also has a private right of action, which further increases the relevant compliance risk. Connecticut and Nevada have also passed
similar laws regulating consumer health data and additional states (including Vermont) are considering such legislation for 2024. These laws may impact our business activities,
including our identification of research subjects, relationships with business partners and ultimately the marketing and distribution of our products.

Plaintiffs’ lawyers are also increasingly using privacy-related statutes at both the state and federal level to bring lawsuits against companies for their data-related practices. In
particular, there have been a significant number of cases filed against companies for their use of pixels and other web trackers. These cases often allege violations of the California
Invasion of Privacy Act and other state laws regulating wiretapping, as well as the federal Video Privacy Protection Act. The rise in these types of lawsuits creates potential risk for
our business.

A broad range of legislative measures also have been introduced at the federal level. Accordingly, failure to comply with current and any future federal and state laws regarding
privacy and security of personal information could expose us to fines and penalties. We also face a threat of potential consumer class actions related to these laws and the overall
protection of personal data. Even if we are not determined to have violated these laws, investigations into these issues typically require the expenditure of significant resources and
generate negative publicity, which could harm our reputation and our business.
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Legislative and regulatory healthcare reform may increase the difficulty and cost for us to obtain marketing approval of and commercialize our product candidates and
affect the prices we may obtain for any products that are approved in the U.S. or foreign jurisdictions.

In the U.S. and some foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number of legislative and regulatory changes and proposed changes regarding the healthcare system that could
prevent or delay marketing approval of any product candidate, restrict or regulate post-approval activities and affect our ability to profitably sell Auryxia and Vafseo. The
pharmaceutical industry has been a particular focus of these efforts and has been significantly affected by legislative initiatives. Current laws, as well as other healthcare reform
measures that may be adopted in the future, may result in more rigorous coverage criteria and additional downward pressure on the price that we receive for any FDA approved
product, such as Auryxia or Vafseo or any reimbursement that physicians receive for administering any approved product.

In the U.S. the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003, or the MMA, changed the way Medicare covers and pays for pharmaceutical products.
The legislation expanded Medicare coverage for drug purchases by the elderly and introduced a new reimbursement methodology based on average sales prices for physician-
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administered drugs. In addition, this legislation provided authority for limiting the number of drugs that will be covered in any therapeutic class. Cost reduction initiatives and other
provisions of this legislation could decrease the coverage and price that we receive for Auryxia and any other approved products. While the MMA applies only to drug benefits for
Medicare beneficiaries, private payors often follow Medicare coverage policy and payment limitations in setting their own reimbursement rates. Therefore, any reduction in
reimbursement that results from the MMA may result in a similar reduction in payments from private payors.

In March 2010, President Obama signed into law the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, or,
collectively, the ACA. In addition, other legislative and regulatory changes have been proposed and adopted since the ACA was enacted. These changes include the Budget Control
Act of 2011, which, among other things, led to aggregate reductions to Medicare payments to providers of up to 2% per fiscal year, which will remain in effect through 2031.

Under current legislation, the actual reductions in Medicare payments may vary up to 4%. The Consolidated Appropriations Act, which was signed into law by President Biden in
December 2022, made several changes to sequestration of the Medicare program. Section 1001 of the Consolidated Appropriations Act delays the 4% Statutory Pay-As-You-Go Act
of 2010 (PAYGO) sequester for two years, through the end of calendar year 2024. Triggered by enactment of the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021, the 4% cut to the Medicare
program would have taken effect in January 2023. The Consolidated Appropriations Act’s health care offset title includes Section 4163, which extends the 2% Budget Control Act of
2011 Medicare sequester for six months into fiscal year 2032 and lowers the payment reduction percentages in fiscal years 2030 and 2031.

The American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, which, among other things, reduced Medicare payments to several types of providers and increased the statute of limitations period for
the government to recover overpayments to providers from three to five years. In addition, other legislative and regulatory changes have been proposed, but not yet adopted. For
example, in July 2019, HHS proposed regulatory changes in kidney health policy and reimbursement. Any new legislative or regulatory changes may result in additional reductions
in Medicare and other healthcare funding and otherwise affect the prices we may obtain for Auryxia or Vafseo or the frequency with which Auryxia and Vafseo is prescribed or used.

The costs and prices of prescription pharmaceuticals have also been the subject of considerable discussion in the U.S. To date, there have been several recent U.S. congressional
inquiries and proposed and enacted state and federal legislation designed to, among other things, bring more transparency to drug pricing, review the relationship between pricing
and manufacturer patient programs, reduce the costs of drugs under Medicare and reform government program reimbursement methodologies for drug products. At the federal
level, Congress and the current administration have each indicated that it will continue to seek new legislative and/or administrative measures to control drug costs.

For example, the former administration issued several executive orders intended to lower the costs of prescription products and certain provisions in these orders have been
incorporated into regulations. These regulations include an interim final rule implementing a most favored nation model for prices that would tie Medicare Part B payments for certain
physician-administered pharmaceuticals to the lowest price paid in other economically advanced countries, effective January 1, 2021. That rule, however, has been subject to a
nationwide preliminary injunction and, on December 29, 2021, CMS issued a final rule to rescind it. With issuance of this rule, CMS stated that it will explore all options to
incorporate value into payments for Medicare Part B pharmaceuticals and improve beneficiaries’ access to evidence-based care.

In addition, in October 2020, the HHS and the FDA published a final rule allowing states and other entities to develop a Section 804 Importation Program to import certain
prescription drugs from Canada into the U.S. That regulation was challenged in a lawsuit by the Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America, or PhRMA, but the case
was dismissed by a federal district court in February 2023 after the court found that PhRMA did not have standing to sue HHS. Seven states (Colorado, Florida, Maine, New
Hampshire, New Mexico, Texas and Vermont) have passed laws allowing for the importation

Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. | Form 10-Q | Page 71

of drugs from Canada. North Dakota and Virginia have passed legislation establishing workgroups to examine the impact of a
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state importation program. As of May 2024, five states (Colorado, Florida, Maine, New Hampshire and New Mexico) have submitted Section 804 Importation Program proposals to
the FDA and, on FDA. Vermont has submitted a concept letter to HHS. On January 5, 2024, the FDA approved Florida’s plan for Canadian drug importation. Florida now has
authority to import certain drugs from Canada for a period of two years once certain conditions are met. Florida will first need to submit a pre-import request for each drug selected
for importation, which must be approved by the FDA. The state will also need to relabel the drugs and perform quality testing of the products to meet FDA standards.

Further, on July 9, 2021, President Biden signed Executive Order 14063, which focuses on, among other things, the price of pharmaceuticals. The Order directs HHS to create a
plan within 45 days to combat “excessive pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals and enhance domestic pharmaceutical supply chains, to reduce the prices paid by the federal
government for such pharmaceuticals, and to address the recurrent problem of price gouging.” On September 9, 2021, HHS released its plan to reduce pharmaceutical prices. The
key features of that plan are to: (a) make pharmaceutical prices more affordable and equitable for all consumers and throughout the health care system by supporting
pharmaceutical price negotiations with manufacturers; (b) improve and promote competition throughout the prescription pharmaceutical industry by supporting market changes that
strengthen supply chains, promote biosimilars and generic drugs, and increase transparency; and (c) foster scientific innovation to promote better healthcare and improve health by
supporting public and private research and making sure that market incentives promote discovery of valuable and accessible new treatments.

On August 16, 2022, the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, or IRA, was signed into law by President Biden. The new legislation has implications for Medicare Part D, which is a
program available to individuals who are entitled to Medicare Part A or enrolled in Medicare Part B to give them the option of paying a monthly premium for outpatient prescription
drug coverage. Among other things, the IRA imposes rebates under Medicare Part B and Medicare Part D to penalize price increases that outpace inflation (first due in 2023); and
replaces the Part D coverage gap discount program with a new discounting program (beginning in 2025). The IRA permits the Secretary of HHS to implement many of these
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provisions through guidance, as opposed to regulation, for the initial years. We consider many factors when we implement a price increase for a product, including historical and
potential future inflation rates. However, there are many variables that are outside of our control and if we increase the price of Auryxia or Vafseo faster than the pace of inflation, we
would be subject to additional rebates under Medicare, which could have a material adverse effect on our product revenues.

As an oral drug, Auryxia is covered by Medicare under Part D. In January 2011, CMS implemented the ESRD PPS, a prospective payment system for dialysis treatment. Under the
ESRD PPS, CMS generally makes a single bundled payment to the dialysis facility for each dialysis treatment that covers all items and services routinely required for dialysis
treatments furnished to Medicare beneficiaries in Medicare-certified ESRD facilities or at their home. The inclusion of oral medications without injectable or intravenous equivalents
such as Auryxia in the bundled payment was initially delayed by CMS until January 1, 2014, and through several subsequent legislative actions has been delayed until January 1,
2025.

Absent further legislation or regulation on this matter, beginning in January 2025, oral ESRD-related drugs without injectable or intravenous equivalents, including Auryxia and all
other phosphate lowering medications, will be included in the ESRD bundle and separate Medicare payment for these drugs will no longer be available, as is the case today under
Medicare Part D. ESRD facilities may nonetheless receive a TDAPA for new renal dialysis drugs and biological products that meet certain criteria for a period of at least two years.
The TDAPA will provide separate payment based on the drug's ASP that will be in addition to the base rate in order to facilitate the adoption of innovative therapies. There can be no
assurances that CMS will determine that Auryxia will qualify for TDAPA status or that CMS will not again In July 2023, the U.S. House of Representatives introduced the Patient Act
and the Senate advanced a similar bill, which legislation, if passed and enacted into law prior to January 1, 2025, would delay the inclusion of these oral ESRD-related phosphorus
lowering drugs in the bundled payment. In addition, in July 2024, Ardelyx filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia against HHS, CMS and
other parties, which alleged that CMS’s plan to include oral-only phosphate lowering therapies in the ESRD PPS violated its statutory and regulatory authority under the Medicare
Improvements for Patients and Providers Act, which established the ESRD PPS bundled payment system for dialysis services in 2008. In October 2024, Ardelyx filed for a
preliminary injunction to enjoin CMS from including oral-only phosphate lowering therapies in the ESRD PPS. CMS had earlier filed a motion to dismiss the complaint. The court has
not scheduled a date for oral argument on these motions and, instead, indicated that it may address these motions on the papers alone. If the Patient Act is passed and enacted into
law prior to January 1, 2025 or Ardelyx is successful in its claims, oral-only phosphate lowering therapies, including Auryxia, may not be included in the ESRD bundle in 2025 or at
all, which could adversely affect sales of reduce anticipated revenue for Auryxia. Even if Auryxia is deemed eligible by CMS, and included in the ESRD bundle,  the TDAPA
reimbursement amount for Auryxia may be lower than anticipated or revenue for sales of Auryxia could be significantly less in the TDAPA period than anticipated or than it would be
if Auryxia is not bundled into the ESRD PPS. Moreover, in PPS, which would have an adverse impact on our revenue. In the post-TDAPA period, CMS currently expects to increase
the single bundled payment base rate paid to the dialysis facility for each dialysis treatment to reflect that oral only phosphate lowering drugs will be reimbursed as part of the single
bundled payment for Medicare patients. There However, there can be no assurances that any increase in the single bundled payment base rate will be sufficient to adequately
reimburse the dialysis facilities for Auryxia at a price that allows us to sell Auryxia at a profit.
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Specifically, with respect to price negotiations, Congress authorized Medicare to negotiate lower prices for certain costly single-source drug and biologic products that do not have
competing generics or biosimilars and are reimbursed under Medicare Part B and Part D. CMS may negotiate prices for ten high-cost drugs paid for by Medicare Part D starting in
2026, followed by 15 Part D drugs in 2027, 15 Part B or Part D drugs in 2028, and 20 Part B or Part D drugs in 2029 and beyond. This provision applies to drug products that have
been approved for at least 9 years and biologics that have been licensed for 13
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years, but it does not apply to drugs and biologics that have been approved for a single rare disease or condition. The first cycle of negotiations for the Medicare Drug Price
Negotiation Program commenced in the summer of 2023. On August 15, 2024, HHS published the results of the first Medicare drug price negotiations for ten selected drugs that
treat a range of conditions, including diabetes, CKD, and rheumatoid arthritis. The prices of these ten drugs will become effective January 1, 2026. On October 2, 2024, in final
guidance, CMS indicated that it will announce the selection of up to 15 additional drugs covered by Part D for the second cycle of negotiations by February 1, 2025. This second
cycle of negotiations with participating drug companies will occur during 2025, and any negotiated prices for this second set of drugs will be effective starting January 1, 2027.

Further, the legislation subjects drug manufacturers to civil monetary penalties and a potential excise tax for failing to comply with the legislation by offering a price that is not equal
to or less than the negotiated “maximum fair price” under the law or for taking price increases that exceed inflation. The legislation also requires manufacturers to pay rebates for
drugs in Medicare Part D whose price increases exceed inflation. The new law also caps Medicare out-of-pocket drug costs at an estimated $4,000 a year in 2024 and, thereafter
beginning in 2025, at $2,000 a year.

On June 6, 2023, Merck & Co. Inc. filed a lawsuit against HHS and CMS asserting that, among other things, the IRA’s Drug Price Negotiation Program for Medicare constitutes an
uncompensated taking in violation of the Fifth Amendment of the Constitution. Subsequently, a number of other parties, including the U.S. Chamber of Commerce, Bristol Myers
Squibb Company, the PhRMA, Astellas, Novo Nordisk, Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Novartis, AstraZeneca and Boehringer Ingelheim, also filed lawsuits in various courts with similar
constitutional claims against HHS and CMS. There have been various decisions by the courts considering these cases since they were filed. HHS has generally won the substantive
disputes in these cases, and various federal district court judges have expressed skepticism regarding the merits of the legal arguments being pursued by the pharmaceutical
industry. Certain of these cases are now on appeal and oral arguments were held on October 30, 2024. We expect that litigation involving these and other provisions of the IRA will
continue, with unpredictable and uncertain results. Accordingly, while it is currently unclear how the IRA will be effectuated, we cannot predict with certainty what impact any federal
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or state health reforms will have on us, but such changes could impose new or more stringent regulatory requirements on our activities or result in reduced reimbursement for our
products, any of which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

At the state level, individual states are increasingly aggressive in passing legislation and implementing regulations designed to control pharmaceutical and biological product pricing,
including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts, restrictions on certain product access, marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures, and, in some cases,
designed to encourage importation from other countries and bulk purchasing. A number of states, for example, require drug manufacturers and other entities in the drug supply
chain, including health carriers, pharmacy benefit managers, wholesale distributors, to disclose information about pricing of pharmaceuticals. In addition, regional healthcare
authorities and individual hospitals are increasingly using bidding procedures to determine what pharmaceutical products and which suppliers will be included in their prescription
drug and other healthcare programs. These measures could reduce the ultimate demand for our products or put pressure on our product pricing.

It is likely that federal and state legislatures within the U.S. and foreign governments will continue to consider changes to existing healthcare legislation. We expect that additional
state and federal healthcare reform measures will be adopted in the future, any of which could limit the amounts that federal and state governments will pay for healthcare products
and services, which could result in reduced demand for Auryxia or Vafseo and any product candidates for which we receive marketing approval or additional pricing pressures. We
cannot predict the reform initiatives that may be adopted in the future or whether initiatives that have been adopted will be repealed or modified. The continuing efforts of the
government, insurance companies, managed care organizations and other payors of healthcare services to contain or reduce costs of healthcare may adversely affect:

• the demand for Auryxia, Vafseo and any product candidates for which we receive marketing approval;

• our ability to set a price that we believe is fair for our products;

• our ability to obtain and maintain coverage and reimbursement approval for Auryxia, Vafseo or any other approved product;

• our ability to generate revenues and achieve or maintain profitability; and

• the level of taxes that we are required to pay.
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In addition, in some countries, including EU Member States, the pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals is subject to governmental control. In these countries, pricing negotiations
with governmental authorities can take a significant amount of time after receipt of marketing approval for a product. In addition, there can be considerable pressure by governments
and other stakeholders on prices and reimbursement levels, including as part of cost containment measures. Political, economic and regulatory developments may further
complicate pricing negotiations, and pricing negotiations may continue after reimbursement has been obtained. Reference pricing used by various EU Member States and parallel
distribution, or arbitrage between low-priced and high-priced EU Member States, can further reduce prices, and in certain instances render commercialization in certain markets
infeasible or disadvantageous from a financial perspective. In some countries, we or our collaborators may be required to conduct a clinical trial or other studies that compare the
cost-effectiveness of our product and/or our product candidates to other available products in order to obtain or maintain reimbursement or pricing approval. Publication of discounts
by third party payors or government authorities may lead to further pressure on the prices or reimbursement levels. If reimbursement of our products is unavailable or limited in
scope or amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, the commercial launch of our product and/or product candidates could be delayed, possibly for lengthy periods of time,
we or our collaborators may not launch at all in a particular country, we may not be able to recoup our investment in one or more product candidates, and there could be a material
adverse effect on our business.
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Our reporting and payment obligations under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, Medicare and other governmental drug pricing programs are complex and may
involve subjective decisions. Any failure to properly comply with those obligations could subject us to penalties and sanctions.

As a condition of reimbursement by various federal and state health insurance programs, we are required to calculate and report certain pricing information to federal and state
agencies. The regulations governing the calculations, price reporting and payment obligations are complex and subject to interpretation by various government and regulatory
agencies, as well as the courts. Reasonable assumptions have been made where there is lack of regulations or clear guidance and such assumptions involve subjective decisions
and estimates. We are required to report any revisions to our calculation, price reporting and payment obligations previously reported or paid. Such revisions could affect our liability
to federal and state payors and also adversely impact our reported financial results of operations in the period of such restatement. Further, a number of states have either
implemented or are considering implementation of drug price transparency legislation that may prevent or limit our ability to take price increases at certain rates or frequencies.
Requirements under such laws include advance notice of planned price increases, reporting price increase amounts and factors considered in taking such increases, wholesale
acquisition cost information disclosure to prescribers, purchasers, and state agencies, and new product notice and reporting. Such legislation could limit the price or payment for
certain drugs, and a number of states are authorized to impose civil monetary penalties or pursue other enforcement mechanisms against manufacturers for the untimely,
inaccurate, or incomplete reporting of drug pricing information or for otherwise failing to comply with drug price transparency requirements. If we are found to have violated state law
requirements, we may become subject to significant penalties or other enforcement mechanisms, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Uncertainty exists as new laws, regulations, judicial decisions, or new interpretations of existing laws, or regulations related to our calculations, price reporting or payments
obligations increases the chances of a legal challenge, restatement or investigation. If we become subject to investigations, restatements, or other inquiries concerning our
compliance with price reporting laws and regulations, we could be required to pay or be subject to additional reimbursements, penalties, sanctions or fines, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, it is possible that future healthcare reform measures could be adopted, which could
result in changes to how we calculate or report certain pricing information to federal and state agencies, or increased pressure on pricing and reimbursement of our products and
thus have an adverse impact on our financial position or business operations.
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Further, state Medicaid programs may be slow to invoice pharmaceutical companies for calculated rebates resulting in a lag between the time a sale is recorded and the time the
rebate is paid. This results in us having to carry a liability on our consolidated balance sheet for the estimate of rebate claims expected for Medicaid patients. If actual claims are
higher than current estimates, our financial position and results of operations could be adversely affected.

In addition to retroactive rebates and the potential for 340B Program refunds, if we are found to have knowingly submitted any false price information related to the Medicaid Drug
Rebate Program to CMS, we may be liable for civil monetary penalties. Such failure could also be grounds for CMS to terminate our Medicaid drug rebate agreement, pursuant to
which we participate in the Medicaid program. In the event that CMS terminates our rebate agreement, federal payments may not be available under government programs,
including Medicaid or Medicare Part B, for our covered outpatient drugs.

Additionally, if we overcharge the government in connection with the Federal Supply Schedule pricing program or Tricare Retail Pharmacy Program, whether due to a misstated
Federal Ceiling Price or otherwise, we are required to refund the difference to the government. Failure to make necessary disclosures and/or to identify contract overcharges can
result in allegations against us under the FDCA and other laws and regulations. Unexpected refunds to the government, and
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responding to a government investigation or enforcement action, would be expensive and time-consuming, and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and growth prospects.

Our collaborators are also subject to similar requirements outside of the U.S. and thus the attendant risks and uncertainties. If our collaborators suffer material and adverse effects
from such risks and uncertainties, our rights and benefits for our licensed products could be negatively impacted, which could have a material and adverse impact on our revenues.

With the passage of the CREATES Act, we are exposed to possible litigation and damages by competitors who may claim that we are not providing sufficient quantities
of our approved products on commercially reasonable, market-based terms for testing in support of their abbreviated new drug applications, or ANDAs, 505(b)(2) NDAs
and biosimilar product applications.

In December 2019, former President Trump signed legislation intended to facilitate the development of generic and biosimilar products. The bill, previously known as the CREATES
Act, authorizes sponsors of ANDAs, 505(b)(2) NDAs or biosimilar product applications to file lawsuits against companies holding NDAs or BLAs that decline to provide sufficient
quantities of an approved reference drug or biological product on commercially reasonable, market-based terms. Drug or biological products
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on FDA’s drug shortage list are exempt from these new provisions unless the product has been on the list for more than six continuous months or the FDA determines that the
supply of the product will help alleviate or prevent a shortage.

To bring an action under the statute, the developer of a product candidate that seeks to develop the product and seek approval under an ANDA, 505(b)(2) NDA, or biosimilar product
application must take certain steps to request the reference product from the reference product manufacturer, which, in the case of products covered by a REMS with elements to
assure safe use, include obtaining authorization from the FDA for the acquisition of the reference product. If the reference product manufacturer does not provide the reference
product and the ANDA, 505(b)(2) NDA, or biosimilar product sponsor does bring an action for failure to provide a reference product, there are certain affirmative defenses available
to the reference product manufacturer, which must be shown by a preponderance of evidence, including that the NDA or BLA holder sells the reference product through agents,
distributors, or wholesalers and has placed no restrictions, explicit or implicit, on selling the reference product to ANDA, 505(b)(2) or biosimilar sponsors. If the sponsor prevails in
litigation, it is entitled to a court order directing the reference product manufacturer to provide, without delay, sufficient quantities of the applicable product on commercially
reasonable, market-based terms, plus reasonable attorney fees and costs.

Additionally, the new statutory provisions authorize a federal court to award the product developer an amount “sufficient to deter” the reference product manufacturer from refusing
to provide sufficient product quantities on commercially reasonable, market-based terms, up to a certain maximum amount based on revenue earned while in noncompliance, if the
court finds, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the reference product manufacturer did not have a legitimate business justification to delay providing the product or failed to
comply with the court’s order. For the purposes of the statute, the term “commercially reasonable, market-based terms” is defined as (1) the nondiscriminatory price at or below the
most recent wholesale acquisition cost for the product, (2) a delivery schedule that meets the statutorily defined timetable, and (3) no additional conditions on the sale.

Although we intend to comply fully with the terms of these statutory provisions, we are still exposed to potential litigation and damages by competitors who may claim that we are not
providing sufficient quantities of our approved products on commercially reasonable, market-based terms for testing in support of ANDAs, 505(b)(2) NDA applications or biosimilar
product applications. Such litigation would subject us to additional litigation costs, damages and reputational harm, which could lead to lower revenues. The CREATES Act may
facilitate future competition with Auryxia or Vafseo and any of our product candidates, if approved, which could impact our ability to maximize product revenue.

If we fail to comply with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, we could become subject to fines or penalties or incur costs that could harm our
business.

We are subject to numerous environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, including those governing laboratory procedures and the handling, use, storage, treatment and
disposal of hazardous materials and wastes. Our operations involve the use of hazardous and flammable materials, including chemicals and biological materials. Our operations
also produce hazardous waste products. We generally contract with third parties for the use and disposal of these materials and wastes. We cannot eliminate the risk of
contamination or injury from these materials. In the event of contamination or injury resulting from the use of hazardous materials by our employees, contractors or consultants, we
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could be held liable for any resulting damages, and any liability could exceed our resources. We also could incur significant costs associated with civil or criminal fines and penalties
for failure to comply with such laws and regulations.

Although we maintain workers’ compensation insurance to cover us for costs and expenses we may incur due to injuries to our employees resulting from the use of hazardous
materials, this insurance may not provide adequate coverage against potential liabilities. We do not maintain insurance for environmental liability or toxic tort claims that may be
asserted against us in connection with our storage or disposal of biological, hazardous or radioactive materials.
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In addition, we may incur substantial costs in order to comply with current or future environmental, health and safety laws and regulations. These current or future laws and
regulations may impair our research, development or production efforts. Our failure to comply with these laws and regulations also may result in substantial fines, penalties or other
sanctions.

Risks Related to our Reliance on Third Parties

We depend on collaborations with third parties for the development and commercialization of Auryxia, Riona and Vafseo and if these collaborations are not successful
or if our collaborators terminate their agreements with us, we may not be able to capitalize on the market potential of Auryxia, Riona and Vafseo, and our business
could be materially harmed.

We sublicensed the rights to commercialize Riona to JT and Torii in Japan. We also entered into a collaboration agreement with MTPC to develop and commercialize Vafseo in
Japan and certain other Asian countries. In addition, we granted to Averoa an exclusive license to develop and commercialize ferric citrate in the EEA, Turkey, Switzerland and the
United Kingdom. Averoa Territory. Furthermore, in May 2023, we entered into a license agreement with Medice, pursuant to which we granted Medice an
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exclusive license to develop and commercialize Vafseo for the treatment of anemia in patients with CKD in the Medice Territory. We may form or seek other strategic alliances, joint
ventures, or collaborations, or enter into additional licensing arrangements with third parties that we believe will complement or augment our and our partners' commercialization
efforts with respect to Auryxia, Riona, Vafseo and any other product candidates. We may not be able to maintain our collaborations for development and commercialization. For
example, on May 13, 2022, Otsuka Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd., or Otsuka, elected to terminate our collaboration agreements with them, and we subsequently negotiated a Termination
and Settlement Agreement with Otsuka. This termination by Otsuka may have delayed the launch of Vafseo in Europe or other territories previously licensed to Otsuka or adversely
affected how we are perceived in scientific and financial communities. For example, in August 2023, Medice informed us that their launch of Vafseo in certain countries in the
Medice Territory was going to be later than previously anticipated due to the activities required to enable the launch. If we are unable to maintain our collaborations, we may not be
able to capitalize on the market potential of our products or product candidates, and our business could be materially harmed.

In addition, our current and any future collaborations may not be successful due to a number of important factors, including the following:

• collaborators may have significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources that they will apply to these collaborations;

• collaborations may be terminated in accordance with the terms of the collaboration agreements and, if terminated, may make it difficult for us to attract new collaborators or
adversely affect how we are perceived in scientific and financial communities, and may result in a need for additional capital and expansion of our internal capabilities to
pursue further development or commercialization of the applicable products and product candidates;

• if permitted by the terms of the collaboration agreements, collaborators may elect not to continue or renew development or commercialization programs based on clinical trial
results, changes in their strategic focus, availability of funding or other external factors such as a business combination that diverts resources or creates competing priorities;

• if permitted by the terms of the collaboration agreements, collaborators may delay clinical trials, provide insufficient funding for a clinical trial program, stop a clinical trial,
abandon a product candidate, repeat or conduct new clinical trials or require a new formulation of a product candidate for clinical testing;

• a collaborator with marketing and distribution rights to our products may not commit sufficient resources to their marketing and distribution;

• if permitted by the terms of the collaboration agreements, we and our collaborator may have a difference of opinion regarding the development or commercialization strategy
for a particular product or product candidate, and our collaborator may have ultimate decision making authority;

• disputes may arise between a collaborator and us that cause the delay or termination of activities related to research, development, supply or commercialization of Auryxia,
Riona or Vafseo and any other product candidate, or that result in costly litigation or arbitration that diverts management attention and resources;

• collaborations may not lead to development or commercialization of products and product candidates, if approved, in the most efficient manner or at all;

• inefficiencies or structural changes in internal operations or processes of our collaborators may lead to increased expenses associated with commercializing a product,
including manufacturing costs, rebates, returns and other adjustments which would negatively impact net product revenue;

• a significant change in the senior management team, a change in the financial condition or a change in the business operations, including a change in control or internal
corporate restructuring, of any of our collaborators, could result
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in delayed timelines, re-prioritization of our programs, decreasing resources or funding allocated to support our programs, or termination of the collaborations; and

• collaborators may not comply with all applicable regulatory and legal requirements.

If any of these events occur, the market potential of Auryxia, Riona or Vafseo where approved, and any other products or product candidates, could be reduced, and our business
could be materially harmed. Collaborations may also divert resources, including the attention of management and other employees, from other parts of our business, which could
have an adverse effect on other parts of our business, and we cannot be certain that the benefits of the collaboration will outweigh the potential risks.
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We may seek to establish additional collaborations and, if we are not able to establish them on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, we may have to alter our
development and commercialization plans.

We may decide to enter into additional collaborations for the development and commercialization of Auryxia, Vafseo or our product candidates both within and outside of the U.S.
For example, in May 2023, we entered into the license agreement with Medice, pursuant to which we granted Medice an exclusive license to develop and commercialize Vafseo for
the treatment of anemia in patients with CKD in the Medice Territory. Any of these relationships may require us to incur non-recurring and other charges, increase our near and long-
term expenditures, issue securities that dilute our existing stockholders, divert management’s attention, or disrupt our business.

We may not be successful in entering into additional collaborations as a result of many factors, including the following:

• competition in seeking appropriate collaborators;

• a reduced number of potential collaborators due to recent business combinations in the pharmaceutical industry;

• an inability to negotiate collaborations on acceptable terms, on a timely basis or at all;

• any international rules, regulations, guidance, laws, risks or uncertainties with respect to potential partners outside of the U.S.;

• a potential collaborator’s evaluation of Auryxia, Vafseo or any other product or product candidate may differ substantially from ours;

• a potential collaborator’s evaluation of our financial stability and resources;

• a potential collaborator’s resources and expertise; and

• restrictions due to an existing collaboration agreement.

If we are unable to enter into additional collaborations in a timely manner, or at all, we may have to delay or curtail the commercialization of Auryxia, Vafseo or the development and
potential commercialization of any of our product candidates, reduce or delay our development programs, or increase our expenditures and undertake additional development or
commercialization activities at our own expense. If we elect to increase our expenditures to fund development or commercialization activities on our own, we may need to obtain
additional capital, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. If we do not have sufficient funds, we may not be able to further develop or commercialize Auryxia,
Vafseo or our other product candidates. For example, following the termination of our collaboration agreements with Otsuka in 2022, we incurred additional expenses in connection
with the development of Vafseo in Europe and other countries.

Even if we enter into additional collaboration agreements and strategic partnerships or license our intellectual property, we may not be able to maintain them or they may be
unsuccessful, which could delay our timelines or otherwise adversely affect our business.

Royalties from commercial sales of Vafseo under our MTPC Agreement will likely fluctuate and will impact our rights to receive future payments under our Royalty
Agreement with HCR.

Pursuant to the Royalty Agreement with HCR, we sold to HCR our right to receive the Royalty Interest Payments payable to us under the MTPC Agreement, subject to the Annual
Cap and the Aggregate Cap. After HCR receives Royalty Interest Payments equal to the Annual Cap in a given calendar year, we will receive 85% of the Royalty Interest Payments
for the remainder of that year. After HCR receives Royalty Interest Payments equal to the Aggregate Cap, or we pay the Aggregate Cap to HCR (net of the Royalty Interest
Payments already received by HCR), the Royalty Interest Payments will revert back to us, and HCR would have no further right to any Royalty Interest Payments. We received
$44.8 million from HCR (net of certain transaction expenses) under the Royalty Agreement.

The royalty revenues under the MTPC Agreement may fluctuate considerably because they depend upon, among other things, the rate of growth of sales of Vafseo in the territory
covered by the MTPC Agreement. Negative fluctuations in these royalty revenues could delay, diminish or eliminate our ability to receive 85% of the Royalty Interest Payments after
the Annual Cap is
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achieved in a given calendar year, or our ability to receive 100% of the Royalty Interest Payments after the Aggregate Cap is achieved.

We rely upon third parties to conduct all aspects of our product manufacturing and commercial distribution, and in many instances only have a single supplier or
distributor, and the loss of these manufacturers or distributors, their failure to supply us on a timely basis, or at all, or their failure to successfully carry out their
contractual duties or comply with regulatory requirements, cGMP requirements or guidance could cause delays in or disruptions to our supply chain and substantially
harm our business.

We do not have any manufacturing facilities and do not expect to independently manufacture any products or product candidates. We currently rely, and expect to continue to rely,
on third party manufacturers to produce all of our commercial,

Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. | Form 10-Q | Page 76

Table of Contents

clinical and preclinical supply. We also utilize third parties for the commercial distribution of Auryxia, including wholesale distributors and certain specialty pharmacy providers, and
we will utilize third parties for the commercial distribution of Vafseo. Our reliance on third party manufacturers, who have control over the manufacturing process, increases the risk
that we will not have or be able to maintain or distribute sufficient quantities of Auryxia, Vafseo or any of our product candidates or the ability to obtain such quantities at an
acceptable cost or quality, which could delay, prevent or impair our and our partners' development or commercialization efforts.

We currently rely on a single source supplier for each of Auryxia drug substance and drug product and Vafseo drug substance and drug product, and alternate sources of supply
may not be readily available. We have also engaged Cardinal Health, Inc. as the exclusive third-party logistics distribution agent for commercial sales of Auryxia. If any of the
following occurs, we may not have sufficient quantities of Auryxia, Vafseo or our product candidates to support our clinical trials, development, commercialization, or obtaining and
maintaining marketing approvals, which could materially and adversely impact our business and results of operations:

• we are unsuccessful in maintaining our current supply arrangements for commercial quantities of Auryxia and Vafseo;

• we are unsuccessful in validating new sites;

• our commercial supply arrangements for Auryxia or Vafseo are terminated;

• any of our third party manufacturers are unable to fulfill the terms of their agreements with us due to technical issues, natural disasters or other reasons, including with
respect to quality and quantity, or are unable or unwilling to continue to manufacture on the manufacturing lines included in our regulatory filings;

• any of our third party manufacturers breach our supply agreements, do not comply with quality or regulatory requirements and guidance, including cGMP or are subject to
regulatory review or ceases their operations for any reason; or

• any of our third party distributors fail to perform or encounter any damage or other disruption at their facilities.

If we, or any of our third party manufacturers or distributors cannot or do not perform as agreed or expected, or any of our customers were to experience further shutdowns, delays
or other business disruptions, including as a result of catastrophic events, including pandemics, terrorist attacks, wars or other armed conflicts, geopolitical tensions or natural
disasters, if they misappropriate our proprietary information, if they terminate their engagements with us, if we terminate our engagements with them, or if there is a significant
disagreement, we may be forced to manufacture or distribute the materials ourselves, for which we currently do not have the capabilities or resources, or enter into agreements with
other third party manufacturers or distributors, which we may not be able to do in a timely manner or on favorable or reasonable terms, if at all. If any of these events occur,
especially with respect to one of our sole source suppliers, we may not have sufficient quantities of product for the commercialization of Auryxia and/or Vafseo or may experience
delays in the development of our products or product candidates, which could materially and adversely impact our business and results of operation. For example, one of our
manufacturers has notified us that it will be discontinuing operations at one site at a future date and then we will only be able to manufacture at their other site. In some cases, there
may be a limited number of qualified replacement manufacturers, or the technical skills or equipment required to manufacture a product or product candidate may be unique or
proprietary to the original manufacturer and we may have difficulty transferring such skills or technology to another third party, or a feasible alternative may not exist. These factors
would increase our reliance on our current manufacturers or require us to obtain necessary regulatory approvals and licenses in order to have another third party manufacture
Auryxia or Vafseo. If we are required to change manufacturers for any reason, we will be required to verify that the new manufacturer maintains facilities and procedures that comply
with quality standards and with all applicable regulations and guidelines. The delays and costs associated with the qualification of a new manufacturer and validation of
manufacturing processes would negatively affect our ability to supply clinical trials, obtain and maintain marketing approval, or commercialize or satisfy patient demand for Auryxia
and Vafseo, where approved, in a timely manner, within budget, or at all.
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In addition, the cost of obtaining Auryxia and Vafseo is subject to adjustment based on our third party manufacturers’ costs of obtaining raw materials and producing the product. We
have limited control over the production costs of Auryxia and Vafseo, including the costs of raw materials, and have seen increases in the production costs of Auryxia and Vafseo,
and any significant increase in the cost of obtaining our products could materially adversely affect our revenue for Auryxia and Vafseo.

Moreover, issues that may arise in any scale-up and technology transfer and continued commercial scale manufacture of our products may lead to significant delays in our
development, marketing approval and commercial timelines for new products or affect commercial supply of Auryxia or Vafseo and negatively impact our financial performance. For
example, a production-related issue resulted in an interruption in the supply of Auryxia in the third and fourth quarters of 2016. This supply interruption negatively impacted our
revenues in 2016. This supply interruption was resolved, and we have taken and
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continue to take actions designed to prevent future interruptions in the supply of Auryxia. However, we recently had experienced issues in manufacturing Auryxia, and if we continue
to experience manufacturing issues  going forward, or incur additional costs, or our actions to prevent future interruptions are not successful, we may experience additional supply
issues. In addition, before we can manufacture product at a new site, we must validate the process at that site. If the process validation is unsuccessful, or takes longer than we
anticipate, we may have to expend additional resources and could experience a supply interruption. Any future supply interruptions, whether quality or quantity based, for Auryxia or
Vafseo where approved, would negatively and materially impact our reputation and financial condition.

There are a limited number of manufacturers that are capable of manufacturing Auryxia and Vafseo for us and complying with cGMP regulations and guidance and other stringent
regulatory requirements and guidance enforced by the FDA, EMA, PMDA and other regulatory authorities. These requirements include, among other things, quality control, quality
assurance and the maintenance of records and documentation, which occur in addition to our own quality assurance releases. The facilities and processes used by our third party
manufacturers to manufacture Auryxia and Vafseo may be inspected by the FDA and other regulatory authorities at any time, and the facilities and processes used by our third party
manufacturers to manufacture Vafseo will be inspected by the FDA, the EMA and other regulatory authorities prior to or after we submit our marketing applications. Although we
have general visibility into the manufacturing processes of our third party manufacturers, we do not ultimately control such manufacturing processes of, and have little control over,
our third party manufacturers, including, without limitation, their compliance with cGMP requirements and guidance for the manufacture of certain starting materials, drug substance
and finished drug product. Similarly, although we review final production, we have little control over the ability of our third party manufacturers to maintain adequate quality control,
quality assurance and qualified personnel. Our third party manufacturers may experience problems with their manufacturing and distribution operations and processes, including, for
example, quality issues, such as product specification and stability failures, procedural deviations, improper equipment installation or operation, utility failures, contamination, natural
disasters and public health epidemics. We may also encounter difficulties relating to our own quality processes and procedures, including regulatory compliance, lot release, quality
control and quality assurance, as well as shortages of qualified personnel. If our third party manufacturers cannot successfully manufacture material that conforms to our
specifications and regulatory requirements and guidance, or if we or our third party manufacturers experience manufacturing, operations and/or quality issues, including an inability
or unwillingness to continue manufacturing our products at all, in accordance with agreed-upon processes or on currently validated manufacturing lines, we may not be able to
supply patient demand or maintain marketing approval for Auryxia or Vafseo, secure and maintain marketing approval for Vafseo, and we might be required to expend additional
resources to obtain material from other manufacturers. If any of these events occur, our reputation and financial condition would be negatively and materially impacted. In addition,
during the year ended December 31, 2022, we had higher write-downs to inventory reserves related to Auryxia drug substance that will not be forward processed into drug product.
If we have additional write-downs to inventory reserves in the future, it could negatively impact our ability to supply Auryxia, and our financial condition could be harmed.

If the FDA, EMA or other regulatory authorities withdraws any approval of the facilities being used to manufacture Auryxia, Vafseo or any of our product candidates, we may need to
find alternative manufacturing facilities, which would significantly impact our ability to continue commercializing Auryxia or Vafseo in Japan, or to commercialize Vafseo in Europe
and other countries, or to develop, obtain marketing approval for or market Vafseo or our other product candidates, if approved.

Moreover, our failure or the failure of our third party manufacturers or distributors to comply with applicable regulations or guidance, or our failure to oversee or facilitate such
compliance, could result in sanctions being imposed on us or our third party manufacturers or distributors, including, where applicable, clinical holds, fines, injunctions, civil
penalties, delays in, suspension of or withdrawal of approvals, license revocation, seizures or recalls of Auryxia or Vafseo in Japan, operating restrictions, receipt of a Form 483 or
warning letter, or criminal prosecutions, any of which could significantly and adversely affect the supply of Auryxia or Vafseo. For example, we previously conducted three limited,
voluntary recalls of Auryxia. These and any other recalls or any supply, quality or manufacturing issues in the future and any related write-downs of inventory or other consequences
could result in significant negative consequences, including reputational harm, loss of customer confidence, and a negative impact on our financials, any of which could have a
material adverse effect on our business and
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results of operations, and may impact our ability to supply Auryxia or Vafseo for clinical and commercial use. Also, if our starting materials, drug substance or drug product are
damaged or lost while in our or our third party manufacturers’ or distributors' control, it may adversely impact our ability to supply Auryxia or Vafseo, and we may incur significant
financial harm.

In addition, Auryxia, Vafseo and our product candidates may compete with other products and product candidates for access to third party manufacturing facilities. A third party
manufacturer or distributor may also encounter delays or operational issues brought on by sudden internal resource constraints, labor disputes, shifting priorities or shifting
regulatory protocols. Certain of these third party manufacturing facilities may be contractually prohibited from manufacturing Auryxia, Vafseo or

Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. | Form 10-Q | Page 78

Table of Contents

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

87/132

our product candidates due to exclusivity provisions in agreements with our competitors. Any of the foregoing could negatively impact our third party manufacturers' or distributors'
ability to meet our demand, which could adversely impact our ability to supply Auryxia, Vafseo or our product candidates, and we may incur significant financial harm.

Our current and anticipated future dependence on third parties for the manufacture and distribution of Auryxia, Vafseo and our product candidates may adversely affect our and our
partners' ability to commercialize Auryxia, Vafseo and our product candidates, where approved, on a timely and competitive basis and may reduce any future profit margins.

We rely upon third parties to conduct our clinical trials and certain of our preclinical studies. If they do not successfully carry out their contractual duties, comply with
regulatory requirements or meet expected deadlines, we may not be able to obtain or maintain marketing approval for Auryxia, Vafseo or any of our product candidates,
and our business could be substantially harmed.

We do not have the ability to independently conduct certain preclinical studies and clinical trials. We are currently relying, and expect to continue to rely, upon third parties, such as
CROs, clinical data management organizations, medical institutions and clinical investigators, to conduct our current and future preclinical studies and clinical trials. The third parties
upon whom we rely may fail to perform effectively, or terminate their engagement with us, for a number of reasons, including the following:

• if they experience staffing difficulties;

• if we fail to communicate effectively or provide the appropriate level of oversight;

• if they undergo changes in priorities or corporate structure including as a result of a merger or acquisition or other transaction, or become financially distressed; or

• if they form relationships with other entities, some of which may be our competitors.

If the third parties upon whom we rely to conduct our trials fail to adhere to clinical trial protocols or to regulatory requirements, the quantity, quality or accuracy of the data obtained
by the third parties may be compromised. We are exposed to risk of fraud or other misconduct by such third parties.

Any of these events could cause our preclinical studies and clinical trials, including post-approval clinical trials, to be extended, delayed, suspended, required to be repeated or
terminated, or we may receive untitled warning letters or be the subject of an enforcement action, which could result in our failing to maintain marketing approval of Auryxia or
Vafseo, or failing to obtain or maintain marketing approval for any other product candidates on a timely basis or at all, any of which would adversely affect our business operations.
In addition, if the third parties upon whom we rely fail to perform effectively or terminate their engagement with us, we may need to enter into alternative arrangements, which could
delay, perhaps significantly, the development and commercialization of Auryxia, Vafseo or any other product candidates.

Even though we do not directly control the third parties upon whom we rely to conduct our preclinical studies and clinical trials and therefore cannot guarantee the satisfactory and
timely performance of their obligations to us, we are nevertheless responsible for ensuring that each of our clinical trials and preclinical studies is conducted in accordance with the
applicable protocol, legal and regulatory requirements, including GxP requirements, and scientific standards, and our reliance on these third parties, including CROs, will not relieve
us of our regulatory responsibilities. If we or any of our CROs, their subcontractors, or clinical or preclinical trial sites fail to comply with applicable GxP requirements, the clinical
data generated in our trials may be deemed unreliable or insufficient, our clinical trials could be put on hold, and/or the FDA, the EMA or other regulatory authorities may require us
to perform additional clinical trials before approving our marketing applications. In addition, our clinical and preclinical trials must be conducted with drug product that meets certain
specifications and is manufactured under applicable cGMP regulations. These requirements include, among other things, quality control, quality assurance, and the satisfactory
maintenance of records and documentation.

We also rely upon third parties to store and distribute drug product for our clinical trials. For example, we use third parties to store product at various sites in the U.S. to distribute to
our clinical trial sites. Any performance failure on the part of our storage or distributor partners could delay clinical development, marketing approval or commercialization, resulting
in additional costs and depriving us of potential product revenue.
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If the licensor of certain intellectual property relating to Auryxia terminates, modifies or threatens to terminate existing contracts or relationships with us, our business
may be materially harmed.

We do not own all of the rights to our product, Auryxia. We have licensed and sublicensed certain rights, patent and otherwise, to Auryxia from a third party, Panion, who in turn
licenses certain rights to Auryxia from one of the inventors of Auryxia. The license agreement with Panion, or the Panion License Agreement, requires us to meet development
milestones and imposes development and commercialization due diligence requirements on us. In addition, under the Panion License Agreement, we must pay royalties based on a
mid-single digit percentage of net sales of product resulting from the licensed technologies, including Auryxia, and pay the patent filing, prosecution and maintenance costs related
to the license. If we do
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not meet our obligations in a timely manner, or if we otherwise breach the terms of the Panion License Agreement, Panion could terminate the agreement, and we would lose the
rights to Auryxia. For example, following announcement of the Merger, Panion notified us in writing that Panion would terminate the Panion License Agreement on November 21,
2018 if we did not cure the breach alleged by Panion, specifically, that we failed to use commercially reasonable best efforts to commercialize Auryxia outside the U.S. We disagreed
with Panion’s claims, and the parties entered discussions to resolve this dispute. On October 24, 2018, prior to the consummation of the Merger, we and Panion entered into a letter
agreement, or the Panion Letter Agreement, pursuant to which Panion agreed to rescind any and all prior termination threats or notices relating to the Panion License Agreement
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and waived its rights to terminate the license agreement based on any breach by us of our obligation to use commercially reasonable efforts to commercialize Auryxia outside the
U.S. until the parties executed an amendment to the Panion License Agreement in accordance with the terms of the Panion Letter Agreement, following consummation of the
Merger. On April 17, 2019, we and Panion entered into an amendment and restatement of the Panion License Agreement, or the Panion Amended License Agreement, which
reflects certain revisions consistent with the terms of the Panion Letter Agreement. See Note 10, Commitments and Contingencies, to our unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements in Part I, Item 1. Financial Statements of this Form 10-Q for additional information regarding the Panion Amended License Agreement. Even though we entered
into the Panion Amended License Agreement, there are no assurances that Panion will not allege other breaches of the Panion Amended License Agreement or otherwise attempt
to terminate the Panion Amended License Agreement in the future. In addition, if Panion breaches its agreement with the inventor from whom it licenses rights to Auryxia, Panion
could lose its license, which could impair or delay our ability to develop and commercialize Auryxia.

From time to time, we may have disagreements with Panion, or Panion may have disagreements with the inventor from whom it licenses rights to Auryxia, regarding the terms of the
agreements or ownership of proprietary rights, which could impact the commercialization of Auryxia, could require or result in litigation or arbitration, which would be time-consuming
and expensive, could lead to the termination of the Panion Amended License Agreement, or force us to negotiate a revised or new license agreement on terms less favorable than
the original. In addition, in the event that the owners and/or licensors of the rights we license were to enter into bankruptcy or similar proceedings, we could potentially lose our rights
to Auryxia or our rights could otherwise be adversely affected, which could prevent us from continuing to commercialize Auryxia.

We currently rely on third parties in China for the manufacture of raw materials, drug substance and drug product for the commercial supply of Vafseo and for early-
stage research services. Our commercialization of Vafseo, or our development of our product candidates could be delayed, prevented or impaired if there are
disruptions or delays in obtaining these products or services.

The manufacturing of our drug substance and drug product for commercial supply of Vafseo takes place in China through a third-party manufacturer. Currently, we rely on a third-
party contract manufacturer in China, STA Pharmaceutical Hong Kong Limited, a subsidiary of WuXi AppTec, or WuXi STA, for the manufacture of Vafseo drug substance and drug
product for commercial use and will likely continue to rely on foreign CMOs in the future. We also rely on third parties in China for the supply of raw materials used in the
manufacture of Vafseo and for certain early-stage research services. Any disruption in production or inability of our manufacturers in China to produce adequate quantities to meet
our needs or to perform research services, whether as a result of changes in the regulatory framework in the U.S. or China, trade war, political unrest or unstable economic
conditions in China, or other causes could impair our ability to commercialize Vafseo or to develop our product candidates.

For example, in January 2024, the U.S. House of Representatives introduced the BIOSECURE Act (H.R. 7085) and the Senate advanced a substantially similar bill (S.3558), which
legislation, if passed and enacted into law, would have the potential to restrict the ability of U.S. biopharmaceutical companies like us to purchase services or products related to
biological materials from, or otherwise collaborate with, certain Chinese biotechnology companies “of concern” without losing the ability to contract with, or otherwise receive funding
from, the U.S. government. It is possible some of our contractual counterparties, including WuXi STA, could be impacted by this legislation, which, depending on the scope of the
final legislation if enacted, could adversely affect our business.

Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. | Form 10-Q | Page 81

The biopharmaceutical industry in China is strictly regulated by the Chinese government. Changes to Chinese regulations or government policies affecting biopharmaceutical
companies are unpredictable and may have a material adverse effect on our service providers in China, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects. Evolving changes in China’s public health, economic, political, and social conditions and the uncertainty around China’s relationship with other
governments, such as the United States and the UK, could also negatively impact our ability to manufacture Vafseo or other product candidates or have an adverse effect on our
ability to secure government funding, which could adversely affect our financial condition and cause us to delay the commercialization of Vafseo or other product candidates.

Risks Related to our Intellectual Property
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If we are unable to adequately protect our intellectual property, third parties may be able to use our intellectual property, which could adversely affect our ability to
compete in the market.

Our commercial success will depend in part on our ability, and the ability of our licensors, to obtain and maintain patent protection on our drug product and technologies, and to
successfully defend these patents against third party challenges. We seek to protect our proprietary products and technology by filing patent applications in the U.S. and certain
foreign jurisdictions. The process for obtaining patent protection is expensive and time consuming, and we may not be able to file and prosecute all necessary or desirable patent
applications in a cost effective or timely manner. In addition, we may fail to identify patentable subject matter early enough to obtain patent protection. Further, license agreements
with third parties may not allow us to control the preparation, filing and prosecution of patent applications, or the maintenance or enforcement of patents. Such third parties may
decide not to enforce such patents or enforce such patents without our involvement. Thus, these patent applications and patents may not, under these circumstances, be
prosecuted or enforced in a manner consistent with the best interests of the company.

Our pending patent applications may not issue as patents and may not issue in all countries in which we develop, manufacture or potentially sell our products or in countries where
others develop, manufacture and potentially sell products using our technologies. Moreover, our pending patent applications, if issued as patents, may not provide additional
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protection for our products.

The patent positions of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies can be highly uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions. No consistent policy regarding the
breadth of claims allowed in pharmaceutical and biotechnology patents has emerged to date. Changes in the patent laws or the interpretation of the patent laws in the U.S. and
other jurisdictions may diminish the value of our patents or narrow the scope of our patent protection. Accordingly, the patents we own or license may not be sufficiently broad to
prevent others from practicing our technologies or from developing competing products. Furthermore, others may independently develop similar or alternative drug products or
technologies or design around our patented drug products and technologies which may have an adverse effect on our business. If our competitors prepare and file patent
applications in the U.S. that claim technology also claimed by us, we may have to participate in interference or derivation proceedings in front of the U.S. Patent and Trademark
Office, or USPTO, to determine priority of invention, which could result in substantial cost, even if the eventual outcome is favorable to us. Because of the extensive time required for
development, testing and regulatory review of a potential product, it is possible that any related patent may expire prior to, or remain in existence for only a short period following,
commercialization, which may significantly diminish our ability to exclude others from commercializing products that are similar or identical to ours. The patents we own or license
may be challenged or invalidated or may fail to provide us with any competitive advantage. Since we have licensed or sublicensed many patents from third parties, we may not be
able to enforce such licensed patents against third party infringers without the cooperation of the patent owner and the licensor, which may not be forthcoming. In addition, we may
not be successful or timely in obtaining any patents for which we submit applications.

Generally, the first to file a patent application is entitled to the patent if all other requirements of patentability are met. However, prior to March 16, 2013, in the U.S., the first to invent
was entitled to the patent. Since publications of discoveries in the scientific literature often lag behind the actual discoveries, and patent applications in the U.S. and other
jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months after filing, or in some cases not at all, we cannot know with certainty whether we were the first to make the inventions
claimed in our patents or pending patent applications, or that we were the first to file for patent protection of such inventions. Moreover, the laws enacted by the Leahy-Smith
America Invents Act of 2011, which reformed certain patent laws in the U.S., introduce procedures that permit competitors to challenge our patents in the USPTO after grant,
including inter partes review and post grant review. Similar laws exist outside of the U.S. The laws of the European Patent Convention, for example, provide for post-grant opposition
procedures that permit competitors to challenge, or oppose, our European patents administratively at the European Patent Office, or EPO. EPO.

We may become involved in addressing patentability objections based on third party submission of references, or we may become involved in defending our patent rights in
oppositions, derivation proceedings, reexamination, inter partes review,
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post grant review, interference proceedings or other patent office proceedings or litigation, in the U.S. or elsewhere, challenging our patent rights or the patent rights of others. An
adverse result in any such proceeding or litigation could reduce the scope of, or invalidate, our patent rights, allow third parties to commercialize our technology or products and
compete directly with us, without payment to us.

The issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its inventorship, scope, validity or enforceability, and our owned and licensed patents may be challenged on such a basis in the
courts or patent offices in the U.S. and abroad. As a result of such challenges, we may lose exclusivity or freedom-to-operate or patent claims may be narrowed, invalidated or held
unenforceable, in whole or in part, which could limit our ability to prevent third parties from using or commercializing similar or identical products, or limit the duration of the patent
protection for our products.
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Periodic maintenance fees on any issued patent are due to be paid to the USPTO and foreign patent agencies in several stages over the lifetime of the patent. The USPTO and
governmental patent agencies in other jurisdictions also require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment (such as annuities) and other similar provisions
during the patent application process. While an inadvertent lapse in many cases can be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance with the applicable rules,
there are situations in which non-compliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the
relevant jurisdiction. Non-compliance events that could result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application include, but are not limited to, failure to respond to official
actions within prescribed time limits, non-payment of fees, and failure to properly legalize and submit formal documents. In such an event, our competitors might be able to enter the
market sooner than we expect, which would have a material adverse effect on our business.

In addition, patents protecting our product candidate might expire before or shortly after such candidate is commercialized. Thus, our patent portfolio may not provide sufficient rights
to exclude others from commercializing products similar or identical to ours.

We also rely on trade secrets and know-how to protect our intellectual property where we believe patent protection is not appropriate or obtainable. Trade secrets are difficult to
protect. While we require our employees, licensees, collaborators and consultants to enter into confidentiality agreements, this may not be sufficient to adequately protect our trade
secrets or other proprietary information. In addition, in some cases, we share certain ownership and publication rights to data relating to some of our products and product
candidates with research collaborators, licensees and other third parties. If we cannot maintain the confidentiality of this information, our ability to receive patent protection or protect
our trade secrets or other proprietary information will be at risk.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world.
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Filing, prosecuting and defending patents on our products and product candidates in all countries throughout the world would be prohibitively expensive. Consequently, the breadth
of our intellectual property rights in some countries outside the U.S. may be less extensive than those in the U.S. In addition, the laws of some countries do not protect intellectual
property rights to the same extent as laws in the U.S. As a result, we may not be able to prevent third parties from practicing our inventions in all countries outside the U.S., or from
selling or importing products made using our inventions in and into the U.S. or other countries. Competitors may use our technologies in countries where we have not obtained
patent protection to develop their own products and, further, may infringe our patents in territories where we have patent protection, but where enforcement is not as strong as in the
U.S. These products may compete with our products and our patents or other intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from competing.

Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in certain countries. The legal systems of certain countries,
particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents, trade secrets and other intellectual property, particularly those relating to pharmaceutical and
biotechnology products, which could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents or the marketing of competing products in violation of our proprietary rights
generally. Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in countries outside of the U.S. could result in substantial costs and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our
business, could put our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and our patent applications at risk of not issuing, and could provoke third parties to assert claims
against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that we initiate, and the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially meaningful. Accordingly, our efforts to
enforce our intellectual property rights around the world may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage for our products and product candidates from the
intellectual property that we develop or license.
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The intellectual property that we own or have licensed and related non-patent exclusivity relating to our current and future products is, and may be, limited, which
could adversely affect our ability to compete in the market and adversely affect the value of Auryxia, Vafseo or other future products.

The patent rights and related non-patent exclusivity that we own or have licensed relating to Auryxia, Vafseo or other future products, are, or may be limited in ways that may affect
our ability to exclude third parties from competing against us. For example, a third party may design around our owned or licensed composition of matter patent claims or market a
product for the methods of use not covered by our owned or licensed patents.

Obtaining proof of direct infringement by a competitor for a method of use patent requires us to demonstrate that the competitors make and market a product for the patented use(s).
Alternatively, we can prove that our competitors induce or contribute to others in engaging in direct infringement. Proving that a competitor contributes to or induces infringement of a
patented method by another has additional proof requirements. For example, proving inducement of infringement requires proof of intent by the competitor. If we are required to
defend ourselves against claims or to protect our own proprietary rights against others, it could result in substantial costs to us and the distraction of our management. An adverse
ruling in any
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litigation or administrative proceeding could prevent us or our partners from marketing and selling Auryxia, Vafseo or other future products, increase the risk that a generic or other
similar version of Auryxia, Vafseo or other future products could enter the market to compete with Auryxia, Vafseo or other future products, limit our or our partners' development and
commercialization of Auryxia, Vafseo or other future products, or otherwise harm our competitive position and result in additional significant costs.

Moreover, physicians may prescribe a competitive identical product for indications other than the one for which the product has been approved, or “off-label” indications, that are
covered by the applicable patents. Although such off-label prescriptions may directly infringe or contribute to or induce infringement of method of use patents, such infringement is
difficult to prevent.

In addition, any limitations of our patent protection described above may adversely affect the value of our drug product and may inhibit our ability to obtain a collaboration partner at
terms acceptable to us, if at all.

In addition to patent rights in the U.S., we may seek non-patent exclusivity for Vafseo and other future products under other provisions of the FDCA such as new chemical entity, or
NCE, exclusivity, or exclusivity for a new use or new formulation, but there is no guarantee that Vafseo or any other future products will receive such exclusivity. The FDCA provides
a five-year period of non-patent exclusivity within the U.S. to the first sponsor to gain approval of an NDA for an NCE. A drug is an NCE if the FDA has not previously approved any
other new drug containing the same active moiety, which consists of the molecule(s) or ion(s) responsible for the action of the drug substance (but not including those portions of the
molecule that cause it to be a salt or ester or which are not bound to the molecule by covalent or similar bonds). During the exclusivity period, the FDA may not accept for review an
ANDA or a 505(b)(2) NDA submitted by another company for another version of such drug where the sponsor does not own or have a legal right of reference to all the data required
for approval.

An ANDA that references an NDA product with NCE exclusivity may be submitted after four years if it contains a certification of patent invalidity or non-infringement. The FDCA also
provides three years of exclusivity for an NDA, particularly a 505(b)(2) NDA or supplement to an existing NDA, if new clinical investigations, other than bioavailability studies, that
were conducted or sponsored by the sponsor are deemed by the FDA to be essential to the approval of the application (for example, for new indications, dosages, or strengths of an
existing drug). This three-year exclusivity covers only the conditions associated with the new clinical investigations and does not prohibit the FDA from approving ANDAs for drugs
containing the original active agent. The three-year exclusivity period, unlike five-year exclusivity, does not prevent the submission of a competing ANDA or 505(b)(2) NDA. Instead,
it only prevents the FDA from granting final approval to such a product until expiration of the exclusivity period. Five-year and three-year exclusivity will not delay the submission (in
the case of five-year exclusivity) or the approval (in the case of three-year exclusivity) of a full NDA submitted under section 505(b)(1) of the FDCA; however, a sponsor submitting a
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full NDA would be required to conduct all of its own studies needed to independently support a finding of safety and effectiveness for the proposed product, or have a full right of
reference to all studies not conducted by the sponsor.

In cases where NCE exclusivity has been granted to a new drug product, the 30-month stay triggered by such litigation is extended by the amount of time such that seven years and
six months will elapse from the date of approval of the NDA for that product. Without NCE exclusivity, the 30-month stay on FDA final approval of an ANDA runs from the date on
which the sponsor of the reference listed drug receives notice of a Paragraph IV certification from the ANDA sponsor.

In addition to NCE, in the U.S., the FDA has the authority to grant additional regulatory exclusivity protection for approved drugs where the sponsor conducts specified testing in
pediatric or adolescent populations. If granted, this pediatric exclusivity may provide an additional six months which are added to the term of any non-patent exclusivity that has
been awarded as
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well as to the regulatory protection related to the term of a relevant patent, to the extent these protections have not already expired.

In addition, foreign regulatory authorities may change their approval policies and new regulations may be enacted regarding non-patent exclusivity. For example, EU pharmaceutical
legislation is currently undergoing a complete review process, in the context of the Pharmaceutical Strategy for Europe initiative, launched by the EC in November 2020. The EC’s
proposal for revision of several legislative instruments related to medicinal products, which may reduce the duration of regulatory data protection and exclusivity periods for orphan
drugs, and revise the eligibility for expedited pathways in addition to other changes, was published on April 26, 2023. On April 10, 2024, the European Parliament adopted a position
on the proposal requesting several amendments to the package. The proposed revisions remain to be agreed and adopted by the European Parliament and European Council and
the proposals may therefore be substantially revised before adoption, which is not anticipated before early 2026. The revisions may, however, have a significant impact on the
pharmaceutical industry and our business in the long term.

We cannot assure you that Auryxia, Vafseo or any of our potential future products will obtain such pediatric exclusivity, NCE exclusivity or any other market exclusivity in the U.S.,
EU or any other territory, or that we will be the first to receive the
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respective regulatory approval for such drugs so as to be eligible for any non-patent exclusivity protection. We also cannot assure you that Auryxia, Vafseo or any of our potential
future products will obtain patent term extension.

The market entry of one or more generic competitors or any third party’s attempt to challenge our intellectual property rights will likely limit Auryxia and Vafseo sales
and have an adverse impact on our business and results of operation.

Although the composition and use of Auryxia is currently claimed by 14 3 issued patents that are listed in the FDA’s Orange Book, or OB, and the composition and use of Vafseo is
currently claimed by 13 issued patents that are listed in the OB, we cannot assure you that we will be successful in defending against third parties attempting to invalidate or design
around our patents or asserting that our patents are invalid or otherwise unenforceable or not infringed, or in competing against third parties introducing generic equivalents of
Auryxia, Vafseo or any of our potential future products. If our Orange Book-listed patents are successfully challenged by a third party and a generic version of Auryxia or Vafseo is
approved and launched sooner than we anticipate, revenue from Auryxia or Vafseo, respectively, could decline significantly, which would have a material adverse effect on our
sales, results of operations and financial condition.

We previously received Paragraph IV certification notice letters regarding ANDAs submitted to the FDA requesting approval for generic versions of Auryxia tablets (210 mg ferric
iron per tablet). We filed complaints for patent infringement relating to such ANDAs, and subsequently entered into settlement and license agreements with all such ANDA filers that
allow such ANDA filers to market a generic version of Auryxia in the U.S. beginning on March 20, 2025. It is possible that we may receive Paragraph IV certification notice letters
from additional ANDA filers and may not ultimately be successful in an ANDA litigation. Generic competition for Auryxia or any of our potential future products could have a material
adverse effect on our sales, results of operations and financial condition.

Litigation and administrative proceedings, including third party claims of intellectual property infringement and opposition/invalidation proceedings against third party
patents, may be costly and time consuming and may delay or harm our drug discovery, development and commercialization efforts.

We may be forced to initiate litigation to enforce our contractual and intellectual property rights, or we may be sued by third parties asserting claims based on contract, tort or
intellectual property infringement. Competitors may infringe our patents or misappropriate our trade secrets or confidential information. We may not be able to prevent infringement
of our patents or misappropriation of our trade secrets or confidential information, particularly in countries where the laws may not protect those rights as fully as in the U.S. In
addition, third parties may have or may obtain patents in the future and claim that our products or other technologies infringe their patents. If we are required to defend against suits
brought by third parties, or if we sue third parties to protect our rights, we may be required to pay substantial litigation costs, and our management’s attention may be diverted from
operating our business. In addition, any legal action against our licensor, licensees or us that seeks damages or an injunction of commercial activities relating to Auryxia, Vafseo or
any product candidates or other technologies, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired, could subject us to monetary liability, a temporary or permanent injunction
preventing the development, marketing and sale of such products or such technologies, and/or require our licensor, licensees or us to obtain a license to continue to develop, market
or sell such products or other technologies. In addition, in an infringement proceeding, a court may decide that a patent of ours is not valid or is unenforceable, or may refuse to stop
the other party from using the technology at issue on the grounds that our patents do not cover the technology in question. We cannot predict whether our licensor, licensees or we
would prevail in any of these types of actions or that any required license would be made available on commercially acceptable terms, if at all.

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

92/132

Our commercial success depends in part on our avoiding infringement of the patents and proprietary rights of third parties. However, there may be patents of third parties of which
we are currently unaware with claims to compounds, materials,
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formulations, methods of manufacture or methods for treatment related to the use or manufacture of our product candidates. Also, because patent applications can take many years
to issue, there may be currently pending patent applications which may later result in issued patents that our product candidates may infringe. The pharmaceutical and
biotechnology industries are characterized by extensive litigation over patent and other intellectual property rights. We have in the past and may in the future become a party to, or
be threatened with, future adversarial litigation or other proceedings regarding intellectual property rights with respect to our product and product candidates. As the pharmaceutical
and biotechnology industries expand and more patents are issued, the risk increases that our product candidates may give rise to claims of infringement of the patent rights of
others.

While our product candidates are in preclinical studies and clinical trials, we believe that the use of our product candidates in these preclinical studies and clinical trials in the U.S.
falls within the scope of the exemptions provided by 35 U.S.C. Section 271(e), which provides that it shall not be an act of infringement to make, use, offer to sell, or sell within the
U.S. or import into the U.S. a patented invention solely for uses reasonably related to the development and submission of information to the FDA. There is an increased possibility of
a patent infringement claim against us with respect to commercial products. Our portfolio includes two commercial products: Auryxia and Vafseo. We attempt to ensure that our
products and product candidates and the methods we employ to manufacture them, as well as the methods for their use which we intend to
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promote, do not infringe other parties’ patents and other proprietary rights. There can be no assurance they do not, however, and competitors or other parties may assert that we
infringe their proprietary rights in any event.

FibroGen has filed patent applications in the U.S. and other countries directed to purportedly new methods of using previously known heterocyclic carboxamide compounds for
purposes of treating or affecting specified conditions, and some of these applications have since issued as patents. In November 2023, we and our collaboration partner, MTPC,
entered into a Settlement and Cross License Agreement, or the Settlement Agreement, with FibroGen and its collaboration partner, Astellas. The Settlement Agreement resolves all
patent disputes between us, MTPC, FibroGen and Astellas in the EU, the contracting states to the European Patent Convention, the UK and Japan, or the Settlement
Territory. Territory. We may in the future initiate invalidity actions or other legal proceedings with respect to FibroGen patents outside of the Settlement Territory. If we are not
successful in such proceedings, FibroGen could try to claim that our products infringe their patent rights.

Third parties, including FibroGen, may in the future claim that our products and product candidates and other technologies infringe upon their patents and may challenge our ability
to commercialize Auryxia and Vafseo. Parties making claims against us or our licensees may seek and obtain injunctive or other equitable relief, which could effectively block our or
their ability to continue to commercialize Auryxia or Vafseo or further develop and commercialize any product candidates, including those that may be in-licensed or acquired. If any
third party patents were held by a court of competent jurisdiction to cover the manufacturing process of any of our products or product candidates, any molecules formed during the
manufacturing process or any final product itself, the holders of any such patents may be able to block our ability to commercialize such product or product candidate unless we
obtained a license under the applicable patents, or until such patents expire or they are finally determined to be held invalid or unenforceable. Similarly, if any third party patent were
held by a court of competent jurisdiction to cover aspects of our formulations, processes for manufacture or our intended methods of use, the holders of any such patent may be
able to block or impair our ability to develop and commercialize the applicable product candidate unless we obtained a license or until such patent expires or is finally determined to
be held invalid or unenforceable. We may also elect to enter into a license in order to settle litigation or in order to resolve disputes prior to litigation. Furthermore, even in the
absence of litigation, we may need to obtain licenses from third parties to advance our research or allow commercialization of our products or product candidates. Should a license
to a third party patent become necessary, we cannot predict whether we would be able to obtain a license or, if a license were available, whether it would be available on
commercially reasonable terms. If such a license is necessary and a license under the applicable patent is unavailable on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, our ability to
commercialize our product or product candidate may be impaired or delayed, which could in turn significantly harm our business.

Further, defense of infringement claims, regardless of their merit, would involve substantial litigation expense and would be a substantial diversion of employee resources from our
business. In the event of a successful claim of infringement against us, we may have to pay substantial damages, including treble damages and attorneys’ fees for willful
infringement, pay royalties or redesign our products, which may be impossible or require substantial time and monetary expenditure.

In addition, there may be a challenge or dispute regarding inventorship or ownership of patents or applications currently identified as being owned by or licensed to us. Defense of
these claims, regardless of their merit, would involve substantial litigation expense and would be a substantial diversion of employee resources from our business. Interference
proceedings provoked by third parties or brought by the USPTO may be necessary to determine the priority of inventions with respect to our patents or patent applications.

Various administrative proceedings are also available for challenging patents, including interference, reexamination, inter partes review, and post-grant review proceedings before
the USPTO or oppositions and other comparable proceedings in
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foreign jurisdictions. Competitors may initiate an administrative proceeding challenging our issued patents or pending patent applications, which can be expensive and time-
consuming to defend. An adverse result in any current or future defense proceedings could put one or more of our patents at risk of being invalidated, held unenforceable, or
interpreted narrowly and held not infringed and could put our patent applications at risk of not issuing. In addition, an unfavorable outcome in any current or future proceeding in
which we are challenging third party patents could require us to cease using the patented technology or to attempt to license rights to it from the prevailing party. Our business could
be harmed if the prevailing party does not offer us a license on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Even if we are successful, participation in interference or other
administrative proceedings before the USPTO or a foreign patent office may result in substantial costs and distract our management and other employees.

We are currently involved in an opposition proceeding in the Indian Patent Office. The proceeding may be ongoing for a number of years and may involve substantial expense and
diversion of employee resources from our business. In addition, we may become involved in additional opposition proceedings or other legal or administrative proceedings in the
future. For more information, see the other risk factors under “Risks Related to our Intellectual Property”.
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Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation and some administrative proceedings, there is a risk that
some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during discovery. In addition, there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or
other interim proceedings or developments. If securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a substantial adverse effect on the price of our
common stock.

We may be subject to claims that our employees, consultants or independent contractors have wrongfully used or disclosed confidential information of third parties.

We have received confidential and proprietary information from potential collaborators, prospective licensees and other third parties. In addition, we employ individuals who were
previously employed at other biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies. We may be subject to claims that we or our employees, consultants or independent contractors have
inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed confidential information of these third parties or our employees’ former employers. We may also be subject to claims that former
employees, collaborators or other third parties have an ownership interest in our patents or other intellectual property. We may be subject to ownership disputes in the future arising,
for example, from conflicting obligations of consultants or others who are involved in developing our product candidates. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims.
If we fail in defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights, such as exclusive ownership of, or right to use,
valuable intellectual property. Such an outcome could have a material adverse effect on our business. Even if we are successful in defending against these claims, litigation could
result in substantial cost and be a distraction to our management and employees.

Risks Related to our Business and Managing Growth

If we fail to attract, retain and motivate senior management and qualified personnel, we may be unable to successfully develop and commercialize Auryxia or Vafseo.

Recruiting and retaining qualified personnel is critical to our success. We are also highly dependent on our executives, certain members of our senior management and certain
members of our commercial organization. The loss of the services of our executives, senior managers or other employees could impede the achievement of our research,
development, regulatory and commercialization objectives and seriously harm our ability to successfully implement our business strategy. Specifically, following receipt of the CRL,
we implemented a reduction of our workforce in April and May 2022 by approximately 42% across all areas of our Company (47% inclusive of the closing of the majority of open
positions), including several members of management. In November 2022, we also implemented a reduction of our workforce, by approximately 14% consisting of individuals within
our commercial organization as a result of our decision to shift to a strategic account management focused model for our commercial efforts. In addition, uncertainty related to the
outcome of regulatory decisions, could increase attrition. Losing members of management and other key personnel subjects us to a number of risks, including the failure to
coordinate responsibilities and tasks, the necessity to create new management systems and processes, the impact on corporate culture, and the retention of historical knowledge.

Furthermore, replacing executives, senior managers and other key employees may be difficult and may take an extended period of time because of the limited number of individuals
in our industry with the breadth of skills and experience required to successfully develop and commercialize Auryxia, Vafseo and any product candidates. Our future financial
performance and our ability to develop and commercialize Auryxia and Vafseo and to compete effectively will depend, in part, on our ability to manage any future growth effectively.
To that end, we must be able to hire, train, integrate, and retain additional qualified personnel with sufficient experience. We may be unable to hire, train, retain or motivate these
personnel on acceptable terms
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given the intense competition for our personnel from our competitors and other companies throughout our industry, particularly in our geographic region. Over the last several years,
the challenges in recruiting and retaining employees across the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries have increased substantially due to current industry job market
dynamics.

In addition, we rely on contractors, consultants and advisors, including scientific and clinical advisors, to assist us in formulating and executing our R&D and commercialization
strategy. Our contractors, consultants and advisors may become employed by companies other than ours and may have commitments with other entities that may limit their
availability to us. If additional members of management or other personnel leave, or we are unable to continue to attract and retain high quality personnel, our ability to grow and
pursue our business strategy will be limited.
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Our cost savings plan and the associated workforce reductions implemented in April, May and November 2022 may not result in anticipated savings, could result in
total costs and expenses that are greater than expected and could disrupt our business.

Following receipt of the CRL we implemented a reduction in workforce in April and May 2022 by approximately 42% across all areas of our Company, including several members of
management. In November 2022, we also implemented a reduction of
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our workforce, by approximately 14% consisting of individuals within our commercial organization as a result of our decision to shift to a strategic account management focused
model for our commercial efforts. The reductions in workforce reflected our determination to refocus our strategic priorities around our commercial product, Auryxia, and our
development portfolio, and were steps in a broader cost savings plan to significantly reduce our operating expense profile. We may not realize, in full or in part, the anticipated
benefits, savings and improvements in our cost structure from our restructuring efforts due to unforeseen difficulties, delays or unexpected costs. We recorded a restructuring charge
of approximately $0.2 million and $15.9 million in the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, primarily related to contractual termination benefits including
severance, non-cash stock-based compensation expense, healthcare and related benefits. If we are unable to realize the expected operational efficiencies and cost savings from
the restructuring, our operating results and financial condition would be adversely affected. We also cannot guarantee that we will not have to undertake additional workforce
reductions or restructuring activities in the future. Furthermore, our cost savings plan may be disruptive to our operations, including our commercialization of Auryxia and Vafseo,
which could affect our ability to generate product revenue. In addition, our workforce reductions could yield unanticipated consequences, such as attrition beyond planned staff
reductions, or disruptions in our day-to-day operations. Our workforce reductions could also harm our ability to attract and retain qualified management, scientific, clinical,
manufacturing and sales and marketing personnel who are critical to our business. Any failure to attract or retain qualified personnel could prevent us from successfully
commercializing Auryxia and Vafseo, and from successfully developing and commercializing our product candidates in the future. We will need to hire additional employees to
support the commercialization of Vafseo in the U.S., and if we are unsuccessful or delayed in doing so, the potential launch of Vafseo could be delayed.

We may encounter difficulties in managing our growth, including with respect to our employee base, and managing our partnerships and operations successfully.

In our day-to-day operations, we may encounter difficulties in managing the size of our operations as well as challenges associated with managing our business. We have strategic
collaborations for the commercialization of Riona in Japan, the development and commercialization of ferric citrate in Europe, and the development and commercialization of
vadadustat, which is now being or will be marketed under the trade name Vafseo by our collaboration partner, MTPC, in Japan and potentially other Asian countries and our
collaboration partner, Medice, in the Medice Territory. As our operations continue, we expect that we will need to manage our current relationships and enter into new relationships
with various strategic collaborators, consultants, vendors, suppliers and other third parties. These relationships are complex and create numerous risks as we deal with issues that
arise.

For example, we supply or have agreed to supply, as applicable, Auryxia in Europe, Vafseo in Japan, Europe, the U.S. and other territories where it is approved for commercial and
clinical use to MTPC, Medice and Averoa, which will require us to successfully manage our limited financial and managerial resources. In addition, we may not be able to obtain the
raw materials or product that we need, or the cost of the raw materials or product may be higher than expected. If we are unable to successfully manage our supply obligations, our
ability to commercialize our products or supply such products to our partners could have a material adverse effect on our relationships with our partners and our results of
operations.

Our future financial performance and our ability to commercialize Auryxia and Vafseo where approved, and to compete effectively will depend, in part, on our ability to manage any
future growth effectively. This future growth will impose significant added responsibilities on the business and members of management. To manage any future growth, we must
continue to implement and improve our managerial, operational and financial systems, procedures and processes. For example, we recently transitioned to a new enterprise
resource planning system and if we encounter any difficulties or issues with the new system it could affect our ability to close our books and complete our financial reporting in a
timely manner. We
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may not be able to implement these improvements in an efficient or timely manner and may discover deficiencies in existing systems, procedures and processes. Moreover, the
systems, procedures and processes currently in place or to be implemented may not be adequate for any such growth. Any expansion of our operations may lead to significant
costs and may divert our management and business development resources. Any inability to manage growth could delay the execution of our business plans or disrupt our
operations. We may not be able to accomplish these tasks, and our failure to accomplish any of them could prevent us from successfully managing and, as applicable, growing our
Company.

In addition, we may need to further adjust the size of our workforce as a result of changes to our expectations for our business, which can result in management being required to
divert a disproportionate amount of its attention away from our day-to-day activities and devote a substantial amount of time to managing these growth-related activities and related
expenses. Further, we rely on independent third parties to provide certain services to us. We structure our relationships with these outside service providers in a manner that we
believe results in an independent contractor relationship, not an employee relationship. If any of our service providers are later legally deemed to be employees, we could be subject
to employment and tax withholding liabilities and other additional costs as well as other multiple damages and attorneys’ fees.
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We have identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 relating to our accounting for inventory and inventory
related transactions. If we are not able to remediate this material weakness, or if we experience additional material weaknesses or other deficiencies in our internal
control over financial reporting in the future or otherwise fail to maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting, we may not be able to
accurately or timely report our financial results or prevent fraud, and we may conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is not effective, which may
adversely affect our business.

Effective internal control over financial reporting is necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and, together with adequate disclosure controls and procedures, is designed
to prevent fraud. Any failure to maintain or implement required new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in implementation could cause us to fail to meet our reporting
obligations. In addition, any testing by us, as and when required, conducted in connection with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, or Section 404, or any testing by our
independent registered public accounting firm may reveal deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting that are deemed to be material weaknesses or that may require
prospective or retroactive changes to our consolidated financial statements or identify other areas for further attention or improvement.

As previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, or the 2023 Form 10-K,, we identified a material weakness in our internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim consolidated financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Specifically, our
management concluded that we did not design and maintain effective controls over the completeness and accuracy of accounting for inventory and inventory related transactions,
including inventory reconciliations, calculation of overheads, presentation of inventory in our balance sheet between short-term and long-term and our liabilities related to the
calculation of firm purchase commitments. For further discussion of the material weakness, see Part I, Item 4, “Controls and Procedures.”

We have taken and plan to continue to take actions to remediate this material weakness, including (i) implementing and documenting new processes and controls to help ensure the
completeness and accuracy of our inventory reconciliations, (ii) engaging additional third-party subject matter experts and accounting personnel with U.S. GAAP experience specific
to inventory accounting, (iii) enhancing the accuracy of key reports used to calculate the firm purchase commitment liability and (iv) establishing effective monitoring and oversight
controls to help to ensure the completeness and accuracy of inventory included in our financial statements and related disclosures. However, we cannot provide assurance that we
will be able to correct this material weakness in a timely manner or that our remediation efforts will be adequate to allow us to conclude that our internal control over financial
reporting will be effective in the future. Even if this material weakness is remediated in the future, we could identify additional material weaknesses or deficiencies in our internal
control over financial reporting that could require correction or remediation. For example, we previously identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2022 relating to our product return reserves that resulted in a revision of our financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020.

In addition, our conclusion that we have a material weakness could give rise to increased scrutiny, review, audit and investigation over our accounting controls and procedures,
which could then lead to additional areas of deficiency or errors in our financial statements.

We will need to continue to dedicate internal resources, engage outside consultants and maintain a detailed work plan to assess and document the adequacy of internal control over
financial reporting, continue steps to remediate the material weakness relating to our accounting for inventory and inventory related transactions described above and any future
control deficiencies or material weaknesses, and improve control processes as appropriate, validate through testing that controls are functioning as documented and maintain a
continuous reporting and improvement process for internal control over financial
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reporting. If we are not able to correct material weaknesses or deficiencies in internal controls in a timely manner or otherwise comply with the requirements of Section 404 in a
timely manner, our ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information accurately and within applicable time periods may be adversely affected, and we could be
subject to sanctions or investigations by the SEC, the Nasdaq Stock Market or other regulatory authorities as well as stockholder litigation which, even if resolved in our favor, would
require additional financial and management resources and could adversely affect the market price of our common stock. Any failure to maintain or implement required effective
internal control over financial reporting, or any difficulties we encounter in their implementation, could result in additional material weaknesses, cause us to fail to meet our reporting
obligations or result in material misstatements in our financial statements. Furthermore, if we cannot provide reliable financial reports or prevent fraud, our business and results of
operations could be harmed. Inferior internal controls could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information, which could have a negative effect on the
trading price of our common stock and could also affect our ability to raise capital to fund future business initiatives.
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Security breaches and unauthorized use of our information technology systems and information, or the information technology systems or information in the
possession of our collaborators and other third parties, could damage the integrity of our clinical trials, impact our regulatory filings, compromise our ability to protect
our intellectual property, and subject us to regulatory actions that could result in significant fines or other penalties.

We, our collaborators, contractors and other third parties rely significantly upon information technology, and any failure, inadequacy, interruption or security lapse of that technology,
including any cybersecurity incidents, could harm our ability to operate our business effectively. In addition, we and our collaborators, contractors and other third parties rely on
information technology networks and systems, including the Internet and artificial intelligence based software, to process, transmit and store clinical trial data, patient information,
and other electronic information, and manage or support a variety of business processes, including operational and financial transactions and records, personal identifying
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information, payroll data and workforce scheduling information. We purchase most of our information technology from vendors, on whom our systems depend. We rely on
commercially available systems, software, tools and monitoring to provide security for the processing, transmission and storage of company and customer information.

In the ordinary course of our business, we and our third party contractors maintain personal and other sensitive data on our and their respective networks, including our intellectual
property and proprietary or confidential business information relating to our business and that of our clinical trial patients and business partners. In particular, we rely on CROs and
other third parties to store and manage information from our clinical trials. We also rely on third parties to manage patient information for Auryxia and Vafseo. Additionally, the use of
artificial intelligence based software is increasingly being used in the biopharmaceutical industry. Use of artificial intelligence based software may lead to the release of confidential
proprietary information, which may impact our ability to realize the benefit of our intellectual property. The secure maintenance of this sensitive information is critical to our business
and reputation.

Companies and other entities and individuals have been increasingly subject to a wide variety of security incidents, cyber-attacks and other attempts to gain unauthorized access to
systems and information. These threats can come from a variety of sources, ranging in sophistication from individual hackers to state-sponsored attacks. Attackers have used
artificial intelligence and machine learning to launch more automated, targeted and coordinated attacks against targets. Cyber threats may be broadly targeted, or they may be
custom-crafted against our information systems or those of our vendors or third party service providers. A security breach, cyberattack or unauthorized access of our clinical data or
other data could damage the integrity of our clinical trials, impact our regulatory filings, cause significant risk to our business, compromise our ability to protect our intellectual
property, and subject us to regulatory actions, including under the GDPR and CCPA discussed elsewhere in these risk factors and the privacy or security rules under federal, state,
or other local laws outside of the U.S. protecting confidential or personal information, that could be expensive to defend and could result in significant fines or other penalties.
Cyberattacks can include malware, computer viruses, hacking, social engineering, zero day vulnerabilities or other unauthorized access or other significant compromise of our
computer, communications and related systems. Although we take steps to manage and avoid these risks and to be prepared to respond to attacks, our preventive and any remedial
actions may not be successful and no such measures can eliminate the possibility of the systems’ improper functioning or the improper access or disclosure of confidential or
personally identifiable information such as in the event of cyberattacks. Security breaches, whether through physical or electronic break-ins, computer viruses, ransomware,
impersonation of authorized users, attacks by hackers or other means, can create system disruptions or shutdowns or the unauthorized disclosure of confidential information.

Although we believe our collaborators, vendors and service providers, such as our CROs, take steps to manage and avoid information security risks and respond to attacks, we may
be adversely affected by attacks against our collaborators, vendors or service providers, and we may not have adequate contractual remedies against such collaborators, vendors
and service providers to remedy any harm to our business caused by such event. Additionally, outside parties may attempt to fraudulently
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induce employees, collaborators, or other contractors to disclose sensitive information or take other actions, including making fraudulent payments or downloading malware, by
using “spoofing” and “phishing” emails or other types of attacks. Our employees may be targeted by such fraudulent activities. Outside parties may also subject us to distributed
denial of services attacks or introduce viruses or other malware through “trojan horse” programs to our users’ computers in order to gain access to our systems and the data stored
therein. Cyber-attacks have become more prevalent and much harder to detect and defend against. Because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access, disable or degrade
service, or sabotage systems change frequently and continuously become more sophisticated, including the use of artificial intelligence to generate sophisticated spoofed emails
and deep fake voice and video, often are not recognized until launched against a target and may be difficult to detect for a long time, we may be unable to anticipate these
techniques or to implement adequate preventive or detective measures, and we might not immediately detect such incidents and the damage caused by such incidents.

Such attacks, whether successful or unsuccessful, or other compromises with respect to our information security and the measures we implement to prevent, detect and respond to
them, could:
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• result in our incurring significant costs related to, for example, rebuilding internal systems, defending against litigation, responding to regulatory inquiries or actions, paying
damages or fines, or taking other remedial steps with respect to third parties;

• lead to public exposure of personal information of participants in our clinical trials, Auryxia patients and others;

• damage the integrity of our studies or delay their completion, disrupt our development programs, our business operations and commercialization efforts;

• compromise our ability to protect our trade secrets and proprietary information;

• damage our reputation and deter business partners from working with us; or

• divert the attention of our management and key information technology resources.

Any failure to maintain proper functionality and security of our internal computer and information systems could result in a loss of, or damage to, our data or marketing applications
or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, interrupt our operations, damage our reputation, subject us to liability claims or regulatory penalties, under a
variety of federal, state or other applicable privacy laws, such as HIPAA, the GDPR, or state data protection laws including the CCPA, harm our competitive position and delay the
further development and commercialization of our products and product candidates, or impact our relationships with customers and patients.

Our employees, independent contractors, principal investigators, CROs, CMOs, consultants and vendors may engage in misconduct or other improper activities,
including non-compliance with regulatory standards and requirements and insider trading. In addition, laws and regulations governing any international operations we
have or may have in the future may require us to develop and implement costly compliance programs.
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We are exposed to the risk that our employees, independent contractors, principal investigators, CROs, CMOs, consultants and vendors may engage in fraudulent conduct or other
illegal activity. Misconduct by these parties could include intentional, reckless and/or negligent conduct or unauthorized activities that violate applicable laws, including the following:

• FDA and other healthcare authorities’ regulations, including those laws that require the reporting of true, complete and accurate information to regulatory authorities, and
those prohibiting the promotion of unapproved drugs or approved drugs for an unapproved use;

• quality standards, including GxP;

• federal and state healthcare fraud and abuse laws and regulations and their non-U.S. equivalents;

• anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws, such as the FCPA and the UK Bribery Act or country-specific anti-bribery or anti-corruption laws, as well as various import and export
laws and regulations;

• laws that require the reporting of true and accurate financial information and data; and

• U.S. state and federal securities laws and regulations and their non-U.S. equivalents, including those related to insider trading.

We hold a marketing authorization for Vafseo from the TGA, and we conducted our global clinical trials for Vafseo, and may in the future conduct additional trials, in countries where
corruption is prevalent, and violations of any of these laws by our personnel or by any of our vendors or agents, such as our CROs or CMOs, could have a material adverse impact
on our clinical trials and our business and could result in criminal or civil fines and sanctions. We are subject to complex laws that govern our international business practices. These
laws include the FCPA, which prohibits U.S. companies and their intermediaries, such as CROs or CMOs, from making improper payments to foreign government officials for the
purpose of obtaining or keeping business or obtaining any kind of advantage for the company. The FCPA also requires companies to keep accurate books and
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records and maintain adequate accounting controls. A number of past and recent FCPA investigations by the Department of Justice and the SEC have focused on the life sciences
sector.

Compliance with the FCPA is expensive and difficult, particularly in countries in which corruption is a recognized problem. Some of the countries in which we have conducted clinical
trials and in which we have CMOs have a history of corruption, which increases our risks of FCPA violations. In addition, the FCPA presents unique challenges in the pharmaceutical
industry because in many countries’ hospitals are operated by the government, and doctors and other hospital employees are considered foreign government officials. Certain
payments made by pharmaceutical companies, or on their behalf by CROs, to hospitals in connection with clinical trials and other work have been deemed to be improper payments
to government officials and have led to FCPA enforcement actions.

Additionally, the UK Bribery Act applies to our global activities and prohibits bribery of private individuals as well as public officials. The UK Bribery Act prohibits both the offering and
accepting of a bribe and imposes strict liability on companies for failing to prevent bribery, unless the company can show that it had “adequate procedures” in place to prevent
bribery. There
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are also local anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws in countries where we have conducted clinical trials, and many of these also carry the risk of significant financial or criminal
penalties.

We are also subject to trade control regulations and trade sanction laws that restrict the movement of certain goods, currency, products, materials, services and technology to, and
certain operations in, various countries or with certain persons. Our ability to transfer commercial and clinical product and other clinical trial supplies, and for our employees,
independent contractors, principal investigators, CROs, CMOs, consultants and vendors ability to travel, between certain countries is subject to maintaining required licenses and
complying with these laws and regulations.

Employee misconduct could also involve the improper use of information obtained in the course of clinical trials, which could result in regulatory sanctions and serious harm to our
reputation. This could include violations of HIPAA, other U.S. federal and state laws, and requirements of non-U.S. jurisdictions, including the GDPR. We are also exposed to risks in
connection with any insider trading violations by employees or others affiliated with us.

The internal controls, policies and procedures, and training and compliance programs we have implemented to deter prohibited practices may not be effective in preventing our
employees, contractors, consultants, agents or other representatives from violating or circumventing such internal policies or violating applicable laws and regulations. The failure to
comply with laws governing international business practices may impact any future clinical trials, result in substantial civil or criminal penalties for us and any such individuals,
including imprisonment, suspension or debarment from government contracting, withdrawal of our products, if approved, from the market, or being delisted from The Nasdaq Capital
Market. In addition, we may incur significant costs in implementing sufficient systems, controls and processes to ensure compliance with the aforementioned laws. The laws and
regulations referenced above may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, sales commission, customer incentive programs and other
business arrangements that could adversely affect our business.

Additionally, it is not always possible to identify and deter misconduct by employees and third parties, and the precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be
effective in controlling known or unknown risks or preventing losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to be in
compliance with such laws or regulations. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, or if any such action
is instituted against our employees, consultants, independent contractors, CROs, CMOs, vendors or principal investigators, those actions could have a significant impact on our
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business, including the imposition of civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, monetary fines, possible exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other
federal healthcare programs, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, curtailment of our operations, disclosure of our confidential information
and imprisonment, any of which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our results of operations.

Our financial statements include long-lived assets, including goodwill and an intangible asset as a result of the Merger. The intangible asset has become impaired and
could become further impaired in the future under certain conditions. In addition, other long-lived assets, including property and equipment, right-of-use assets or
goodwill could become impaired in the future under certain conditions. Any potential future impairment of property and equipment, our right-of-use assets, goodwill or
intangible asset may significantly impact our results of operations and financial condition.

As of June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, we had approximately $77.1 million $68.1 million in the aggregate of goodwill and a definite lived intangible asset from the Merger, $2.9
million $2.5 million of property and equipment and $10.4 million $9.3 million right-of-use assets. In accordance with ASC 350, Goodwill and Other, we are required annually for
goodwill, or more frequently upon certain indicators of impairment, to review our estimates and assumptions underlying the fair value of our goodwill and intangible asset. In
addition, under ASC 360, Property, Plant and Equipment, we are required to review our property and equipment and right-of-use assets whenever
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events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Events giving rise to impairment of long-lived assets are an inherent risk
in the pharmaceutical industry and often cannot be predicted.

Conditions that could indicate impairment and necessitate such a review include, but are not limited to, Auryxia’s commercial performance, our inability to execute on our strategic
initiatives, the deterioration of our market capitalization such that it is significantly below our net book value, a significant adverse change in legal factors, unexpected adverse
business conditions, and an adverse action or assessment by a regulator. To the extent we conclude our long-lived assets have become impaired, we may be required to incur
material write-offs relating to such impairment and any such write-offs could have a material impact on our future operating results and financial position. The estimates, judgments
and assumptions used in our impairment analyses, and the results of our analyses, are discussed in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, to our unaudited
condensed consolidated financial statements in Part I, Item 1. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Form 10-Q. If these estimates, judgments and assumptions
change in the future, including if Auryxia does not meet its current forecasted projections, additional impairment charges related to plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, goodwill
or our intangible asset could be recorded in the future and additional corresponding adjustments may need to be made to the
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estimated useful life of the developed product rights for Auryxia, which could materially impact our financial position, certain of our material agreements, and our future operating
results.

If product liability lawsuits are brought against us, we may incur substantial liabilities and may be required to limit commercialization of Auryxia or Vafseo.

We face an inherent risk of product liability as a result of the clinical and commercial use of Auryxia and Vafseo. For example, we may be sued if Auryxia or Vafseo allegedly causes
injury or is found to be otherwise unsuitable during clinical trials, manufacturing, marketing or sale. Any such product liability claims may include allegations of defects in
manufacturing, defects in design, a failure to warn of dangers inherent in the product or product candidate, negligence, strict liability and breach of warranties. Claims could also be
asserted under state consumer protection acts. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against product liability claims, we may incur substantial liabilities or be required to limit
commercialization of Auryxia or Vafseo. Even a successful defense would require significant financial and management resources. Regardless of the merits or eventual outcome,
product liability claims may result in:

• decreased demand for Auryxia or Vafseo;

• injury to our reputation and significant negative media attention;

• withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

• delay or termination of clinical trials;

• our inability to continue to develop Auryxia or Vafseo;

• significant costs to defend the related litigation;

• a diversion of management’s time and our resources;

• substantial monetary awards to study subjects or patients;

• product recalls or withdrawals, or labeling, marketing or promotional restrictions;

• decreased demand for Auryxia or Vafseo;

• loss of revenue;

• the inability to commercialize Auryxia or Vafseo; and
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• a decline in our stock price.

Failure to obtain and retain sufficient product liability insurance at an acceptable cost to protect against potential product liability claims could prevent or inhibit the commercialization
of products we develop. We currently carry product liability insurance that we believe is appropriate for our Company. Although we maintain product liability insurance, any claim that
may be brought against us could result in a court judgment or settlement in an amount that is not covered, in whole or in part, by our insurance or that is in excess of the limits of our
insurance coverage. Our insurance policies also have various exclusions, and we may be subject to a product liability claim for which we have insufficient or no coverage. If we have
to pay any amounts awarded by a court or negotiated in a settlement that exceed our coverage limitations or that are not covered by our insurance, we may not have, or be able to
obtain, sufficient capital to pay such amounts. In addition, insurance coverage is becoming increasingly expensive, and we may not be able to maintain insurance coverage at a
reasonable cost. We also may not be able to obtain additional insurance coverage that will be adequate to cover additional product liability risks that may arise. Consequently, a
product liability claim may result in losses that could be material to our business.
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We will continue to incur increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management will be required to devote substantial time to compliance
initiatives and corporate governance practices.

As a public company, we operate in a demanding regulatory environment, and we have and will continue to incur significant legal, accounting, auditing and other expenses. The
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the listing requirements of The Nasdaq Capital Market
and other applicable securities rules and regulations impose various requirements on public companies, including establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure and
financial controls and certain corporate governance practices. In particular, our compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act has required and will continue to require that
we incur substantial accounting-related expenses and expend significant management efforts. Our testing, or the testing by our independent registered public accounting firm, may
reveal deficiencies in our internal controls that we would be required to remediate in a timely manner. If we are not able to comply with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act,
we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by the SEC, the Nasdaq Capital Market or other regulatory authorities, which would require additional financial and management
resources and could adversely affect the market price of our securities. Furthermore, if we cannot provide reliable financial reports or prevent fraud, including as a result of remote
working by our employees, our business and results of operations would likely be materially and adversely affected.
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We cannot predict or estimate the amount of additional costs we may incur to continue to operate as a public company, nor can we predict the timing of such costs. These rules and
regulations are often subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity and, as a result, their application in practice may evolve over time as new
guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies, which could result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing
revisions to disclosure and governance practices.

Claims for indemnification by our directors and officers may reduce our available funds to satisfy successful third-party claims against us and may reduce the amount
of money available to us.

Our Ninth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, or Charter, and our Second Amended and Restated Bylaws, or Bylaws, as amended to date, contain
provisions that eliminate, to the maximum extent permitted by the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, or DGCL, the personal liability of our directors and executive
officers for monetary damages for breach of their fiduciary duties as a director or officer. Our Charter and our Bylaws also provide that we will indemnify our directors and executive
officers and may indemnify our employees and other agents to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL.

In addition, as permitted by Section 145 of the DGCL our Bylaws and our indemnification agreements that we have entered into with our directors and executive officers provide
that:

• We will indemnify our directors and officers, as defined in our Bylaws, for serving us in those capacities or for serving other related business enterprises at our request, to
the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. Delaware law provides that a corporation may indemnify such person if such person acted in good faith and in a manner such
person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of Akebia and, with respect to any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe such
person’s conduct was unlawful.

• We may, in our discretion, indemnify employees and agents in those circumstances where indemnification is permitted by applicable law.

• We are required to advance expenses, as incurred, to our directors and officers in connection with defending a proceeding, except that such directors or officers shall
undertake to repay such advances if it is ultimately determined that such person is not entitled to indemnification.

• The rights conferred in our Bylaws are not exclusive, and we are authorized to enter into indemnification agreements with our directors, officers, employees and agents and
to obtain insurance to indemnify such persons.

Any claims for indemnification made by our directors or officers could impact our cash resources and our ability to fund the business.

Our ability to use net operating losses to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations.
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Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, or Section 382, a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-change
net operating losses, or NOLs, to offset future taxable income. On December 12, 2018, we completed the Merger, which we believe has resulted in an ownership change under
Section 382. In addition, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, including amendments made by the CARES Act, includes changes to U.S. federal tax rates and the rules governing net
operating loss carryforwards that may significantly impact our ability to utilize our net operating losses to fully offset taxable income in the future. Future changes in our stock
ownership, many of which are outside of our control, could result in an additional ownership change under Section 382. As a result, if we generate taxable income, our
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ability to use our pre-change NOL carryforwards to offset federal taxable income may be subject to limitations, which could potentially result in increased future tax liability to us. At
the state level, state net operating losses generated in one state cannot be used to offset income generated in another state and there may be periods during which the use of NOL
carryforwards is suspended or otherwise limited, which could accelerate or permanently increase state taxes owed.

Furthermore, our ability to utilize our NOLs is conditioned upon our attaining profitability and generating U.S. taxable income. As described above under “—Risks Related to our
Financial Position, Need for Additional Capital and Growth Strategy,” we have incurred significant net losses since our inception and anticipate that we will continue to incur losses
for the foreseeable future; thus, we do not know whether or when we will generate the U.S. taxable income necessary to utilize our NOLs.

Our Charter designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and exclusive forum for certain types of actions and proceedings that may be
initiated by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees.

Our Charter provides that, subject to limited exceptions, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or
proceeding brought on our behalf, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers or other employees to us or our stockholders,
(iii) any action asserting a
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claim against us arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL our Charter or our Bylaws, or (iv) any other action asserting a claim against us, our directors, officers or other
employees that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine. Under our Charter, this exclusive forum provision will not apply to claims that are vested in the exclusive jurisdiction of a
court or forum other than the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, or for which the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware does not have subject matter jurisdiction. For
instance, the provision would not apply to actions arising under federal securities laws, including suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Securities Exchange Act,
of 1934, as amended, or the rules and regulations thereunder. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock shall be deemed to
have notice of and to have consented to the provisions of our Charter described above. This choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial
forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and
employees. Alternatively, if a court were to find these provisions of our Charter inapplicable to, or unenforceable with respect to, one or more of the specified types of actions or
proceedings, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters in other jurisdictions, which could adversely affect our business and financial condition..

We are currently subject to legal proceedings that could result in substantial costs and divert management's attention, and we could be subject to additional legal
proceedings.

We are currently subject to an opposition proceeding in the Indian Patent Office as described in Part I, Item 3. Legal Proceedings in our 2023 Form 10-K, filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on March 14, 2024, and additional claims may arise in the future. In addition, securities class action and derivative lawsuits and other legal proceedings
are often brought against companies for any of the risks described in this Form 10-Q following a decline in the market price of their securities. In connection with any litigation or
other legal proceedings, we could incur substantial costs, and such costs and any related settlements or judgments may not be covered by insurance. Monetary damages or any
other adverse judgment would have a material adverse effect on our business and financial position. In addition, if other resolution or actions taken as a result of legal proceedings
were to restrain our ability to operate or market our products and services, our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows could be materially adversely
affected. We could also suffer an adverse impact on our reputation, negative publicity and a diversion of management’s attention and resources, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business.

Risks Related to our Common Stock

Our stock price has been and may continue to be volatile, which could result in substantial losses for holders or future purchasers of our common stock and lawsuits
against us and our officers and directors. directors and could result in substantial costs and divert management's attention.

Our stock price has been and will likely continue to be volatile. The stock market in general and the market for similarly situated biopharmaceutical companies specifically have
experienced extreme volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies, such as rising inflation and increasing interest rates. Since our
initial public offering in March 2014, the price of our common stock as reported on The Nasdaq Stock Market has ranged from a low of $0.24 on October 24, 2022 to a high of
$31.00 on June 20, 2014. The daily closing market price for our common stock varied between a high price of $1.63 $1.55 on April 1, 2024 August 26, 2024 and August 30, 2024
and a low price of $0.86 $0.94 on June 25, 2024 July 5, 2024 in the three-month period ending on June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024. During that time, the price of our common
stock ranged from an intra-day low of $0.80 $0.91 per share to an intra-day high of $1.93 $1.58 per share. The market price of shares of our common stock could be subject to wide
fluctuations in response to many risk factors listed in this section, including, among others, developments related to and results of our research or clinical trials, developments
related to our regulatory submissions and meetings with regulatory authorities, commercialization of Auryxia, Vafseo, and any other product candidates, announcements by us or
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our competitors of significant transactions or strategic collaborations, negative publicity around Auryxia or Vafseo, regulatory or legal developments in the U.S. and other countries,
developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property, the recruitment or departure of key personnel including as a result of our reductions in workforce, actual or anticipated
changes in estimates as to financial results, changes in the structure of healthcare payment systems, market conditions in the biopharmaceutical sector, potential delisting from The
Nasdaq Stock Market and other factors beyond our control. As a result of this volatility, our stockholders may not be able to sell their common stock at or above the price at which
they purchased it.

In addition, securities class actions, shareholder derivative lawsuits and other legal proceedings are often brought against companies that have experienced for any of the risks
described in this Form 10-Q following a decline or volatility in the market price of their stock have frequently been the subject of securities class action and shareholder derivative
litigation. securities. See Part I, Item 3. Legal Proceedings of the 2023 Form 10-K for information concerning securities class action initiated against Keryx and certain current and
former directors and officers of ours and Keryx’s. We could be the target of other such litigation  or other legal proceedings in the future. Class action and actions, shareholder
derivative lawsuits and other legal proceedings, whether successful or not, could result in substantial costs, damage or settlement awards and a diversion of our management’s
resources such costs and attention from running our business, which could materially harm our reputation, financial condition and results of operations.
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legal proceedings were to restrain our ability to operate or market our products and services, our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash
flows could be materially adversely affected. We could also suffer an adverse impact on our reputation, negative publicity and a diversion of management’s
attention and resources, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

The issuance of additional shares of our common stock or the sale of shares of our common stock by any of our directors, officers or significant stockholders will
dilute our stockholders’ ownership interest in Akebia and may cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

Most of our outstanding common stock can be traded without restriction at any time. As such, sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market
could occur at any time. These sales, or the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of stockholders intend to sell such shares, could reduce the market price of
our common stock.

As of September 30, 2024, and based on the amounts reported in the most recent filing made by BlackRock under Section 13(g) of the Exchange Act, BlackRock beneficially owned
approximately 7.2% of our outstanding shares of common stock. By selling a large number of shares of common stock, BlackRock could cause the price of our common stock to
decline. The shares beneficially owned by CSL Vifor have not been registered pursuant to the Securities Act and were issued and sold in reliance upon the exemption from
registration contained in Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and Rule 506 promulgated thereunder, but if they are registered in the future, those shares would become freely
tradable and, if a large portion of such shares are sold, could cause the price of our common stock to decline.

In addition, we entered into a warrant agreement with Kreos Capital VII Aggregator SCSp, an affiliate of Kreos, or the Warrant Holder, pursuant to which (i) we issued a warrant to
the Warrant Holder to purchase 3,076,923 shares of our common stock, at an exercise price per share of $1.30 (subject to standard adjustments for stock splits, stock dividends,
rights offerings and pro rata distributions), or the Exercise Price, and (ii) if we drawdown the Tranche C Loan, at that time we will issue a warrant to the Warrant Holder to purchase
1,153,846 shares of our common stock, at an exercise price per share equal to the Exercise Price. Each warrant is exercisable for eight years from the date of issuance. If any or all
of the warrants are exercised, our stockholders could realize dilution, and the value of their shares could decrease.

We have a significant number of shares that are subject to outstanding options and restricted stock units, and in the future we may issue additional options, restricted stock units, or
other derivative securities convertible into our common stock. The exercise or vesting of any such options, restricted stock units, or other derivative securities, and the subsequent
sale of the underlying common stock, could cause a further decline in our stock price. These sales also might make it difficult for us to sell equity securities in the future at a time and
at a price that we deem appropriate. Such sales of our common stock could result in higher than average trading volume and may cause the market price for our common stock to
decline.

In addition, we currently have on file with the SEC a shelf registration statement on Form S-3, which allows us to offer and sell up to $250.0 million in registered securities, such as
common stock, preferred stock, debt securities, warrants and units, from time to time pursuant to one or more offerings at prices and terms to be determined at the time of sale,
including a sales agreement prospectus that covers the offering, issuance and sale by us of up to a maximum aggregate offering price of up to $75.0 million of our common stock
that may be issued and sold from time to time under a sales agreement with Jefferies LLC.

Sales of substantial amounts of shares of our common stock or other securities by our employees or our other stockholders or by us under any our shelf registration statement,
pursuant to at-the-market offerings or otherwise, could dilute our stockholders, lower the market price of our common stock and impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of
equity securities.

Our executive officers, directors and principal stockholders maintain the ability to significantly influence all matters submitted to stockholders for approval.

As of September 30, 2024, our executive officers, directors and principal stockholders, in the aggregate, beneficially owned shares representing a significant percentage of our
capital stock. As a result, if these stockholders were to choose to act together, they would be able to significantly influence all matters submitted to our stockholders for approval, as
well as our management and affairs. For example, these persons could significantly influence the election of directors and approval of any merger, consolidation or sale of all or
substantially all of our assets. This concentration of voting power could delay or prevent an acquisition of our Company on terms that other stockholders may desire.
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Provisions in our organizational documents and Delaware law may have anti-takeover effects that could discourage an acquisition of us by others, even if an
acquisition would be beneficial to our stockholders, and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management.

Provisions in our Charter and our Bylaws contain provisions that may have the effect of discouraging, delaying or preventing a change in control of us or changes in our
management. These provisions could also limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock, thereby depressing the market price of
our common stock. In addition, because our Board of Directors is responsible for appointing certain members of our management team, these provisions may frustrate or prevent
any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for stockholders to replace members of our Board of Directors. Among
other things, these provisions:

• authorize “blank check” preferred stock, which could be issued by our Board of Directors without stockholder approval and may contain voting, liquidation, dividend and other
rights superior to our common stock;

• create a classified Board of Directors whose members serve staggered three-year terms;

• specify that special meetings of our stockholders can be called only by our Board of Directors pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the total number of directors;

• prohibit stockholder action by written consent;

• establish an advance notice procedure for stockholder approvals to be brought before an annual meeting of our stockholders, including proposed nominations of persons for
election to our Board of Directors;

• provide that our directors may be removed only for cause;

• provide that vacancies on our Board of Directors may be filled only by a majority of directors then in office, even though less than a quorum;

• require a supermajority vote of 75% of the holders of our capital stock entitled to vote or the majority vote of our Board of Directors to amend our Bylaws; and

• require a supermajority vote of 85% of the holders of our capital stock entitled to vote to amend the classification of our Board of Directors and to amend certain other
provisions of our Charter.
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These provisions, alone or together, could delay or prevent hostile takeovers, changes in control or changes in our management.

In addition, Section 203 of the DGCL prohibits a publicly-held Delaware corporation from engaging in a business combination with an interested stockholder, generally a person
which together with its affiliates owns, or within the last three years has owned, 15% of our voting stock, for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the
person became an interested stockholder, unless the business combination is approved in a prescribed manner.

Because we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our capital in the foreseeable future, capital appreciation, if any, will be our stockholders’ sole source of
gain.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock and we currently intend to retain all of our future earnings, if any, to finance the development and growth of our
business. Any payment of cash dividends in the future would be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and would depend on, among other things, our earnings, financial
condition, capital requirements, level of indebtedness, statutory and contractual restrictions applying to the payment of dividends and other considerations that the Board of Directors
deems relevant. In addition, the terms of the BlackRock Credit Agreement preclude us from paying cash dividends without prior written consent of the lender and future debt
agreements may preclude us from paying cash dividends. As a result, capital appreciation, if any, of our common stock will be our stockholders’ sole source of gain for the
foreseeable future.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

Sales of Unregistered Securities

During the quarter ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024, we did not have any sales of unregistered securities.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

Not applicable.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information.
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From time to time, the Company's directors and officers (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, engage in open-
market transactions with respect to Company securities, including to satisfy tax withholding obligations when equity awards vest or are exercised, and for diversification or other
personal reasons.

Transactions in Company securities by directors and officers are required to be made in accordance with the Company’s insider trading policy, which requires that the transactions
be in accordance with applicable U.S. federal securities laws that prohibit trading while in possession of material nonpublic information. Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act
provides an affirmative defense that enables directors and officers to prearrange transactions in the Company’s securities in a manner that avoids concerns about initiating
transactions while in possession of material nonpublic information.

The following table describes, for None of the second quarter of 2024, each trading arrangement for the sale Company's directors or purchase of Company securities officers
adopted or terminated by our directors and officers that is either (1) a contract, instruction or written plan intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) (a
“Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement”) arrangement or (2) a “non-Rule non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” arrangement (as each term is defined in Item 408(c) of Regulation S-K):
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Name (Title)
Action Taken (Date of

Action)
Type of Trading Arrangement

Nature of Trading
Arrangement

Duration of Trading
Arrangement

Aggregate Number of
Securities

Erik J. Ostrowski
(Senior Vice
President, Chief
Financial Officer,
Chief Business
Officer and Treasurer)

Adoption
(June 21, 2024)

Durable Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement
for sell-to-cover transactions relating to all

equity awards that have or may be
granted

Sale Until final settlement of any
restricted stock units, or

RSUs

Indeterminable (1)

Nicholas Grund
(Senior Vice
President, Chief
Commercial Officer)

Adoption
(May 13, 2024)

Durable Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement
for sell-to-cover transactions relating to all

equity awards that have or may be
granted

Sale Until final settlement of any
RSUs

Indeterminable (1)

Michel Dahan (Former
Senior Vice
President, Chief
Operating Officer)

Adoption (May 31, 2024) Rule 10b5-1 Non-Discretionary Option
Exercise and Stock Sale Plan

Sale Until March 31, 2025 Up to an aggregate of 823,166
shares

(1) The number of shares subject to RSUs that will be sold to satisfy applicable tax withholding obligations upon vesting is unknown as  during the number will vary based on the
extent to which vesting conditions are satisfied, the market price of the Company’s common stock at the time of settlement and the potential future grant of additional RSUs subject

to quarterly period covered by this arrangement.This trading arrangement, which applies to RSUs whether vesting is based on the passage of time and/or the achievement of

performance goals, provides for the automatic sale of shares that would otherwise be issuable on each settlement date of a RSU in an amount sufficient to satisfy the applicable tax
withholding obligation, with the proceeds of the sale delivered to the Company in satisfaction of the applicable tax withholding obligation.

report.
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Exhibits     

   

3.1
Ninth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K (001-36352), filed on March 28, 2014).

3.2
Certificate of Amendment of Ninth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (001-36352), filed on June 9, 2020).

3.3
Second Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (001-
36352), filed on April 28, 2023).

10.1* 10.1!
Seventh Amendment to Office Lease Agreement Between CLPF-Cambridge Science Center, LLC Termination and the Company dated
May 6, 2024.

10.2*!
Amendment #2 to Supply Agreement, dated as of April 15, 2024, by and between the Company and STA Pharmaceutical Hong Kong
Limited.

10.3*!

Amendment #1 to Second Amended and Restated License Settlement Agreement, dated May 3, 2024, July 10, 2024, by and between the
Company and Vifor (International) Ltd.(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (001-
36352), filed on August 8, 2024).

10.2!

Amendment #1 to Agreement for the Provision of a Loan Facility, dated July 10, 2024, by and between the Company and Kreos Capital
VII (UK) Limited(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (001-36352), filed on August
8, 2024).

10.3

Amended and Restated Open Market Sale Agreement, dated September 3, 2024, by and between the Companyand Jefferies LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.2 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-3 (333-281903) filed on September 3,
2024).

10.4*!
T Aermin mendment #1 to ation a License Agreement, dated nd Settlement Agreement August 30, dated July 10, 20 20224, 4, by and
between the Company among Akebia Therapeutics, Inc., Keryx Biopharmaceuticals, Inc. and Vifor (International) Ltd. Averoa SAS.

10.5*!
Amendment Amendment #1 t to Supply Agreement, dated Oco Agreement tober 15, 202for the Provision of a Loan Facility, dated July 10,
2024, 4, by and between theCompany and Kreos Capital VII (UK) STA Pharmaceutical Hong Kong Limited.

31.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officer Required Under Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

31.2*
Certification Certification of Principal Financial Officer Required Required Under Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended.

32.1*
Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer Required Under Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended, and 18U.S.C. 1350.

   

101.INS*  
Inline XBRL Instance Document (the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because XBRL tags are embedded
within the Inline XBRL document)

 

101.SCH*   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

 

101.CAL*   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

 

101.DEF*   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

 

101.LAB*   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document

 

101.PRE*   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

 

104*   Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

* Filed, or submitted electronically, herewith
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! Indicates portions of the exhibit (indicated by asterisks) have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(10)(iv) of Regulation S-K
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly
authorized.

  AKEBIA THERAPEUTICS, INC.

     
Date:  August 8, 2024 November 7, 2024 By: /s/ John P. Butler

    John P. Butler

    President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

     

     

     

     
Date: August 8, 2024 November 7, 2024 By: /s/ Erik J. Ostrowski

    Erik J. Ostrowski

    Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Business Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: August 8, 2024 November 7, 2024 By: /s/ Richard C. Malabre

Richard C. Malabre

Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)
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SEVENTH AMENDMENT #1 TO LEASELICENSE AGREEMENT

This SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO LEASE (thisAmendment #1 (the “Amendment”) is entered into as of May 6, 2024 to the License Agreement (the “Effective
DateLicense Agreement”),  dated December 22, 2022 by and between CLPF-CAMBRIDGE SCIENCE CENTER, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
(“LandlordAkebia Therapeutics, Inc., ”), and AKEBIA THERAPEUTICS, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Tenant”).
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RECITALS

A. MA-Riverview/245 First Street, L.L.C. (the “Original Landlord”) and Tenant entered into that certain Office Lease Agreement dated
aswith its principal place of December 3, 2013 (the “Original Lease”), as amended by that certain First Amendment to Lease dated December 15,
2014, that certain Second Amendment to Lease dated November 23, 2015, that certain Third Amendment to Lease dated July 25, 2016, that certain
Fourth Amendment to Lease, dated May 1, 2017, that certain Fifth Amendment to Lease dated April 9, 2018, and that certain Sixth Amendment to
Lease dated November 30, 2020 (collectively, the “Lease”), respecting certain premises consisting of approximately 59,216 rentable square feet on
the 11th, 12th and 14th floors of the office building (the “Office Building Premises”) and approximately 5,951 rentable square feet on the 1st floor of the
adjacent lab building (the “First Floor Premises”) (collectively, the “Premises”), which buildings are locatedbusiness at 245 First Street, Cambridge,
MassachusettsMA 02142 and its Subsidiary, Keryx Biopharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Keryx,” and collectively, “Akebia”), and Averoa SAS, a French corporation,
having a place of business at 11 avenue Paul Verlaine, 38100 Grenoble, France,(“Licensee”)is effective as of August 30, 2024 (the “Amendment Effective Date”).
Akebia and Licensee are each referenced individually herein as a "Party" and together compriseas the Cambridge Science Center. “Parties”.

B. Landlord is the successor in interest to the Original Landlord.

C.WHEREAS, Tenant has an appurtenant right the Parties desire to use, in common with others,amend the PH System Room (as defined inLicense Agreement to
expand the Third Amendment to Lease) located in the Building, for which the Tenant pays the Tank Fee (as defined in the Third Amendment to Lease) to Landlord.

D. The First Floor Premises Term (as defined in the Third Amendment to Lease) is scheduled to expire on January 31, 2025 pursuant to the
termsdefinition of the aforesaid Sixth AmendmentTerritory of the License Agreement to Lease.

E. Landlord include the State of Israel and Tenant wish to enter into this Amendment to (i) extend the First Floor Premises Term, and (ii)
amend certain other terms and conditions ofeastern European countries as set forth below in this Amendment;

NOW, THEREFORE the Lease.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Landlord and Tenant hereby amend the LeaseParties agree as follows:

1. Recitals; Capitalized Terms. AllSection 1.128 (Definition of Territory) of the foregoing recitals are trueAgreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and
correct. Unless otherwise defined herein, all capitalized terms used in this Amendment shall havereplaced with the meaning ascribed to them
in following:

1.128.        “Territory” means the Lease,European Economic Area, Turkey, Switzerland, the United Kingdom, Serbia, Albania, Bosnia-Herzegovina, Kosovo,
Montenegro, North Macedonia, Belarus, Moldova, and all references to the Lease or “this Lease” or “herein” or “hereunder” or similar terms or to any sections
thereof shall mean the Lease, or such section thereof, as amended by this Amendment. Israel.

2. First Floor Premises Additional Extension Term. The First Floor Premises Term is hereby extended for an additional period commencing on February
1, 2025 and expiring on September 11, 2026, (the “First Floor Premises Additional Extension Term”) on theAll capitalized terms and
conditionsnot defined herein shall have meaning set forth below. All terms and in the Agreement.

3. Except as otherwise provided herein, all provisions of the Lease,Agreement, as amended hereby, shall apply to Tenant’s leasing of the First Floor Premises and
during the First Floor Premises Additional Extension Term, except to the extent expressly provided otherwise in this Amendment.

3. Rent for the First Floor Premises Additional Extension Term. Commencing on February 1, 2025,in addition to Base Rent and Additional
Rent payable for the Office Building Premises and Additional Rent payable under the Lease for the First Floor Premises, Tenant shall pay Base Rent
to Landlord with respect to the First Floor Premises in the amount and on the schedule outlined in the following table:

RENTAL PERIOD ANNUAL BASE RENT MONTHLY PAYMENT

February 1, 2025 – January 31, 2026 $630,806.00 $52,567.17

    February 1, 2026 – September 11, 2026
$649,730.18
(Annualized) $54,144.18

4. Tank Fee for the First Floor Premises Additional Extension Term. Commencing on February 1, 2025, in addition to Base Rent and
Additional Rent payable for the First Floor Premises, Tenant shall pay as Additional Rent, the Tank Fee in connection with its use of the PH System
Room, to Landlord in the amount and on the schedule outline in the following table.
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RENTAL PERIOD
ANNUAL

TANK FEE MONTHLY PAYMENT

February 1, 2025 – January 31, 2026 $4,806.50 $400.55

    February 1, 2026 – September 11, 2026 $4,950.69
(Annualized) $412.56



5. Extension Option. The First Floor Premises Extension Option set forth in Section 4 of the Third Amendment to Lease shall remain in full

force and effect to further extend the First Floor Premises Term beyond the First Floor Premises Additional Extension Term set forth in this
Amendment, except that (a) the First Floor Premises Option Term shall commence on September 12, 2026 and shall expire on September 11, 2028;
and (b) Section 4.A(iii) of the Third Amendment to Lease is amended such that it shall be a condition that no more than twenty-five percent (25%) of
the First Floor Premises is sublet (other than pursuant to a Business Transfer, as defined in Article 11 of the Lease) at the time that Tenant delivers its
Extension Notice or at the time Tenant delivers its Acceptance Notice, if any. All other provisions of Section 4 of the Third Amendment shall apply,
including, without limitation, the Base Rent andeffect.

2

Additional Rent payable and the time for exercise of the extension option. The Tank Fee shall continue with 3% annual increases.

6.4. Brokerage. Each party represents to the other that it has not dealt with any broker in connection with this Amendment other than CBRE
and Clarion Partners. Tenant shall indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from and against any claim or claims for brokerage or other commissions
relating to this Amendment asserted by any broker, agent or finder engaged by Tenant or with whom Tenant has dealt other than CBRE and Clarion
Partners. Landlord shall indemnify and hold Tenant harmless from and against any claim or claims for brokerage or other commissions relating to this
Amendment asserted by any broker, agent or finder engaged by Landlord or with whom Landlord has dealt. Any commission due in connection with
this Amendment shall be paid by Landlord pursuant to a separate agreement between Landlord and CBRE and Clarion Partners.

7. Ratification. Except as expressly modified by this Amendment, the Lease shall remain in full force and effect, and as further modified by
this Amendment, is expressly ratified and confirmed by the parties hereto. This Amendment shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the
parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns, subject to the provisions of the Lease regarding assignment and subletting.

8. Governing Law; Interpretation and Partial Invalidity. This Amendment shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of
the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. If any term of this Amendment, or the application thereof to any person or circumstances, shall to any extent be
invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Amendment, or the application of such term to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it
is invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each term of this Amendment shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent
permitted by law. The titles for the paragraphs are for convenience only and are not to be considered in construing this Amendment. This Amendment
contains all of the agreements of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior dealings between them with respect to
such subject matter. No delay or omission on the part of either party to this Amendment in requiring performance by the other party or exercising any
right hereunder shall operate as a waiver of any provision hereof or any rights hereunder, and no waiver, omission or delay in requiring performance or
exercising any right hereunder on any one occasion shall be construed as a bar to or waiver of such performance or right on any future occasion.

9. Successors. This Amendment shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and
assigns.

10. Counterparts and Authority. This Amendment#1 may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original
and all of which taken together shall constitutewill be regarded as one and the same document. Landlord instrument. Counterparts may be delivered
via electronic mail, including Adobe™ Portable Document Format (PDF) or any electronic signature complying with the U.S. Federal ESIGN Act of
2000, and Tenant each warrantany counterpart so delivered will be deemed to be original signatures, will be valid and binding upon the other that the
person or persons executingParties, and, upon delivery, will constitute due execution of this Amendment on its behalf has or have authority to do so
and that such execution has fully obligated and bound such party to all terms and provisions of this Amendment.#1.

3
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant the Parties have executed this Amendment #1 to the License Agreement effective as of the day and year first above
written.

LANDLORD:

CLPF-CAMBRIDGE SCIENCE CENTER, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

By: CLPF – MA REIT, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company,
its sole member

By: Clarion Lion Properties Fund Holdings, L.P.,
a Delaware limited partnership,


     its Sole Member

     By: CLPF-Holdings, LLC,
          a Delaware limited liability company,
         its General Partner

         By: Clarion Lion Properties Fund Holdings REIT, LLC,
         a Delaware limited liability company,
         its Sole Member

         By: Clarion Lion Properties Fund, LP,
             a Delaware limited partnership,
             its Managing Member

             By:    Clarion Partners LPF GP, LLC,
                a Delaware limited liability company,
                its General Partner

                By: Clarion Partners, LLC,
                 a New York limited liability company,
                 its Sole Member

By: /s/ Spence Sowa____________________________
Name: Spence Sowa

Title: Managing Director

TENANT:

AKEBIA THERAPEUTICS, INC.,
a Delaware corporation

By: /s/ John Butler

Name:    John Butler
Title: CEO

4
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Amendment Effective Date written above.



AKEBIA THERAPEUTICS, INC.


  Exhibit 10.2By: Certain identified information has been excluded from the
exhibit because it is both (i) not material and (ii) is the type of information
that the registrant treats as private or confidential. Double asterisks denote
omissions. /s/ Erik Ostrowski


Print Name: Erik Ostrowski


Title: SVP, Chief Financial Officer &Chief Business Officer



AVEROA SAS


By: /s/ Luc-André GRANIER


Print Name: Luc-André GRANIER


Title: CEO

Exhibit 10.5
Certain identified information has been excluded from the exhibit because it is both (i) not material and (ii) is the type of information that the registrant

treats as private or confidential. Double asterisks denote omissions.

AMENDMENT #2#1 TO SUPPLY AGREEMENT

This Amendment #2#1 (the “Amendment”) to the Supply Agreement dated February 10, 2021, by and between Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. (“Akebia”)and STA
Pharmaceutical Hong Kong Limited(“STA”) is effective as of April 15, 2024 (theOctober 15, 2024(the “Amendment Effective Date”). Akebia and STA are each
referenced individually herein as a "Party" and together as the “Parties”.

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, STA and Akebia entered into a Supply Agreement dated April 2, 2020, as amended on April 15, 2021February 10, 2021 (the “Supply Agreement”),
under which STA manufactures vadadustat drug substanceProduct for purchase by Akebia; and

WHEREAS,the Parties desire to amend the Supply Agreement as set forth in this Amendment;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the Partiesmutual promises and covenants set forth herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, STA and Akebia hereby agree to amend the Supply Agreement as follows:

1. Section 3.2 is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

1.3.2. Throughout the Term, in accordance with the Minimum Order Quantity and Purchase Order Lead Time, Akebia shall submit to STA a Purchase
Order to facilitate payment to STA which shall be consistent with the Rolling Forecast. Upon provision of a Purchase Order by Akebia to STA, STA
shall provide acceptance of such Purchase Order within [**] upon receipt of the same. Failure by STA to provide notice of any acceptance or rejection
of any such Purchase Order will be considered acceptance of the Purchase Order. STA agrees that it shall not [**] fail to accept any Purchase Order
provided by Akebia. Should Akebia issue a Purchase Order [**] as set forth in Exhibit A. If there is a contradiction between a provision of this
Agreement and a Purchase Order, then the provision in this Agreement will take precedence.

2. Section 3.3 of the Supply Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:
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3.33.3. Events of a regulatory nature that prevent Akebia from launching or marketing [**] any product containing the Product in a market (e.g. delay
in or withdrawal of market approval from regulatory agencies, etc.) which then prevents or delays Akebia from[**] purchasing an amount of Product
corresponding to an accepted Purchase Order, shall [**] the Parties. In such event, Akebia shall pay for any Services already performed, any
expenses already incurred or irrevocably committed [**];  in connection with the cancelled or delayed Purchase Order; provided, however, that
[**].STA should exercise its commercially reasonable efforts to use the Components purchased by STA for the cancelled or delayed Purchase Order
in any open Purchase Orders.

2.3. Section 7.2 of the Supply Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

7.2.Akebia Quality Release. No delivery of Product by STA will occur without prior Akebia Release. Akebia’s certificate of lot disposition must be
received by STA prior to delivery of Product. For such purpose, Akebia’s quality department will review the documentation provided by STA for any
Batch of Product and will provide STA with the certificate of lot disposition or, otherwise, with its justified objections to issuing the certificate of lot
disposition in accordance with the Quality Agreement, in each case, within [**] of receipt of the documentation.

4. Section 7.4 of the Supply Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

7.4Storage. Prior to delivery, all Product at the Facility will be stored in a clean, secured, segregated area. For any Product that has been stored for
more than [**] after Akebia Release STA will charge Akebia storage fees at a [**], unless different rates are otherwise agreed by the Parties. Upon
placement of any Product into storage at STA’s Facility (including any free storage period), the Products shall be deemed to have been delivered and
title, control and risk of loss thereto shall transfer to Akebia. The Parties shall use their good faith efforts to enter into a storage agreement with
regards to any stored Product.

5. Section 14.1 of the Supply Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

14.1 Term.Term. Subject to Section 14.2, the Term of this Agreement shall be nine (9) calendar years.expire on January 1, 2032. Notwithstanding
any termination as described in Sections 14.2, 14.3, 14.4 or 14.5, it is the intent of the Parties that any renewal or extension of the Term will be
agreed to in writing between the Parties, no later than eighteen (18) calendar months prior to its expiration.

3.6. Exhibit A of the Supply Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:



Exhibit A—– Product Price, Lead Time and Minimum Order Quantity
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[**] [**]

[**] [**]

[**] [**]

[**] [**]

[**] [**]

[**] [**]

[**] [**]

[**] [**]

[**] [**]

[**] [**]

[**] [**]

[**] [**]

[**] [**]

[**] [**]

[**] [**]

[**] [**]

[**].  of the Supply Agreement is deleted in its entirety and replaced by the new Exhibit A attached hereto.

4.7. All capitalized terms not defined herein shall have meaning set forth in the Supply Agreement.

5.8. Except as otherwise provided herein, all provisionsAll terms and conditions of the Supply Agreement not expressedexpressly amended by this
Amendment shall remain in full force and effect.

6.9. This Amendment may be executed by electronic means (including .PDF) and in any number of counterparts, each of which when executed and
delivered, shall constitute an original, but all of which together shall constitute one agreement binding on all parties, notwithstanding that all parties
are not signatories to the same counterpart.

Signature Page to Follow

Amendment    2CONFIDENTIAL

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties have executed , this Amendment tohas been executed by the Supply Agreement effective as ofparties hereto through
their duly authorized officers on the Amendment Effective Date written above.date(s) set forth below.
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AKEBIA THERAPEUTICS, INC.


By:    /s/ Kimberly A.Kim Garko Ph.D.                


Print Name:     Kimberly A.Kim Garko Ph.D.            


Title:    SVP, CTO                


Date:__15-Apr-2024_______________________October 15, 2024            



STA PHARMACEUTICAL HONG KONG
LIMITED


By:    /s/ Xiaoyong FuJinling Chen                


Print Name:    Xiaoyong FuJinling Chen            


Title:    Executive Vice President,SVP and Head of STA    Pharmaceutical
Development


Date: ____2024-04-10______________________

2

ActiveUS 204768050v.1

Exhibit 10.3
CONFIDENTIAL

Certain identified information has been excluded from the exhibit because it is both (i) not material and (ii) is the type of information that the registrant treats as private or
confidential. Double asterisks denote omissions.

Amendment #1 to the Second Amended and Restated License Agreement

This Amendment #1 (the “Amendment”) to the Second Amended and Restated License Agreement (the “License Agreement”) dated February 18, 2022, by and
between Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. (“Akebia”) and Vifor (International) Ltd. (“Licensee”) is effective as of May 3, 2024(the “Amendment Effective Date”). Akebia and
Licensee are each referenced individually herein as a "Party" and together as the “Parties”.

WHEREAS, Section 11.5 ofthe License Agreement provides for a Working Capital Fund to finance the manufacture of Licensed Products;

WHEREAS, the total amount of Working Capital Payments contributed by Licensee during the Term is equal to $40 million U.S. dollars, which was paid as the Initial
Working Capital Payment; and

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to modify the method of repayment of the part of the Working Capital Fund contributed by Licensee in the manner described in this
Amendment.

NOW, THEREFORE the Parties agree as follows:

1. Section 11.5 and all references to Section 11.5 in the License Agreement including, without limitation, Section 1.3, 1.59, 1.92, 1.107, 1.124, 1.132, 1.133,
and 2.3.11, shall be deleted in their entirety, and all references to the Working Capital Fund shall be deleted from the License Agreement.

2. The following new provision shall be added as Section 11.5:

“11.5. Royalty Payments

A. Royalty Amounts. Akebia shall pay Licensee a nonrefundable and noncreditable royalty equivalent to the sum of (i) [**] of all Licensed Products sold
by Akebia to Licensee, (ii) Akebia’s share of the Profit ([**]%) on Licensed Products sold to the Licensee Supply Group, and (iii) Akebia’s net sales of
the Licensed Product outside of the Licensee Supply Group in the Territory (the sum of (i) through (iii) referred to herein as the “Akebia Licensed
Product Revenue”), during each calendar quarter , multiplied by the applicable incremental royalty rates set forth in Table A below (the “Royalty
Payments”). The Royalty Payments shall be made during each calendar quarter from July 1, 2025 until the expiry of the Royalty Term (as defined
below).

Table A – Royalty Rates

Akebia Licensed Product Revenue (in U.S. Dollars) derived from sales of the Licensed
Product in the Territory during a calendar year

Royalty Rate
 (portion of Akebia Licensed

Product Revenue)

0 to ≤ $100 million 8%

>$100 million 14%
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For the purpose of calculating the Akebia Licensed Product Revenue above, Akebia’s net sales of the Licensed Product outside of the Licensee
Supply Group shall be calculated in the same manner as Licensee calculates its own Net Sales under Section 1.85 of the License Agreement. For
avoidance of any doubt, all sales made by Akebia to the Licensee Supply Group following expiry or termination of the License Agreement shall be
deemed net sales of Akebia for the calculation of the Licensed Product Revenue.

Page 2 of 4

B. Royalty Term. Akebia shall pay Licensee such Royalty Payments until the earlier of: (i) the sum of the Royalty Payments paid by Akebia to Licensee
equals $40 million; or (ii) May 31, 2028 (the “Royalty Term”). For the avoidance of doubt, in no event will the total amount of Royalty Payments paid
by Akebia to Licensee hereunder exceed $40 million.

C. Royalty True-up Schedule. The Royalty Payments described above shall be subject to true-up milestones in accordance with Table B below (the
“Royalty True-Up Milestones”). If the sum of the Royalty Payments made by Akebia to Licensee during the Royalty Term is less than each Royalty
True-Up Milestone upon each respective date, then Akebia shall pay to Licensee a one-time payment (or an “Additional Royalty Payment”) equal to
the difference between the Royalty True-Up Milestone and the sum of the Royalty Payments made by Akebia to Licensee during the Royalty Term.
The Royalty True-Up Milestone shall be due within [**] after the corresponding date set forth below.

Table B – Royalty True-Up Milestones

Royalty True-Up Milestone Date

$10 million May 31st, 2026

$20 million May 31st, 2027

$40 million May 31st, 2028

For the avoidance of doubt, the following example is provided:

[**].

D. Royalty Prepayment. At any time, upon written notice to Licensee by Akebia, Akebia may, in its sole discretion, prepay any Royalty Payments that
may be due during the Royalty Term, including the Additional Royalty Payment set out in Section C, above.

E. Royalty Payments and Quarterly Reports. Within [**] after the end of each calendar quarter during the Royalty Term and after each date upon
which a Royalty True-Up Milestone is due, Akebia shall (i) pay to Licensee the Royalty Payment on the Akebia Licensed Product Revenue for such
calendar quarter or the Additional Royalty Payment (as applicable), and (ii) provide to Licensee a written report (each, a “Royalty Quarterly Report”)
setting forth in reasonable detail the Akebia Licensed Product Revenue for such calendar quarter or period. The Parties will seek to resolve any
questions or issues related to a Royalty Quarterly Report within [**] following receipt by Licensee of such Royalty Quarterly Report.

F. Effects of Termination of License Agreement. Upon termination or expiration of the License Agreement prior to the end of the Royalty Term for:

a. convenience by Akebia pursuant to Section 16.10 (Termination by Akebia for Convenience) of the License Agreement, then Akebia shall pay
Licensee, within [**] of termination, the difference between $40 million and the sum of any Royalty Payments made by Akebia to Licensee; or

b. convenience by Licensee pursuant to Section 16.9 (Termination by Licensee for Convenience), then all Royalty Payments shall cease and the
Royalty Term shall end; or

c. for any reason other than for convenience by Akebia pursuant to Section 16.10 (Termination by Akebia for Convenience) or convenience by
Licensee pursuant to Section 16.9 (Termination by Licensee for Convenience), Akebia shall continue to pay to Licensee the Royalty
Payments and the
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Additional Royalty Payments throughout the Royalty Term, regardless of any amounts owed by Licensee to Akebia under the License
Agreement as of the effective date of such termination or expiration.

3. Section 11.7 is hereby deleted in its entirety, and replaced with the following in order to make the auditing rights reciprocal:

11.7 Accounting. Both Parties agree to keep full, clear, and accurate records in accordance with the applicable Accounting Standards consistently
applied for a period of at least three (3) years after the relevant payment is owed pursuant to this Agreement in sufficient detail to enable compensation
payable to either Party hereunder to be determined. The Parties further agree to permit their books and records to be examined by an independent
accounting firm selected by a Party (the “Auditing Party”) and approved by the Party being audited (or, the “Audited Party”), which approval will not be
unreasonably withheld or delayed, to verify the reports provided in accordance with Section 11.6 (Sales Reports) in the case of Licensee, or any reports
provided by Akebia pursuant to Section 11.5 with respect to calculating Royalty Payments between the Parties. Such auditor will be bound by a legal
agreement obligating it to maintain the confidentiality of such information and to not share such information with the Auditing Party. The auditor’s report
will be provided simultaneously to both the Auditing Party and the Audited Party and will be limited to a disclosure of the extent of any underpayment or
overpayment by the Audited Party, in sufficient detail to allow the Auditing Party and the Audited Party to understand the source of any error. Such audit
of either Party shall not be performed more frequently than once per calendar year. Such examination is to be made at the expense of Auditing Party,
except in the event that the results of the audit reveal an underpayment by the Audited Party of [**] percent ([**]%) or more during the period being
audited, in which case reasonable audit fees for such examination will be paid by the Audited Party.

4. The Parties agree that Section 11.9 is hereby deleted in its entirety, and replaced with the following:

11.9 Late Payments. Any amount owed by a Party to the other Party under this Agreement that is not paid within the applicable time period set forth
herein will accrue interest at the lesser of (a) the then current prime rate quoted by Citibank in New York City plus [**]%, or (b) the highest rate permitted
under Applicable Law. If a Party disputes an invoice or other payment obligation under this Agreement, then such Party will timely pay the undisputed
amount of the invoice or other payment obligation, and the Parties will resolve such dispute in accordance with Article 17 (Dispute Resolution; Governing
Law).

5. Section 16.16 shall be amended by adding a reference to “Section 11.5 (Royalty Payments)” after the reference to “Section 9.3 (Trademark Ownership
and Cooperation)”.

6. All capitalized terms not defined herein shall have meaning set forth in the License Agreement.

7. Except as otherwise provided herein, all provisions of the License Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

8. This Amendment shall become effective as of Amendment Effective Date and shall be incorporated into License Agreement as of that date.
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Signature Page
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Amendment to the License Agreement effective as of the Amendment Effective Date written above.



AKEBIA THERAPEUTICS, INC.


and Manufacturing Services, STA        


By:Date: /s/ John P. Butler            


Print Name: John P. Butler            


Title:    President and CEO            





Vifor (International) Ltd.


By:    /s/ Herve Gisserot            


Print Name:    Herve Gisserot            


Title:    General Manager CSL Vifor        



By:    /s/ Alex Sigalas                


Print Name:    Alex Sigalas            


Title:    Head of FinanceSeptember 27, 2024            
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Exhibit 10.4
Confidential

Execution Copy

Certain identified information has been excluded from the exhibit because it is both (i) not material and (ii) is the type of information that the registrant treats as private or
confidential. Double asterisks denote omissions.

TERMINATION AND SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

This TERMINATION AND SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT (this “Termination Agreement”) is entered into as of July 10, 2024 (the “Termination Effective Date”), by
and between Akebia Therapeutics, Inc., a company organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, United States of America with its principal
offices at 245 First Street, Cambridge, MA 02142 (“Akebia”), and Vifor (International) Ltd., a corporation established in accordance with Swiss laws and registered
in the commercial registry under CH-107.360.718, with its premises at Rechenstrasse 37, 9014 St. Gallen, Switzerland (“Vifor”). Each of Akebia and Vifor are
sometimes referred to herein individually as a “Party” and together as the “Parties.”

WHEREAS, the Parties entered into that certain Second Amended and Restated License Agreement dated February 18, 2022, and the Amendment #1
thereto dated May 3, 2024 (the “License Agreement”), pursuant to which Akebia granted Vifor an exclusive license to sell Licensed Products to particular
customers in the Field in the Territory;

WHEREAS, pursuant to the License Agreement, Vifor has made significant investments and contributions to the development of the Product and preparation
for commercial launch of the Product in the Territory, including in the form of Know-How; and

WHEREAS, notwithstanding any other communications or correspondence between the Parties, given the operational complexities associated with the
License Agreement and for other reasons discussed by the Parties, the Parties now desire to terminate the License Agreement.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the premises and conditions set forth herein, the Parties agree as follows:

1.       Defined Terms. Capitalized terms that are used in this Termination Agreement have the meaning set forth in the License Agreement, as applicable to the
context in which such terms are used herein, unless otherwise defined in this Termination Agreement.

2.     Termination of License Agreement. The Parties hereby acknowledge and agree that the License Agreement is hereby terminated in its entirety effective as
of the Termination Effective Date.Neither Party shall have any further rights or obligations under the License Agreement as of or after the Termination Effective
Date except as set forth in Section 9 (Effects of Termination; Survival) of this Termination Agreement.

3.    Term. This Termination Agreement will become immediately effective on the Termination Effective Date and will extend until the end of the later of (i) the expiry
of the Settlement Royalty Term or (ii) the expiry of the WCF Royalty Term (the “Term”).

4.    Royalty Payments. In consideration for the investments and contributions Vifor has made thus far to the development of the Licensed Product and preparation
for its commercial launch, Akebia shall pay Vifor two (2) independent royalties (collectively, the “Royalty Payments”) as follows:

1

A.    WCF Royalty to Vifor
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i.        WCF Royalty Amounts. Within [**] following the end of each calendar quarter, Akebia shall pay Vifor a nonrefundable and noncreditable royalty
equivalent to Akebia’s Net Sales of the Licensed Product in the Territory during such calendar quarter, multiplied by the applicable incremental royalty rates
set forth in Table A below (the “WCF Royalty Payments”). The WCF Royalty Payments shall be made with respect to each calendar quarter commencing
from July 1, 2025 until the expiry of the WCF Royalty Term (as defined below).

Table A – WCF Royalty Rates

Akebia Net Sales (in U.S. Dollars) derived from sales of the Licensed Product
in the Territory during a calendar year

Royalty Rate (portion of Akebia Net Sales)

[**] to ≤ $[**] 8%

>$[**] 14%

ii.    WCF Royalty Term. Akebia shall pay Vifor the WCF Royalty Payments until the earlier of: (a) the cumulative total of all of the WCF Royalty Payments
paid by Akebia to Vifor equals $40 million; or (b) May 31, 2028 (the “WCF Royalty Term”). For the avoidance of doubt, in no event will the total amount of
WCF Royalty Payments paid by Akebia to Vifor hereunder exceed $40 million.

iii.    WCF Royalty True-Up Schedule. The WCF Royalty Payments described above shall be subject to true-up milestones in accordance with Table B below
(the “WCF Royalty True-Up Milestones”). If the sum of the WCF Royalty Payments made by Akebia to Vifor during the WCF Royalty Term is less than
each WCF Royalty True-Up Milestone upon each respective date, then Akebia shall pay to Vifor a one-time payment (or an “Additional WCF Royalty
Payment”) equal to the difference between the WCF Royalty True-Up Milestone and the sum of the WCF Royalty Payments made by Akebia to Vifor
during the WCF Royalty Term. The WCF Royalty True-Up Milestone shall be due within [**] after the corresponding date set forth below.

Table B – WCF Royalty True-Up Milestones

WCF Royalty True-Up Milestone (in U.S. Dollars) Date

$10 million May 31, 2026

$20 million May 31, 2027

$40 million May 31, 2028

2

For the avoidance of doubt, the following example is provided:

[**].

iv.    WCF Royalty Prepayment. At any time, upon written notice to Vifor by Akebia, Akebia may, in its sole discretion, prepay any WCF Royalty Payments
that may be due during the WCF Royalty Term, including the Additional WCF Royalty Payment set out in Section 4.A.iii, above.

B.    Settlement Royalty to Vifor

i.    Akebia Settlement Royalty Payments. Within [**] following the end of each calendar quarter, Akebia shall pay Vifor a nonrefundable and noncreditable
royalty equivalent to Akebia’s aggregate Net Sales of the Licensed Product in the Territory during such calendar quarter, multiplied by the applicable
incremental royalty rates set forth in Table C below (“Akebia Settlement Royalty Payments”):
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Table C – Akebia Settlement Royalty Rates

Akebia Net Sales (in U.S. Dollars) derived from sales of the Licensed Product
in the Territory during a calendar year

Settlement Royalty Rate (portion of Akebia Net
Sales)

0 to ≤ $450 million [**]%

>$450 million [**]%

Notwithstanding the foregoing and to the extent applicable, the Akebia Settlement Royalty Payments for the calendar quarters comprised in the period
commencing on [**] and ending on [**] shall only be due on [**].

ii.       Settlement Royalty Term. Akebia shall pay Vifor the Akebia Settlement Royalty Payments until the expiry of the Settlement Royalty Term. For the
purposes of this Termination Agreement, “SettlementRoyalty Term” means the period of time commencing upon the first sale of a Licensed Product by
Akebia, one of its Affiliate or a TP Licensee (as defined in Section 4(C) of this Termination Agreement) to a Third Party (excluding to a TP Licensee) for
end use or consumption in the Territory and continuing until the later of (i) expiration of the last-to-expire Valid Claim listed in the FDA Orange Book that
would be infringed by the making, using, selling, or importing of the Licensed Product in the Territory or (ii) expiration of marketing or regulatory exclusivity
for the Licensed Product in the Territory.

iii.    Royalty Buy-Down Option. Notwithstanding the foregoing, beginning July 1 2027 and throughout the Settlement Royalty Term thereafter, Akebia shall
have the option, in its sole discretion, to make a one-time payment of $[**] (a “Royalty Buy-Down”), upon which the Akebia Settlement Royalty Payments
as set forth in Section 4(B)(i) (Akebia Settlement Royalty Payments) shall be adjusted as of the date of exercise of the Royalty Buy-Down by Akebia,

3

such that the Settlement Royalty Rates set forth in Table D shall apply in lieu of the Settlement Royalty Rates set forth in Table C above (the “Royalty
Buy-Down Option”):

Table D – Royalty Buy-Down Option Royalty Rates

Akebia Net Sales (in U.S. Dollars) derived from sales of the Licensed Product
in the Territory during a calendar year

Settlement Royalty Rate (portion of Akebia Net
Sales)

0 to ≤ $450 million [**]%

>$450 million 0%

For the avoidance of doubt, regardless of when Akebia exercises the Royalty Buy-Down Option, the Akebia Settlement Royalty Payments that were made
before such exercise would not be deducted from the Royalty Buy-Down (i.e., Akebia would pay the Royalty Buy-Down amount in addition to any prior
Akebia Settlement Royalty Payments set forth in Section 4(B) hereof and the WCF Royalty Payments set forth in Section 4(A) hereof). For the avoidance of
doubt, if Akebia exercises the Royalty Buy-Down Option, the WCF Royalty Payments set forth in Section 4(A) of this Termination Agreement shall continue
in accordance with its applicable terms.

C.    Net Sales. For the purposes of this Termination Agreement, “Net Sales” means the gross amounts invoiced by Akebia, its Affiliates or third party licensees
(excluding wholesalers) (“TP Licensee(s)”) for the sales of a Licensed Product to Third Parties (except to TP Licensees) in the Territory, less the following
deductions to the extent recognized and allowed in accordance with the Accounting Standards, as applicable and consistently applied:

i.    inventory management fees to distributors incurred and reasonably allocated to such Licensed Product, not to exceed [**]% of aggregate Net Sales in the
applicable period;
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ii.     tariffs, duties, excises, value added tax, and other sales taxes, and other taxes imposed upon Akebia, its Affiliates or TP Licensees with respect to the sale,
transportation, delivery, use, exportation, or importation of such Licensed Product (which taxes do not include income taxes);

iii.        amounts actually repaid or credited by Akebia, its Affiliates or TP Licensees upon returns, rejections, defects, recalls (due to spoilage, damage, or
expiration of useful life), price adjustments or billing errors;

iv.    freight, shipping, and insurance expenses specific to such Licensed Product incurred by Akebia, its Affiliates or TP Licensees and allocated accordingly;

v.       allowances or credits incurred by Akebia, its Affiliates or TP Licensees to customers or payors on account of price reductions affecting such Licensed
Product;

vi.    rebates and similar payments incurred by Akebia, its Affiliates or TP Licensees with respect to sales of such Licensed Product;

4

vii.    discounts incurred by Akebia, its Affiliates or TP Licensees with respect to sales under discount prescription drug programs or reductions or coupon and
voucher programs;

viii.        wholesaler, group purchasing organization, government entity, and distributor service fees and chargebacks incurred by Akebia, its Affiliates or TP
Licensees;

ix.    any fees, discounts or penalties incurred by Akebia, its Affiliates or TP Licensees pursuant to the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022;

x.    discounts incurred by Akebia, its Affiliates or TP Licensees for prompt payment; and

xi.    Specialty Pharmacy fees incurred by Akebia, its Affiliates or TP Licensees.

Net Sales will be determined from books and records of Akebia, its applicable Affiliate or TP Licensees, maintained in accordance with the Accounting
Standards, as consistently applied, with respect to sales of any Licensed Product.

The sale of Licensed Products among Akebia, Akebia’s Affiliates or TP Licensees that are [**], but in such cases Net Sales will [**] of such Licensed Products to
a person or entity who is not an Affiliate or a TP Licensee.

Net Sales will not include Licensed Products transferred for use in connection with promotional use (including samples).

If Akebia, any of its Affiliates or any TP Licensee receives [**] for a Licensed Product, then the Net Sales amount for such Licensed Product will be [**].

In the event that a Licensed Product is sold as part of a Combination Product or a Co-Packaged Product, the Net Sales from the Combination Product or Co-
Packaged Product, for the purposes of determining payments hereunder based on Net Sales, will be determined by multiplying the Net Sales of the Combination
Product or Co-Packaged Product (as applicable), during the applicable reporting period, by the fraction, A/(A+B), where A is the average sale price of a
Licensed Product when sold separately in Finished Form and B is either (a) the average sale price of the other APIs included in the Combination Product when
sold separately in finished form (in the case of a Combination Product), or (b) the average sale price of the Other Components included in the Co-Packaged
Product when sold separately (in the case of a Co-Packaged Product), in each case, during the applicable reporting period or, if sales of both such Licensed
Product and the other APIs did not occur in such period, then in the most recent reporting period in which sales of both occurred. In the event that such average
sale price cannot be determined for both a Licensed Product and all other APIs included in such Combination Product or all Other Components included in such
Co-Packaged Product (as applicable), then Net Sales for the purposes of determining payments to Akebia hereunder will be calculated by multiplying the Net
Sales of the Combination Product or Co-Packaged Product (as applicable) during the applicable reporting period by the fraction of C/(C+D) where C is the fair
market value of a Licensed Product and D is either (i) the fair market value of all other APIs included in the Combination Product (in the case of a Combination
Product), or (ii) the average sales price of the

5
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Other Components included in such Co-Packaged Product when sold separately (in the case of a Co-Packaged Product). In such event, Akebia will in good faith
make a determination of the respective fair market values of such Licensed Product and all other APIs or Other Components, as applicable, included in the
Combination Product or Co-Packaged Product (as applicable).

If a Licensed Product is sold as part of a Co-Packaged Product, then Akebia, its applicable Affiliate or TP Licensee [**].

5.       Royalty Reports. Within [**] following the end of each calendar quarter during the Term, Akebia will provide to Vifor a written report (each, a “Quarterly
Report”) setting forth in reasonable detail (i) the gross sales of the Licensed Products sold in such calendar quarter; (ii) the aggregate Net Sales of the Licensed
Products in the Territory in such calendar quarter; and (iii) the quantity and description of the Licensed Products sold in the Territory during such calendar quarter
comprising such Net Sales and the calculation of the Royalty Payments due to Vifor. Such reports shall contain such detail as is reasonably necessary for Vifor
to verify the Royalty Payments due under this Agreement.

6.    Accounting; Audit. Akebia agrees to keep full, clear, and accurate records of Net Sales of Licensed Products in accordance with the Accounting Standards
consistently applied for a period of at least [**] after the relevant Royalty Payment is owed pursuant to this Agreement in sufficient detail to enable compensation
payable to Vifor hereunder to be determined. Akebia further agrees to permit its books and records to be examined by an independent accounting firm selected
by Vifor and approved by Akebia, which approval will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, to verify the reports provided in Section 5 (Royalty Reports)
hereof. Such auditor will be bound by a legal agreement obligating it to maintain the confidentiality of such information and to not share it with Vifor. The auditor’s
report will be provided simultaneously to both Akebia and Vifor, will be limited to a disclosure of the extent of any underpayment or overpayment by Akebia of the
Royalty Payments in sufficient detail to allow Akebia and Vifor to understand the source of any error. Such audit will not be performed more frequently than [**].
Such examination is to be made at the expense of Vifor, except in the event that the results of the audit reveal an underpayment by Akebia of [**]% or more
during the period being audited, in which case reasonable audit fees for such examination will be paid by Akebia.

7.    Methods of Payment. All payments due to Vifor under this Termination Agreement will be made in U.S. Dollars by wire transfer to a bank account of Vifor
designated from time-to-time in writing by Vifor.

8.    Late Payments. Any amount owed by Akebia to Vifor under this Agreement that is not paid within the applicable time period set forth herein will accrue interest
at the lesser of (a) the then current prime rate quoted by Citibank in New York City plus [**]%, or (b) the highest rate permitted under Applicable Law. If a Party
disputes an invoice or other payment obligation under this Agreement, then such Party will timely pay the undisputed amount of the invoice or other payment
obligation, and the Parties will resolve such dispute in accordance with Section 18(D) of this Termination Agreement.

6

9.    Waiver. Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary contained in the License Agreement or in any other written agreement or other arrangement between
the Parties, the Parties expressly acknowledge and agree that, as of the Termination Effective Date, (i) the amounts set forth in Section 4 (Royalty Payments) of
this Termination Agreement constitutes the total amount owed by Akebia under this Termination Agreement, (ii) no other amounts are owed by Akebia under this
Termination Agreement, the License Agreement, or any other written agreement or other arrangement between the Parties, (iii) neither Party is obligated to pay
or entitled to receive any further amounts under the License Agreement, this Termination Agreement, or any other written agreement or other arrangement
between the Parties, and (iv) the Parties expressly waive any right to receive any other or additional payment under the License Agreement, this Termination

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

120/132

Agreement or any other written agreement or other arrangement between the Parties, including any amounts associated with milestone payments, research and
development cost sharing, revenue sharing, or intellectual property matters.

10.        Vifor Transitional Services. Following the Termination Effective Date, all of Vifor’s obligations under the License Agreement relating to the sale of the
Licensed Products and the conduct of Medical Affairs will cease, and Akebia will assume the sole responsibility for all activities related to the foregoing.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, for a period of [**] following the Termination Effective Date at the reasonable request of Akebia, Vifor shall provide certain
commercial and medical affairs services (“Transitional Services”) to Akebia in support of (A) Akebia’s contracting activities related to the members of the Vifor
Supply Group and their Affiliates and (B) Akebia’s medical affairs efforts for the Product in the Territory, in each case as described in the description of the
Transitional Services attached to this Termination Agreement as Exhibit A (Description of Transitional Services) provided, however, that to the extent Akebia
requests Transitional Services in excess of [**] hours per week, or [**] hours in total in the aggregate, Vifor shall not be obliged to provide such assistance. For
avoidance of doubt, the Parties recognize and agree that the Transitional Services shall not include any Excluded Activities, as set out in Exhibit A. Vifor shall
incur no liability with respect to the Transitional Services, except in the event of its own fraud or gross negligence.

11.       Effects of Termination; Survival. Neither Party shall have any further rights or obligations under the License Agreement as of or after the Termination
Effective Date except with respect to the provisions of the License Agreement that are intended by their terms to survive termination as set forth in Section 16.16
(Survival, Accrued Rights) of the License Agreement, except to the extent any of those rights and obligations in Section 16.16 (Survival, Accrued Rights) are
extinguished or directly modified in this Termination Agreement. To the extent any terms and conditions of this Termination Agreement modify, contradict or are
inconsistent with the License Agreement, this Termination Agreement shall prevail.

12.    Continued Exclusivity.

A. Exclusivity. During the Settlement Royalty Term of this Termination Agreement, neither Vifor nor any of its Affiliates will directly or indirectly Promote, sell, or
have sold, or enter into any agreement to Promote, sell, or have sold, any Competing Product in the Territory to FKC, any entity in or member of the Licensee
Supply Group, or any Authorized Dialysis Center without the prior written consent of Akebia.

7

B. Competing Product. For the purposes of this Termination Agreement, “Competing Product” means any product that (a) is approved for the DD-CKD
Indication or, solely to the extent the Licensed Product receives an approval from the FDA for the NDD-CKD Indication within [**] from the Termination Effective
Date, the NDD-CKD Indication, and (b) is a direct inhibitor of hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF) or of hypoxia-inducible factor prolyl-hydroxylase (HIF-PH). For the
avoidance ofdoubt, the Parties acknowledge and agree that injectable ESAs are not considered Competing Products.

C. Persistent Failure. If Akebia fails to pay any undisputed amount due under this Termination Agreement within [**] of Vifor’s notice of such non-payment, then
the restrictions set forth in Section 12(A) of this Termination Agreement shall cease indefinitely. The provisions of this Section 12(C) shall be without prejudice to
Vifor’s rights under this Termination Agreement and any and all remedies provided for hereunder or any other rights or remedies available to Vifor.

13.    Representatives. Within [**] following the Termination Effective Date, each Party will appoint (and notify the other Party in writing of the identity of) a senior
representative to act as its representative under this Termination Agreement (each, a “Representative”). The Representatives will serve as the contact point
between the Parties for the purpose of facilitating coordination of any activities to be undertaken by the Parties under this Termination Agreement and will be
primarily responsible for (a) facilitating the flow of information and otherwise promoting communication, coordination, and collaboration between the Parties; (b)
coordinating the Transitional Services; and (c) resolving disputes in accordance with 18(D) of this Termination Agreement. Each Party may replace its
Representative upon written notice to the other Party.

14.    Mutual Release of Claims.

A.    Release by Vifor. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary set forth in the License Agreement, Vifor, on behalf of itself and each of its Affiliates and
each of their respective successors and assigns (collectively, the “Vifor Releasors”), do hereby now and forever release, remise, hold harmless and forever
discharge Akebia, its Affiliates, and each of its and its Affiliates’ respective officers, directors, employees, consultants, contractors and agents, and its and
any and all of the foregoing Persons’ respective successors and assigns (collectively, the “Akebia Releasees”) of and from any and all claims, actions,
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causes of action, choses in action, or suits (whether in contract or tort or otherwise), litigation (whether at law or in equity, whether civil or criminal),
controversies, assessments, arbitration, examinations, audits, investigations, hearings, charges, complaints, demands, or proceedings to, from, by or before
any Governmental Authority (collectively, “Actions”), losses, liabilities, damages, judgments, rights, debts, dues, sums of money, accounts, reckonings,
obligations, costs, expenses, liens, bonds, bills, specialties, covenants, contracts, controversies, agreements, promises, variances, trespasses, of every kind
and nature whatsoever, whether now known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, matured or unmatured, suspected or unsuspected, in law, admiralty or
equity (collectively, “Liabilities”), whether known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected and that arose at any time on or prior to the Termination Effective
Date, or that thereafter could arise based on any act, fact, transaction, matter, or cause that occurred on or prior to the Termination Effective Date arising
from, under, or otherwise in connection with the License Agreement, other than for a violation of Applicable Law by Akebia and except to the extent arising
after the Termination Effective Date from an

8

Akebia Releasee’s violation of its obligations under the License Agreement that survives termination as expressly provided in this Termination Agreement.
The Vifor Releasors agree that they will (i) forbear from exercising any rights or remedies against any Akebia Releasee in respect of any or all Actions and
Liabilities in connection with the License Agreement and (ii) not commence any lawsuit or bring any legal or equitable action against any Akebia Releasee in
respect of any Action or Liability in connection with the License Agreement; in each case, except to the extent (A) relating to a violation of Applicable Law by
Akebia or (B) arising after the Termination Effective Date from an Akebia Releasee’s violation of its obligations under the License Agreement that expressly
survive as provided in this Termination Agreement.

B.    Release by Akebia. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary set forth in the License Agreement, Akebia, on behalf of itself and each of its Affiliates
and each of their respective successors and assigns (collectively, the “Akebia Releasors”), do hereby now and forever release, remise, hold harmless and
forever discharge Vifor, its Affiliates, and each of it and its Affiliates’ respective officers, directors, employees, consultants, contractors and agents, and its
and any and all of the foregoing Persons’ respective successors and assigns (collectively, the “Vifor Releasees”) of and from any and all Actions and
Liabilities, whether known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected and that arose at any time on or prior to the Termination Effective Date, or that thereafter
could arise based on any act, fact, transaction, matter, or cause that occurred on or prior to the Termination Effective Date arising from, under or otherwise in
connection with the License Agreement, other than for a violation of Applicable Law by Vifor and except to the extent arising after the Termination Effective
Date from a Vifor Releasee’s violation of its obligations under the License Agreement that expressly survive termination as provided in this Termination
Agreement. The Akebia Releasors agree that they will (i) forbear from exercising any rights or remedies against any Vifor Releasee in respect of any or all
Actions and Liabilities in connection with the License Agreement and (ii) not commence any lawsuit or bring any legal or equitable action against any Vifor
Releasee in respect of any Action or Liability in connection with the License Agreement; in each case, except to the extent (A) relating to a violation of
Applicable Law by Vifor or (B) arising after the Termination Effective Date from a Vifor Releasee’s violation of its obligations under the License Agreement
that expressly survive as provided in this Termination Agreement.

C.    Third Party Beneficiaries. Each Akebia Releasee and each Vifor Releasee will be an express beneficiary of the rights and releases granted under this
Section 11 (Mutual Release of Claims) and will be entitled to rely on the same as a defense to any suit brought against such Akebia Releasee or Vifor
Releasee, as applicable, in contravention of the provisions of this Section 11 (Mutual Release of Claims), without regard to the fact that such Akebia
Releasee or Vifor Releasee, as applicable, may not be a party to this Termination Agreement.

15.    Representations, Warranties, and Covenants.

A.    Mutual Representations and Warranties. Each of the Parties hereby represents and warrants to the other Party as of the Termination Effective Date that:
(i) it is a corporation duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing under Applicable Law of the jurisdiction of its organization, and has all requisite
power and authority, corporate or otherwise, to execute, deliver, and perform this Termination Agreement; (ii) this Termination Agreement is a legal and

9
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valid obligation binding upon such Party and enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to the effects of bankruptcy, insolvency, or other Applicable
Law of general application affecting the enforcement of creditor rights, judicial principles affecting the availability of specific performance, and general
principles of equity (whether enforceability is considered a proceeding at law or equity), (iii) the execution, delivery, and performance of this Termination
Agreement by such Party have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action and do not conflict with any agreement, instrument, or understanding,
oral or written, to which it is a party or by which it is bound, nor violate any Applicable Law or any order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, determination, or
award of any court or governmental body, or administrative or other agency presently in effect applicable to such Party, (iv) it is not aware of any government
authorization, consent, approval, license, exemption of or filing or registration with any court or governmental department, commission, board, bureau,
agency, or instrumentality, domestic or foreign, under any Applicable Law, currently in effect, necessary for, or in connection with, the transactions
contemplated by this Termination Agreement or any other agreement or instrument executed in connection herewith, or for the performance by it of its
obligations under this Termination Agreement and such other agreements, and (v) neither Party is under any obligation, contractual or otherwise, to any
Person that conflicts with or is inconsistent in any material respect with the terms of this Termination Agreement, or that would impede the diligent and
complete fulfillment of its obligations hereunder.

B.    Additional Representations. Each Party represents and warrants to the other Party and the Akebia Releasees or Vifor Releasees, as applicable, as of the
Termination Effective Date that (i) it has all requisite legal capacity to grant the rights and releases set forth in Section 11 (Mutual Release of Claims) of this
Termination Agreement on behalf of itself and its respective Akebia Releasors or Vifor Releasors, as applicable, and (ii) neither it nor any of the other Akebia
Releasors or Vifor Releasors, as applicable, have assigned, transferred, or granted to any Person that is not an Akebia Releasor or Vifor Releasor, as
applicable, any Action or Liability intended to be covered or released pursuant to Section 11 (Mutual Release of Claims) of this Termination Agreement.

16.    Confidentiality.

A.      Confidential Treatment. From and after the Termination Effective Date, (i) the existence or terms of this Termination Agreement, (ii) the content of the
Parties’ discussions and negotiations regarding this Termination Agreement, and (iii) any documents or correspondence exchanged between the Parties in
connection with their discussions or negotiations regarding this Termination Agreement, in each case ((i) through (iii)), will be considered Confidential
Information of both Parties and will be subject to the provisions regarding confidentiality and non-disclosure set forth in the License Agreement for a period of
[**] following the end of the Royalty Term.

B.    Public Disclosures. Neither Party will issue any public announcement, press release, or other public disclosure regarding this Termination Agreement or
its subject matter without the other Party’s prior written consent, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, delayed, or conditioned, except for any such
disclosure that is, in the opinion of the disclosing Party’s counsel, required by Applicable Law or the rules of a stock exchange on which the securities of

10

the disclosing Party are listed (or to which an application for listing has been submitted). In the event a Party is, in the opinion of its counsel, required by
Applicable Law or the rules of a stock exchange on which its securities are listed (or to which an application for listing has been submitted) to make such a
public disclosure, such Party will submit the proposed disclosure in writing to the other Party with sufficient opportunity (to the extent practicable) for the
other Party to review and comment on such required disclosure and request confidential treatment thereof or a protective order therefor. Neither Party will be
required to seek the permission of the other Party to (i) disclose the execution of this Termination Agreement or (ii) disclose any information regarding the
terms of this Termination Agreement that has already been publicly disclosed by such Party or by the other Party, in accordance with this Section 16.B
(Public Disclosures), provided that such information remains accurate as of such time. For clarity, Akebia anticipates that it will be required to publicly
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disclose this Termination Agreement under Applicable Law, and shall provide Vifor with a draft press release (or other type of public disclosure, as required)
prior to such disclosure.

17.       Non-Disparagement.Neither Party shall disparage the other Party or any of the other Party’s Affiliates, or any of its or their respective directors, officers,
stockholders, employees, successors or assigns, by making (or causing others to make) any oral or written statements that could reasonably be construed to be
false or misleading, or any defamatory, libelous, slanderous or otherwise disparaging statements of or concerning any of the aforementioned persons or
entities.For purposes of this paragraph, a disparaging statement means any communication which, if publicized to another, would cause or tend to cause the
recipient of the communication to question the business condition, integrity, competence, or good character of the person or entity to whom the communication
relates. Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither Party will be prohibited from making any statement that (i) is in response to a valid order of a court or other
governmental body; or (ii) is otherwise requested, recommended, or required by Applicable Law or regulation or rules of a nationally recognized securities
exchange. Notwithstanding the foregoing, each Party may inform its respective customers of the fact that CSL Vifor no longer has commercialization rights for
the Licensed Product in the Licensee Supply Group without violating the terms of this paragraph, provided it does not make any other statement that could be
deemed disparaging under this Article 17.

18.    Miscellaneous.

A.    Severability. If any provision of this Termination Agreement is declared invalid by a court of last resort or by any court or other governmental body from the
decision of which an appeal is not taken within the time provided by law, then and in such event, this Termination Agreement will be deemed to have been
terminated only as to the portion thereof that relates to the provision invalidated by that decision and only in the relevant jurisdiction, but this Termination
Agreement, in all other respects and all other jurisdictions, will remain in force; provided, however, that if the provision so invalidated is essential to the
Termination Agreement as a whole, then the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to amend the terms hereof as nearly as practical to carry out the original
intent of the Parties, and, failing such amendment, either Party may submit the matter for resolution pursuant to Section 18.D (Dispute Resolution) of this
Termination Agreement.

B.        FurtherAssurances. The Parties agree to reasonably cooperate with each other in connection with any actions required to be taken as part of their
respective obligations under this Termination

11

Agreement, and will (a) furnish to each other such further information; (b) execute and deliver to each other such other documents; and (c) do such other
acts and things (including working collaboratively to correct any clerical, typographical, or other similar errors in this Termination Agreement), all as the other
Party may reasonably request for the purpose of carrying out the intent of this Termination Agreement.

C.        GoverningLaw. This Termination Agreement and all amendments, modifications, alterations, or supplements hereto, and the rights of the Parties
hereunder, will be construed under and governed by the laws of the State of New York, United States, exclusive of its conflicts of laws principles. This
Termination Agreement has been prepared in the English language and the English language will control its interpretation. All consents, notices, reports, and
other written documents to be delivered or provided by a Party under this Termination Agreement will be in the English language, and in the event of any
conflict between the provisions of any document and the English language translation thereof, the terms of the English language translation will control.

D.        Dispute Resolution. Any dispute arising out of, or in connection with, this Termination Agreement shall be resolved in accordance with the dispute
resolution procedures set forth in Article 17 (Dispute Resolution; Governing Law) of the License Agreement except, as to Vifor, the reference to “Chief
Executive Officer” in Section 17.1 of the License Agreement shall be replaced by a reference to “General Manager, CSL Vifor”.

19.       Notices. Any notice required to be given under this Termination Agreement shall be in writing and shall be mailed by internationally recognized express
delivery service, or sent by email and confirmed by mailing, as follows:

If to Akebia:

Akebia Therapeutics, Inc.

245 First Street
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Cambridge, MA 02142

Attention: Chief Executive Officer

Facsimile: [**]

Email: [**]

With a copy to (which shall not constitute notice for purposes of this Termination Agreement):

Akebia Therapeutics, Inc.

245 First Street

Cambridge, MA 02142

Attention: General Counsel

Facsimile: [**]
Email: [**]

and

12

Ropes & Gray LLP

Prudential Tower, 800 Boylston Street

Boston, MA 02199-3600

Attention: [**]

Email: [**]

If to Vifor:

Vifor Pharma Management Ltd.
Flughofstrasse 61, 8152 Glattbrugg, Switzerland
Attention: [**]
Facsimile: [**]
Email: [**]

With a copy to (which shall not constitute notice for purposes of this Termination Agreement):

Vifor Pharma Management Ltd
Facsimile: +41 58 851 89 07
Attention: [**]
Email: [**]

20.    Assignment.

A.     Assignment of the Termination Agreement. Neither Party may assign this Termination Agreement without the other Party’s prior written consent unless
such assignment is to a Third Party successor or purchaser of all or substantially all of the assets or businesses to which this Termination Agreement relates (i.e.
as to Akebia, the rights to commercialize the Licensed Product in the Territory), whether pursuant to a sale of assets, merger, or other transaction, in which case
the assigning Party will provide prior written notice of such assignment to the other Party and need not obtain the other Party’s consent; providedthat the
assigning Party remains fully liable for the performance of its obligations hereunder by such assignee. Any other assignment of this Termination Agreement by a
Party requires the prior written consent of the other Party. Any assignment in violation of this Section 20 (Assignment) shall be null and void. This Termination
Agreement shall be binding on and shall inure to the benefit of the permitted successors and assigns of the Parties.

B. Limitation on Sale of Assets. Akebia shall not sell or otherwise dispose the assets or businesses to which this Termination Agreement relates (i.e. the rights
to commercialize the Licensed Product in the Territory) prior to the expiration of the WCF Royalty Term and the Settlement Royalty Term, except if it (i) assigns
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this Termination Agreement in full to the acquirer of such assets or businesses and obtain such acquirer’s agreement in writing to be bound by the terms and
conditions of this Agreement, or (ii) obtains Vifor’s prior written consent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld).

21.       Entire Agreement; Amendment. This Termination Agreement, together with all schedules attached hereto, constitutes the entire agreement between the
Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof.

13

This Termination Agreement will not be modified or amended except by an agreement in writing executed by the Parties.

22.    No Strict Construction. This Termination Agreement has been prepared jointly by the Parties and shall not be strictly construed against either Party.

23.    Counterparts. This Termination Agreement may be executed in counterparts, all of which taken together will be regarded as one and the same instrument.
Each Party may execute this Termination Agreement in Adobe™ Portable Document Format (PDF) sent by electronic mail. PDF signatures of authorized
signatories of the Parties will be deemed to be original signatures, will be valid and binding upon the Parties, and, upon delivery, will constitute due execution of
this Termination Agreement.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]

14

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused their duly authorized representatives to sign this Termination and Settlement Agreement effective as of the
Termination Effective Date.

AKEBIA THERAPEUTICS, INC. VIFOR (INTERNATIONAL) LTD.

By: __/s/ John P. Butler__________________ By: _/s/ Alexandros Sigalas________________

Name: John P. Butler Name: ___ Alexandros Sigalas______________

Title: President and Chief Executive Officer Title: ___Head of Finance________________
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VIFOR (INTERNATIONAL) LTD.

By: ___/s/ Hervé Gisserot________________

Name: __ Hervé Gisserot __________________

                      Title: ___General Manager CSL Viforé_______

Exhibit A

Description of Transitional Services

[**]

Exhibit 10.5
Execution Version

Certain identified information has been excluded from the exhibit because it is both (i) not material and (ii) is the type of information that the registrant treats as private or
confidential. Double asterisks denote omissions.

FIRST AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT FOR THE PROVISION OF A LOAN FACILITY

    This FIRST AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT FOR THE PROVISION OF A LOAN FACILITY, dated as of July 10, 2024 (this “Amendment”), is entered
into between AKEBIA THERAPEUTICS, INC., a Delaware corporation (the “Borrower”) and KREOS CAPITAL VII (UK) LIMITED (the “Lender”).

       WHEREAS the Borrower and the Lender are parties to an Agreement for the Provisions of a Loan Facility, dated as of January 29, 2024 (as
amended, restated, supplemented or modified and in effect immediately prior to the First Amendment Effective Date (as defined below), the
“Existing     3    Loan Agreement” and, the Existing Loan Agreement as modified by this Amendment, the “Loan Agreement”);

    WHEREAS the Borrower and the Lenders wish to amend the Existing Loan Agreement in certain respects as set forth herein;

    NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements herein contained and other good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency and
receipt of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:

    Section 1. Definitions. Except as otherwise defined in this Amendment, terms defined in the Loan Agreement are used herein as defined therein.

    Section 2. Amendment. Subject to the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 3 of this Amendment, but effective as of the date
hereof:

(a) The following definitions are hereby added to Section 1 of the Existing Loan Agreement in appropriate alphabetical positions, in
each case, to read as follows:
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“Major Default” means [**];CONFIDENTIAL

“True-Up Conditions” means, with respect to any True-Up Payment, a set of conditions that is satisfied so long as (i) the Borrowers are
in compliance with the financial covenant set forth in Clause 8.3.1(i) as of the most recently completed test period ending prior to the
proposed date of such True-Up Payment for which financial statements have been delivered pursuant to Clause 8.1.9 and would be in
compliance with such financial covenant after giving pro forma effect to such True-Up Payment as if such transaction had occurred as of
the first day of such test period and (ii) no Major Default (unless such Major Default is solely as a result of failure to make such True-Up
Payment in breach of Clause 9.1.6) shall have occurred and be continuing at the time of, or would immediately result from, the making of
such True-Up Payment;




“True-Up Payment” means any Additional WCF Royalty Payment (as defined in the Vifor Settlement Agreement);

“Vifor Settlement Agreement” means that certain Termination and Settlement Agreement, dated as of July 10, 2024, by and between
the Borrower Representative and Vifor (International) Ltd., as amended, restated, amended and restated, refinanced, replaced, extended
or otherwise modified from time to time;”

(b) Section 8.2 of the Existing Loan Agreement is hereby amended by inserting the below as Section 8.2.16 immediately following
Section 8.2.15:

“8.2.16 each Borrower shall not (and shall procure that each Group Company shall not) (a) exercise the Royalty Buy-Down Option
(as defined in the Vifor Settlement Agreement) without the prior written consent of the Lender (not to be unreasonably withheld,
delayed or denied), (b) make any True-Up Payment unless the True-Up Conditions are satisfied or (c) permit any waiver,
supplement, modification, amendment, termination or release of the Vifor Settlement Agreement if such waiver, supplement,
modification, amendment, termination or release would result in materially higher costs to the Borrower Representative or would
materially adversely effect the Lender’s ability to realize upon the Collateral or the Lender’s priority of payment.”

(c) Section 8.2.13 of the Existing Loan Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

8.2.13    notwithstanding anything in this Loan Agreement to the contrary, the Borrower Representative and its Subsidiaries are
permitted to enter into, maintain and perform their respective obligations under, the following agreements: (i) the [**], (ii) the [**],
(iii) any agreement providing for the sale, financing or other monetization on commercially reasonable terms of non-U.S. royalties
or milestones from the Borrowers’ proprietary products, vadadustat and Auryxia®, (iv) any agreements providing for the sale,
financing or other monetization on commercially reasonable terms of U.S. royalties from vadadustat, subject to (x) a cap of [**]%
royalty on net sales and (y) $[**] of total payments under any such outstanding agreements under this clause (iv) (other than any
deferred compensation, milestone payments or similar arrangements), (v) the [**] (clauses (i) through (v), together with all
documents related thereto, collectively, the “Permitted Royalty Agreements”) and (vi) any Permitted License (together with the
Permitted Royalty Agreements, collectively, “Permitted Agreements”);
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    Section 3. Conditions Precedent. The amendments set forth in Section 2 shall become effective when the Lender shall have received counterparts
of this Amendment executed by the Borrower Representative and the Lender (such date, the “First Amendment Effective Date”).

    Section 4. Miscellaneous.

(a)  The Borrower agrees to reimburse the Lender, within [**] of the First Amendment Effective Date (accompanied by a reasonably
detailed invoice), for all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket fees and expenses (including reasonable and documented attorneys’ fees and
expenses) incurred by the Lender in connection with the preparation, negotiation, execution, administration and delivery of this Amendment and the
documents delivered in connection herewith.

(b)  References in the Loan Agreement to “this Agreement” (and indirect references such as “hereunder”, “hereby”, “herein” and
“hereof”) and references to the Loan Agreement in other Loan Documents shall in each case be deemed to be references to the Loan Agreement as
amended hereby.

(c)  This Amendment shall constitute a Loan Document for purposes of the Loan Agreement and the other Loan Documents, and
except as specifically modified by this Amendment, the Loan Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall remain unchanged and shall remain in
full force and effect and are hereby ratified and confirmed.

(d)  The execution, delivery and performance of this Amendment shall not constitute a forbearance, waiver, consent or amendment of
any other provision of, or operate as a forbearance or waiver of any right, power or remedy of the Lender under the Loan Agreement or any of the
other Loan Documents, all of which are ratified and reaffirmed in all respects and shall continue in full force and effect. This Amendment does not
constitute a novation of rights, obligations and liabilities of the respective parties existing under the Loan Documents.

(e)  This Amendment shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the law of the State of New York.

(f)  Section 15.23 of the Existing Loan Agreement is incorporated herein mutatis mutandis.

(g) This Amendment may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto in different counterparts), each of which shall
constitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute a single contract. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of
this Amendment in electronic format shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Amendment. Each party hereto agrees
and acknowledges that (i) the transaction consisting of this Amendment may be conducted by electronic means, (ii)

-3-



it is such party’s intent that, if such party signs this Amendment using an electronic signature, it is signing, adopting and accepting this Amendment
and that signing this Amendment using an electronic signature is the legal equivalent of having placed its handwritten signature on this Amendment on
paper and (iii) it is being provided with an electronic or paper copy of this Amendment in a usable format. The words “execution,” “signed,” “signature,”
and words of like import in this Amendment shall be deemed to include electronic signatures or the keeping of records in electronic form, each of
which shall be of the same legal effect, validity or enforceability as a manually executed signature or the use of a paper-based recordkeeping system,
as the case may be, to the extent and as provided for in any applicable law, including the Federal Electronic Signatures in Global and National
Commerce Act, the New York State Electronic Signatures and Records Act, or any other similar state laws based on the Uniform Electronic
Transactions Act.

(h)         This Amendment, the Loan Agreement and the other Loan Documents represent the final agreement between the parties
hereto and thereto and may not be contradicted by evidence of prior, contemporaneous or subsequent oral agreements of the parties.

[Signature Pages Follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to the Loan Agreement to be duly executed and delivered as
of the day and year first above written.

BORROWER:

AKEBIA THERAPEUTICS, INC.

By: ___/s/ John P. Butler________________________
Name: John P. Butler
Title: President and CEO

LENDER:

KREOS CAPITAL VII (UK) LIMITED

By: __/s/ Aris Constantinides______________________
Name: Aris Constantinides
Title: Director

[Signature Page to First Amendment]

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, John P. Butler, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Akebia Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
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(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the Audit Committee of the registrant’s Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: August 8, 2024 November 7, 2024 By: /s/ John P. Butler

    John P. Butler

    President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

    (Principal Executive Officer)

ont style="color:#000;;font-size:9pt;font-weight:400;"> 

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Erik J. Ostrowski, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Akebia Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the Audit Committee of the registrant’s Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
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Date: August 8, 2024 November 7, 2024 By: /s/ Erik J. Ostrowski

    Erik J. Ostrowski

    Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Business
Officer and Treasurer

    (Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350)

In connection with the accompanying Quarterly Report of Akebia Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2024 September 30, 2024 (the
“Report”), I, John P. Butler, as Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company, and I, Erik J. Ostrowski, as Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Business
Officer and Treasurer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: August 8, 2024 November 7, 2024 By: /s/ John P. Butler

    John P. Butler

    President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

    (Principal Executive Officer)

Date: August 8, 2024 November 7, 2024 By: /s/ Erik J. Ostrowski

Erik J. Ostrowski

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Business
Officer and Treasurer

(Principal Financial Officer)
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DISCLAIMER

THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE REFINITIV
CORPORATE DISCLOSURES DELTA REPORT™ IS A COMPARISON OF TWO
FINANCIALS PERIODIC REPORTS. THERE MAY BE MATERIAL ERRORS, OMISSIONS, OR
INACCURACIES IN THE REPORT INCLUDING
THE TEXT AND THE COMPARISON DATA AND TABLES. IN NO WAY DOES REFINITIV OR THE APPLICABLE COMPANY ASSUME
ANY
RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY INVESTMENT OR OTHER DECISIONS MADE BASED UPON THE INFORMATION PROVIDED IN THIS
REPORT. USERS ARE ADVISED TO
REVIEW THE APPLICABLE COMPANY’S ACTUAL SEC FILINGS BEFORE MAKING ANY INVESTMENT
OR OTHER DECISIONS.
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